
 
Visit the Township's Web Site www.twp.ferguson.pa.us  and sign up for Notify Me! to receive email notices about Township Information. 

FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Regular Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, February 15, 2022 

7:00 PM  

MEETING PARTICIPATION OPTIONS 

VIRTUAL: 

Join Zoom Meeting Link: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87031665680 
Meeting ID:  870 3166 5680 
Zoom Access Instructions 

IN-PERSON: 

Ferguson Township Municipal Building 
Main Meeting Room 
3147 Research Drive 
State College, PA 

 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 

II. CITIZENS INPUT 

 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
IV. AUTHORITIES, BOARDS, AND COMMISSION REPORTS 

a. Schlow Regional Library Report 
b. Centre Region Parks and Recreation Authority Report – written report  

 
V. SPECIAL REPORTS 

a. COVID-19 Local Response Report 
b. Township and Fiscal Responsibility – Update on Pine Grove Mills Streetlight Improvement Project  

 
VI. COG REGIONAL REPORTS 

 
VII. STAFF REPORTS 

 
VIII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

1. Continued Discussion on Ferguson Township Strategic Plan Update 
2. Public Hearing– Resolution Amending Ferguson Township Agricultural Security Area 
3. Authorization of Public Hearing - Chapter 16 Parks and Recreation, Chapter 22 Subdivision and 

Land Development Ordinance, and Chapter 27 Zoning Ordinance  
 

IX. NEW BUSINESS 
1. Consent Agenda 
2. Appointment of Interim Ferguson Township Manager and Interim Township Secretary 
3. Public Hearing Adopting Act 537 Sewage Facilities Plan Update 
4. Award contract 2022-C14 Street Tree Planting 
5. Centre Region Bike Plan Bicycle Facilities Map and Tables Discussion 
6. Board Member Request - Proclamation Recognizing Black History Month 

 
X. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD 

 
XI. CALENDAR ITEMS 

 
XII. ADJOURNMENT 

https://www.twp.ferguson.pa.us/administration/pages/zoom-instructions


 

 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 

Regular Meeting Agenda 

Tuesday, February 15, 2022 

7:00 p.m. 

 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
II. CITIZEN’S INPUT 

 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

a. January 18, 2022 Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

IV. AUTHORITIES, BOARDS, AND COMMISSIONS REPORT 
a. Schlow Regional Library Report 
b. Centre Region Parks and Recreation Authority Report – written report 
 

V. SPECIAL REPORTS          10 minutes 
a. COVID-19 Local Response Report – Centrice Martin, Acting Township Manager 
b. Diversity, Equity, and Inclusionary Initiatives – no report 
c. Township and Fiscal Responsibility –Pine Grove Mills Streetlight Improvement Project, 

Jennifer Harrington, Barton Associates and David Modricker, Director of Public Works 
d. Community and Economic Development – no report 
e. Environment – no report 

 
VI. COG AND REGIONAL COMMITTEE REPORTS      10 minutes 

1. COG COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Facilities Committee 
b. Human Resources Committee 
c. LUCI Committee 
d. Public Safety Committee 
e. Parks & Recreation Governance Ad Hoc 
f. Finance Committee 
g. Climate Action & Sustainability 

 
2. OTHER COMMITTEE REPORTS  

 
VII. STAFF REPORTS  

a. Manager’s Report 
b. Public Works Director Report 
c. Planning and Zoning Report – no written report 
d. Chief of Police 



Tuesday, February 15, 2022 
Page 2  
 

 

VIII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
 

1. DISCUSSION ON THE UPDATE TO THE FERGUSON TOWNSHIP STRATEGIC PLAN  
Peter Melan, Polity, Inc.        60 minutes 
 

Narrative   
The Board reviewed and discussed the draft Strategic Plan Update at their February 1st 
meeting. Mr. Melan is in attendance to review each goal item and action items with the 
Board for comments and will present staff with an updated draft copy of the Plan by 
February 18. As considered by the Board, staff is prepared to recommend additional action 
steps that correspond with the identified goals to be included for Board review at the March 
1st Regular Meeting. The Board will take public comment at each Regular Meeting 
discussing the Update to the Strategic Plan. Mr. Melan is scheduled for either an in-person 
or virtual meeting to further facilitate discussion with the Board on the Plan and one (1) in-
person meeting. The Board should consider that any additional meetings or a timeline 
extension may result in staff working with the consultants to bring a contract addendum for 
consideration.  

 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors discuss and provide comment on the goals in the draft strategic plan. 

 
2. A PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION OF THE FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD 

OF SUPERVISORS APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE FERGUSON TOWNSHIP 
AGRICULTURAL SECURITY AREA BY ADDING AN ADDITIONAL 50.73 ACRES 
INCLUDED IN TAX PARCEL NO. 24-008-,008-,0000 AND          
TAX PARCEL 24-008-,008A,0000 OWNED BY DAVID BURKET.   
Centrice Martin, Acting Township Manager     10 minutes 

 
Narrative  
On January 18, 2022, The Board was informed and acknowledged Mr. Burket’s application 
that proposed the addition of 50.73 acres included in Tax Parcel No. 24-008-,008-,0000 
and Tax Parcel No. 24-008-,008A,0000 to the Ferguson Township Agricultural Security 
Area (ASA). In accordance with the Agricultural Area Security Law (Act 43 of 1981), the 
Board of Supervisors referred Mr. Burket’s application to the Ferguson Township Planning 
Commission and the Centre County Planning and Community Development Office for review 
and consideration of this proposal for modification to the Ferguson Township Agricultural 
Security Area. Provided with this agenda are two reports of acceptance by the agencies 
charged to review for a recommendation.  
 
The Agricultural Area Security Law requires a public hearing on the review and 
consideration of proposed modifications to Ferguson Township Agricultural Security Area. 
The Board must take action to approve or deny the request for modification within 180 days 
from the date when the application was originally submitted. Provided with the agenda is a 
proposed resolution to approve an amendment to the Township’s ASA. As part of an 
approval, the Township will file forthwith in the Office of the Recorder of Deeds of Centre 
County, Pennsylvania and notify the Pennsylvania Secretary of Agriculture.  
 
Recommended motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution approving the 
addition of the David Burket properties, Tax Parcel No. 24-008-008-,0000 and Tax Parcel 
No. 24-008-,008A,0000, consisting of 50.73 acres to the Township’s Agricultural Security 
Area.   



Tuesday, February 15, 2022 
Page 3  
 

 

 

Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution.  

 
3. AUTHORIZATION OF A PUBLIC HEARING ON AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWNSHIP 

OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA, AMENDING CHAPTER 16, 
PARKS AND RECREATION, PART 1, SECTION 106 AND 107, CHAPTER 22, 
SUBDIVISION AND LAND DEVELOPMENT, AND CHAPTER 27, ZONING BY 
AMENDING SECTIONS AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A”. 
Jenna Wargo, Director of Planning and Zoning     25 minutes 
 

Narrative  
In November 2019, the Township completed its comprehensive update to the Zoning and 
Subdivision and Land Development Ordinance. Since the amendments, staff have been 
tracking errors and omissions while interpreting the ordinances and is recommending 
additional amendments to address these issues. The Board was provided a draft during the 
November 1, 2021, December 6, 2021, January 3, 2022, January 18, 2022, regular 
meetings and the February 8, 2022, work session.  Provided with the agenda is the draft 
amendments for each chapter as provided to Centre County Office of Planning & 
Community Development and Centre Regional Planning Commission. 
 
Recommended Motion:  That the Board of Supervisors authorize advertisement of a public 
hearing for March 15, 2022, on an ordinance amending Chapter 16, Parks and Recreation; 
Chapter 22, Subdivision and Land Development; and Chapter 27, Zoning.   
 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors authorize a public hearing on the ordinance amendments for March 15, 
2022.  

 
IX. NEW BUSINESS 

 
1. CONSENT AGENDA         5 minutes 

a. 2022 Ferguson Township Tree Commission Work Plan 
b. Contract 2018-PWGG, Pay App 9 Final:  $24,139.23 

 
2. APPOINTMENT OF INTERIM FERGUSON TOWNSHIP MANAGER AND SECRETARY  

Centrice Martin, Acting Township Manager      5 minutes 
 

Narrative 
Assistant Township Manager is appointed as Acting Manager during the absence of the 
Township Manager in accordance with the Administrative Code, Chapter 1, Part 2, Section 
207 from February 12, 2022, until February 28, 2022. Beginning on March 1, 2022, the 
Ferguson Township Manager position will be vacant until the Ferguson Township Board of 
Supervisors appoint a Ferguson Township Manager. Township Manager David Pribulka 
recommended in an executive session held on December 27, 2021, that the Board of 
Supervisors consider Assistant Township Manager Centrice Martin be appointed and 
supported as interim until the Township Manager position is fil led. The Board of Supervisors 
is being asked to formally approve the appointment of the Assistant Township Manager 
Centrice Martin as the Interim Manager to serve in accordance with the Ferguson Township 
Home Rule Charter, as outlined in Article III, Township Manager, until a new Township 



Tuesday, February 15, 2022 
Page 4  
 

 

Manager to serve as the chief executive and administrative official of the Township 
government.  
 
Recommended motion: That the Board of Supervisors approve the appointment of the 
Assistant Township Manager Centrice Martin as the Interim Manager, effective March 1, 
2022, to serve in accordance with the Ferguson Township Home Rule Charter, Article III, 
Township Manager, and as Interim Secretary to fulfill the duties of Secretary to the Board 
of Supervisors until the Board appoints a new Township Manager. 

 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors approve the appointment of Assistant Manager Centrice Martin to serve 
as the Interim Ferguson Township Manager and Interim Ferguson Township Secretary.  

 
3. A PUBLIC HEARING ON A RESOLUTION AMENDING OF THE TOWNSHIP OF 

FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA (HEREINAFTER THE 
“TOWNSHIP”) ADOPTING AN ACT 537 SEWAGE FACILITIES PLAN UPDATE.  
Centrice Martin, Acting Township Manager      5 minutes 

 
Narrative 
Provided with the agenda is a copy of the resolution advertised for public hearing to approve 
an amendment to the Centre Region Act 537 Sewage Facilities Plan. The State College 
Borough intends to upgrade its sewage collection system by upsizing 2,100 linear feet of 
pipeline in the Atherton Street area and 5,150 linear feet of pipeline in the Calder Way 
area. Ferguson Township and all other municipalities in the Sewer Service Area must 
approve any revisions to the Act 537 Plan. The link to the Special Study for the Calder Way 
and Atherton Street Sewer Main Replacement Project is below. Corey Rilk, Senior Planner 
with the Regional Planning Agency, will be present to report on the study and respond to 
any questions the Board may have on this item. 
 
Act 537 Special Study for the Calder Way and Atherton Street Sewer Main Replacement Projects 
 
Recommended motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution adopting an Act 
537 Sewage Facilities Plan Update. 

 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors adopt the resolution.   

 
4. AWARD OF CONTRACT 2022-C14 – STREET TREE PLANTING 

David Modricker, Director of Public Works      10 minutes 
 

Narrative 
On February 1, 2022, bids were opened publicly and read aloud for contract 2022-C14 
Street Tree Planting. The bid was advertised in the Centre Daily Times and was sent to 
potential bidders. The contract involves planting 77 street trees at various locations in the 
Township.  Provided with the agenda is a memorandum from David Modricker, Public Works 
Director dated February 2, 2022, recommending award of the contract. 
 
Recommended Motion: That the Board of Supervisors award Contract 2022-C14 Street Tree 
Planting, to Greene’s Landscape, Inc., in accordance with their bid in the amount 
of $28,879.00. 
 

https://www.twp.ferguson.pa.us/home/files/2022-calder-way


Tuesday, February 15, 2022 
Page 5  
 

 

Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors award Contract 2022-C14 to Greene’s Landscape, Inc.   

 
5. DISCUSSION ON UPDATE TO CENTRE REGION BIKE PLAN BICYCLE FACILITIES MAP AND 

TABLES  
Centrice Martin, Acting Township Manager      25 minutes 

 
 Narrative 

The Council of Governments (COG) General Forum adopted the Centre Region Bike Plan 
at its regular meeting in 2015. The Centre Region Bike Plan identifies gaps in the Centre 
Region bicycle network, increases the recognition that bicycles are a form of transportation, 
and identifies recommendations to make bicycling a more viable transportation option. At 
the time the Bike Plan was adopted, there was not an established process to perform bicycle 
facility updates to the existing Plan on a regular basis. Centre Region Planning Agency 
(CRPA) recommended in 2021 that the maps and tables be updated to reflect current 
conditions because some member participant municipalities have constructed new bicycle 
facilities, adopted bike plans, and amended Municipal Official Maps to include or remove 
bicycle facilities.  
 
An update to the Centre Region Bike Plan Maps and Tables was discussed at the 
September 2, 2021, joint meeting of the COG Public Safety Environmental (PSE) and 
Transportation and Land Use (TLU) Committees, members authorized CRPA staff to revise 
the Bike Plan maps and tables. Provided with the agenda are draft maps and tables that 
include bike facilities that were constructed, and facilities approved via formal action by 
municipal governing bodies or included in adopted plans or Municipal Official Maps. The 
updated information will provide residents and visitors accurate information on bike 
facilities in the Region. The updated maps and tables were presented to the Land Use and 
Community Infrastructure (LUCI) Committee to request that comments be forwarded to 
Centre Region Planning Agency staff by Thursday, February 17.  
 
The updated maps show the most accurate depiction of bike facilities that exist and those 
that have been formally proposed since the Plan was adopted in 2015. Since late 2021, 
CRPA staff has worked closely with your staff to collect this information and include it in 
the draft materials that were presented to the LUCI Committee on February 3.  
 
Recommended motion: That the Board of Supervisors direct the Acting Township Manager 
to forward its comments on the draft 2022 Centre Region Bike Plan Maps and Tables to 
Senior Planner with Centre Region Planning Agency no later than February 17, 2022.  

 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors review and comment on the draft 2022 Centre Region Bike Plan Maps 
and Tables.  

 
6. BOARD MEMBER REQUEST - PROCLAMATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, 

CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSLYVANIA TO OFFICIALLY RECOGNIZE BLACK HISTORY 
MONTH OF 2022 
Tierra Williams, Township Supervisor        5 minutes 

 
Narrative  
Ferguson Township recognizes the importance of Black History Month for many Black 
American communities and for Americans of African origin. Black History Month serves as 



Tuesday, February 15, 2022 
Page 6  
 

 

both a celebration and a powerful reminder that black history is part of American history 
and black stories are essential to the ongoing story of America.  “…It is essential that we 
take time to celebrate the immeasurable contributions of Black Americans, honor the 
legacies and achievements of generations past, reckon with centuries, and confront those 
injustices that stil l fester today,” as stated by President Joseph R. Biden Jr. in a media 
release dated January 31, 2022. The Board of Supervisors is asked to consider the 
proclamation provided with the agenda.  
 
Recommended Motion: That the Board of Supervisors adopt the Proclamation of the 
Township of Ferguson, Centre County Pennsylvania officially recognizing Black History 
Month of 2022. 
 
Staff Recommendation 
That the Board of Supervisors adopt the Proclamation. 

 
X. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD 

 
XI. CALENDAR ITEMS – February/March 

a. Ferguson Township Upcoming Meetings 
1. Planning Commission, Monday, February 28, March 14, 28 
2. Board of Supervisors Worksession, March 8 
3. Parks and Recreation Committee, March 10 
4. Tree Commission, February 28, March 21 
5. Pine Grove Mills Small Area Advisory Committee, February 24, March 24 
 

XII. ADJOURNMENT 





30.409.750
ok to pay DJM
$24,139.23
contract 2018-PWGG


By dmodricker at 7:30:44 AM, 2/8/2022


FINAL PAYMENT



dmodricker

Text Box

For work in 2021 pay out of 2021 budget




















CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 4 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 
 


 
CLIMATE ACTION AND SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE 


Hybrid Meeting 
February 14, 2022 


12:15 PM 
 


GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


RSVP 
To ensure an overall quorum of members, please let us know how you intend to participate: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEsdeyhrD8sGdEjFUMj5V31KsJJV8UI11Op 
 


Remote 
Participants 


To attend via Zoom: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEsdeyhrD8sGdEjFUMj5V31KsJJV8UI11Op 
To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099 | Meeting ID: 851-2592-4635   |  Passcode: 440155 


In-Person 
Participants 


COG Building – Forum Room 
2643 Gateway Drive, State College, PA 16801 


Meeting Contact: Shelly Mato  |  email: smato@crcog.net  |  814-234-7198 


Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
Should you desire to annotate any attachments you must download them first. 


 
• The chat feature for this meeting will be limited to remote participants being able to 


communicate with meeting hosts. A recording of the meeting will be made available on the 
COG website upon its conclusion. 


• We ask that non-voting participants that are attending remotely remain muted with their video 
turned off unless recognized to speak. To reduce audio interference, please remain off 
speakerphone during the meeting.  


• VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be 
sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. For additional information on COG Voting 
Procedures, click HERE. 


• PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items not 
already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional information on COG 
public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 


To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the COG Climate 
Action and Sustainability Committee on our website, please click HERE. 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Agenda 
February 14, 2022 
Page 2 
  


CLIMATE ACTION AND SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE 
 


Hybrid Meeting 
Monday, February 14, 2022 


12:15 PM 
 
 


During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the COG and ensure the 
safety of municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health emergency recommendations while 
remaining in compliance with Pennsylvania’s guidelines for public meetings, this Climate Action and 
Sustainability Committee meeting will be held via hybrid format. Written public comment or requests 
to speak to the CAS Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests to comment on specific 
agenda items listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing smato@crcog.net. 


 
Agenda 


 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL  


The Chair will call the meeting to order. 
 


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS  


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda (five minutes 
per person time limit please). Comments relating to specific items on the agenda should be deferred 
until that point in the meeting. Submitted comments will be read into the record by the Recording 
Secretary at the appropriate time in the meeting. 


 
3. NEW AGENDA ITEMS 


Members may request additional items of business be added to this meeting’s agenda. If approved by 
a majority vote of the members, the proposed new agenda item(s) will be placed on the agenda at the 
discretion of the Chair. 


 
4.   APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 
     The minutes of the January 10, 2022 meeting of the Climate Action and Sustainability Committee 


are enclosed. 
 
      All municipalities should vote to approve the consent agenda. 
 
5.   COG COMMITTEE REPORTS 


At the January 10, 2022 meeting, the CAS committee members agreed to include an item for 
Committee reports. The Chair should request any reports from members or staff. 


 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Agenda 
February 14, 2022 
Page 3 
  
6.   CAS COMMITTEE ONBOARDING FOLDER  - presented by Shelly Mato 


This item provides a summary of content for the CAS Committee Onboarding folder in SharePoint. 
The content of the Onboarding folder is just being populated now. It will contain two subfolders: 
the first will contain general resources to help members navigate their first year on the committee, 
and the second subfolder will contain resources that all members may find useful. This second 
subfolder also contains a document that provides annotated links to additional resources. The 
Onboarding folder is located HERE.  


CRPA staff will continue to provide additional content and will provide content as suggested by 
members of the committee. 


No action is required on this item. 
 


7. CAS COMMITTEE VISION, MISSION AND RESPONSBILITIES - presented by Pam Adams 


This is a request for members of the CAS Committee to deliberate and ratify its mission, 
responsibilities, and member representation as defined in the enclosed COG Resolution 2020-8.  


At its February 8, 2021 member representation was determined to include an elected official from 
each Centre Region municipality and a non-voting liaison from State College Area School District 
and from Penn State University. At is March and April meeting in 2021 the committee discussed its 
mission and responsibilities but did not finalize these items. 


Based on the enclosed summary of information from those meetings, a draft vision and mission 
statement is: 


The stated vision of the Climate Action and Sustainability Committee is to develop in the Centre 
Region a proactive and equitable culture of sustainability as it intersects with community resiliency, 
and social, environmental, and fiscal responsibilities.  


 
The mission of the Climate Action and Sustainability Committee is to provide oversight of strategic and 
coordinated actions among the COG municipalities and to engage all residents, governments, and 
businesses toward this effort {a more sustainable culture} using research, education, communication, and 
comprehensive and strategic planning. 


The Committee should also discuss the draft responsibilities defined in Resolution 2020-8. Once 
the Committee has determined its draft vision, mission, and responsibilities, Staff will prepare a 
Resolution for Committee review to forward to the Executive Committee and General Forum. 


Committee members should review the draft vision, mission and responsibilities and consider any 
changes.  


 


8. ACCESSORY-USE SOLAR - presented by Pam Adams and Nicole Pollock 


This agenda item provides Committee members with information on the accessory-use solar project 
that was overseen by the Land Use and Community Infrastructure (LUCI) Committee. This update 
will include a summary of goals, steps taken, an overview of the Go Solar in the Centre Region 
website, and the Best Practices for Regulating Accessory Solar Factsheet. 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Agenda 
February 14, 2022 
Page 4 
  


There is an expectation that solar energy installations will be increasing in our region with the 
implementation of the Climate Action and Adaption Plan (CAAP). As a result of the interest and 
growth potential in solar, CRPA staff has been working on two solar projects: one studying utility- 
scale solar that the LUCI Committee will be receiving information on at a future meeting and the 
accessory-use solar project being presented today.  


Accessory-use solar, including rooftop and ground-mounted installations in the Centre Region, is 
poised to increase rapidly. In September 2021, the Centre County Solar and EV Charger Co-op 
through Solar United Neighbors launched and has 141 members. In a typical year, there are 30 
accessory-use solar energy installations in the Centre Region, and it is expected that number will 
grow significantly soon. To help prepare for this growth, staff investigated ways to improve local 
government efficiencies and educational materials. 


At its February 3, 2021 meeting, the LUCI Committee and Centre Regional Planning Commission 
(CRPC) received an update on the accessory-use solar project and provided comments. Based on 
research on best practices in regulating solar and relevant information, Staff has created the 
following: 


• Go Solar in the Centre Region website for property owners who are interested in installing solar 
panels  


• Enclosed draft Best Practices for Regulating Accessory Solar Factsheet. 


The Committee should receive the enclosed presentation on accessory-scale solar energy systems and 
provide feedback on the website and factsheet. Staff will then finalize the Best Practice factsheet after 
considering comments and promote the Go Solar in the Centre Region website.  


Committee members should review the website and factsheet and provide comments. 
 
9. SOLSMART DESIGNATION – presented by Pam Adams 


This agenda item informs the Committee about the status of our SolSmart designation. At its 
January 16, 2020 meeting the Public Services & Environmental Committee authorized COG to 
state its intent to become a SolSmart-designated community and receive no-cost technical assistance. 


SolSmart is a U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) funded program that recognizes cities, counties, 
and regional organizations for making it faster, easier, and more affordable to go solar. Their 
national team of experts provides no-cost technical assistance to help communities foster the 
development of local solar markets. For more information about the program and to see 
participating communities visit https://solsmart.org/. 


This action aligns with the Centre Region Climate Action and Adaptation Plan. It also builds upon 
the 2013 Centre Region Comprehensive Plan which includes the objective of working to reduce 
barriers to alternative energy uses to help decrease dependence on finite natural resources. 


In January our SolSmart representative, Courtney Ferraro, informed Staff that the Centre Region 
COG appears on track to apply for Silver Designation. Once staff compiles a few housekeeping 
items needed for designation, then Ms. Ferraro will submit the application on our behalf. 


No action is required on this item. 
 







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Agenda 
February 14, 2022 
Page 5 
  
10. NEW FEDERAL INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT AND JOBS ACT (IIJA) – presented by Pam 


Adams 


This agenda item provides a brief overview of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA) that 
President Biden signed into law  on November 15, 2021. U.S Agencies are referring to the IIJA as 
the “Bipartisan Infrastructure Bill (BIL)”. The new legislation is a five-year bill that will provide 
competitive funding to communities across the nation with new and existing programs. Enclosed is a 
useful summary from the U.S. Conference of Mayors on potential funding opportunities; some of 
which could support implementing actions in the Centre Region Climate Action and Adaptation 
Plan.  


Staff will provide a brief overview about the highlights of the new bill. 


No action is required on this item. 
 


11. DASHBOARD OF CAAP  


This agenda item presents an example of a high-level snapshot of local government progress on 
actions in the CAAP. The CAS Committee should provide feedback on the content and basic 
format. 


The initial phase of implementation of the CAAP is for the Centre Region municipalities to lead by 
example to spur comprehensive community action. To help facilitate the sharing of information 
between our local governments the enclosed potential dashboard was drafted. It includes two of the 
six sectors, Renewable Energy and Sustainable Transportation, as an example. It is not an exhaustive 
or complete list but begins to identify actions taken by local government including the COG, 
municipalities, authorities and the school district.  


The purpose for this dashboard is 1) to foster understanding of actions being taken by our local 
governments and to identify areas where more action is needed and 2) track progress on CAAP 
actions to inform the community at regular intervals. 


The draft dashboard is in its initial stage of creation and is intended to be a potential guide for staff 
and elected officials to quickly see what actions are occurring related to the CAAP. Staff will explain 
the framework of the dashboard using the Renewable Energy and Sustainable Transportation sectors 
as an example. Based on feedback from the CAS Committee staff will incorporate suggestions and 
draft the other sectors’ actions. 


Committee members should review the dashboard and provide comments. 
 
12. OTHER BUSINESS 


a. Matter of Record – The next meeting of the CAS Committee will be held on March 14, 2022 at 
12:15 p.m. This will be a hybrid meeting.   


b. Matter of Record – As planned the Centre County Solar and EV Charger Co-op closed its 
membership on January 31, 2022 after its launch 5 months ago. We surpassed our 100-member 
goal with 142 members. The Centre County Co-op has the largest membership amongst the 13 
total in the state. The next phase is for the installer to continue working with the members over 
the next several months to allow them to consider signing contracts and installing solar on their 
property.   







Climate Action & Sustainability Committee Agenda 
February 14, 2022 
Page 6 
  


c. Matter of Record – CRPA is working with a three-person student team from East Stroudsburg 
University through the DEP’s Local Climate Action Program (LCAP) on the enclosed capstone 
project description. CRPA participated in the LCAP’s first cohort in 2019-2020 to create our 
greenhouse gas inventories and develop a framework for plan. Since the Centre Region Climate 
Action and Adaptation Plan (CAAP) was adopted, COG became eligible for this 
implementation phase of support. 


 


13. ADJOURNMENT 


 
ENCLOSURES 
 
Item # Description 
 
4  CAS Committee Minutes 1.10.2022 
7a  COG Resolution 2020-8 
7b  Mission Statement Overview – CAS Committee 
8a  Accessory Solar Factsheet   
8b  CAS Committee – Accessory Solar Presentation   
10  BIL – Factsheet Local Competitive Funding 
11  CAAP Local Action – draft dashboard 
12C  CRCROG-ESU Capstone Project Description  


  













 


 


1 


 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
3147 Research Drive •  State College, Pennsylvania 16801 


Telephone: 814-238-4651 •  Fax: 814-238-3454 


www.twp.ferguson.pa.us 


 


  
`


 


Public Works Director’s Report to the Board of Supervisors (BOS) 


for the regular meeting on February 15, 2022 


 


1. Public Works Road Crew Activities  Winter operations are in progress. Vehicle and 
equipment maintenance by the mechanics is ongoing. When not snowfighting, the road crew is 
performing body work and maintenance on vehicles, painting building interior walls, and 
completing various work orders. Weather permitting, a crew will start to clear the perimeter 
natural trail around Songbird Sanctuary, being sensitive to trees and natural features. 


2. Arborist and Ferguson Township Tree Commission  (FTTC) Activities- The Tree 
Commission will meet again on February 28th. Topics on the agenda include a review of the 
tree canopy and discussion of a Township wide street tree inventory (and purposefully planted 
park trees), and introduction of the new Township Arborist. 


3. New Public Works Facility Rooftop Solar Installation: To celebrate the “flip the switch” to 
solar power, the Board may want to consider a small ceremony sometime around the week of 
May 15th which is also “Public Works week 2022” along with a tour of the public works building. 
In lieu of an event, Board members may reach out to the Public Works Director for a tour of the 
new building at their convenience. 


4. Pine Grove Mills Mobility Study: It is anticipated there will be one more meeting of the 
working committee to review refinements to the proposed alternative improvements for 
pedestrian and bicycle mobility prior to a yet to be scheduled public input meeting. 


5. Intersection of Martin Street and Cherry Lane: Staff is considering alternatives to a multi-
way stop as requested by the Board. The Public Works Director consulted with an engineer 
with Pennoni Associates under the state sponsored LTAP (Local Technical Assistance 
Program) and reviewed considerations with the Township Engineer. Township staff is meeting 
with SCASD staff to review alternatives. Further information will be provided to the Board in the 
future. 


6. Stormwater – The implementation phase of the stormwater fee program including outreach 
and education, and preparation of work flow and applications for credits and exemptions, 
processing of credit and exemption applications, and finalization of the master billing account 
is complete. Fees will be sent in March with the real estate tax bills. Need to prepare an 
application form and evaluation criteria for private/public partnership projects. 


7. Work Orders and Asset Management – Work orders are now being prepared in Survey 123 
for GIS. All work for the road crew and tree trimmers including labor hours, equipment, and 







 


 


 


materials will be collected in Survey 123. The Code office is launching TRAISR in 2022 and is 
establishing working groups, of which one is public works. When TRAISR is launched, all data 
collected in Survey 123 will be ported to TRAISR. Future asset management will be done 
using TRAISR. 


8. Paver – Each year, in the spring, staff inspects the road surface conditions, documents the 
conditions in Paver software, and subsequently uses the data for development of the 5 year 
Capital Improvement Plan. 


9. Contract 2016-C11 Traffic Signal Performance Metrics – A contract was awarded in 2021 
to Wyoming Electric and Signal Company to construct this project including and 
interconnection of the traffic signals using radio signals to allow for more efficient and timely 
optimization of signals from the Township office. Work is to be completed this summer. 


10. Contract 2018-C20 Park Hills Drainageway – Final design, permitting, and utility relocation 
design continues. To progress this project to construction in 2022, final design must be 
complete, and easements acquired for stormwater and construction.  


11. Contract 2019-C21 Pine Grove Mills Street Light Conversion: Design work continues to 
interconnect the 25 ornamental street lights on Pine Grove Road and the 10 street lights on 
Nixon Road and install power disconnects to allow FTPW to work on and repair the lights. 
Work also includes consideration for replacement of the street light tops (luminaires) on Pine 
Grove Road with new 2700K LED fixtures. Prior to putting the project out to bid, a permit is 
necessary from PaDOT. A lighting engineer with Barton Associates will provide the Board with 
information on a proposed new light fixture. The lighting engineer may provide staff with a “light 
box” allowing interested Board members to stop by the building and view different light levels. 


12. Contract 2020-C4 Suburban Park This project includes features shown in the master plan 
including play equipment, a perimeter walk path, restoration of a stream channel, installation of 
bridges. Upon approval of the plan prepared by the Engineering Section by the Assistant 
Manager and Park and Rec Committee, the project will progress. 


13. Contract 2020-C18 Science Park and Sandy Drive Signal Design – Design work continues. 
This project is expected to go to bid and construction in 2022. 


14. Contract 2021-C1 Harold Drive – This project includes reconstruction of a section (east) of 
Harold Drive, and drainage improvements taking into consideration any wetland impacts. 


15. Contract 2021-C16 Chesapeake Bay Pollutant Reduction Plan (CBPRP) Design and 
Permitting – In compliance with our MS4 permit and CBPRP, certain projects need to be 
advanced through the design and permitting phase. 


16. Contract 2021-C18 Homestead Park Play Equipment Installation – This project includes 
redesign and installation of a play set at an accessible location and an alternative for fall 
protection. Work should begin in February. 


17. Contract 2022-C1 Street Improvement Projects (in town) – This contract includes primarily 
paving and some related curb, stormwater, and ancillary improvements to (or sections of) the 
following roads: W. Aaron Drive, N. Allen Street, Circleville Road, Park Crest Lane, 







 


 


 


Research Drive, Sleepy Hollow Drive. A hybrid in person and virtual public open house is 
planned in February. Property owners adjoining the project will be mailed letters describing the 
project and inviting them to the open house. Design work is underway. The project is planned 
to be bid in March, with anticipated award in April, followed by work this summer. 


18. Contract 2022-C2 Street Improvement Projects (west end)– This contract includes primarily 
paving and some related stormwater, and ancillary improvements to Marengo Road, Oak 
Glenn Road, W. Whitehall Road from Tadpole Road through the Meadows, Old Gatesburg 
Road from Science Park Road to Nixon Road. A hybrid in person and virtual public open 
house is planned in February. Property owners adjoining the project will be mailed letters 
describing the project and inviting them to the open house. Design work is underway. The 
project is planned to be bid in March, with anticipated award in April, followed by work this 
summer. 


19. Contract 2022-C3 Cured in Place Pipe Lining – This project includes repairing corrugated 
metal storm pipes with a pipe liner allowing pipe repair from the inside without the need for 
digging. The contract is prepared based on a completed video assessment of the pipes. The 
process includes ultraviolet light cured in place pipe lining. The project is planned for bidding in 
June. 


20. Contract 2022-C4 Pavement Base Repair (mill and fill) – This project includes milling failed 
sections of pavement and repairing with an asphalt patch on certain roads. A bid opening is 
planned for March. 


21. Contract 2022-C5 Storm Sewer Cleaning and Video Assessment – This work was awarded 
to Insight Pipe Contracting, LLC.  


22. Contract 2022-C6 Concrete curb and ADA ramp upgrades – This is an annual assessment 
and upgrade of curb ramps associated with road paving and microsurfacing projects and is 
expected to be bid in February. 


23. Contract 2022-C7 a Fuel – Annually the Township bids gasoline and diesel fuel. 


24. Contract 2022-C7b Street signs and supplies – Annually the Township receives quotes for 
street signs and supplies. 


25. Contract 2022-C7c Asphalt and Aggregate – Annually the Township bids asphalt and 
aggregate. The bid is usually advertised in March. 


26. Contract 2022-C8 Pavement Markings – Each year the Township bids pavement markings 
and long lines. A dozen municipalities piggyback on this popular contract. As with many capital 
projects, this project should be bid in February or March. 


27. Contract 2022-C9 Microsurfacing – This work is bid each year and typically performed in late 
July when school is out of session and temperatures are favorable for this type of work. Work 
includes the placement of two layers of a slurry of fine aggregate, minerals, asphalt emulsion 
and water on the pavement surface as a preventative maintenance measure to cost effectively 
extend the life of the pavement. The project may be bid in 2 sections: one in town and one on 
the westernmost roads. Advertisement of bids is expected in late March. 







 


 


 


28. Contract 2022-C10 Sealcoat bikepaths – Certain bikepaths and multi-use paths are 
sealcoated to extend the life of the asphalt path. In advance of work, FTPW will edge and 
sweep the paths, seal any cracks, and repair the asphalt as needed. Work is performed in the 
summer months. This project is expected to be bid in April. 


29. Contract 2022-C11 Sidewalk Repairs – FTPW Engineering Section will inspect a portion of 
the public sidewalks each year. Property owners are sent notices to fix deficient sidewalk 
sections and given an opportunity to fix it themselves or have the Township perform the work 
by contract and bill the property owner. 


30. Contract 2022-C12 Traffic Signal LED Replacements – Signal LEDs are replaced 
approximately every 7 years. 


31. Contract 2022-C13 Traffic Signal UPS Batteries – Batteries are needed in the event of 
power outages and are replaced at the end of their useful life. 


32. Contract 2022-C14 Signal Luminaire Conversion – Staff will continue its evaluation of traffic 
signals with high pressure sodium luminaires as candidates for conversion to LED resulting in 
energy savings and longer lasting lighting. 


33. Contract 2022-C15 Street Tree Pruning – Each year a certain number of street trees are 
pruned to include shaping while they are young, clearance over sidewalks and roadways, 
deadwood removal as the trees mature, and hazard mitigation. 


34. Contract 2022-C16 Audible Pedestrian Signal (APS) Push Buttons – This project (in 
design) includes upgrades to the traffic signals at the College/Bristol intersection and the 
College/Blue Course intersection to install audible pedestrian signals. An APS provides audible 
information along with the visual indicators to let blind pedestrians know when to safely cross 
an intersection. 


35. Contract 2022-C17 Guide Rail Replacement – Quotes are obtained to replace certain 
sections of guiderail as needed. 


36. Contract 2022-C18 Johnson Road Drainage Improvements – This project involves 
relocating stormwater flown near the intersection of Johnson Road and Whitehall Road to 
lessen impacts on a residential property on lot septic system. Work must be coordinated with 
Rock Spring Water to determine impacts to the water line. Work is in the design phase. 


37. Contract 2022-C19 FTPW Building 3 Roof Roof Repair -The existing rubber roof on FTPW 
building 3 has failed and the roof needs replaced. Staff is evaluating options including shingles, 
metal, and rubber. Consideration is being given to structural support for any future solar 
installation and a white color to lessen urban heat island impacts. 


38. Contract 2022-C20 Green Light Go (GLG) Round 6 Radar Detection Upgrades – For the 
6th year, staff has been successful securing this grant to offset the majority of the cost to install 
radar detection at traffic signals, replacing the in ground loop detectors. 


39. Contract 2022-C21 Pine Grove Mills bike and pedestrian Improvements (survey and 
design) (subject to grant award) – Subject to a grant award for construction, funding is in 







 


 


 


place to begin survey and design of certain bike a ped improvements as outlined in the grant 
application. 


40. Contract 2022-C22 Playground Safety and Update Program – Each year funding is 
provided to update playground equipment found to be deficient based on playground 
inspections. 


41. Contract 2022-C23 Pine Grove Mills Lighting Design (18 new lights) – Work includes the 
design of new ornamental lights in Pine Grove Mills mostly to the west of the flashing light. 





























































































 


 


  







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


Table of Contents 


 
CHAPTER 1: WHO WE ARE .......................................................................................................... 3 


OUR MISSION .................................................................................................................................. 3 


OUR VISION .................................................................................................................................... 3 


WE VALUE ....................................................................................................................................... 3 


CHAPTER 2: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY .......................................................................................... 5 


HISTORY ........................................................................................................................................ 5 


ORGANIZATION ............................................................................................................................... 5 


EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ..................................................................................................................... 6 


CHAPTER 3: STRATEGIC PLAN ................................................................................................... 8 


GOAL 1.0: “FINANCIAL STABILITY” .................................................................................................... 8 


GOAL 2.0: “ADEQUATE STAFFING” ................................................................................................... 9 


GOAL 3.0: “ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT” ................................................................................... …..10 


GOAL 4.0: “SERVICE DELIVERY” .................................................................................................... 12 


GOAL 5.0: “ADEQUATELY ZONED LAND” ......................................................................................... 13 


GOAL 6.0: “IMPROVE COMMUNICATIONS” ....................................................................................... 14 


GOAL 7.0: “ACCREDITED LAW ENFORCEMENT” ............................................................................... 17 


GOAL 8.0: “REGIONAL PROGRAMS” ............................................................................................... 17 


GOAL 9.0: “ENSURE MINIMAL DISRUPTION” …………………………………………………………….19 


GOAL 10.0: “PRISTINE OPEN SPACE”……………………………………………………………………21 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


2 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


Chapter 1: Who We Are 


Our Mission 


It is Ferguson Township’s mission to provide efficient, cost 
effective, professional services to our residents in a fair, 
cooperative, ethical and honest manner. The Township will 
endeavor to manage its resources allowing planned, 
sustainable growth while preserving the quality of life and its 
unique characteristics. 


Our Vision 


The Township will strive to appropriate staff and resources to 
maintain the infrastructure in acceptable condition, provide 
exemplary service, keep Township operations financially stable 
and keep pace with technology.  As a result, the Township can 
continue to be a leader and model for the Centre Region and 
other Home Rule municipalities. 


The Township is considered a ‘Best Place to Live’ due to the high quality of life created in part 
through a sense of place achieved through the development of a vital town center, a strong 
diversified community, an effective transportation system, a rural/small town atmosphere and 
the location and availability of open space.  The Township will continue to preserve 
environmentally sensitive areas. 


We Value… 


Effective, efficient, professionalism in delivering services to our residents. Residents, 
elected and appointed officials expect the highest quality service delivery from Township staff.  
It is our duty to meet and exceed those expectations in our daily work. 


Preserving the unique character of the Township.  The Township proudly boasts a diverse 
community of all ages and professions including farmers, scholars, small and large business 
employers and employees, professionals, and students. Each give the area a character all its 
own.  It is our responsibility to ensure that policies and service delivery are directed at 
maintaining that character for generations to come. 


A well-maintained and safe environment.  Every resident and guest deserves to live, work, 
study, and recreate in a high quality environment.  Therefore, it is our responsibility  to properly 


3 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


maintain and provide for the safety of our community’s neighborhoods, streets, parks, and 
common areas. 


Managing our resources wisely.  It is recognized that resources, including tax revenue, public 
utilities such as water and sewer, and services such as police and fire, are finite and must be 
allocated in the most efficient manner.  It is our responsibility to continuously review and refine 
our practices to improve the management of public resources to provide the highest quality 
service delivery. 


Partnering with our neighboring municipalities to provide cost effective services. The 
Centre Region is home to one of the premier and oldest Council of Governments in the 
Commonwealth.  For decades, the municipalities that comprise the Centre Region have 
recognized the benefits of regional cooperation to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of 
service delivery.  It is our responsibility to maintain our commitment to the Centre Region 
Council of Governments and neighboring municipalities for programs where regional 
cooperation maximizes our return on investment. 


Ethical and honest behavior.  As elected officials and employees of the Township, every 
official, employee and service provider to the Township is directly accountable to conduct 
themselves in an ethical and honest manner.  It is our responsibility to ensure that all who 
perform work for the Township operate with the highest standards of ethical and honest 
behavior. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


4 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


Chapter 2: Executive Summary 


History  


Since its formation in 1801, Ferguson Township has 
grown into a diverse community, combining the 
characteristics of residential life with those of high-
technology industry and agriculture interests.  Named for 
Thomas Ferguson, an early settler who operated a mill in 
the Village of Pine Grove Mills at the base of Tussey 
Mountain, the Township sits on the southern edge of 
Centre County.  The Township encompasses an area of 
approximately 50 square miles and is home to nearly 
18,000 residents. Several high-tech industries have found 
a home in Ferguson Township over the years including AccuWeather, Minitab, Sound 
Technology, and Raytheon. The Township is also home to major research facilities of The 
Pennsylvania State University, one of the nation’s premier agricultural and engineering 
institutions.    


Organization 


Ferguson Township is a council-manager form of government, consisting of a Board of five 
elected Supervisors (one from each of the three wards that make up the Township and two at-
large) and a Township Manager who is responsible for administering the programs and policies 
authorized by the Board of Supervisors. Additionally, the Township government includes the 
Planning Commission, Zoning Hearing Board, and other appointed authorities, boards, and 
commissions that convene on an as-needed basis to address a variety of issues.  Since the 
1960s, Ferguson Township has been an active participant in the Centre Region Council of 
Governments (COG).  The Centre Region COG is a voluntary association of the Borough of 
State College and the townships of College, Ferguson, Halfmoon, Harris, and Patton.  It is 
responsible for administering a number of programs including regional planning, refuse and 
recycling, code enforcement, the regional library, fire protection, and parks and recreation.  


On March 14, 1974, a Government Study Commission recommended the Township modify its 
governing structure and become a Home Rule municipality.  The electorate’s approval of Home 
Rule permitted the Township to adopt its own Charter outlining the manner in which the 
Township would be governed.  Home Rule in Pennsylvania permits the municipality to enact its 
own regulations except where explicitly superseded by state or federal law.  This is different 
from, for example, a second class township that can only carry out duties assigned to it by the 
Second Class Township Code.  Since becoming Home Rule, the Board of Supervisors has 
codified and adopted a code of ordinances.   


5 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


Ferguson Township consists of five departments, each responsible for the provision of services 
enumerated by the governing body.  The Police Department is charged with criminal and traffic 
regulation enforcement and protecting the health, welfare, and safety of students, residents, 
businesses, and visitors.  The Public Works Department maintains Township roads and 
infrastructure, and assists the departments of Planning & Zoning and Police in their duties.  The 
Finance Department is responsible for managing the Township’s finances and preparing the 
Annual Operating Budget and 5-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget.  For the 
purposes of this document, the Finance Department also includes oversight of the Township’s 
Information Technology operations.  The Department of Planning and Zoning manages growth 
and development in the Township, and is responsible for ordinance enforcement.  The 
Department of Administration includes the Township Manager, Assistant Manager, and staff 
dedicated to the oversight of Township operations.  For this Strategic Plan update, the 
Administration Department also includes the Board of Supervisors, where the completion of a 
goal, objective, or action step is contingent upon their actions. 


Executive Summary 


The staff of Ferguson Township is guided in its 
decision-making by several documents, some of which 
have been outlined in greater detail above.  The 
Township’s ordinances, resolutions, budgets, 
comprehensive plan,  and the CIP are all examples of 
guiding documents that staff utilize on a daily basis to 
help allocate resources, capital and otherwise, to 
provide effective services.  However, with all of these 
supporting documents there still remain several 
questions.  How do we know our actions today are 
leading towards where residents want the Township to 
be in the coming years? How can we be sure that our resource allocation is advancing the 
Township’s mission and vision? How are the decisions we make on a staff level related to the 
goals of our elected officials? 


An effective Strategic Plan can address these questions and more.  The purpose of this 
Strategic Plan is to identify the goals of the elected officials and map out the objectives 
associated with each of them.  With a clear direction moving forward, staff can be better 
positioned to allocate resources to achieve those goals.  The document is not meant to serve as 
a specific work plan nor is it meant to be a formal authorization to allocate resources.  Rather, it 
is meant to provide a true north that all Township departments can move toward for the good of 
the community.   


In prior years, various versions of the Township’s Strategic Plan have been implemented.  This 
update will include several modifications to both the content and the layout in an effort to 
improve the utility of the document.  For example, previous versions have itemized individual 


6 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


goals for each department.  With this update, the goals are established and individual 
departments are assigned to each action step.  The previous approach was compartmentalized 
and did not recognize that more than one department may be responsible for the advancement 
of a single goal.  Additionally, previous versions lacked an adequate means of tracking the 
progress toward each goal’s completion.  A good metric is clear, unambiguous, and easy for the 
reader to interpret.  In this update, every objective has an associated progress tracker that 
measures its percent completeness.  It can, therefore, be reasonably stated that once each 
objective is 100% complete, the goal has been reached or should be modified to accommodate 
new objectives.  Finally, the goals and objectives established in this update have been 
organized from top to bottom according to staff priorities. 


To quote best-selling author Joel Barker, “Vision without Action is merely a dream…Action 
without Vision is just passing time…Vision with Action can change the world.”  The Ferguson 
Township Strategic Plan consists of three elements. Goals are statements of vision identified by 
staff and elected officials as desirable outcomes for the Township to reach.  Objectives are 
measurable, definable achievements that must be attained prior to accomplishing or advancing 
a goal. Finally, Action Steps are specific, operable processes that are undertaken to achieve 
an objective. While goals are not necessarily attainable, objectives and action steps inherently 
are.  The purpose of this Strategic Plan is to define these elements in an attempt to marry vision 
and action with the ultimate goal of improving the quality of life for those who live, work, study, 
and visit Ferguson Township. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


7 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


Chapter 3: Strategic Plan 
Goal 1.0             Financial Stability 


Ferguson Township strives to be financially stable and capable of funding 
the Township’s resource demands for immediate and long-term 
sustainability. 


 


• Objective 1.1: Continuously monitor the Township’s financial stability. 
 


o Action Step 1.1.1: Identify metrics that can be used to benchmark the 
Township’s financial strength. 
 Responsible Departments: Finance 


o Action Step 1.1.2: Establish a target debt-to-income ratio that connects the 
amount of debt incurred to what the Township can accomplish with its current 
revenue. 
 Responsible Departments: Finance 


o Action Step 1.1.3: Continue to implement and refine best management practices 
for fiscal accountability in accordance with acceptable standards. 
 Responsible Departments: Finance, Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: The Township implements strict accounting practices and routinely 
exceeds expectations of auditors and accepted standards. 


 
 


• Objective 1.2:  Accurately forecast changes in the tax base and make appropriate 
modifications to ensure a sufficient stream of revenue. 
 


o Action Step 1.2.1: Review land use ordinances and amend as necessary to 
encourage a working demographic that improves the income tax base for the 
Township. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 1.2.2:  Identify how different types of development impact the 
Township’s tax base. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Finance 


o Action Step 1.2.3: Monitor trends and demographic changes in the Township to 
anticipate demand on revenues and expenditures. 
 Responsible Departments: Finance, Administration 


8 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Some work has been done to encourage moderate income families to 
locate in the Township through modification of land development 
ordinances. 


 
 


Goal 2.0             Adequate Staffing 
Ferguson Township will maintain adequate staffing and expertise to meet 
the needs of a growing population. 


 
 


• Objective 2.1:  Identify and plan for the demands on public services as 
development expands to new areas of the Township. 
 


o Action Step 2.1.1: Manage staff size and equipment inventories as needed to 
continue to provide street maintenance, brush and leaf collection, and other 
service demands that increase with more development. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works, Administration 


o Action Step 2.1.2: Evaluate the benefits of contracting out certain services that 
will reduce cost or improve service delivery. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works, Administration 


o Action Step 2.1.3: Develop a strategy for evaluating the impact of development 
on all services including, but not limited to fire, EMS, sewer, and water. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works, Administration, Planning & 


Zoning, Police 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
2014-2018 CIP includes equipment replacements to expedite Public 
Works service delivery. Contract is currently out for snow plowing. 


 


• Objective 2.2:  Ensure adequate police personnel to support a dynamic 
residential, business, and industrial base, while meeting the demands of public 
safety. 
 


o Action Step 2.2.1: Expand on 2010 police staffing study with updated data and 
information to help guide future personnel decisions. 
 Responsible Departments: Police, Administration 


 


9 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


o Action Step 2.2.2: Plan budget accordingly to accommodate higher police 
staffing demands with new development and redevelopment. 
 Responsible Departments: Finance 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
One new Officer hired in 2013; Budget and CIP plan for new equipment 
to help accommodate increased service delivery with new development. 


 
 


Goal 3.0            Economic Development                
Ferguson Township endeavors to be a model of community and economic 
development in the Centre Region. 


 
 


• Objective 3.1: Create and maintain great neighborhoods that are diverse and offer 
a range of housing and other amenities. 
 


o Action Step 3.1.1: Apply for and secure grant funding to develop the West 
College Avenue Terraced Streetscape District (TSD). 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 3.1.2: Partner with the Borough of State College and PADOT to 
develop the West College Avenue TSD. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 3.1.3:  Modify the Traditional Town Development District to ensure 
cohesion with other land use regulations and attract developers. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 3.1.4:  Establish workforce housing guidelines. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning 


 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Mixed-use zoning districts like TTD and TSD have been established to 
appeal to a new generation of homebuyers and young professionals. 
Consultant engaged to improve TSD/TTD districts to attract development. 


 


 
 


10 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


• Objective 3.2:  Improve and sustain the economic viability of agriculture in the 
Township. 
 


o Action Step 3.2.1: Collaborate with the Penn State University Agricultural 
Science College to amend permitted zoning district uses to allow new types of 
farming. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 3.2.2: Examine Township zoning regulations to identify areas that 
can be modified to promote the sustainability of agriculture as a business. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 3.2.3: Continue to financially and administratively support 
agricultural preservation efforts. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
The Township actively participates in farmland preservation programs. 


 


• Objective 3.3:  Create a climate that supports the development of small 
businesses and entrepreneurs.  Approach this objective on a regional level. 
  


o Action Step 3.3.1: Make Township support and facilities available, where 
applicable, to small business incubators that support new businesses. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 3.3.2: Explore and implement financial incentives for economic 
development within the Township. 
 Responsible Departments: Finance, Administration 


o Action Step 3.3.3:  Review and modify zoning ordinances to encourage mixed-
use districts, streamline the plan review process, and encourage other uses that 
are conducive to the success of small businesses. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 3.3.4:  Continue support of the Chamber of Business and Industry 
Centre County (CBICC) through membership and initiative participation. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
The Township provides resources to support the mission of the CBICC. 


 


11 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


• Objective 3.4:  Implement initiatives that connect young residents (ages 18-35) to 
local government and help retain recent graduates in the Township and Centre 
Region. 
 


o Action Step 3.4.1: Enlist student groups and grassroots organizations to help 
address local issues as they arise. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 3.4.2: Where possible, provide internship opportunities for post-
secondary and continuing education students. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Planning & Zoning, Police, 


Finance, Public Works 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Staff and elected officials have met with local business incubators and 
held preliminary discussions of future partnerships. 


 


Goal 4.0            Service Delivery 
Ensure service delivery in Ferguson Township is sufficient to accommodate 
growth, addresses new concerns of the community, and is provided at the 
lowest responsible cost to residents. 


 
 


• Objective 4.1: Where appropriate and feasible, adopt a community approach to 
service delivery. 
 


o Action Step 4.1.1:  Prioritize department-wide and regional community policing 
strategies to address community issues. 
 Responsible Departments:  Police, Planning & Zoning, Public Works, 


Administration  
o Action Step 4.1.2:  Work with volunteer fire companies to encourage 


participation in the volunteer firefighter program. 
 Responsible Departments:  Administration, Police  


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
No progress has been made toward this objective. 


 
 


12 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


• Objective 4.2:  Identify and implement strategies to mitigate vehicle speeding, 
particularly in high-density residential developments. 
 


o Action Step 4.2.1: Complete traffic calming policy. 
 Responsible Departments: Police, Public Works 


o Action Step 4.2.2:  Identify targeted areas for traffic enforcement. 
 Responsible Departments: Police, Public Works 


o Action Step 4.2.3:  Where advantageous, construct or encourage the 
implementation of traffic calming measures such as roundabouts, chicanes, and 
speed humps to mitigate excessive vehicle speeds. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works, Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 4.2.4:  Support legislation to allow local police use of radar. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Police 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
New street designs are including passive traffic calming measures. Police 
continue to enforce speed limits in targeted areas. 


 


Goal 5.0            Adequately Zoned Land 
Ensure Ferguson Township has adequately zoned land to accommodate 
current and future growth. 


 


• Objective 5.1:  Improve current processes for reviewing and approving new 
subdivision and land development plans. 
 


o Action Step 5.1.1: Complete selection of consultant to submit recommendations 
to the Board of Supervisors to update existing Subdivision and Land 
Development Ordinances. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Administration 


o Action Step 5.1.2: Review and update Subdivision and Land Development 
Ordinances and present to Board for adoption. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Administration 


o Action Step 5.1.3:  Implement permitting software in conjunction with 
participating Centre Region municipalities and the Centre Region Code 
Administration. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Administration 


o Action Step 5.1.4:  Develop an interdepartmental strategy to review subdivision 
and land development plans. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Public Works, 


Administration 


13 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


o Action Step 5.1.5:  Revise zoning restrictions on alternative energies such as 
windmills and solar paneling to encourage renewable energy consumption. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Regional permitting software is nearly implemented.  Subdivision and 
Land Development ordinance amendment RFP has been drafted. 


 


• Objective 5.2: Develop and implement policies that concentrate growth in areas 
within the Regional Growth Boundary to discourage sprawl. 
 


o Action Step 5.2.1:  Rezone property within the Regional Growth Boundary 
based on forecasted growth and infrastructure in the Township. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 5.2.2: Use the Centre Region Comprehensive Plan update to assist 
in planning for future growth and for assessing revisions to zoning regulations. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Administration 


o Action Step 5.2.3:  Determine the impact of Chesapeake Bay Tributary Strategy 
to infrastructure planning and growth forecasts. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Public Works 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Completed update to Centre Region Comprehensive Plan. Regional 
Growth Boundary continues to be enforced, where possible, in the 
Township. 


 


Goal 6.0            Improve Communications 
Ferguson Township will utilize both traditional and new methods to improve 
communications and encourage involvement from residents in local 
government processes. 


 
 


o Objective 6.1: Update and maintain hardware and software used by Township 
staff. 
 
o Action Step 6.1.1: Complete transition to third-party Information Technology 


service provider. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Finance, Planning & Zoning, 


Police, Public Works 


14 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


o Action Step 6.1.2: Develop a strategic plan for Information Technology that 
includes exploring new technology such as third party hosting and open-source 
applications. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Finance 


o Action Step 6.1.3: Maintain inventory of all computing hardware to allow 
sufficient time to prepare for replacement. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Finance 


o Action Step 6.1.4: Evaluate open source software as a means to reduce 
software costs associated with commonly used office software 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Finance 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 


Third-Party IT vendor has been selected. Inventory of hardware including 
PCs and servers has been created in conjunction with new IT vendor. 
Initial IT strategic plan discussions have commenced and free, open-
sourced software for telecommunications is being explored by staff. 


 


• Objective 6.2: Develop a communications strategy to improve transparency and 
strengthen media exposure. 
 


o Action Step 6.2.1: Provide Community Communications Coordinator with 
accurate and up-to-date information for timely distribution to residents. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Finance, Public Works, 


Planning & Zoning, Police 
o Action Step 6.2.2: Promote efforts in cooperating with other government entities 


in our printed and electronic newsletter, website, and media interviews. 
 Responsible Departments -  Administration 


o Action Step 6.2.3: Develop efforts to promote and expand Constant Contact 
listservs. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Police 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Recruitment of Community Communications Coordinator has been 
completed.  Township eNewsletter was launched in June, 2013. Constant 
Contact signup contest was completed in May, 2013. 


 
 
 
 
 


15 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


• Objective 6.3: Encourage participation from new candidates on the Township’s 
Authorities, Boards, and Commissions. 
 


o Action Step 6.3.1: Consider term limitations on Township Authorities, Boards, 
and Commissions. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 6.3.2: Create and maintain a listserv for residents interested in 
volunteer opportunities. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 6.3.3: Expand community outreach events such as ‘Coffee and 
Conversation’ and the ‘Homeowner and Condo Association Open Forum.’ 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 6.3.4: Distribute resident survey and use results to identify gaps in 
resident engagement. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 6.3.5: Organize focus group of young professionals to identify 
strategies to engage this demographic. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
The Township held a Homeowner and Condo Association Open Forum 
and several Coffee and Conversation Events. 


 


• Objective 6.4: Evaluate and implement eGovernment strategies designed to 
provide convenience and accessibility to Township residents. 
 


o Action Step 6.4.1: Explore and employ social media tools as an outlet for 
Township news and a means to encourage feedback on township services and 
current issues. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 6.4.2: Identify which Township functions could be enhanced by 
providing eGovernment services. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Public Works, Police, Planning 


& Zoning, Finance 
o Action Step 6.4.3: Modify webpage layout and functionality to meet new 


demands of residents, students, businesses, and visitors. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Draft social media policies created. New web hosting service selected; 
pending budget review. 


16 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


 


Goal 7.0            Accredited Law Enforcement 
To have the Ferguson Township Police Department recognized as an 
accredited law enforcement agency by the Pennsylvania Police Accreditation 
Coalition. 


 
 


• Objective 7.1: Attain accredited status by the Pennsylvania Police Accreditation 
Coalition. 
 


o Action Step 7.1.1: Complete policy manual and supporting infrastructure 
upgrades. 
 Responsible Departments: Police, Public Works, Administration 


o Action Step 7.1.2: Gather proofs to support Accreditation Standards. 
 Responsible Departments: Police 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Policy manual is nearing completion and accreditation is anticipated in 
2014. 


 


• Objective 7.2: Maintain accredited status in compliance with the Pennsylvania 
Police Accreditation Coalition. 
 


o Action Step 7.2.1: Revise police manual as needed to respond to changing 
requirements. 
 Responsible Departments: Police 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Progress will be made toward this objective once the Accreditation 
process is complete. 


 


Goal 8.0            Regional Programs 
Ferguson Township will continue to actively participate in regional programs 
that have a demonstrable positive impact on cost and quality of service 
delivery. 


 


17 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


• Objective 8.1: Identify programs where continued and enhanced regional 
participation is desirable and develop a strategy to sustain that participation. 
 


o Action Step 8.1.1: Collect data on regional programs that are most important to 
Township residents and report results to elected officials. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 8.1.2: Evaluate the cost-effectiveness of regional services by 
comparing regional costs against costs of providing those services in-house or 
contracted with the private sector. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Planning & Zoning, Public 


Works, Finance 
o Action Step 8.1.3: Consider potential for providing services to other regional 


municipalities. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Police, Public Works 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
The Township implements strict accounting practices and routinely 
exceeds expectations of auditors and accepted standards. 


 


• Objective 8.2: Expand recycling programs in partnership with Centre Region 
Refuse and Recycling. 
 


o Action Step 8.2.1: Explore the feasibility and desirability of a regional organic 
composting program. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Public Works 


o Action Step 8.2.2: Launch an educational campaign and improve enforcement 
of commercial recycling requirements. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Enforcement of commercial recycling requirements is expanding. COG 
considering including organic composting in new recycling contract. 


 


• Objective 8.3: Explore the potential to take a regional approach to addressing 
problems with animal control in the Township and surrounding municipalities. 
 


o Action Step 8.3.1: Work regionally to resolve needs for animal sheltering. 
 Responsible Departments:  Administration, Police, Planning & Zoning 


18 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


o Action Step 8.3.2: Identify area animal shelters that may be interested in 
entering a contractual relationship with the Township and surrounding 
municipalities for kenneling services. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Police, Planning & Zoning 


o Action Step 8.3.3: Develop and implement a policy on the keeping and 
controlling of exotic animals. 
 Responsible Departments: Police, Planning & Zoning 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
No progress has been made toward this objective. 


 


Goal 9.0            Ensure Minimal Disruption 
Ferguson Township will strive to be prepared to respond to unpredictable 
events to ensure minimal disruption of services. 


 


• Objective 9.1: Improve and maintain stormwater management practices. 
 


o Action Step 9.1.1: Monitor state legislation for the authorization to create a 
stormwater management authority. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 9.1.2: Engage Homeowner and Condo Associations with best 
management practices for stormwater management. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works 


o Action Step 9.1.3: Evaluate current condition of stormwater detention basins 
and identify their likelihood of failure. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works 


o Action Step 9.1.4: Develop programs to meet Municipal Separate Storm Sewer 
Program (MS4) requirements and the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System (NPDES) permit requirements.  
 Responsible Departments: Public Works 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 


Efforts have begun to educate Homeowner and Condo Association board 
members about stormwater management practices in the Township. 
Public Works staff and Engineering complete MS4 report annually for all 
stormwater basins in the Township. 


 


19 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


• Objective 9.2: Complete, test, and modify the Township’s Continuity of Operations 
Plan (COOP). 
 


o Action Step 9.2.1: Finalize and maintain ‘disaster recovery template’ provided 
by Agility Recovery. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 9.2.2: Formalize agreement with recovery site for alternative facility 
location. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 9.2.3: Coordinate and implement testing of disaster recovery plan 
with Agility Recovery. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 9.2.4: Develop, distribute and encourage personal emergency 
response plans. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


o Action Step 9.2.5: Coordinate with all departments and staff to ensure adequate 
understanding and individual responsibilities of the recovery plan. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Agility Recovery template and portal are complete. Draft recovery site 
agreement sent to Weis Markets for review and approval. 


 
 


• Objective 9.3: Consider the value and cost associated with expanding winter 
maintenance on bikeways. 
 


o Action Step 9.3.1: Identify bike paths that are most heavily utilized as targets for 
winter maintenance. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works 


o Action Step 9.3.2: Coordinate winter maintenance on bike paths with adjacent 
municipalities and private owners to eliminate gaps in coverage. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Public Works 


o Action Step 9.3.3: Explore the possibility of contracting out bike path winter 
maintenance. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Township road crew has begun to maintain some bike paths during the 
winter months. 


 


20 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


 


Goal 10.0          Pristine Open Space 
Ferguson Township hopes to maintain some of the most pristine open space 
and developed parks in Pennsylvania. 


 


• Objective 10.1: Promote environmental and social stewardship in parkland 
development. 
 


o Action Step 10.1.1: Ensure that existing and proposed facilities comply with the 
requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA). 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works 


o Action Step 10.1.2: Encourage parkland designs that do not create adverse 
environmental impacts by employing practices such as reducing impervious 
surfaces, harvesting rainwater, and providing for bicycle parking and 
accessibility. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works, Planning & Zoning 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
New municipal and regional park designs include the provision of ADA 
facilities and the institution of best management practices for parkland 
design and development. 


 


• Objective 10.2: Identify the advantages of establishing a street tree commission. 
 


o Action Step 10.2.1: Create a scope of responsibilities the street tree commission 
would carry out. Consider modeling commission after State College Borough’s. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works 


o Action Step 10.2.2: Determine who should comprise the committee and match 
interested candidates accordingly. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works, Administration 


o Action Step 10.2.3: Develop new ordinance addressing street tree maintenance 
and program administration. 
 Responsible Departments: Public Works, Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Draft street tree ordinance has been created and is currently under 
review. 


 


21 


 







    Ferguson Township         2014 Strategic Plan 


• Objective 10.3: Continue support of Centre Region Parks and Recreation and an 
interconnected, regional park network. 
 


o Action Step 10.3.1: Identify in park master plans the potential for connecting 
trails to other parks and surrounding residential neighborhoods and places of 
interest. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Public Works 


o Action Step 10.3.2: Cooperate with municipal members of the Centre Region 
Council of Governments to work toward the development of the Whitehall Road 
Regional Park. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration, Public Works, Planning & 


Zoning, Police 
o Action Step 10.3.3: Provide Centre Region Planning Agency staff with current 


information on the supply, demand, and use of public parks and open space for 
the development of a Regional Open Space Plan. 
 Responsible Departments: Planning & Zoning, Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
Whitehall Road Regional Park is in the initial stages of development. 


 


• Objective 10.4: Actively seek new funding outlets for land acquisition and 
development of Township and regional parks. 
 


o Action Step 10.4.1: Research funding sources at state and federal levels, and 
university research funding, for recreational facilities, parkland development, and 
agricultural land preservation. 
 Responsible Departments: Administration 


Progress: 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 


Notes: 
No progress has been made toward this objective. 


 


 


22 


 





		Our Mission

		Our Vision

		We Value…

		History

		Organization

		Executive Summary






2017 
Strategic Plan







Chapter 1: Who We Are


2017 Strategic Plan      2


Our Mission
 It is Ferguson Township’s mission to provide efficient, cost effective, professional services to our residents in 
a fair, cooperative, ethical and honest manner. The Township will endeavor to manage its resources allowing 
planned, sustainable growth while preserving the quality of life and its unique characteristics. 


Our Vision
The Township will strive to appropriate staff and resources to maintain its infrastructure in acceptable condi-
tion, provide exemplary service, keep Township operations financially stable and keep pace with technology. 
As a result, the Township can continue to be a leader and model for the Centre Region and other Home Rule 
municipalities. 
 
The Township is considered a ‘Best Place to Live’ by aspiring to create a sense of place, preserving agriculture 
and environmentally sensitive areas, and establishing a vibrant town center. Ferguson Township is home to 
a strong, diversified community and provides an effective transportation system, a rural, small town atmo-
sphere, and the location and availability of open space. 
 
We Value…
Effective, efficient, professionalism in delivering services to our residents. Residents, elected and appoint-
ed officials expect the highest quality service delivery from Township staff.  It is our duty to meet and exceed 
those expectations in our daily work. 
 
Preserving the unique character of the Township.  The Township proudly boasts a diverse community of all 
ages and professions including farmers, scholars, small and large business employers and employees, profes-
sionals, and students. Each give the area a character all its own.  It is our responsibility to ensure that policies 
and service delivery are directed at maintaining that character for generations to come. 


A well-maintained and safe environment.  Every resident and guest deserves to live, work, study, and recre-
ate in a high quality environment.  Therefore, it is our responsibility  to properly maintain and provide for the 
safety of our community’s neighborhoods, streets, parks, and common areas. 
 
Managing our resources wisely.  It is recognized that resources, including tax revenue, public utilities such 
as water and sewer, and services such as police and fire, are finite and must be allocated in the most efficient 
manner.  It is our responsibility to continuously review and refine our practices to improve the management 
of public resources to provide the highest quality service delivery.







2017 Strategic Plan    3


Partnering with our neighboring municipalities to provide cost effective services. The Centre Region is 
home to one of the premier and oldest Council of Governments in the Commonwealth.  For decades, the 
municipalities that comprise the Centre Region have recognized the benefits of regional cooperation to 
improve the effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery.  It is our responsibility to maintain our commit-
ment to the Centre Region Council of Governments and neighboring municipalities for programs where 
regional cooperation maximizes our return on investment. 


Ethical and honest behavior.  As elected officials and employees of the Township, every official, employee 
and service provider to the Township is directly accountable to conduct themselves in an ethical and honest 
manner.  It is our responsibility to ensure that all who perform work for the Township operate with the  
highest standards of ethical and honest behavior.


Chapter 2: Executive Summary


History 
Since its formation in 1801, Ferguson Township has grown into a diverse community, combining the char-
acteristics of residential life with those of high-technology industry and agriculture interests.  Named for 
Thomas Ferguson, an early settler who operated a mill in the Village of Pine Grove Mills at the base of Tussey 
Mountain, the Township sits on the southern edge of Centre County.  The Township encompasses an area of 
approximately 50 square miles and is home to more than 18,000 residents. Several high-tech industries have 
found a home in Ferguson Township over the years including AccuWeather, Minitab, Sound Technology, 
Avail,  the Applied Research Lab and Raytheon. The Township is also home to major research facilities of The 
Pennsylvania State University, one of the nation’s premier agricultural and engineering institutions.   
 
Organization
Ferguson Township is a council-manager form of government, consisting of a Board of five elected Supervi-
sors (one from each of the three wards that make up the Township and two at-large) and a Township Man-
ager who is responsible for administering the programs and policies authorized by the Board of Supervisors. 
Additionally, the Township government includes the Planning Commission, Zoning Hearing Board, and oth-
er appointed authorities, boards, and commissions that convene on an as-needed basis to address a variety 
of issues.  Since the 1960s, Ferguson Township has been an active participant in the Centre Region Council of 
Governments (COG).  The Centre Region COG is a voluntary association of the Borough of State College and 
the townships of College, Ferguson, Halfmoon, Harris, and Patton.  It is responsible for administering a num-
ber of programs including regional planning, refuse and recycling, code enforcement, the regional library, 
fire protection, and parks and recreation.  
 
On March 14, 1974, a Government Study Commission recommended the Township modify its governing 
structure and become a Home Rule municipality.  The electorate’s approval of Home Rule permitted the 
Township to adopt its own Charter outlining the manner in which the Township would be governed.  Home 
Rule in Pennsylvania permits the municipality to enact its own regulations except where explicitly supersed-
ed by state or federal law.  This is different from, for example, a second class township that can only carry out 
duties assigned to it by the Second Class Township Code.  Since becoming Home Rule, the Board of Supervi-
sors has codified and adopted a code of ordinances.   
 
Ferguson Township consists of five departments, each responsible for the provision of services enumerated 
by the governing body.  The Police Department is charged with criminal and traffic regulation enforcement 
and protecting the health, welfare, and safety of students, residents, businesses, and visitors.  The Public







2017 Strategic Plan    4


Works Department maintains Township roads and infrastructure, and assists the departments of Planning 
& Zoning and Police in their duties.  The Finance Department is responsible for managing the Township’s 
finances and preparing the Annual Operating Budget and 5-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP)  
Budget.  For the purposes of this document, the Finance Department also includes oversight of the Town-
ship’s Information Technology operations.  The Department of Planning and Zoning manages growth and 
development in the Township, and is responsible for ordinance enforcement.  The Department of Adminis-
tration includes the Township Manager, Assistant Manager, and staff dedicated to the oversight of Township 
operations.  For this Strategic Plan update, the Administration Department also includes the Board of Super-
visors, where the completion of a goal, objective, or action step is contingent upon their actions. 
 
The staff of Ferguson Township is guided in its decision-making by several documents, some of which have 
been outlined in greater detail above.  The Township’s ordinances, resolutions, budgets, comprehensive plan,  
and the CIP are all examples of guiding documents that staff utilize on a daily basis to help allocate resourc-
es, capital and otherwise, to provide effective services.  However, with all of these supporting documents 
there still remain several questions.  How do we know our actions today are leading towards where residents 
want the Township to be in the coming years? How can we be sure that our resource allocation is advancing 
the Township’s mission and vision? How are the decisions we make on a staff level related to the goals of our 
elected officials? 
 
An effective Strategic Plan can address these questions and more.  The purpose of this Strategic Plan is to 
identify the goals of the elected officials and map out the objectives associated with each of them.  With a 
clear direction moving forward, staff can be better positioned to allocate resources to achieve those goals.  
The document is not meant to serve as a specific work plan nor is it meant to be a formal authorization to  
 allocate resources.  Rather, it is meant to provide a true north that all Township departments can move to-
ward for the good of the community. The Ferguson Township Manager, is primarily responsible for ensuring 
that these goals and the steps needed to achieve them are kept in front of the Board of Supervisors and the 
staff.  It is only by constantly measuring Township operations against these goals that progress can be made 
to achieve them.







Chapter 3: Strategic Planning Process


During the summer of 2016, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors made the decision to revisit and 
update the Township’s 2014 Strategic Plan.  Working with the Township staff, it was decided to invite signif-
icant resident comment and opinion regarding the services provided by the Township, what could be done 
to improve the Township, and what residents want to see in the future.  It was decided that the Township 
would seek resident comment primarily through two means.   


The first effort was through the use of an electronic survey using SurveyMonkey.  The Township opened the 
survey June 27 and closed it July 22.  The survey consisted of five multiple choice questions and a comment 
box.  The results of the survey were tallied and published and are available at the Ferguson Township offices, 
as well as on the Township’s website.
      
In July, 2016, the Township engaged Peter S. Marshall & Associates to continue work on updating the Town-
ship’s Strategic Plan.
      
The second effort to obtain resident input regarding the Township operations and future was by holding a 
series of three resident focus groups – one in each voting ward of the Township.  The first focus group was 
held in the Baileyville Community Hall on August 4, 2016.  The second focus group was held in the Ferguson 
Township Main Meeting Room on August 9, 2016.  The third and final focus group was held at the Quality 
Inn on North Atherton Street on August 10, 2016.  The results of these meetings were published and are also 
available at the Ferguson Township offices and Township website.
           
The Strategic Planning Work Session was held on Saturday, September 10, 2016 in the Ferguson Township 
Main Meeting Room.  The Work Session was facilitated by Peter Marshall.  All of the members of the Fergu-
son Township Board of Supervisors participated along with Township Manager Mark Kunkle, Assistant Town-
ship Manager David Pribulka, and the Township Department Heads.  During the Workshop, all participants 
had the following available to them: 
  
•  The resident survey executive summary
•  The resident focus group notes
•  The 2014 Strategic Plan


During the first part of the Workshop, each participant was asked to think 10 years into the future and  
to identify the conditions, services, infrastructure, and nature of the Township they would like to see.   
The following 25 answers were provided by the participants. 


What Participants in the Strategic Planning Workshop of September 10, 2016 wanted to see in the  
Ferguson Township of the future (not prioritized) 


• More art and cultural opportunities 
• Return on investment for parklands 
• Financial stability 
• A prosperous community
• Long-term economic sustainability 
• Scientifically informed decision making


2017 Strategic Plan    5


The Strategic Planning Process







• Citizen advisory boards
• A light rail system
• Reduced poverty
• More small businesses 
• A vibrant business community 
• Residents living and working in Township 
• Connectivity to PSU, other municipalities, residents
• A safe community
• Cleanliness – well-maintained businesses and residential properties
• Multi-modal transportation options
• A government focused on carbon reduction and support of renewable energy 
• Increase conserved and preserved land
• More support for diversified agriculture
• Partnership between the Township and industry to promote alternative energy 
• Use of state legislation to address and make new policies 
• Neighborhood schools
• Mixed housing in neighborhoods – affordability 
• Well-built housing
• Centralized town square
• Regionalization of services
• Engaged and involved community
 
As the Workshop continued, the participants, working in small groups, identified the goals that they  
believed would move Ferguson Township forward in the next five years.  During much of the remaining 
time, the participants discussed, considered, and then voted for the goals and objectives they felt were  
most important for the future of Ferguson Township.  Finally, in the last portion of the Workshop, partici-
pants identified the steps that would be needed to achieve the goals that they had agreed upon.  The pro-
cess involved visioning, reflections on today’s reality, and decisions about Ferguson Township’s tomorrow.


2017 Strategic Plan   6







2017 Strategic Plan   7


Goals and Steps to Achieve Them 
(Those responsible for each goal and step are noted in parentheses) 
 
1) Financial Stability 
 
   a.  Make realistic estimates of program costs. (Staff)
   b.  Regularly compare the cost of providing services in-house with costs  
         from private contractors, other municipalities, other government 
         agencies, and costs of providing services regionally. (Staff) 
   c.  Adjust revenues (taxes, fees, etc.) to adequately fund Township programs 
        and needs.  (Staff proposes, the Board initiates)
 
2) Economic Development 
 
   a.  Establish an economic development advisory group (with economic development expertise).   


   b.  Consider the employment of an economic development director (full-time, part-time, or a contracted 
         service).  This individual or contractor would be responsible to assist and support existing businesses 
         to help them prosper and expand in Ferguson Township.  He/she would be the Township’s liaison with 
         the business development community.  He/she would develop an inventory of vacant commercial and 
         industrial sites and would make that information available to interested parties.  He/she would identify 
         and pursue programs and grants to support economic development in Ferguson and would have 
         responsibility for managing the Community Development Block Grant Program.  (Board to initiate, staff  
         to implement) 
 
3) Growth Management
 
   a.  Identify and complete (develop) plans for specific small areas. (Board, Staff, Planning Commission) 
   b.  Develop a future land use plan (Comprehensive Plan). (Staff, Planning Commission, Board)   
   c.  Develop a Township housing plan to provide for low and moderately priced housing in the Township 
        (workforce housing).  (Staff, Regional input, possible ad hoc advisory group) 
 
4) Environmental Stewardship 
 
   a.  Identify and use existing tools to preserve the environment -  Chesapeake Bay Tributary strategy,  
        National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System, source water protection, conservation easements, 
        climate action plans, referendums, agricultural conservation easements, etc. (Board, Staff) 
   b.  Make certain that land development regulations and development plans are consistent with 
         environmental values (Staff, Planning Commission, Board) 
   c.  Identify and preserve natural resources and environmentally significant areas (Staff, Board, 
        Planning Commission, possible ad hoc advisory group) 
   d.  Develop and adhere to green policy for buildings, vehicles, and operations (Staff, consultants)


Chapter 4: Ferguson Township Strategic Plan







   e.  Update the Recreation, Parks, and Open Space Plan with a  
         specific emphasis on green infrastructure and sustainable  
         parkland development
 
5) Best Management Practices for Operations
 
   a.  Ensure adequate staffing and resources necessary to carry out 
        Township services and programs (Staff, Board)
   b.  Ensure proper training and professional development  
        (Staff, Board)
   c.  Ensure that operational practices are fiscally responsible (Staff) 
 
6) Increase Participatory Government 
 
   a.  Utilize both ad hoc and standing citizen advisory boards with subject matter experts from the 
        Township and the region to address issues related to parkland development and other matters  
        of community interest.”    
b.    Fully utilize two-way communication and online platforms used to communicate (Staff)  
 
7) Promotion of Clean Renewable Energy  
 
   a.  Assess the Township for opportunities for renewable energy (Staff, possible advisory group) 
   b.  Practice and promote energy conservation (Staff, Board) 
   c.  Establish zoning incentives to encourage renewable energy and energy conservation (Staff, Board, 
        Planning Commission, possible ad hoc advisory group) 
   d.  Establish an advisory group on renewable energy (Staff, Board) 
 
8) Promotion of Municipal Identity 
 
   a.  Develop our Sense of Place by developing a vibrant Town Center, preserving our agricultural  
        heritage, and promoting the features that make the Township unique. (Staff)    
   b.  Develop a Marketing Strategy (possible advisory group) 
   c.  Establish and promote community events with Township help/promotion (farmer’s markets,  
        flea markets, etc.) 
 
9) Partnerships and Regional Thinking 
 
   a.  Identify non-profits, businesses, and community groups for input on a variety of issues
   b.  Work towards regional cooperation on issues that affect the entire Centre Region 
   c.  Increase financial stability through partnerships
   d.  Monitor partnerships to ensure they continue to be beneficial


2017 Strategic Plan 8








 


  


January 9, 2022 


Ferguson Township 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 1 


Preface 


Ferguson Township is a naturally beautiful mix of urban, suburban, and rural land that 
has seen a nearly 7.5% increase in population over the past ten years and 35.2% over 
the past twenty years.  In fact, the township has been steadily growing since the 1940 
Census when the population was 1,936, about 10% of today’s population of 19,009.  
Throughout the years of growth, the township has maintained a blend of residential 
options from the higher density of the east to the lower density spanning the west. 
 
The mix of housing and neighborhood types help to support the wide range of 
businesses.  The township is home to agricultural, defense, education, manufacturing, 
and service industries, providing for a variety of live here – work here opportunities. 
 
Adding to working where you live, residents also can play here with the ever-present 
open space and recreational opportunities. The township is home to many parks and 
has been recognized as a “Bronze” bike-friendly community by the League of 
American Bicyclists.   
 
Perhaps the greatest attribute of the township is its people.  In addition to the 
talented professional staff, Ferguson Township is home to many engaged residents 
who bring their expertise and knowledge to make it the great place that it is.  The 
people had shown their love of community when describing it as “A great place to 
raise a family”, “I love living in Ferguson Township”, and “A friendly community which 
has been developed with attention to quality of life.” 
 
The following pages were written as an ongoing planning process where the 
township’s leadership reviews and revises its planning documents.  Peter Melan and 
Stephen Nowroski of Polity bring more than 30 years of municipal experience to the 
plan.  Throughout the process, we have enjoyed the beauty of the township and 
engaging with the elected officials, township staff, and the residents. 
 


 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 2 


Chapter 1: Who We Are  


Our Mission  


It is Ferguson Township’s mission to be inclusive, provide efficient, cost effective, 
professional services to our residents in a fair, cooperative, ethical and honest 
manner. The Township will endeavor to manage its resources allowing planned, 
sustainable growth while preserving the quality of life and its unique characteristics.  


Our Vision  


The Township will strive to appropriate staff and resources to maintain its 
infrastructure, be a leader in conservation and green energy, provide exemplary 
service, keep Township operations financially stable, promote diversity, and keep 
pace with technology. As a result, the Township can continue to be a model for the 
Centre Region and other Home Rule municipalities.  


The Township is considered a ‘Best Place to Live’ by aspiring to create a sense of 
place, preserving agriculture and environmentally sensitive areas, and establishing a 
vibrant town center. Ferguson Township is home to a strong, diversified community 
and provides an effective transportation system, a rural, small-town atmosphere, and 
the location and availability of open space.  


We Value...  


Effective, efficient, professionalism in delivering services to our residents. 
Residents, elected and appointed officials expect the highest quality service 
delivery from Township staff. It is our duty to meet and exceed those 
expectations in our daily work.  


Preserving the unique character of the Township. The Township proudly 
boasts a diverse community of all ages and professions including farmers, 
scholars, small and large business employers and employees, professionals, 
retirees, and students. Each give the area a character all its own. It is our 
responsibility to ensure that policies and service delivery are directed at 
maintaining that character for generations to come.  


A well-maintained and safe environment. Every resident and guest deserve 
to live, work, study, and recreate in a high-quality environment. Therefore, it is 
our responsibility to properly maintain and provide for the safety of our 
community’s neighborhoods, streets, parks, and common areas.  


Managing our resources wisely. It is recognized that resources, including tax 
revenue, public utilities such as water and sewer, and services such as police 
and fire, are finite and must be allocated in the most efficient manner. It is our 
responsibility to continuously review and refine our practices to improve the 
management of public resources to provide the highest quality service 
delivery.  







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 3 


Partnering with our neighboring municipalities to provide cost effective 
services. The Centre Region is home to one of the premier and oldest Council 
of Governments in the Commonwealth. For decades, the municipalities that 
comprise the Centre Region have recognized the benefits of regional 
cooperation to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of service delivery. It is 
our responsibility to maintain our commitment to the Centre Region Council of 
Governments and neighboring municipalities for programs where regional 
cooperation maximizes our return on investment.  


Ethical and honest behavior. As elected officials and employees of the 
Township, every official, employee and service provider to the Township is 
directly accountable to conduct themselves in an ethical and honest manner. It 
is our responsibility to ensure that all who perform work for the Township 
operate with the highest standards of ethical and honest behavior.  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 4 


Chapter 2: Executive Summary  


History  


Since its formation in 1801, Ferguson Township has grown into a diverse community, 
combining the characteristics of residential life with those of high-technology industry 
and agriculture interests. Named for Thomas Ferguson, an early settler who operated 
a mill in the Village of Pine Grove Mills at the base of Tussey Mountain, the Township 
sits on the southern edge of Centre County. The Township encompasses an area of 
approximately 50 square miles and is home to more than 19,000 residents. Several 
high-tech industries have found a home in Ferguson Township; including 
AccuWeather, Minitab, Sound Technology, Avail, the Applied Research Lab and 
Raytheon. The Township is also home to major research facilities of The Pennsylvania 
State University, one of the nation’s premier agricultural and engineering institutions.  


Organization  


Ferguson Township is a council-manager form of government, consisting of a Board 
of five elected Supervisors (one from each of the three wards that make up the 
Township and two at-large) and a Township Manager who is responsible for 
administering the programs and policies authorized by the Board of Supervisors. 
Additionally, the Township government includes the Planning Commission, Zoning 
Hearing Board, and other appointed authorities, boards, and commissions that 
convene on an as-needed basis to address a variety of matters. Since the 1960s, 
Ferguson Township has been an active participant in the Centre Region Council of 
Governments (COG). The Centre Region COG is a voluntary association of the 
Borough of State College and the townships of College, Ferguson, Halfmoon, Harris, 
and Patton. It is responsible for administering several programs including regional 
planning, refuse and recycling, code enforcement, the regional library, fire 
protection, and parks and recreation.  


On March 14, 1974, a Government Study Commission recommended the Township 
modify its governing structure and become a Home Rule municipality. The 
electorate’s approval of Home Rule permitted the Township to adopt its own Charter 
outlining the way the Township would be governed. Home Rule in Pennsylvania 
permits the municipality to enact its own regulations except where explicitly 
superseded by state or federal law. This is different from, for example, a second-class 
township that can only carry out duties assigned to it by the Second Class Township 
Code. Since becoming Home Rule, the Board of Supervisors has codified and 
adopted a code of ordinances.  


Ferguson Township consists of five departments, each responsible for the provision 
of services enumerated by the governing body. The Police Department is charged 
with criminal and traffic regulation enforcement and protecting the health, welfare, 
and safety of students, residents, businesses, and visitors. The Public Works 
Department maintains Township roads and infrastructure and assists the departments 
of Planning & Zoning and Police in their duties. The Finance Department is 
responsible for managing the Township’s finances and preparing the Annual 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 5 


Operating Budget and 5-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Budget. For the 
purposes of this document, the Finance Department also includes oversight of the 
Township’s Information Technology operations. The Department of Planning and 
Zoning manages growth and development in the Township and is responsible for 
ordinance enforcement. The Department of Administration includes the Township 
Manager, Assistant Manager, and staff dedicated to the oversight of Township 
operations. For this Strategic Plan update, the Administration Department also 
includes the Board of Supervisors, where the completion of a goal, objective, or 
action step is contingent upon their actions.  


The staff of Ferguson Township is guided in its decision-making by several 
documents. The Township’s ordinances, resolutions, budgets, comprehensive plan, 
and the CIP are all examples of guiding documents that staff utilize daily for the 
allocation of resources to provide effective services. However, with all these 
supporting documents there remain several questions.  


1. How do we know our actions today are leading towards where residents want 
the Township to be in the coming years?  


2. How can we be sure that our resource allocation is advancing the Township’s 
mission and vision?  


3. How are the decisions we make on a staff level related to the goals of our 
elected officials?  


An effective Strategic Plan can address these questions and more. The purpose of 
this Strategic Plan is to identify the goals of the elected officials and map out the 
objectives associated with each of them. With a clear direction, staff are better 
positioned to achieve those goals. The document is not meant to serve as a specific 
work plan, nor is it meant to be a formal authorization. Rather, it is meant to provide a 
true north that all Township departments can move toward for the good of the 
community. The Ferguson Township Manager is primarily responsible for ensuring 
that these goals and the steps needed to achieve them are kept in front of the Board 
of Supervisors and the staff. Only through constantly measuring Township operations 
against these goals that progress can be made to achieve them.  







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 6 


Chapter 3: Strategic Planning Process  


The Strategic Planning Process  


Beginning in 2006, Ferguson Township leadership began the ongoing work of 
developing and maintaining a strategic plan.  Since the first plan, there have been 
several updates, with the most recent occurring in 2016-2017.  Keeping an eye on the 
future while preserving the past, the Board of Supervisors endeavored to update the 
plan again; looking to make an update that encompasses the rapidly changing world 
while protecting the townships legacy. 


During the summer of 2021, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors made the 
decision to revisit and update the 2017 Strategic Plan.  After issuing a Request for 
Proposals (RFP) and interviewing respondents, the Township engaged Polity to work 
with staff to complete this work.   


The process included significant public input, primarily through surveys and public 
meetings, promoted by township staff through online and in-person outreach.  Both 
efforts occurred simultaneously, with Polity hosting the online survey and three public 
meetings occurring with resident stakeholders, business stakeholders, and elected 
officials.  Additionally, Polity invited residents, business, non-profits, and other 
stakeholders to comment directly through phone and email. 


Utilizing publicly available information, and secure encryption, the online survey was 
able verify respondents were residents or had a business in the township and protect 
their privacy.  Access was available from November 11, 2021, through February 28, 
2022.  Survey questions focused on economic, community, infrastructure, housing, 
safety, environmental, and government subjects.  When asked to describe their 
township, there were several reoccurring themes, “beautiful area”, “lovely parks”, 
“great walking and bike paths”, and “great schools”. 


  







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 7 


Resident meeting 


The first public meeting was held at Discovery Space on November 18th, where 
residents were invited to participate in a live survey, and engage in discussion 
regarding the current plan, status, and future goals.  Conversation with the residents 
was very engaging, exceeding the planned time for the event.  It was clear that some 
of the important topics of five years ago have changed or shifted. 


 


Participants expressed the following as the highest areas of importance: 


1. Financial stability 
2. Park availability 
3. Affordable housing 
4. Environmental matters 
5. Open space 
6. Economic development 
7. Agriculture & Staff retention [tie] 
8. Blight 
9. Business growth 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 8 


Specific areas of concern were: 


• Overdevelopment 
• Overpriced housing/affordable housing 
• Traffic congestion 
• Infrastructure resilient to climate change 


The SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats) discussion.  The 
participants of this meeting identified the following: 


Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities Threats 
• Safe 


neighborhoods 
• Recreational 


opportunities 


• Transportation 
options 


• Lack of 
affordable 
housing 


• Major 
employers 


• Recreation 
• Open 


space/farmland 


• Housing 
developments 


• Fossil fuels 
• Transient 


population 


Business meeting 


The second meeting on November 30th, was held at the Township Municipal Main 
Meeting Room, with business stakeholders.  Not surprisingly, business 
representatives had several different concerns than the residents.  A lot of discussion 
was focused on improving transportation and the conveniences of working within the 
township, and improved feedback from the township.  Perhaps the most significant 
outgrowth was the idea of a business-leader group that would advise and provide 
recommendations to township leadership.  For this group to be effective, it is 
believed that it needs to be community-driven, and the township would maintain 
open lines of communication with representatives. 


 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 9 


When asked if the business anticipated future investment in workforce, 80% said yes.  
Considering business growth, participants were asked if there was consideration for 
land acquisition to growth, 33% said that it was a possibility. 


The SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats) discussion.  The 
participants of this meeting identified the following: 


Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities Threats 
• Environment 


infrastructure 
• Infrastructure 


support 
(roads/sidewalks) 


• Planning for the 
future 


• Agriculture 
needs 


• Policy-
making 
inclusion 


• Zoning and 
land use 
regulations 


• Business 
development 
growth 


• Preserve open 
space 
 


• Overdevelopment 
and overcrowding 


• Competition from 
other 
municipalities for 
development 


Leadership meeting 


On December 18th, on the second floor of Pine Grove Hall and through Zoom, the 
township held a leadership retreat and public meeting where community leaders and 
residents participated in a robust discussion about the future of the township.  This 
meeting was attended by all member of the Board of Supervisors, including newly 
elected supervisors, who have not yet been sworn in. 


Additionally, Township Manager David Pribulka, Assistant Manager Centrice Martin, 
Police Chief Chris Albright, and was facilitated by Peter Melan of Polity. 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 10 


This workshop involved a full review of the existing strategic plan, status of action 
items, and the relevance of goals as we looked to the future.  Through several hours 
of discussion, the group was able to set clear the goals for the future.  Participants 
made the following observations regarding the existing plan: 


1. Financial stability: The township has done an excellent job in this area, but its 
relevance is ongoing.  The concern is that the township has a lack of control 
over regional costs, and that the other communities do not have the same 
goals for estimating and cost-containment. 


2. Economic development: There is “warm” support for this goal, with some 
believing it is necessary for the orderly growth of the township, while others do 
not believe it should be a function of government.  Concerns include bringing 
on additional staff and the appropriating the necessary funding for the 
department. 


3. Growth management: Although there was a consensus that the township has 
done well here, there is work to be done.  Concerns include the regional land-
use plan being reactive and the role of the regional partners in the sharing in 
the growth management.  More planning is necessary throughout the 
township for many goals, such as workforce housing, up-zoning, and 
conservation, among other important topics. 


4. Environmental stewardship: Significant progress has been made and this 
remains a priority item.  The discussion involved combining this goal with goal 
seven “Promotion of clean renewable energy”.  Concerns include encouraging 
property owners to take on green practices and the source of the township’s 
energy to charge green technology, such as batteries and cars. 


5. Best management practices: An accredited police department and record of 
good finances is an excellent indicator of progress in this area.  Concerns 
remain regarding the staffing levels and the broad range of “priority” goals.  At 
times staff is spread too thin and projects get delayed. 


6. Participatory government: Participants were split on this topic, as there are 
signs the township has done well to garner public participation and the hybrid 
meeting environment has been beneficial.  Like many municipalities, residents 
do not get involved unless there is a controversial topic; there is belief that low 
participation means the township is doing a good job.  A concern is that the 
meetings run long and township meetings conflict with school board and other 
meetings, which may hurt participation. 


7. Promotion of a municipal identity: There seems to be less support for this 
topic than previously mentioned.  The concern is that the idea of a “town 
center” is challenging for this township because of the three identities, it is 
hard to create a “sense of place”.  A few town center ideas were discussed such 
as Pine Grove Mills and terraced streetscape zoning.  An idea that came up 
was developing a marketing strategy and how economic development 
personnel would play a role. 


8. Partnerships and regional thinking: Mixed feelings about this item.  
Concerns include the challenges of moving policy through the COG and that 
there can be an over-reliance on the organization.  In some regards, it is easier 
to work directly with other municipalities and not through the COG.  







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 11 


 


The SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats) discussion.  The 
participants of this meeting identified the following: 


Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities Threats 
• Stability in staff 
• Financial 


stability 
• Tax Base 
• Community 


assets 


• Competing 
views of the 
three wards 


• Lack of 
affordable 
housing 


• Too reactive 


• Resources due 
to growth 


• Geographical 
diversity 


• Rothrock State 
Park 
 


• Two very different 
populations in the 
township 


• Sprawl 
• Loss of institutional 


knowledge 
through attrition 


A “Perfect” Ferguson Township 


Survey respondents and participants what a perfect Ferguson Township would look 
like five years from now.  The following trends developed: 


• Development control and preservation of open space and parks.  
• Green energy including more solar and electric vehicle charging options. 
• Expansion of bike paths, including the connection thereof. 
• Reducing vehicle traffic through roadway evaluation and improvements, and 


improved transportation options. 
• Lower taxes and fees. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 12 


Chapter 4: Data Analysis  
Survey Response Analysis 
(Note: In each chart, the data was weighted based on the importance given by the respondents.  
The blue bar shows the topic had a higher priority and the orange bar shows the topic was a lower 
priority.) 


ECONOMIC TOPICS 
 
When asked about economics, Financial Stability was a clear top priority of the seven 
choices presented, with Long-term Economic Sustainability coming in second place.  
Preservation of Farmland came in as the third-highest priority, but interestingly, this 
topic had equal support as the most important and least important. 
 
Another interesting outcome was that there was a moderate level of importance 
given to More Small Business with over 47% of the votes considering it to be the third 
or fourth highest priority, but there is a strong opinion that A Vibrant Business  
Community is of low importance with nearly 67% considering it to be one of the three 
lowest priorities.  
 
Reduced Poverty was also considered to be of a moderate level of importance, but 
the votes were spread across the levels of importance with 50% ranking it as one of 
the three lowest levels of importance and nearly 40% ranking it as one of the three 
highest levels of importance. 
 
Finally, More Art and Cultural Opportunities was considered the least important 
economic issue, with over 31% of the votes considering it the lowest importance and 
71% voting it as one of the three lowest levels. 
 


 


0


5


10


15


20


25


30


35


Financial
stability


Long-term
economic


sustainability


Reduced
poverty


More small
business


Vibrant
business


community


More art and
cultural


opportunities


Preservation of
farmland


Economic Topics


Higher Importance Lower Importance







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 13 


COMMUNITY TOPICS 
 
When asked about community matters, “A Prosperous Community” and “Access to 
Recreational Opportunities“ (Trails, parks, open space) were clearly considered the 
top two topics.  84.2% consider A Prosperous Community and 73.7% consider Access 
to Recreational Opportunities to be a top-3 issue.  
 
Also with higher importance, “Engaged and Involved Community" ranked highly with 
60.5% top 3 votes, but interestingly, “Citizen Advisory Boards” slightly leans towards 
less importance with 52.6% of votes as a bottom-3 issue. 
 
The two topics that received the least amount of “importance” votes, were “Residents 
Living and Working in the Township” with 73.7% calling it a bottom-3 issue, and 
“Access to Recovery/Support Programs such as AA, NA” received 0 top 2 issue votes, 
and a resounding 55.3% said it was the least important issue. 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


0


5


10


15


20


25


30


35


A prosperous
community


Citizens advisory
boards


Engaged and
involved


community


Residents living
and working in
the township


Access to
recovery/support


programs


Access to
recreational


opportunities


Community Topics


Higher Importance Lower Importance







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 14 


INFRASTURCTURE TOPICS 
 
When considering the infrastructure of Ferguson Township, survey respondents 
considered “Connectivity to PSU and Other Municipalities” to be the most important, 
with 60.5% considering it to be a top-3 issue.  Closely in second place is “Improve 
Internet Speed or Township Wi-Fi” with 57.9% listing it as top-3 importance. 
 
“Multi-modal Transportation Options” was rated as the third highest importance with 
34.2% saying it is their second most important infrastructure issue. 
 
“Newly Paved Roads”, “Improved Traffic Signals”, and “Improve Mobile Phone 
Connectivity” were all balanced in votes received, without any showing a significant 
trend as more- or less-important. 
 
A “Centralized Town Square” was shown to have little importance with the 
respondents, with 50% considering it to be a bottom-3 issue. 
 
Finally, “A Light Rail System” was considered the least important by 44.7% of the 
responses, and only 5.3% voted it as a top-3 issue. 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


0


5


10


15


20


25


30


A lig
ht r


ail
 sy


ste
m


Connecti
vit


y t
o PSU


 &
 other…


Multi-
modal 


tra
nsp


orta
tio


n…


Centra
lize


d to
wn sq


uare


Newly 
pav


ed ro
ad


s


Im
prove


d tr
aff


ic s
ign


als


Im
prove


d in
ter


net s
peed/o


r…


Im
prove


d m
obile


 phone…


Infrastructure Topics


Higher Importance Lower Importance







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 15 


HOUSING TOPICS 
 
As the township continues to see population growth, housing will maintain an 
important topic for the foreseeable future.   
 
Respondents feel that “Well-maintained Commercial and Residential Properties” is 
the most important housing issue, with “Well-built Housing” in a close second place, 
and the third most-important issue is “Housing-type Variety”.  These three topics are 
considered to be a top-3 matter by 76.3%, 73.7%, and 71.1% respectively.  
Fortunately, the township has several tools at their disposal to address these topics, 
through proactive code enforcement, property maintenance codes and inspections, 
and zoning regulations. 
 
“Mixed Housing in Neighborhoods” was strongly considered a topic of low 
importance, and “Accessible Housing” was voted by 50% of respondents to be the 
lowest importance. 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


0


5


10


15


20


25


30


35


40


Well maintained
properties


Mixed housing in
neighborhoods


Housing type variety
(SFD/2FD/APT)


Well-built housing Accessible housing
(ADA)


Housing  Topics


Higher Importance Lower Importance







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 16 


SAFETY TOPICS 
 
The responses showed strong trends for safety topics within the township, with 86.8% 
and 94.7% voting that decreasing police or fire and medical personnel are not 
important. 
 
Following the trend above, 55.3% believe increasing the police force and 84.2% 
ranked increasing fire and medical personnel in thier top-3, ranking them third and 
first most-important, respectively.   
 
The second most important topic is “Improved Emergency Communications” with 
76.3% considering it a top-3 issue. 
 
The distribution of votes for “Increased Fire and Medical Personnel” and “Improved 
Emergency Communications” made both clear favorites, with the former receiving 
zero bottom-2 votes and the latter only receiving two bottom-2 votes. 
 
Although 42.1% of the respondents listed “Increased Neighborhood Watch Program” 
as their third-most important issue, the totality of responses put this issue as the 
fourth-most important. 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


0


5


10


15


20


25


30


35


Increased police
force


Decreased police
force


Increased fire and
medical


personnel


Decreased fire
and medical
personnel


Increased
neighborhood
watch program


Improved
emergency


communications


Safety  Topics


Higher Importance Lower Importance







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 17 


ENVIRONMENTAL TOPICS 
 
Ferguson Township continues to value the environment and works to be a steward 
thereof.  The survey results show that 42.1% of respondents feel the most important 
environmental issue is “Increased Conserved and Preserved Land”.  In fact, no other 
issue in the survey received as many votes as the number one issue. 
 
The second most important issue to township residents is “More Support for 
Diversified Agriculture”.  Fifty percent of respondents considered diversified 
agriculture to be a top-3 issue. 
 
Two matters were very close to being ranked as the third most important: “Tax 
Rebates for Energy Improvements to Residential Property” and “Carbon Reduction & 
Support for Renewable Energy”.  The former was favored slightly more than the latter, 
but their close interconnectedness and that “Promotion of Alternative Energy” was 
considered a moderately important issue, shows support for efforts to increase 
renewable energy use. 
 
It is important to note that “Tax Rebates for Energy Improvements to Commercial 
Properties” was found to be unfavorable, with 44.7% of respondents stating that it is 
the least important issue.  Perhaps unsurprisingly, “Business Incentives for Sustainable 
Practices” was considered a bottom-3 issue by 60.5% of respondents. 
 
 


 
 
 
 


0


5


10


15


20


25


30


35


Increase
conserved and
preserved land


More support
for diversified


agriculture


Promotion of
alternative


energy


Carbon
reduction &


support
renewable


energy


Business
incentives for
sustainable


practices


Tax rebates for
energy


improvements
to residential


property


Tax rebates for
energy


improvements
to commercial


property


Environmental  Topics


Higher Importance Lower Importance







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 18 


GOVERNMENT TOPICS 
 
The final section of the survey showed some clear opinions of the important matters.  
Two of which were very close, “Scientifically Informed Decision-Making” and 
“Transparency of Government Deliberations” were the clear top two topics, with the 
first having more “most important” votes, and the second having more overall “top-3” 
votes.  When factoring in votes for lower importance, transparency shows as the more 
important issue, with 23.7% considering it a bottom-3 versus 34.2%. 
 
When evaluating the responses for the third most-important subject, two were very 
close.  52.6% of responses indicated that “Regionalization of Essential Services” is 
top-3, whereas “Increased Community Representation” received 50% as the same.  
Although regionalized services were rated with slightly more importance, community 
representation should be further evaluated with the third most-important community 
issue “Engaged and Involved Community”. 
 
The last two topics, “State Legislation for New Policies” and “Visibility of Government 
Officials in the Community” were both considered unimportant, with 71.1% and 
73.7% rating these subjects as bottom-3 importance. 
 
 


 
 


 


 


0


5


10


15


20


25


State legislation
for new policies


Regionalization of
essential services


Scientifically
informed decision


making


Transparency of
government
deliberations


Increased
community


representation


Visibility of
government


officials in the
community


Government  Topics


Higher Importance Lower Importance







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 19 


Chapter 5: American Community Survey (ACS)  


ACS: Total Population 


Centre County saw a modest increase in population between the 2010 census and 
2020 census.  From a population in 2010 of 153, 990 to a population of 158,172 in 
2020, the county saw growth at less than 3% in 10 years. 
 
Ferguson Township experienced moderate growth for the same period.  Between 
2010 and 2020, the township grew by 7.46%, essentially doubling the rate for Centre 
County in its entirety.  The American Community Survey 5-Year estimates offered a 
slightly different picture of growth where the percentage growth between the years 
2010 averaged 1.41%. 
 
As displayed below, the graph represents minimal growth based on the ACS 5-Year 
Survey in conjunction with the Decennial Census that represents a 7.6% increase in 
population. 
 
 


 
 
 
  


15500


16000


16500


17000


17500


18000


18500


19000


19500


20000


2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019


ANNUAL POPULATION - ESTIMATED


Number of Residents







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 20 


ACS: Housing Estimates 


Additionally, the number of housing units over the same 10-year period equally 
experienced the same growth as the population.  With a modest increase averaging 
1.48%, over the same period, the amount directly correlated to the population 
growth estimates by indicating that increasing the housing units proportionally affects 
the housing population in a 1:1 ratio.  As the number of housing units increases over 
time with a constant rate, so will the population. 
 
During our research and subsequent data analysis, Census data from 2000 indicated 
the number of housing units equaling 5,699.  In 10 years, the amount saw a dramatic 
increase of 31.6% to 7,501 units.  In 2010, the number of housing units equaled 
7,501, therefore on average from 2000-2010, Ferguson Township saw approximately 
180 housing units constructed or repurposed into livable accommodations for its 
growing population. 
 
 


 
  


6600


6800


7000


7200


7400


7600


7800


8000


8200


8400


2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019


ANNUAL HOUSING ESTIMATES


Number of Housing Units







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 21 


ACS: Breakdown of Race 


From the years 2010 through 2019, Ferguson Township experienced moderate 
growth amongst the various racial makeup of its citizens.   
 
The average change in population fluctuated during the timeframe with an overall 
average of a 10% increase in the township population broken down by each 
individual race. 
 


White        1% 
Black or African American     9% 
American Indian and Alaska Native   2% 
Asian        4% 
Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander  26% 
Some Other Race      19% 
Hispanic or Latino      2% 
Two or More Races      17% 


 
One anomaly to note is the absence of data for certain year/race combinations.  For 
the purpose of calculating the above annual average increases, data was excluded 
where no census information was reported.   
 


   
 
 


   
  


12000
13000
14000
15000
16000
17000
18000


20
10


20
11


20
12


20
13


20
14


20
15


20
16


20
17


20
18


20
19


Number of White 
Residents 


100
300
500
700
900


20
10


20
11


20
12


20
13


20
14


20
15


20
16


20
17


20
18


20
19


Number of Black or 
African American 


Residents 


0


50


100


150


20
10


20
11


20
12


20
13


20
14


20
15


20
16


20
17


20
18


20
19


Number of American 
Indian and Alaska 
Native Residents 


1500


2000


2500


3000


20
10


20
11


20
12


20
13


20
14


20
15


20
16


20
17


20
18


20
19


Number of Asian 
Residents 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 22 


 
 
 


   
 
 


   
  


0


20


40


60


20
10


20
11


20
12


20
13


20
14


20
15


20
16


20
17


20
18


20
19


Number of Native 
Hawaiian and Other 


Pacific Islander 
Residents 


0
10
20
30
40
50
60


20
10


20
11


20
12


20
13


20
14


20
15


20
16


20
17


20
18


20
19


Number of Some Other 
Race Residents 


300


400


500


600


700


800


20
10


20
11


20
12


20
13


20
14


20
15


20
16


20
17


20
18


20
19


Number of Hispanic or 
Latino Residents 


150


250


350


450


550
20


10
20


11
20


12
20


13
20


14
20


15
20


16
20


17
20


18
20


19


Number of Two or More 
Races Residents 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 23 


Chapter 6: Ferguson Township Strategic Plan  


Goals and Tasks 


I. Financial Stability 
 
Local government aims for financial sustainability in ensuring the wellbeing of citizens 
at the expense of their respective incomes. The Board of Supervisors are the highest 
decision-makers who are responsible for setting the aims and evaluating the outcome 
of municipal operations. Hence, local politicians’ notions on financial sustainability 
play an important role in sustainable decision-making. This concept reigns true in 
Ferguson Township.  The Administration has maintained its property tax rate as the 
cost of goods and labor rates continuously increase on an annual basis. 
 
The recent adoption of a stormwater fee to ensure Ferguson Township is in 
compliance with federal regulations was a significant policy decision that avoided 
deviating public funds to a mandate.  Although the fee created controversy, future 
administrations are able to properly budget for future upgrades as a result of the 
monthly fee assessed to property owners. 
 
As stewards of public money, it is also a responsibility of the Administration to 
maintain and increase transparency for delivering information to citizens.  The budget 
process is an excellent exercise to discuss the financial status of Ferguson Township 
and project for the future.  There is a lack of information disseminated to the public 
throughout the year that indicates a present-tense version of the financial situation.  
An example is displaying the percentage of expenses spent in the Month of July in 
relation to Revenue.  Presenting information to the public also helps alleviate the 
cumbersome process of requesting documents through the Right-To-Know. 
 
Additionally, the cost of maintaining an adequate level of service to constituents will 
continue to rise as a relative percentage annually.  The labor rate will continue to 
increase as part of the collective bargaining process and also retaining non-union 
staff who are keenly aware that positions in the private sector often pay competitive 
wages with other non-compensatory benefits that help with their recruitment. 
 
FINANCIAL CHECKLIST 


 
Create 1, 5, & 10 year financial forecasts  
 
 
Ensure wages are competitive to local market 
 
 
Implement an online financial dashboard 
 
 
Develop a stormwater fee project update section on the website 
 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 24 


II. Economic Development 
 
Ferguson Township continues to maintain a steady growth in businesses who wish to 
operate or relocate from their original location to expand and increase revenues.  As 
the township continues growing, so too will the need for a qualified professional to 
lead economic development.  Economic development works together with municipal 
identity, helping to shape it and use it to increase economic opportunities. 
 
Some highlights of the economic development benefit a business owner is entitled to 
as they consider Ferguson Township for their operation: 
 


• Low property taxes 
• Neighbor to major employers 
• Increased population with increased earning capacities 
• Minutes to major thoroughfares 
• No business privilege tax 


 
The summary of benefits is merely a touch on what Ferguson Township has to offer.  
With an increased business community, the residual increase to other revenues plays 
a significant part in the overall financial stability strategy.   
 
As Ferguson continues to grow, the discussion should focus on recruiting a 
professional who specializes in public sector economic development.  The individual 
would primarily focus on tasks closely associated with increasing the marketability of 
the township.  To strengthen the position, the individual may also be responsible for 
grant management; helping to fund the position.  The following is a brief summary of 
the responsibilities: 
 


• Develops short- and long-range economic development plans 
• Gathers, interprets, and prepares data for studies, reports, and 


recommendations 
• Helps to cultivate and promote the municipal identity 
• Provides technical and professional advice 
• Prepares promotional materials 
• Develops and maintains a comprehensive inventory of available buildings 


and sites, utilities, services and financing tools for economic development  
 
Funding for the position can be contingent on the application of available grants that 
the individual would apply for and receive an administration fee to distribute 
amongst the applicable programs.  Understandably, concerns regarding adding an 
employee contributes to the overall complement of staff, with additional costs to 
pension, healthcare, and other fringe benefits.  The position could also be reviewed 
on an annual basis to ensure the costs and benefits are in line with the employee 
receiving an appropriate level of grants and their administrative costs.  There are 
several ways to dissect the funding of this position, however, the overall intent should 
be to consider the long-term impact of a qualified individual directing Ferguson 
Township through its economic prosperity and viability as a competitor to its 
neighboring municipalities. 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 25 


 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CHECKLIST 


 
Develop a list of sustainable economic goals for the township. 


 
Evaluate if the township can reach its economic goals with existing staff.  


 
Study the benefits of creating an Economic Development Department. 


 
Utilize surveys of existing businesses and residents and look to studies 
of similar areas that employed an economic development department. 
 


Quantify the ability to self-fund the department through grants and increased 
revenues. 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 26 


III. Growth Management 
 
Centre County has seen its population grow by 4,182 people since the 2010 Census, 
of which 31.5% has been within Ferguson Township.  As the township continues with 
significant population growth, managing the increased population is going to be 
progressively pressing.  Compounding the matter, without sufficient housing or other 
intervention, the lack of supply will likely result in even higher prices.  Determining 
where and how to allow for the development necessary will require examination and 
review of the Township’s planning and zoning documents. 
 
Ferguson Township residents have described the township as having three distinct 
areas, the “urban” area adjacent to State College Borough, the “suburban” area 
surrounding the urban, and the “rural” area which encompasses the rest of and the 
majority of the township land.  Each area has corresponding density, with some minor 
exceptions in the rural area such as Pine Grove Mills and Ramblewood, small village 
areas. 
 
In addition to the housing concerns with increased population and limited housing 
supply, the concern with preserving land needs to be balanced.  Often, existing areas 
of density (Wards 2 and 3) are considered for “up-zoning”, to provide for greater 
density in an already dense and walkable area.  Benefits may include affordable 
housing options in an area that is already provided with transportation alternatives 
and other services.  Allowing for more development in these areas can reduce the 
township’s costs for providing these amenities while meeting the needs to provide 
diverse housing options for the growing population. 
 
 
GROWTH MANAGEMENT CHECKLIST 


 
Internal meeting with professional staff to determine potential areas for 
incremental growth. 
 
Evaluate incremental growth areas for the ability to sustain increased 
population.  
 
Determine to what extent, if any, land development regulations need to be 
amended. 
 


Potential amendments may include alterations to building height and 
density, or the creation of special zones that allow for a mix of 
commercial uses with residential opportunity. 


 
Develop outreach efforts to include the affected communities and 
stakeholders for consensus molding. 
 
Draft amendments for adoption by the Board of Supervisors. 
 


 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 27 


IV. Environmental Stewardship 
 
Ferguson Township has shown its leadership in environmental stewardship and is 
proudly a Sustainable Pennsylvania Certified Gold Community.  With alternative 
energy initiatives and green infrastructure policies, Ferguson Township is a leader in 
Centre County.  Through the surveys and community meetings, residents echoed 
their desire to promote environmental sustainability and protect open space. 
 
The 2017 Strategic Plan listed Environmental Stewardship and Promotion of Clean 
Renewable Energy as two separate goals.  Through this process, it became clear that 
the two goals are overlapping and share the similar outcomes, resulting in the 
merger.  As the market continues to shift investment in the development of more 
efficient and affordable green-energy technology, the township will have more 
flexibility in how to allocate resources for environmental efforts. 
 
Look to opportunities that may exist by partnering with Penn State University to 
develop and implement sustainability measures.  
 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL STEWARDSHIP CHECKLIST 


 
Review existing plans, documents, and tools for ongoing relevance.   


 
Propose amendments or commission studies to make updates where 
necessary. 
 


Evaluate preservation regulations to determine current relevance and 
contribution to the intended goal.  


 
Propose amendments or update policy to address needed revisions to 
existing preservation regulations. 
  


Ensure the previously identified natural resources and environmentally 
significant areas are being maintained and preserved. 
 
Review existing green policies for buildings, vehicles, and operations for 
adequacy and adherence. 


 
Propose and implement any necessary changes to green policies. 
 


Utilize Penn State University or other potential partners two develop long-
term sustainability initiatives. 
 


 
 
 
 
 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 28 


V. Best Management Practices for Operations 
 
The current form of government distinguishes clear guidelines between the 
Administration and elected officials.  The continued success of the relationship is 
reliant on directives and goals defined by the board of supervisors that are concise 
and manageable. 
 
Chief executive officers, such as the Township Manager, of local municipalities are 
chosen to lead the organization and rely on professional staff members to complete 
the necessary tasks to maintain a satisfactory level of operation for constituents.  The 
level of involvement by senior staff members to oversee the continued success of 
Ferguson Township is critical to its growth and prosperity. 
 
As technology grows and continues to become an integral part of Ferguson 
Township, there are opportunities to allow for streamlining of operational tasks that 
are designed to increase efficiencies.  Online systems specifically engineered for 
citizen engagement are unique to the public sector industry and help to integrate the 
multiple systems into a single point of entry that removes ambiguity on questions 
directed to staff such as “Where Do I…”. The concept would mimic the navigation bar 
on the website where it reads “How Do I…”. 
 
BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES FOR OPERATIONS 


 
Increase opportunities to allow for payment of additional items such as utility 
billing, real estate taxes, and other financial items 
 
 
Allow for online applications of construction permits, zoning applications, 
and other civic-related services 
 
 
Research alternate payment methods that allow for reduced transaction fees 
to assist those constituents with financial hardships 
 
 
Modify existing website to allow for direct communication with Key Contacts 
on each page  
 
 
Task department heads with researching ways to improve the overall 
experience with township operations by creating efficiencies using current 
applications 


  







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 29 


VI. Increase Participatory Government 
 
Continued restrictions on local municipalities from the effects of COVID-19 have 
caused many governments to take extra steps to maintain their engagement with 
residents.  Using technology platforms such as Zoom, has resulted in a net positive by 
allowing remote participation.  Ferguson Township continues to lead by adapting to 
improved technology, such as upgrading equipment in the Board of Supervisor’s 
meeting room to enhance remote participation. 
 
Although a reduction in restrictions may allow for more in-person participation, the 
enhanced communication equipment making participating more flexible provides an 
opportunity to engage more residents at each meeting.  The remaining challenge is 
the segment of the population who are unable to engage remotely.  The lack of 
viable internet service or adequate technology continue to hinder those affected 
from participating. 
 
One method to increase participation might include holding public meetings outside 
of the township building at regional locations periodically throughout the year.  The 
selected locations would require specific technical aspects to be met in order to 
comply with all laws pertinent to the overall conduct of township business. 
 
Another popular platform for real-time engagement with residents is through 
applications such as Intercom, which can be installed on the Ferguson Township 
website.  Visitors on the site can interact with a chatbot or other mechanism and have 
an opportunity to engage staff for assistance with their inquiry.   
 
 
INCREASED PARTICIPATORY GOVERNMENT CHECKLIST 


 
Conduct outreach research to determine the concerns or hurdles faced by 
stakeholders in participating. 


 
Utilize the data learned from the research to identify the issues that can 
be addressed by the township. 


 
Present a report to the Board of Supervisors on the challenges and how 
best to address them. 


 
Allocate funding, as necessary, to remove the barriers to participation. 
 


Develop a marketing strategy to showcase the benefits of participating in 
discussions or joining boards and committees. 
 


 
  







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 30 


VII. Partnerships and Regional Thinking 
 
Thinking and participating in regional cooperation is very important and notoriously 
difficult. Ferguson Township plays an integral role in the Centre Region Council of 
Governments working on regional planning, recreation, code enforcement, library 
services, park maintenance, emergency management and fire protection.  Financially, 
the township’s annual contribution increased in 2021 by approximately 3.56% to 
$2.149MM.  Each member, through the shared services, helps to shape a uniform 
vision and quality of life in the region, allowing for a variety of benefits. 
 
The success of the COG relies on the strength of its members who are committed to 
the mission of solving for shared challenges and solutions.  As other regions and 
municipalities face decreasing levels of service to constituents, the COG, through 
shared resources, helps to maintain enhanced levels of quality services in an 
economically sensitive method.   
 
Although regional cooperation can have many benefits and work in the interest in all 
members, there can be room for improvement.  Challenges, of particular concern, 
with the current terms of the council is the amount of time it takes to move policy and 
a perception that there is an over-reliance on the COG.  
 
The region shows continued growth with businesses and residents choosing Centre 
County.  That growth directly affects services and may require additional 
contributions by COG members to maintain support.  Modifications to the services 
provided by or received by the township requires an evaluation of need vs cost, and 
the ability to replace a service ‘in-house’. 
 
 
PARTNERSHIPS AND REGIONAL THINKING CHECKLIST 


 
Evaluate the quality, efficiency, and effectiveness of each shared service, as it 
pertains to value received and associated costs. 


 
Using the evaluation, determine the trade-offs between services where 
the township contributes more vs where the township receives more. 


 
Understanding the total costs for the shared agreements, take a 
leadership role within the COG to balance the benefits. 
 


Work with COG partners to develop new policies that can be adopted to 
improve workflows and services. 
 
Seek out collaboration and partnerships with companies and Penn State 
University to provide innovative solutions to pressing problems such as 
economic development and environmental stewardship. 


 
 
  







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 31 


VII. Public Safety 
 
Ferguson Township currently provides police coverage for its constituents through its 
own department.  Fire services are provided by the Alpha Fire Company and 
emergency medical services are contracted through Centre LifeLink EMS. 
 
With fire and EMS dispersed throughout several municipalities, there is a nationwide 
trend to maintain a regional component for public safety as several matters continue 
to hamper independent or municipal-based agencies. 
 
The recruitment and retention in law enforcement is slowly approaching a crisis.  
Competing benefits with other departments, difficulties in attracting new officers, 
escalating labor costs, and the national sentiment towards public safety dominate 
conversations with local officials.  The solution requires extensive analysis on how to 
fund operations moving forward and an overhaul of the current system that relies on 
state intervention to mend a severely depleted system. Antiquated rules such as Civil 
Service regulations continue to hinder a police department’s ability to maintain a 
comprehensive list of applicants rather than perform tests every two years. 
 
Volunteerism in the fire service continues to deplete departments as the industry 
faces a significant shortfall in members.  As departments strive to acquire apparatus 
and ensure safety for firefighters, local funding does not meet the needs of its 
regional service, potentially leading to financial deficits that are crippling to the 
departments. 
 
EMS continues to face annual losses in certified providers at a 4% rate statewide.  As 
agencies discontinue services to municipalities, there is an additional strain on those 
departments who operate where they are requested for mutual aid to render aid in 
neighboring communities.  The result is increased response times that result in 
delayed patient care.   
 
PUBLIC SAFETY CHECKLIST 


 
Create a public safety committee to research current and future challenges. 
 


 
Initiate discussions on police recruitment. 
 


 
Evaluate current regional fire/EMS component to ensure constituents receive 
adequate services. 
 
Analyze current funding models for fire/EMS to maintain viability and 
continuity. 
 
Invest in training programs for fire/EMS personnel that are cost-neutral to 
individuals. 


 
 







2022 Strategic Plan 
 


 32 


IX. Promotion of Municipal Identity 
 
A municipality’s identity is likened to the identity of a person.  Everyone has their own 
unique characteristics and experiences that define their individuality.  Reputations are 
developed based on actions and visibility is determined by efforts made to be 
known; all of this develops a brand.  Building and projecting a clear identity requires 
a well-defined and deliberate effort of the stakeholders based on data and mutual 
intentions.  Municipal identity works with economic development to promote the 
township as a desirable place to live, work, and play. 
 
Also, like people, identity is often not what you want, but what you have.  To that end, 
Ferguson Township has a sprawling landscape with diverse density and population; a 
single identity is challenging to create.  The uniqueness of an area needs to be 
community-driven and organic; a top-down approach will face friction.  A sense of 
place cannot be manufactured but must be derived from the inhabitants. 
 
The outdoor life, state parks, trails, and biking may be the key resources for identity 
outside of PSU.  The Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and Natural 
Resources’ website states, “Rothrock State Forest has become a premier mountain 
biking area in the state, containing a combined 290 miles of trails and state forest 
roads open for this use.”  Like the Great Smokey Mountains define eastern 
Tennessee, and the vineyards of the Napa Valley, Ferguson Township can leverage its 
natural resources to help define it. 
 
 
PROMOTION OF MUNICIPAL IDENTITY CHECKLIST 
 


Internal meeting of professional staff and the board of supervisors to identify 
resources and goals of municipal identity, evaluate the existing visibility, and 
determine the target audience. 
 
Engage the residents in the different areas of the township to gather input 
and understanding of how the people view the township’s identity. 
 
Utilizing the data gathered, develop several identities and branding 
strategies, including logos and social media outreach. 


 
Present the options to the residents for feedback and refinement. 


 
Execute the branding strategy to promote the identity within the township 
and region. 
 
Employ the municipal identity to attract businesses and tourism. 
 


 





















 
 


FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Regular Meeting 


Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
 
ATTENDANCE 
The Board of Supervisors held its second regular meeting of the month on Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
as a virtual zoom meeting.  In attendance were: 
 
Board: Laura Dininni, Chair 


Lisa Strickland, Vice Chair 
Hillary Caldwell 
Patty Stephens 
Tierra Williams 
 


Staff: David Pribulka, Township Manager 
Eric Endresen, Director of Finance 
Dave Modricker, Director of Public Works 
Jenna Wargo, Director of Planning and Zoning 
Centrice Martin, Assistant Township Manager 
 


Others in attendance included:  Rhonda Demchak, Recording Secretary; Jeremie Thompson, Chair, 
Ferguson Township Planning Commission; Bill Keough, Ferguson Township Planning Commission, 
Rhonda Stern, Ferguson Township Resident; Brian Becker, Ferguson Township Resident; Michael 
Twomley, Ferguson Township Resident; Tom Adams, Ferguson Township Resident; Kelei Allen, 
Ferguson Township Resident; Kathy Detwiler, Ferguson Township Resident; Lori Steffensen, Ferguson 
Township Resident; Chris Schubert, Ferguson Township Resident; Dave Kerr, Ferguson Township 
Resident; Christopher Lash, Ferguson Township Resident;, Ron Gilligan, Ferguson Township 
Resident; Ben Gilligan, Ferguson Township Resident; Vicki Fong, representing Asian Pacific Islander 
Desi Americans; Nalini Krishnankutty, representing Asian Pacific Islander Desi Americans; Cindy Hahn, 
CNET, Tom Adams, Ferguson Township Resident 


I. CALL TO ORDER  


Ms. Dininni called the Monday, January 18, 2022, regular meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.  
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that the Board of Supervisors meeting had been advertised in accordance with the 
PA Sunshine Act as a virtual meeting via Zoom with space available in the Township main meeting 
room for any public members to participant.  Persons attending the meeting as members of the public 
and wanted to participate were asked to enter their name, municipality, and topic by utilizing the Q&A 
bubble at the bottom of the screen.  Members of the public are to be muted during the meeting and 
must be acknowledged by the Chair.  C-NET is recording as well.  Mr. Pribulka took Roll Call and there 
was a quorum. 
 


II. CITIZENS INPUT  
 
Mr. Brian Becker stated that he agrees with the Stormwater Fee but requested to cease the fee this 
year due to the economy.   
 


III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors approve the Reorganizational and Regular 
meeting Minutes of January 3, 2022.  Ms. Williams seconded the motion.  The motion passed 
unanimously. 


 
IV. AUTHORITIES, BOARDS, AND COMMISIONS REPORT 


 
Mr. Pribulka stated that there are no reports because the ABC meetings start in February.   


V. SPECIAL REPORTS 
 
a. COVID-19 Local Response Report – David Pribulka, Township Manager 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 2 
 


Mr. Pribulka reported that there has not been changes in the operational aspect of the Township from 
the last update.  Centre County has 30,624 positive cases with 305 deaths.  There have been 85,979 
reported negative cases reported on the PA COVID-19 Dashboard for Centre County.  Across the 
Commonwealth, the cases have reached 2,050,283 and there have been 38,619 deaths.  Centre 
County full vaccination rate shows that 92,223 residents have been fully vaccinated with 13,756 having 
received one dose.  The County vaccination rate is at 58.9% and 67.6% have been partially vaccinated.  
There are 7,032,761 people in PA fully vaccinated as of today.  As of January 17th, Mount Nittany 
Medical Center has 39 positive patients in their care ranging in ages from 37 to 96 years of age.  30 of 
the 39 hospitalized were unvaccinated with six patients on ventilators.  Mr. Pribulka encouraged all 
Ferguson Township residents to receive the vaccine.  


Ms. Strickland stated that the free at home test kits became available today and suggested placing the 
information on the website. Ms. Strickland noted that the State College Area School District is providing 
higher quality masks to their vulnerable students and asked if Mr. Pribulka knew if the County or any 
other municipality will be.  Mr. Pribulka replied that he wasn’t aware but will do some research.   


VI. COG AND REGIONAL COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Ms. Dininni reminded everyone that this is a new process in which the reports are included in the 
agenda with the Board members giving a 2–3-minute review of highlighted areas. 
 
1. COG COMMITTEE REPORTS 


 
a. Climate Action & Sustainability Committee  


Ms. Caldwell reviewed the report that was included in the agenda packet. 
  


b. Public Safety Committee  
Ms. Stephens reviewed the report that was included in the agenda packet. 
 


c. Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee  
Ms. Strickland reviewed the report that was included in the agenda packet and noted it was 
their first meeting as LUCI.   
 


d. Human Resources Committee  
Ms. Williams reviewed the report that was included in the agenda packet. 
 


e. Facilities Committee 
Ms. Stephens reviewed the report that was included in the agenda packet. 
  


f. Joint Parks Capital Committee and CRPRA  
Ms. Dininni reviewed the report that was included in the agenda packet. 
 


g. Finance Committee 
Ms. Dininni reviewed the report that was included in the agenda packet. 
 


h. Executive Agenda 
Ms. Dininni noted that the Executive Committee met today and set up the agenda for the 
COG General Forum meeting on January 24th.  They nominated the officers.  Rich Francke, 
Chair; Jesse Barlow, Vice Chair    


 
VII. STAFF REPORTS 


 
1. Manger’s Report 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 3 


Mr. Pribulka noted that Thomas Giles has stepped down as the Township’s representative 
on the C-NET Board.  There will be an application period open for that vacant spot on the 
C-NET Board.   
 


2. Public Works Director Report 
 


Mr. Modricker noted that his report is included in the agenda packet.   
 
Ms. Stephens asked if owners will be notified when there is work to be down on streets.  Mr. 
Modricker stated that they will be notified.   Ms. Stephens requested the notification about 
the Open House so that she can share.  
 
Ms. Strickland thanked Mr. Modricker for the fun facts regarding the solar panels on the 
Public Works Building that were included in the report.  
 
Ms. Dininni opened the conversation up regarding the format on reporting of the Regional 
Reports.  Ms. Dininni envisioned a written report and then a verbal report that would consist 
of a few highlights.  
 
Ms. Stephens liked the idea of a written report and suggested reporting on action items. 
 
Ms. Williams concurred with Ms. Stephens.  
 
Ms. Caldwell noted that she agreed with the written report and suggested a template, a due 
date for the report, and where should they be sent. 
 
Ms. Strickland agrees with the written report and suggested reporting on critical items.  Ms. 
Strickland noted that at her committee meeting there was a suggestion about adding 
checkboxes to items that need feedback from the Board of Supervisors.   
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that he would need the agenda items the Wednesday before the Monday 
of the meeting and the reports on Thursday prior to the meeting on Tuesday.  Mr. Pribulka 
stated that the committee meetings that take place the day before will need to be emailed 
out to the elected officials.   
 
Ms. Dininni noted that all committee reports can be included except for the Executive 
Committee.   As far as the format, Ms. Dininni asked if we should use Mr. Bernier’s form 
that would include action items and check boxes for follow-up. 
 
The Board agreed to use Mr. Bernier’s form that he created for College Township.   
 


VIII. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
1. Establishing 2022 Board of Supervisors’ Regular Meeting Dates 


 
Ms. Centrice Martin noted that as directed by the Board of Supervisors at the Organizational 
Meeting, held on January 3, 2022, staff confirmed with C-NET that staff is available to cover and 
live broadcast Ferguson Township Regular Meetings on the first and third Tuesday of each month. 
C-NET also confirmed they can accommodate an earlier start time; however, it was noted a start 
time any earlier than 6:00 p.m. could be challenging for them. C-NET is available to live broadcast 
Ferguson Township Regular Meetings on a Tuesday schedule beginning on February 15th pending 
a successful live connection test completed.  Ms. Martin noted that they had a successful 
connection.   
 
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 4 


Provided with the agenda is a copy of a proposed meeting schedule for the Board to hold its 
regular meetings on the first and third Tuesday of each month, with the exception of December 
when the Board would meet on the first two Tuesdays because of the holiday season. Also 
provided with the agenda is a copy of the proposed meeting schedule for the Board’s practice to 
hold its regular meetings at 7:00 p.m. on the first and third Monday of each month as presented 
at the January 3rd regular meeting.   
 
Ms. Caldwell moved that the Board of Supervisors establish its regular meeting schedule for 2022 
as the first and third Tuesday of each month at 7:00 p.m. except that it will meet on the first two 
Tuesdays in December.  Ms. Dininni seconded the motion.   
 
Ms. Strickland noted that the proposed chart of dates list November 8th which is election day.  Ms. 
Centrice will correct and update.   
 
Ms. Stephens asked about a 6:00 p.m. start time.   
 
Ms. Caldwell noted that Yom Kippur will be held on October 4th and will not be in attendance.   
 
Ms. Williams stated that she wouldn’t be opposed of a start time of 6:45 p.m. and suggested to be 
mindful of religious holidays. 
 
Ms. Caldwell moved that the Board of Supervisors amend the meeting on October 4th to be held 
on October 3rd to observe Yom Kippur.  Ms. Stephens seconded the motion.    
 
The motion passed unanimously  
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that the February 1st meeting will not be live streamed.  Ms. Cindy Hahn, 
Executive Director, CNET, reiterated that it will not be live streamed.  Live cable streaming will 
start on February 15th.   


 
2. Review of Songbird Sanctuary Park Master Plan Prefinal Draft 


 
Ms. Martin report that an effort has been underway since 2019 to prepare the Songbird Sanctuary 
Park Master Plan. The Township acquired the 8.99-acre property that is bounded by Owens Drive 
and Blue Course Drive. The Assistant Township Manager established a multidisciplinary steering 
committee comprised of staff and residents to facilitate a master planning process to prepare the 
Songbird Sanctuary Park Master Plan. Guiding principles that informed the master planning 
process focused on the passive recreation and environmental benefits of the site. Since the first 
meeting, held April 8, 2019, the steering committee engaged the Parks and Recreation Committee, 
the community, and staff throughout the park master planning process for continued involvement 
and input to present a final master plan to the Board that reflects community interests and park 
needs. Provided with the agenda is a copy of the report for the Songbird Sanctuary Master Plan.  
 
Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors authorize a public hearing for the next 
scheduled meeting on the draft Songbird Sanctuary Park Master Plan.   
 
Ms. Dininni noted that the next meeting is February 1st.   
 
Ms. Strickland seconded the motion.   
 
Ms. Strickland asked if there is any mowing involved.  Ms. Martin stated a maintenance schedule 
will need to be created and then implement it with CRPR.   
 
Ms. Dininni asked if the site would be considered a sustainable parkland designation.   
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 5 


Mr. Pribulka stated that the intent is to have minimal maintenance. 
 
Ms. Dininni had a resident ask about the location of parking.  Mr. Pribulka stated that the park is 
intended as a commuter park/neighborhood park, but there is some parking at the end of Owens 
Drive. 
 
Ms. Martin answered that there is no plan to include the park as a sustainable parkland designation, 
but if the Board would like to include it can be sent to the Parks & Recreation Committee.  Mr. 
Pribulka stated that if it is goal specific for the site, it should be referenced in the Master Plan.   
 
The motion passed unanimously.    


 
3. Award of Contract 2021-18 Homestead Park Play Equipment Installation 


 
Mr. Pribulka reported that previously, the Board directed staff to redesign the physical layout of the 
playground structure planned for Homestead Park to an alternate location east of the existing 
parking lot and include handicap accessible improvements. In addition, the Board requested staff 
to obtain alternate pricing for a poured in place fall surface. Included with tonight’s agenda is an 
award recommendation from Ryan Scanlan, Assistant Township Engineer. The memo includes a 
site plan and details for installation of the playground structure just east of the parking lot, a 
summary of the project cost including the alternate, and a detailed engineering cost estimate. In 
addition, the memo contains pros and cons of wood fiber versus poured in place fall surface. As 
noted in the memo, the play structure has already been purchased, and some work will be 
performed by Public Works staff. The budget for the project is $75,000. The total cost of the project 
with the wood fiber fall surface is within budget, while the total cost of the project with the poured 
in place fall surface is over budget. The Board is being asked to determine which fall surface to 
install and award the installation.   
 
Ms. Caldwell asked how the poured in place fall surface would retain heat during summer.  Mr. 
Modricker stated that he didn’t have an answer.   
 
Ms. Strickland is interested in what color the surface will be.   
 
Ms. Williams asked if the playground equipment will be split into age groups.  Mr. Pribulka 
responded that the new equipment is for 5–12-year-olds, but there are other pieces in the park that 
are for toddlers.  Ms. Williams asked if there will be swing sets.  Ms. Martin noted that there are 
swings there, but not with this project. 
 
Ms. Dininni had questions regarding maintenance and who would be responsible.  Mr. Modricker 
will need to do research for the answer.   
 
Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors award Contract 2021-C18 Homestead Park 
Playground Installation to Willow Playworks in accordance with their quote through the COSTARS 
purchasing program in the amount of $38,115.00.  Ms. Strickland seconded the motion.   
 
Ms. Caldwell would like the Board and perhaps community input with creating a list of other 
requests that might be made regarding the material.  
 
Ms. Williams wants to ensure the surface is safter than the mulch.  Mr. Pribulka spoke on behalf of 
watching his own children take falls on the proposed surface and feels it is safer.   
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that staff will investigate color, heat effects, maintenance, and lifecycle of the 
material.   
 
The motion passed unanimously.   







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 6 


 
4. Continued Discussion – Zoning Ordinance Amendments 


 
Ms. Wargo reported that in November 2019, the Township completed its comprehensive update to 
the Zoning and Subdivision and Land Development Ordinances. Since the amendments, staff has 
been tracking errors and omission while interpreting the ordinance and is recommending additional 
amendments to address these issues. During the January 3, 2022 meeting, the Board tabled the 
amendments to allow staff to research additional topics discussed during the meeting. Included 
with the agenda, is a redlined version and a clean version of the draft amendments. Staff has 
reviewed historic files in relation to Bed and Breakfasts’ (B&B’s) and hasn’t come across regulations 
deterring potential B&B’s from opening in the Township. Moving parking regulations to the 
Subdivision and Land Development Ordinance (SALDO) provides flexibility for potential B&B 
operators and staff recommends reviewing all Uses within §27-700—Supplemental Regulations to 
explore other parking requirements that could be moved to the SALDO for flexibility.  
 
In addition, staff has concerns removing the owner-occupied requirement from the B&B definitions 
due to similarities that the use would share with a hotel and to protect neighborhoods from a 
commercial use operating in a residential zoning district. Staff would recommend leaving this 
requirement as-is or requiring a property manager/agent to live at the B&B full-time. 
 
The Board supports investigating parking regulations with regards to the SALDO.   
 
Ms. Strickland had concerns removing the owner-occupied requirement from the B&B definitions.  
 
Mr. Pribulka explained the difference between B&B and short-term rentals.   
 
Ms. Dininni didn’t have concerns with removing the restrictions.  Ms. Dininni’s preference would be 
to change owner occupied requirement to agent occupied.   
 
Ms. Stephens concurred with Ms. Strickland. 
 
Ms. Strickland suggested looking at Ms. Dininni’s idea of owner-occupied requirement to agent 
occupied as a separate agenda item.  Ms. Dininni agreed and suggested having the Pine Grove 
Mills Small Area Plan research.  The rest of the Board concurred.   
 
Ms. Dininni reported that in other municipalities individuals have been stopped by police riding their 
bikes on designated paths through parks at dark as a means of transportation.  Ms. Dininni would 
like to make a change in the ordinance, so people are not getting stopped trying to commute.  
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that the ordinance will be in the Parks & Recreation Ordinance.  Ms. Wargo 
stated that this has been addressed with the police to be permissible.  CRPR is working to get 
additional signage to the municipalities to allow for nighttime biking as a commute.  
 
Public Comment 
 
Mr. Ron Gilligan spoke on behalf of the possibility of rezoning places of assembly.  Mr. Gilligan and 
his father are in the auctioneering business and opposes the idea of rezoning places of assembly.  
The Gilligan’s reside in Ferguson Township.  Mr. Gilligan noted that he has never had problems 
renting buildings in PA.   Mr. Gilligan stated that there will be consequences that will affect a lot of 
people if it is rezoned such as the Lion’s Club, Grange, VFW, churches, etc.  There will be 
thousands of dollars lost in revenue.  In the event that it is rezoned, Mr. Gilligan stated that he 
would see the Township in court.   
 
Mr. Chili Allen reported that a few weeks ago he was outside cooking and the police were called 
due to his smoker.  Mr. Allen asked for clarification on the definition of a smoker and recreational 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 7 


fire.  Mr. Pribulka suggested that Mr. Allen reach out to his office.  Mr. Allen stated this has been 
an ongoing issue with one neighbor for over three years.  Ms. Dininni noted that this issue is in 
another ordinance, but it will be addressed.  
 
Mr. Keough stated that his comments are on behalf of Baileyville Community Hall as the President 
and not in the capacity as a Planning Commission member.  Mr. Keough asked Ms. Dininni what 
the possible restrictions are with the allowable activities of a place of assembly and what would be 
the impacts.  Ms. Dininni addressed that there has been a misunderstanding and stated that the 
passage related to places of assembly came directly out of the Township’s code 2-2.5 years ago 
while Mr. Gilligan was holding his auctions at the Baileyville Hall.  Ms. Dininni reiterated that the 
code was in place and never intended to prohibit activities from taking place.   
 
Mr. Keough understood Ms. Dininni’s comments but doesn’t understand the implications of every 
word that was spoken.  Mr. Keough recommended to the Board to make no changes to the places 
of assembly at this time and to bring up as a separate discussion item with feedback from places 
of assembly. 
 
Ms. Strickland pointed out a few height discrepancies and will email them to Ms. Wargo.   
 
Ms. Dininni asked about background check regarding food truck operators.  Ms. Wargo stated it is 
not codified in any ordinances but is a requirement of the CRPR to operate in a park.  Ms. Wargo 
noted that the Township included the background check language in the Township’s ordinance.  
Ms. Dininni asked since the Township is requiring food truck operators to have a background check 
why isn’t the Township making it standard practice for other areas.  Mr. Pribulka will obtain 
clarification from the Park Director. 
 
Ms. Wargo reported that staff discussed with the Township Solicitor that the zoning amendments 
would not impact any current uses of places of assembly.  The solicitor stated that the accessory 
uses would not be vested in an old ordinance if the Board would amend the current ordinance.   
 
Mr. Pribulka provided insight of changes in 2012 that were done to the language of places of 
assembly.  
 
Ms. Dininni concurred with Mr. Keough’s idea of having B&B and places of assembly as separate 
agenda items. 
 
Mr. Pribulka stated that he is unclear with the direction the places of assembly is going.  Ms. 
Caldwell suggested including it in a worksession.  Ms. Williams attended the Coffee & Conversation 
and noted that the public needs time to understand the terminology that is being used to respond. 


 


IX. NEW BUSINESS 
 
1. Consent Agenda 


 
a. Voucher Report – November 2021  
b. Treasurers Report - October 2021 for Acceptance  
c. Pay Application: 2021-C23 Science Park Pole Replacement: $42,532.99  
d. Pay Application: 2021-C14 Science Park / College - Cabinet Replacement: $5,766 
 
Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors approve the Consent Agenda and accept the 
Treasurers Report.  Ms. Williams seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously.  


2. Proclamation – Recognizing The Lunar New Year of 2022 
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 8 


Ms. Dininni reported that Ferguson Township recognizes the importance of the Lunar New Year for 
many Asian communities and for Americans of Asian origin. The Lunar New Year is based on the 
Lunar calendar, a repeating 12-year cycle of animal signs and their ascribed attributes. The Lunar 
New Year marks the transition from one animal to the next, with January 31, 2022 end the Year of 
the Ox, and February 1, 2022 starting the year of the Tiger. The tiger is the third of the 12 zodiac 
animal signs, and those born in the Year of the Tiger are often seen as brave, confident, and well-
liked by others. The Board of Supervisors is asked to consider the proclamation provided with the 
agenda. In attendance were Nalini Krishnankutty and Vicki Fong representing Asian Pacific 
Islander Desi Americans (APIDA).  
 
Ms. Strickland moved that the Board of Supervisors adopt the proclamation of the Township of 
Ferguson, Centre County, Pennsylvania officially recognizing the Lunar New Year of 2022.  Ms. 
Williams seconded the motion. 
 
Ms. Strickland read the proclamation that was included in the agenda. 
 
Ms. Krishnankutty thanked the Board for issuing the proclamation.  Ms. Krishnankutty noted that 
the APIDA was created last April with 8-10 members and over the last 9 months has grown.   
 
ROLL CALL:   Ms. Caldwell – Yes:  Ms. Dininni – Yes:  Ms. Stephens – Yes:  Ms. Strickland – 
Yes:  Ms. Williams – Yes 
 


3. Award of Contract 2022-C5 Storm Sewer Cleaning and Video Assessment 
 
Mr. Modricker reported that on January 11, 2022 bids were opened publicly and read aloud for 
contract 2022-C5. The bid was advertised in the Centre Daily Times and was sent to potential 
bidders. The contract involves cleaning storm sewer pipes and conducting a video assessment and 
documenting conditions. Provided with the agenda is a memorandum from Ryan Scanlan, Assistant 
Township Engineer, dated January 11, 2022, recommending award of the contract.   
 
Ms. Stephens moved hat the Board of Supervisors award Contract 2022-C5 Storm Sewer Cleaning 
and Video Assessment to Insight Pipe Contracting, LLC in accordance with their bid in the amount 
of $75,793.80.  Ms. Caldwell seconded the motion.   
 
Mr. Brian Becker, Ferguson Township Resident reiterated his comments from the beginning of the 
meeting that the fee should be ceased for 2022. 
 
The motion passed unanimously.   
 


4. Discussion of Parking Study on North Butz Street 
 
Mr. Modricker noted that on December 17th, staff met with residents of N. Butz Street concerned 
about future overflow parking onto N. Butz Street from the West College Avenue student housing 
project under construction. Residents expressed concern about cars parking on N. Butz Street 
too close to W College Avenue and parking within the sight distance triangle at the alley. The 
group discussed consideration for no parking on the east side of the street, 2-hour parking, and 1 
handicap stall for the hair studio. 
 
Mr. Pribulka reviewed a slide of the area of concern. 
 
Ms. Rhonda Stern, Ferguson Township Resident expressed concerns due to fast moving vehicles 
and parking on both sides of the street.  Ms. Stern suggested having parking only on the east 
side of the street.  
 







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 9 


Ms. Caldwell moved that the Board of Supervisors direct the Township Engineer to conduct a 
parking study for N Butz Street and provide a recommendation to the Board for consideration. 
Ms. Strickland seconded the motion.   
 
Ms. Dininni asked if Pine Grove Mills wanted a traffic study would they go through the same process 
as North Butz Street.  Mr. Pribulka stated there is not a defined process. 
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 


5. Ordinance Amendment Application – TTD Zoning District 
 
Mr. Pribulka stated that on January 10, 2022, Chris Schubert, Esq. on behalf of his client, AT&T, 
submitted an application for a text amendment to the Traditional Town Development zoning district. 
Included in the agenda is the draft text amendment.  
 
AT&T submitted requests for variances from §27-303.A.D. (prohibits telecommunication facilities 
within this zoning district), §27- 710.3.A., (setbacks), and §27-710.H.2. (buffer landscaping) to the 
Zoning Hearing Board and the application was denied. AT&T is proposing a text amendment to 
locate a telecommunications tower in the Traditional Town Development Zoning District. 
 
Mr. Pribulka reported that the application is in the agenda packet and noted it is very thorough.   
 
Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors refer the application to Planning Commission 
for a recommendation.  Ms. Williams seconded the motion. 
 
Mr. Christopher Schubert was in attendance and stated it is a cell site that is very much needed 
due to the growth in the area.  The facility will provide enhanced emergency communication 
services.  
 
Ms. Caldwell asked if it would have any impact on providing wireless broadband.  Mr. Schubert 
stated it would provide enhanced broadband services. 
 
The motion passed unanimously.     
 


6. Team Rahal of State College Zoning Hearing Board Appeal 
 
Mr. Pribulka reported that pursuant to Section 901 of the Pennsylvania Municipalities Planning 
Code, 53 P.S. Section 10101 et. Seq., (MPC), the state law establishing the framework for zoning 
and land use development regulations in Pennsylvania, every municipality in the commonwealth 
that enacts a zoning ordinance is required to create a zoning hearing board. A zoning hearing 
board is a quasi-judicial body that implements a system of checks and balances to zone and 
regulate land development. 
 
A variance request submitted by Team Rahal of State College, INC, of 2796 West College 
Avenue, State College, was presented to the Zoning Hearing Board on December 14, 2021. The 
Zoning Hearing Board denied the variance request, by a vote of 3-0, and a notice of decision was 
provided to the applicant and their counsel. The Zoning Hearing Board is in the process of 
preparing the final findings, facts, and conclusion report. Counsel representing Team Rahal of 
State College, Terry Williams, Esq. with Miller, Kistler & Campbell, filed an appeal to the Zoning 
Hearing Board’s decision with the Court of Common Pleas of Centre County for civil action. 
Attached with the agenda is a copy of the Court of Common Pleas Civic Cover Sheet for Centre 
County and the Notice of Appeal. 
 
Mr. Pribulka stated that it is appropriate for the Board to make an entry of appearance due to this 
type of appeal.  There will need to be an Executive Session to discuss strategy.   







Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
Tuesday, January 18, 2022 
Page 10 


Ms. Strickland moved that the Board of Supervisors authorize the Solicitor to file an entry of 
appearance in the Zoning Hearing Board appeal filed by the Team Rahal of State College.  Ms. 
Stephens seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 


7. Agricultural Security Area Application – Burket Farm 
 
Mr. Pribulka noted that provided with the agenda is a copy of Mr. David Burket’s Agricultural 
Security Area application the Township received, by mail on Friday, January 7, 2022, to propose 
his property be enrolled into the Agricultural Security Area (ASA) as required for the Agricultural 
Preservation Program. There is no record of a Township ordinance regulating the local process; 
therefore, the Township follows the state law for process. In accordance with Act 43, the solicitor 
recommends the Board of Supervisors authorize the public notice requirements and then upon 
expiration of the applicable notice period, refer to Planning Commission for their consideration of 
the application for a recommendation. Publishing a notice in the local newspaper and posting such 
notice in five (5) conspicuous places within, adjacent, or near the proposed area will satisfy the 
public notice requirements. 
 
Ms. Dininni asked for clarification regarding the two parcels and the conservation easement.  Ms. 
Martin responded that the coordinator with the County recommended Mr. Burket roll both parcels 
into one ASA.  Ms. Martin stated that only one parcel is required to be in the ASA.   
 
Ms. Stephens moved that the Board of Supervisors authorize a public hearing on the Burket Farm 
Agricultural Security Area Application and refer to Planning Commission for recommendation. Ms. 
Williams seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 
  


X. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE BOARD  
 
Ms. Strickland received a communication suggesting a mask ordinance or a promotion to wear a mask. 
 
Ms. Williams reported that at the Coffee & Conversation at the Baileyville Community Hall on January 
15th, the community members would like to see more representation from their supervisor of their ward.  
Ms. Dininni is the designated supervisor and would be happy to attend.     
 


XI. CALENDAR ITEMS – JANUARY 
 
a. Ferguson Township upcoming committee meetings:  


 
1. Recreation, Parks and Open Space Plan Update Public Meeting, Thursday, January 20 
2. Parks and Recreation Committee, Thursday, January 20  
3. Planning Commission, Monday, January 24  
4. Pine Grove Mills Small Area Advisory Committee, Thursday, January 27 


 
XII. ADJOURNMENT 


 
With no further business to come before the Board of Supervisors, Ms. Stephens motioned to adjourn 
the meeting.  The meeting adjourned at 10:15 p.m. 
 
 
       Respectfully submitted, 


 
 
 
 
David Pribulka, Township Manager 
For the Board of Supervisors 





		FERGUSON TOWNSHIP BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

		Regular Meeting

		Tuesday, January 18, 2022








PSU Office of Physical Plant, Centre County Government, data.pa.gov, Esri, HERE, Garmin, SafeGraph, METI/NASA, USGS, EPA, NPS, USDA


S


W E


N


Parcels


FergusonTownshipBoundary


Proposed Agricultural Easement Parcels
0 0.8 1.60.4 Miles


Agricultural Security Areas


Tax Parcel ID:
              24-008-,008,0000-      30.79 acres
              24-008-,008A,0000-    19.94 acres


Location:
              4500 W Pine Grove Rd
              Pennsylvania Furnace, PA 15865








FERGUSON TOWNSHIP 
REGIONAL AND ABC MEETING REPORT 


 
Name of Meeting Attendees: Barbara ZIFF 
 
Reporting on Which Committees: Schlow Regional Library Report  Date: 2/15/22 
 
Requires Comments Back to Board of Supervisors: No 
 
Brief Overview of Meeting: 
 
Library Usage Specific to Ferguson Township: 


 In 2021, Ferguson Township residents checked out over 106,000 physical items. Once again, 
physical material checkouts by Ferguson Township residents were the highest in the COG. 
Residents' checkouts were 29.17% of all COG circulation in 2021. 


 In 2021: 27,050 items were returned to the remote book drops located at the Giant in the Northland 
Plaza and the remote return in Pine Grove Mills.  


 
 
Program Highlight - Toddler Learning Center: 


 Community Demographic Served: Children Ages 18-36 months and their caregivers. 
 Program goals: Socialization opportunities, developing fine motor skills, offers a non-judgmental 


environment for children to interact, which is essential for school readiness. Parents are also given a 
space to connect and support each other. 


 Parent Quote: “Thanks for the time and effort you put into the class. It has helped me find tangible 
ways I can be a better mom and try new things with my toddler, and especially during COVID, it has 
really helped preserve my sanity!”  


 
 
Happenings:  


 Programs for Children: 
o This month, the Children’s Department began accepting submissions for our 38th annual 


Write and Illustrate Your Own Book Contest! The contest is open to all kids in grades 1-6 
who live or attend school in Centre County. Every year, the winners’ books are professionally 
bound and added to Schlow’s collection, where they can be checked out and read by Schlow 
patrons. We enjoy giving our local budding authors a chance to show off their work! 
Interested authors have until Tuesday, March 8, to submit their entries. Please help us 
spread the word to friends and family using schlowlibrary.org/bookcontest. 


 Programs for Adults: 
o The 2022 Centre County Reads selection is Braiding Sweetgrass: Indigenous Wisdom, 


Scientific Knowledge and the Teachings of Plants by Robin Wall Kimmerer. Drawing on her 
life as an indigenous scientist and as a woman, Kimmerer shows how other living beings 
offer us gifts and lessons, even if we’ve forgotten how to hear their voices.  


o On Wednesday, March 2, at 6 pm, join Schlow and our partners for a Bracken Lecture Series 
Virtual Visit With Robin Wall Kimmererand at the culmination of the annual “one book, one 
community” read.  


 Getting Back to the Schlow You Know: 
o The Betsy Rodgers Allen Gallery reopened Jan. 3 with a community exhibition of local poetry 


and art created in response to “Americans and the Holocaust: A Traveling Exhibition for 
Libraries,” which is an educational initiative of the United States Holocaust Memorial 
Museum in Washington, D.C., and the American Library Association. The exhibit's sparked 
two other organizations to reach out to the Library to use the Gallery for additional 







Page 2 – Schlow Regional Library Report – continued 
2/15/22 


community conversations via poetry and art! This month, The Art Sisters present "Be 
Warmed by Wonder" An Exhibition of Abstract Art. 
 
Link to COG Committee Agenda: none 
 
Please email Barbara Ziff with any questions. Thank you 


 








ABC REPORT from BILL KEOUGH 


Re: CENTRE REGION PARK & RECREATION AUTHORITY 


2/15/22 


May take awhile to get in tune with this new process.  If any of you would like me 


to change anything, just give me a call and we can talk.  I will try to be available at 


your meetings as well but, changing to Tuesday nights does affect my High School 


and summer umpiring schedule. 


 


ITEMS OF INTEREST 


A.  AUTHORITY REORGANIZATION‐‐‐The 2022 leadership team for the 


Authority were elected and Kathy Matason (College Township) was 


retained as Chair and I was retained as Vice Chair. 


B. WHITEHALL ROAD REGIONAL PARK‐‐‐The Authority has moved ahead with 


the process of awarding construction contracts for the park.  A Spring 2022 


project start is still the target. 


C. PROJECT MANAGER‐‐‐The Authority has issued an RFP for applicants to 


serve as a Project Manager on our two construction efforts beginning this 


spring (Whitehall Road Regional Park & Millbrook Marsh Phase #2 Welcome 


Center).  These are two big and challenging projects that require oversight 


at a technical level that our staff does not have.  The Project Manager will 


be our employee and accountable only to the Authority for both of these 


projects. 


D. COG GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE‐‐‐The process of review and rewriting  the 


Governance Agreement between the COG, participating Municipalities and 


Authority is moving forward.  This effort is a follow‐up to the 


recommendations of the Centre Region Park and Recreation  


Comprehensive Plan.  Membership on the committee has been completed 


and the organization meeting for the group has been set for 2/9/22 at 8:30 


am.  I will be serving on the committee along with Kathy Matason from the 







ABC REPORT from BILL KEOUGH 


CENTRE REGION PARK & RECREATION AUTHORITY 
2/15/2022 | Page 2 


Authority plus representatives from each COG Municipality.  Laura will be 


representing Ferguson Township on the committee. 


E. ACTION SPORTS PARK‐‐‐The Borough of State College has taken on this 
recreation project and selected High Point Park as the site.  The project will 
provide the infrastructure for skate and BMX type activities.  The borough is 
moving forward with design elements for the park.  It should be noted that 
High Point Park  is along Whitehall Road, near the Ferguson border and not 
far from the Whitehall Road Regional Park site.


F. PROGRAMMING NOTES‐‐‐Winter programming is underway while


Spring/Summer programming is being rolled out for registrations.  The 
Winter Carnival at Boalsburg’s Blue Spring Park will be Feb 5 from 3‐5 pm. 
Thirty homes participated in the second annual Deck The House Holiday 
Lighting Contest.  The EGG MY YARD service for families will be available 
April 14 & 15 and does require pre‐registration.  In addition, a resident can 
donate an “egging” to a family in need.  My 2022 favorite was the 
PUZZLEPALOOZA event on January 30 at the Millbrook Marsh.  We had a full 
house and hopefully looking for a larger venue for next year’s event.





























 
 


- A Home Rule Municipality - 


 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
3147 Research Drive  •  State College, Pennsylvania 16801 
Telephone: 814-238-4651  •   Fax: 814-238-3454 
www.twp.ferguson.pa.us 
 


 
January 25, 2022
 
 
Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 
3147 Research Drive 
State College, PA 16801 
 
RE: Agricultural Security Area Modification 


(David G. Burket T.P. 24-008-,008-,0000 & 24-008-,008A,0000) 
Ferguson Township Planning Commission Review 


 
 
Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors: 
 
The Ferguson Township Planning Commission appreciates the opportunity to review the proposed Agricultural 
Security Area modification for Ferguson Township.  


In accordance with Section 908 (a) of Act 43, known as the Agricultural Security Law (1981, P.L. 128), the 
Ferguson Township Planning Commission reviewed the proposal at the January 24, 2022, regular meeting, and 
recommended approval of the modification to the Ferguson Township Agricultural Security Area. 


Ferguson Township Planning Commission considered the following factors during their review: 


1. Soils, 
2. Compatibility with the Centre Region Comprehensive Plan, and  
3. Zoning. 


Should you have any additional questions, please contact me at jwargo@twp.ferguson.pa.us or 814-571-0718. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 


 
Jenna Wargo, AICP 
Director of Planning & Zoning 
 
 
cc: Dave Pribulka, Township Manager 


Centrice Martin, Assistant Township Manager 



mailto:jwargo@twp.ferguson.pa.us






RESOLUTION NUMBER _________ 
 


A RESOLUTION OF FERGUSON TOWNSHIP, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA (HEREINAFTER THE 
“TOWNSHIP”) ADOPTING AN ACT 537 SEWAGE FACILITIES PLAN UPDATE.   
 


WHEREAS, Section 5 of the Act of January 24, 1996, P.L. 1535, No. 537, known as the Pennsylvania 
Sewage Facilities Act, as amended, and the Rules and Regulations of the Department of Environmental 
Protection adopted thereunder, Chapter 71 of Title 25 of the Pennsylvania Code, requires the Municipality to 
adopt an Official Sewage Facilities Plan providing for sewage services adequate to prevent contamination of 
waters and/or environmental health hazards with sewage wastes, and to revise said plan whenever it is 
necessary to meet the sewage disposal needs of the Township, and;  


 
WHEREAS, The State College Borough and their associated engineer has prepared an Act 537 


Sewage Facilities Plan Update to amend the Centre Region Sewage Facilities Plan to replace and upsize the 
Calder Way Sewer Basin (Calder Way and Atherton Street Main Lines), and; 


 
WHEREAS, The Act 537 Sewage Facilities Plan Update: 
 Identifies the need to replace and upsize the Calder Way Sewer Basin, 
 Evaluates multiple alternative options for replacing and upsizing Calder Way Sewer Basin, 
 Describes the selected option (replacing and resizing the Calder Way Sewer Basin), and 
 Is consistent with the adopted Centre Region Comprehensive Plan. 


 
WHEREAS, Ferguson Township finds that the Act 537 Plan Sewage Facilities Plan Update described 


above conforms to applicable zoning, subdivision, other municipal ordinances and plans and to a 
comprehensive program of pollution control and water quality management.  


 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that Township does hereby adopt and submit to the 


Department of Environmental Protection for its approval as a revision to the Official Plan of the Township, the 
above referenced Act 537 Sewage Facilities Plan Update.    


 
RESOLVED, this 15th day of February 2022..    


 
TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 


 
 
      By:__________________________________ 
            Laura Dininni, Chair 
            Board of Supervisors 
 
         [ S  E  A  L ] 


 
ATTEST: 


 
By:__________________________________ 


David G. Pribulka, Secretary 
 
I, David G. Pribulka, Secretary of the Township of Ferguson, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true copy 
and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors, held the 15th day 
of February 2022. 
 
      _________________________ 
      David G. Pribulka, Secretary 








Facilities Committee COG 
February 1, 2022 


Overview: 


 Reviewed the proposed lease for additional space for Fire
Protection Program. Three sections were amended.
Section 10 – added site plan of available parking and the
defined square footage of the suite being rented.
Section16 – remedies that we would like the opportunity
to correct, in a reasonable time, any breaches of contract
prior to termination of lease. Section 20 – put addendum
to lease that would give us another renewal option of 5
years with a 2% escalation factor annually. This was
endorsed and voted on by the committee to move to the
Public Safety Committee, Finance Committee and
Executive Committee.  Occupancy would begin in March of
2022.


 Whitehall Road Regional Park work schedule Is included.
The expected close out date is June 2023, with a lot of
work to be done by close of 2022 Currently on track with
contracts. Expect them to go to the Park Authority. The
Project Manager hire has been approved and is being
advertised. Expect to have on board late February to early
March.


 Millbrook Marsh Educ. Pavillion – land development plan
approved, conditionally, by College Twp. Working on a
compromise regarding the sidewalks. Drafting bids to look
at surgaces for the building. Hope to have them later this


FERGUSON TOWNSHIP
REGIONAL AND ABC MEETING REPORT


by Patty Stephens







month. Parks has been working with generous donor 
whose gift is for this project. 


 Janitorial Services – due to withdrawal of cleaning service
contracts in Parks and Rec. and COG building, this service
is being re‐evaluated for best cost efficiency. Hire v.
contract. COG spend over $150,000 annually for cleaning
COG Facilities (library, Active Adult Ctr, Millbrook Marsh,
Parks offices etc.). Looking for long term solutions.


 Overall, looking to use Facilites Condition assessments
(FCA) to plan for a 2‐5% reinvestment into COG facilities.
Each year it is hoped that FCA finished by March. This will
help with better budgeting.


 General Forum room AV equipment, the vendor is coming
back to re‐evaluate the upgraded technologies.


 Park Forest and Welch pool fans, still waiting on
equipment delivery. Presumably supply chain issues at
work here.


 Question was asked about a COG point person to look at
the COG building lease. Who is it? What is process? Joe V.
reported they are looking into this.  The risk management
assessment was done through the Borough. In general
they are looking to standardize all COG leases. Looking at
short term v. long term.











CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 


FACILITIES COMMITTEE 
Hybrid Meeting 
February 1, 2022 


8:30 AM 
 


GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


RSVP 
To ensure an overall quorum of members, please let us know how you intend to participate: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZAsde6uqj0iG9QuMW41GMUGCqSKmp7MRsR6 


Remote 
Participants 


To attend via Zoom:  Follow the link that is provided with your registration. 
To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099  |  Meeting ID: 849 9635 3180 


In-Person 
Participants 


COG Building – Forum Room 
2643 Gateway Drive, State College, PA 16801 


Meeting Contact: Lou Brungard | email: lbrungard@crcog.net | 814-272-1449 


02 - February 2022 - Facilities Committee Agenda Packet Folder 
Should you desire to annotate any attachments you must download them first. 


 


 
• The chat feature for this meeting will be limited to remote participants being able to 


communicate with meeting hosts. A recording of the meeting will be made available on the 
COG website upon its conclusion. 


• We ask that non-voting participants that are attending remotely remain muted with their 
video turned off unless recognized to speak. To reduce audio interference, please remain 
off of speakerphone during the meeting.  


• VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be 
sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. For additional information on COG Voting 
Procedures, click HERE. 


• PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items 
not already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items 
on the agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional 
information on COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 


 







Facilities Committee Agenda 
January 11, 2022 
Page 2 of 4 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


FACILITIES COMMITTEE 
Hybrid Meeting 
February 1, 2022 


8:30 AM 


Written public comment or requests to speak to the Facilities Committee for items not on the 
agenda, and requests to comment on specific agenda items listed below, may be submitted in 
advance by emailing sbinkley@crcog.net or lbrungard@crcog,net  


AGENDA 


1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL


Chairperson Hartle to open the meeting.  Mr. Brungard will briefly review meeting
guidelines and perform roll call.


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda
(five minutes per person time limit please). Comments relating to specific items on the
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. Submitted comments will be
read into the record by the Recording Secretary at the appropriate time in the meeting.


3. NEW AGENDA ITEMS


Facilities Committee members may request additional items of business be added to this
meeting’s agenda. If approved by a majority vote of the members, the proposed new agenda
item(s) will be placed on the agenda at the discretion of the Chair. Ideally, items for future
agendas should be proposed to the Facilities Committee through your municipal
representative.


4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES


Enclosed is a copy of the minutes (ATTACHMENT 001) of the January 11, 2022, Facilities
Committee Meeting.


Enclosed is a copy of the minutes (ATTACHMENT 002) of the December 9, 2021 Joint
Committees and Parks Authority Meeting.







Facilities Committee Agenda 
January 11, 2022 
Page 3 of 4 


All members may vote to approve the meeting minutes, including new members. 


5. REVIEW OF PROSED LEASE FOR FIRE PROTECTION PROGRAM:  Presented by
Mr. Steve Bair and Mr. Lou Brungard 


An amended DRAFT lease has been attached (ATTACHMENT 003) for the Committee 
Review.  Three sections of the lease have been amended: 


Section 10, leased premises, add the site plan with the designated parking and the suite 


that we are leasing as an addendum and define the square footage of Suite #4. 


Section 16, remedies, we would like the opportunity to correct in a reasonable time the 


breach and ensure we have notice prior to the lessor termination process. 


Section 20, a renewal option is indicated but no addendum is attached that defines Option 


#2.  We would like to have another 5 year option with the same terms and conditions that 


are included with this initial agreement with the 2% escalation factor annually. 


Should the Committee agree to proceed by forwarding to the Public Safety Committee, 


Finance Committee, Executive Committee, and General Forum the following motion can 


be considered. 


“The Facilities Committee moves to endorse the amended lease between Robert 


Steward and the Centre Region Council of Governments for the property located at 


2901 Stewart Drive, Suite #4 to be utilized as a storage and general maintenance 


facility to support the Regional Fire Protection Program.  The Facilities Committee 


further moves this endorsement be forwarded to the Public Safety Committee, the 


Finance Committee, the Executive Committee, and General Forum for action.” 


6. WHITEHALL ROAD REGIONAL PARK PROJECT UPDATE:  Presented by Mr. Lou
Brungard and Ms. Pam Salokangas 


This update will focus on contract execution, the project manager, and the DRAFT 
proposed Critical Pathway and Milestone Schedule.  The proposed schedule is attached 
(ATTACHMENT 004) 


7. MILLBROOK MARSH NATURE CENTER SPRING CREEK EDUCATION
BUILDING PHASE 2 AND THE WELCOME PAVILION UPDATE:  Presented by Ms.
Pam Salokangas and Mr. Brungard 


This update will focus on the Land Development Plan submission and approval, the status 
of construction documents (drawings and specifications) and planned activities for the next 
30 to 60 days. 







Facilities Committee Agenda 
January 11, 2022 
Page 4 of 4 


8. JANITORIAL SERVICES DISCUSSION:  Presented by Mr. Brungard


Mr. Brungard to provide a current state review and staff actions regarding continued
assessment of services and planning.


9. OVERALL FACILITY CONDITION ASSESSMENT PROCESS – UPDATE:  Presented
by Mr. Brungard 


10. PROJECT UPDATES: (ATTACHMENT 005)


11. OTHER BUSINESS


12. CALENDAR


A calendar with upcoming COG committee, General Forum, and municipal meetings can
be found by clicking the following link: COG and Municipal Meeting Overlay Calendar


13. ADJOURNMENT












CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 
Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 


HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
Hybrid Meeting 
February 2, 2022 


12:15 PM 
 


GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


RSVP 
To ensure an overall quorum of members, please let us know how you intend to participate: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZUtd-yppjIpHNcN_BRK7wNy7sIPxm59k8vB 


Remote 
Participants 


To attend via Zoom: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZUtd-yppjIpHNcN_BRK7wNy7sIPxm59k8vB 
To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099  |  Meeting ID: 810 0518 9363 


In-Person 
Participants 


COG Building – Forum Room 
2643 Gateway Drive, State College, PA 16801 


Meeting Contact: Becca Petitt  |  email: rpetitt@crcog.net   |  814-272-1447 


Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
Should you desire to annotate any attachments you must download them first. 


 
• The chat feature for this meeting will be limited to remote participants being able to 


communicate with meeting hosts. A recording of the meeting will be made available on the 
COG website upon its conclusion. 
 


• We ask that non-voting participants that are attending remotely remain muted with their 
video turned off unless recognized to speak. To reduce audio interference, please remain off 
of speakerphone during the meeting.  


• VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be 
sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. For additional information on COG Voting 
Procedures, click HERE. 


• PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items 
not already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items on 
the agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional information on 
COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 


• To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the 
COG Human Resources Committee on our website, please click HERE. 
 







Human Resources Committee Agenda 
February 2, 2022 
Page 2 of 5 
 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA  16801 
Phone:  (814) 231-3077 ● Fax:  (814) 231-3083 ● Website:  www.crcog.net 


 
 


HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
Hybrid Meeting 


Wednesday, February 2, 2022 
12:15 PM 


 
AGENDA 


1. CALL TO ORDER  
 


Mr. Strouse will convene the meeting.  Ms. Petitt will take roll call of the Committee 
members. 


 


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS  
 
Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda (five 
minutes per person time limit, please).  Comments relating to specific items on the agenda 
should be deferred until that point in the meeting.  Submitted comments will be read into the 
record by the Recording Secretary at the appropriate time in the meeting. 
 


3. NEW AGENDA ITEMS 
 


Members may request additional items of business be added to this meeting’s agenda. If 
approved by a majority vote of the members, the proposed new agenda item(s) will be placed 
on the agenda at the discretion of the Chair. Ideally, items for future agendas should be 
proposed to the Human Resources Committee through your municipal representative.  
 


4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 


A copy of the minutes from the January 12, 2022, Human Resources Committee meeting is 
enclosed for approval.  
 


5. FINANCE JOB DESCRIPTION(S) – Presented by Joe Viglione 
 


This is an action item. 


Written public comment or requests to speak to the Human Resources Committee 
for items not on the agenda, and requests to comment to specific agenda items 
listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing rpetitt@crcog.net. 







Human Resources Committee Agenda 
February 2, 2022 
Page 3 of 5 
 


 
The Finance team currently consists of the two positions: Finance Director and Finance 
Assistant.  As COG agencies have grown in the range of services and staff to support those 
services, the staffing in the Administration Office has not kept pace.  This has created a 
limited ability to cross-train, insufficient capacity to cover when someone is out, as well as 
staff who are regularly working over 40 hours/week.  To help remedy the situation the COG 
Administration team requested two new positions through the 2022 program plan and 
budget process: A Finance Administrator and a Human Resources Administrator position.      
 
Both positions were approved through the budget process with an estimated start dates for 
the Finance Administrator in April 2022 and the Human Resources Administrator in 
October 2022.  The Human Resources Administrator job description will be brought to the 
HR Committee for review and approval later this year.   
 
Two Finance job descriptions are enclosed for the Committee’s review and approval: 
 


o Finance Administrator – New position, new job description.   
o Finance Assistant – Existing position, revised job description.  With the addition of the 


new position, workloads will shift in the Administration office, which will also create some 
minor changes to the Finance Assistant job description.   


 
Suggested motions for the Committee are as follows: 
 


“That the COG Human Resources Committee approve the job description for the 
Finance Administrator, dated February 2, 2022.” 


 
“That the COG Human Resources Committee approve the revised job description 
for the Finance Assistant, dated February 2, 2022.” 


 
6. POTENTIAL 2022 WORK TASKS – Presented by Eric Norenberg and Becca Petitt 


 
This is a discussion item. 
 
At its January meeting, the HR Committee asked staff to prioritize the list of potential 2022 
work tasks and set estimated or anticipated completion dates.  To help manage expectations, 
please keep in mind that the HR office has only one staff member and she is currently 
responsible for many other tasks that do not require the Committee’s attention, including 
but not limited to bi-weekly processing of payroll, bi-weekly dental/vision claims, assisting in 
providing in-house supervisory and leadership trainings, and addressing unexpected 
personnel matters in a timely manner (insurance questions, family medical leave, disciplinary 
matters, etc.).  Further, some of the items on the list of 2022 work tasks are carrying over 
from previous years due to workload and staffing, as well as the world-wide pandemic which 
took priority over many things.   
 
Staff created the enclosed document to help the Committee visualize its work tasks, the staff’s 
role, the Committee’s role, as well as anticipated timelines for the work tasks. 







Human Resources Committee Agenda 
February 2, 2022 
Page 4 of 5 
 
7. OTHER BUSINESS 


 
A. Matter of Record – The following represents a list of vacancies of COG full-time and 


part-time, year-round positions: 


o Code – Staff Assistant – Staff are currently working with a temp agency to fill the 
position which will be evaluated as the new Traisr software and electronic filing 
system are implemented that may have an impact on the workload and duties of 
this position.   


o Code – Fire and Life Safety Inspectors – Two (2) known vacancies are coming in 
the Summer of 2022.  Positions are expected to be advertised in the first quarter 
of 2022 and filled in the second quarter of 2022. 


o Code – Commercial Plans Examiner/Building Inspector – Position vacated 
during the fourth quarter of 2021.  It’s anticipated that advertisement for this 
position may begin in the first quarter of 2022 with a hope to hire in the second 
quarter of 2022. 


o Fire – Assistant Chief – Advertisement tentatively set to begin for this new 
position near the end of January. 


o Parks – PT Rec Aide – Currently being advertised.  Remains a struggle to get 
applications, similar to Parks Seasonal vacancies. 


o Parks – Caretaker I – Currently advertising.  The candidate selected will begin 
work in late March/early April. 


o Parks – Active Adult Center Supervisor –First round interviews were conducted 
with second round interviews being scheduled at the time of agenda prep. 


o Parks – Active Adult Center PT Staff Assistant – Notice of retirement effective 
February 18, 2022 was recently received.  Advertisement for the position will 
begin soon. 
 


B. Matter of Record – Staff continues to monitor regularly updated CDC guidance and 
alerts COG staff to any changes impacting the workplace.  Most recently, with the 
help of the Schlow Centre Region Library staff, a flow chart to better understand 
quarantine, isolation, and return to work timelines was prepared and shared with all 
COG staff. 


C. Matter of Record – In August of 2021, the HR Committee reviewed the draft 
Request for Proposals (RFP) for the Classification and Compensation Study.  The 
study was ultimately approved during the budget process.  This is a joint proposal as 
College Township is participating in the wage study (base bid).  Advertising of the 
RFP is tentative set to begin in February. 


D. Matter of Record – In January, an in-house leadership training titled Being a Coach, 
Being a Player and Taking Charge of Your Talent was held with the aid of materials 
through ICMA (the International City/County Management Association).  We had 
35 COG leaders in attendance.  In-house leadership training is scheduled to 
continue several more times throughout the year with topics to be determined.   







Human Resources Committee Agenda 
February 2, 2022 
Page 5 of 5 
 


In addition, the annual Supervisory Training typically held in the first quarter of the 
year is currently being re-worked to include all COG staff.  We worked with a 
consultant last year for a virtual all staff team building workshop titled Communication 
That Connects – and it was really well received.  This year, with the feedback from 
staff, we are going to explore holding the all staff workshop when the weather warms, 
in an outdoor space, where we can be safely together in-person.  Funds are 
appropriated for this training in the 2022 budget. 


8. CALENDAR 
 
A calendar with upcoming COG committee, General Forum, and municipal meetings can be 
found by clicking the following link: COG and Municipal Meeting Overlay Calendar 
 


9. ADJOURNMENT 
 


ENCLOSURES 
 


Item #       Description 
04  Human Resources Committee Meeting Minutes – January 12, 2022 


 05  Finance Administrator Job Description 
 05  Finance Assistant Job Description 
 06  2022 Work Tasks 
 








 


 


- A Home Rule Municipality - 


 


TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
3147 Research Drive •  State College, Pennsylvania 16801 


Telephone: 814-238-4651 •  Fax: 814-238-3454 
www.twp.ferguson.pa.us 


 


   


Memorandum 
 
To: Board of Supervisors 


David Pribulka, Manager 
From: David J. Modricker, Public Works Director 


  
Re: Contract 2022-C14 Street Trees 
Date: February 2, 2022 
 
On Tuesday, February 1, 2022 at 2:00 PM bids were opened publicly for Contract 2022-
C14 Street Tree Planting, and read aloud via ZOOM. David Modricker and Summer Brown 
of Ferguson Township were in attendance. 
 
The contract includes planting 77 street trees. Trees are purchased as 1 ½” minimum 
diameter at breast height (dbh), balled and burlapped, and are guaranteed for one year by 
the contractor. 
 
One bid was received from Greene’s Landscape, Inc. in the amount of $28,879.00 
 
The contract was advertised in the Centre Daily Times and there were 3 plan holders. The 
budget for tree planting in 2022 is $33,750.00. The work for this contract was estimated at 
$29,000.00. Additionally, from fund 30.455.375, the Township issued a PO to Schichtel’s 
nursery for $2,698.00 for 25 bare root trees to be planted by FTPW staff. Together the 
balled and burlap tree planting and the bare root tree planting costs total $31,577.00 
leaving a fund balance of $2,173.00. 
 
I recommend that the Board of Supervisors award Contract 2022-C14, Street Tree 
Planting, in the amount of $28,879.00 to Greene’s Landscape, Inc. in accordance with 
their bid. 
 
 
File:  Contract 2022-C14 
 




























ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 


 


AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 22, SUBDIVISION AND LAND DEVELOPMENT; SECTION 202, 
DEFINITIONS, SECTION 301, GENERAL, SECTION 303, REVIEW OF PRELIMINARY PLAN, 
SECTION 304, REVIEW OF FINAL PLAN, SECTION 306, MINOR SUBDIVISION AND MINOR 
ALTERATION PLAN, SECTION 401, PRELIMINARY PLAN CONTENTS AND REVIEW, 
SECTION 506, WATER SUPPLY, SECTION 5C02, BICYCLE PARKING REGULATIONS, 
ESTABLISHING SECTION 516, LANDSCAPING AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A” MADE 
PART OF THIS ORDINANCE. 


The Board of Supervisors of the Township of Ferguson hereby ordains: 


 Section 1—Chapter 22, Subdivision and Land Development, Section 202, Definitions, 
Section 301 – General, Section 303 – Review of Preliminary Plan, Section 304 – Review of Final 
Plan, Section 306 – Minor Subdivision, Minor Alteration Plan and Minor Land Development Plan, 
Section 401 – Preliminary Plan Contents and Review; Section 506 – Water Supply, Section 
5C01.1 – Parking General Regulations and Section 5C02 – Bicycle Parking Regulations, is 
hereby amended by the Chapter 22, Subdivision and Land Development amendments attached 
hereto as Exhibit “A”. 


 Section 2—The forgoing Section 1 shall be effective immediately upon the date of the 
enactment of this ordinance. 


 ORDAINED and ENACTED this __ day of ____, 2022. 


 


       TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
      
      
                                                                    
By:______________________________ 


                  Laura Dininni, Chair 
                        Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
 
 
                            [ S E A L ] 
 
ATTEST: 
   
 
By:________________________________ 
     David G. Pribulka, Secretary 


 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 1 


 
 


Exhibit “A” 


CHAPTER 22 
SUBDIVISION AND LAND DEVELOPMENT 


 


§ 22-202 Definitions.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


LAND DEVELOPMENT  
Any of the following activities: 1) the improvement of one lot or two or more contiguous lots, 
tracts or parcels of land for any purpose involving: i) a group of two or more residential or 
nonresidential buildings, whether proposed initially or cumulatively, or a single nonresidential 
building on a lot or lots regardless of the number of occupants or tenure; or ii) the division or 
allocation of land or space, whether initially or cumulatively, between or among two or more 
existing or prospective occupants by means of, or for the purpose of, streets, common areas, 
leaseholds, condominiums, building groups or other features; 2) a subdivision of land; or 3) 
development in accordance with § 503(1.1) of the Municipalities Planning Code, as amended. 


1. Land Development—A land development which does not qualify or classify as a minor land 
development; 


2. Land Development, Minor—A development or a parcel of land which contains: 


A. Not more than three detached single-family residential structures, whether developed 
initially or cumulatively on a single lot, as permitted by the Township’s Zoning 
Ordinance. Proposed single-family residential structures are exempt activities under 
Minor Land Developments. 


B. The construction or alteration of a nonresidential building with a footprint of not more 
than 1,000 square feet, whether initially or cumulatively; provided that the construction or 
alteration does not result in the following: 


(1). Installation of new vehicular access to or from a public right-of way; 


(2). Activities that would require the submission of a stormwater management site 
plan; 


(3). Development within a floodplain or Nolin Soils; 


(4). Changes to utility services including new service laterals to increase capacity or 
provide fire protection; 


(5). Vertical expansions of more than two stories above existing structures; and 


(6). A requirement of additional parking. 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 2 


 
 


C. Conversion of an accessory structure to a residential unit. 


D. The sole construction of a parking lot, as defined in this chapter. 


SUBDIVISION—The division or redivision of a lot, tract or parcel of land by any means into 
two or more lots, tracts, parcels or other divisions of land, including changes in existing lot lines 
for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of lease, partition by the court for distribution to 
heirs or devisees, transfer of ownership or building or lot development; provided, however, that 
the subdivision by lease of land for agricultural purposes into parcels of more than 10 acres, not 
involving any new street or easement of access or any residential dwelling, shall be exempted. 
 


1. Subdivision, Major—Any subdivision which does not qualify or classify as a minor 
subdivision. 


2. Subdivision, Minor—A subdivision of a parcel of land into not more than three lots, 
including the existing lot of record, where in each lot has direct access to and fronts upon 
any public street or road and does not require any expenditures for the extension of any 
street or the extension or creation of any public improvements. This includes: 


A. Adjustment of lot line between lots where no new lots are created; 


B. Consolidation of lot lines; and  


C. Survey corrections of property lines for townhouses and other attached dwellings 
after construction when in conformance with the previously recorded plan. 


PARKING, ON-LOT – The number of parking spaces required by Chapter 22, Subdivision and 
Land Development to be provided off street for each dwelling unit. These spaces are intended to 
serve the normal daily parking needs of the dwelling unit occupants. 


§ 22-301 General.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


Proposed subdivision and land development plans shall be reviewed by the Township Planning 
Commission and the Centre County Planning Commission, or its designated agent, and shall be 
approved or not approved by the Board of Supervisors in accordance with the procedures 
specified in this chapter. Following the recommended preapplication conference for sketch plan 
review, plans may be presented in two stages, preliminary and final, or simultaneously as a 
preliminary/final plan. If a plan is presented in one stage as a preliminary/final plan, then the 
plan must meet both the preliminary plan requirements and final plan requirements as if the plan 
were presented in two stages. 


1. Fees for Review. 
The Supervisors shall establish, by resolution, a schedule of fees for applications for 
development, for the Township’s review of the materials in connection therewith which are 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 3 


 
 


to be provided to the Township under the provisions of this chapter including, but not 
limited to, the payment of fees charged by the Township’s professional consultants for their 
review. Such fee schedule shall be reproduced and made available upon request at the 
Township Building. The resolution providing for the various fees shall be periodically 
reviewed and amended, when necessary, by resolution of the Supervisors. Any approval for 
the issuance of any permits under this chapter shall be contingent upon payment of the 
proper fees as established by the Township’s Fee Schedule. 


A. Disputed Review Fees. In the event the applicant disputes the amount of any such review 
fees, the applicant shall, within 10 days of the billing date, notify the Township that such 
fees are disputed, in which case the Township shall not delay or disapprove a subdivision or 
land development application due to the applicant’s request over disputed fees. 


B. Review Fee Dispute Resolution. In the event that the Township and the applicant cannot 
agree on the amount of review fees which are reasonable and necessary, then the applicant 
and the Township shall follow the procedure for dispute resolution set forth in the 
Municipalities Planning Code (MPC) §510(g), 53 P.s. §10510(g). 


§ 22-303 Review of Preliminary Plan.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. All applications for approval of subdivision and land development plans shall commence 
with the official submission of a plan and all required supplementary data to the Township 
Department of Planning and Zoning. All applications for preliminary review of a plan shall 
be acted upon by the Township within such time limits as established by the Pennsylvania 
Municipalities Planning Code. At any time during the review process the applicant may 
substitute an amended plan for that originally submitted solely for the purpose of correcting 
the original plan to the extent necessary to meet the requirements of this chapter. In the 
event that the applicant submits an amended plan to the Township, the owner or agent of the 
subject lot(s) must provide the Township with a written ninety-day time extension in a form 
to be supplied by the Township to review the plan. The 90 days will be measured from the 
date the revised plan is submitted to the Township. See § 22-303, Subsection 6D.  


2. A plan shall be deemed to have been submitted for preliminary review when the applicant 
has furnished to the Township Department of Planning and Zoning the following 
documents: 


A. One copy of a completed application for subdivision or land development, plus 
payment of all application and escrow fees.  


B. Seven black (or blue) on white full-size prints, one eleven-inch-by-seventeen-inch 
copies and one digital copy of the plan which shall fully comply with the provisions of 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 4 


 
 


this chapter.  


C. One digital copy of all submitted documents. 


3. Upon receipt of the above, the Township Department of Planning and Zoning shall forward, 
immediately, one copy of the plan to the following reviewing agencies: the Township 
Solicitor; Centre Regional Planning Agency; Centre Regional Planning Commission; Centre 
County Planning Commission; the Township Engineer; the Township Tree Commission; the 
Township Parks and Recreation Committee; Township Arborist; and the Alpha Fire 
Company Chief. All written comments from reviewing agencies are requested to be 
delivered to the Township within 14 days of receipt from the Township. 


§22-303.6.C.(1) Review of Preliminary Plan. 
C. Authority. The Board of Supervisors shall act on all preliminary applications. 


(1) Decision Deadline. Not later than 90 days after the official filing date, the Board of 
Supervisors shall render a decision on the preliminary application. All decisions shall 
be made at a public meeting. 


(2) Extension of Deadline. The applicant may agree in writing to an extension of time or 
change in the prescribed manner of presentation of communication of the decision. 


(3) Actions. The Board of Supervisors shall take on of the following actions: 


a. Approve the preliminary application. 


b. Approve the preliminary application with conditions. 


c. Disapprove the preliminary application on the basis that it does not comply with 
specific standards and regulations set forth in this Code. 


(4) General Standards for Review of Preliminary Applications. The Board of Supervisors 
shall approve the preliminary application if the preliminary application complies with 
the standards and regulations set forth in this chapter. 


(5) Notification of Decision. The decision of the Board of Supervisors shall be in writing 
and shall be communicated to the applicant personally or mailed to the last-known 
address not later than 15 days following the decision. If the decision is disapproval, the 
written notification shall specify all defects in the application and shall cite with section 
numbers the provisions of this chapter or the Code that have not been satisfied. 


(6) Effect of Approval. If the plan receives preliminary approval by the Board of 
Supervisors, the action of the Board of Supervisors shall be noted, together with the 
date of action and signature of the Chairman, Secretary and Township Engineer, on two 
copies of the plan. One copy of the plan shall be given to the applicant, while the other 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 5 


 
 


copy shall be retained in the Township files. The preliminary plan shall be entitled to 
the protections afforded by §508(4) of the MPC, 53 P.S. §10508(4).  


§ 22-304 Review of Final Plan.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. A plan shall be officially submitted to the Township Department of Planning and 
Zoning for final Township review after all improvements, as defined by this chapter, 
indicated on the plan receiving preliminary approval have been installed or, in lieu of 
the completion of the improvements, after deposit with the Township of a corporate 
bond or other security acceptable to the Board of Supervisors in accordance with this 
chapter. All plans which have received preliminary approval shall be entitled to final 
approval in accordance with the terms of the approved preliminary application for a 
period of five years from the date of the preliminary approval.  


A. A plan shall be deemed to have been submitted for final review when the applicant 
has furnished to the Township Department of Planning and Zoning the following 
documents: 


(1) Seven black (or blue) on white full-size prints, one eleven-inch-seventeen-
inch copies and one digital copy of the plan which shall fully comply with 
the provisions of this chapter. 


(2) Payment of all application and escrow fees. 


§ 22-306 Minor Subdivision, Minor Alteration Plan, and Minor Land Development Plan.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. Minor Subdivision. Applicants are required to apply for and receive a minor subdivision 
approval from the Township in accordance with the following criteria: 


A. Recommendations and Approvals. 


(1) A minor subdivision plan shall meet both the preliminary plan requirements and 
final plan requirements as if the plan were presented in two stages. 


(2)   Application requirements as shown on the Subdivision and/or Land 
Development Requirements Table shall be submitted for all minor subdivisions.  


(3) The Township staff shall review and forward an application to the Planning 
Commission regarding minor subdivision. Township staff comment resulting 
from said review shall accompany the application forwarded.  


(4) The Planning Commission shall recommend application approval, approval 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 6 


 
 


subject to conditions, or denial to the Township Board of Supervisors regarding 
minor subdivision.  


(5) The Township Board of Supervisors shall be responsible for approving or 
denying minor subdivisions.  


B. Conferences. A preapplication conference is highly recommended with the Township 
prior to the submission of a final application.  


C. Applicants are required to provide an escrow fee for plan review and legal opinion of the 
Township Solicitor.  


2. Minor Alteration Plan. 


A. Minor alterations to a previously issued zoning permit may be made by the applicant 
submitting a revised application and land development plan, if applicable, to the Zoning 
Administrator for approval.  


B. An alteration to a zoning permit and land development plan, if applicable, shall be 
considered minor if: 


(1) The building coverage will be increased or decreased by no more than 10%. 


(2) The impervious coverage will be increased by no more than 10%.  


(3) The change in use will not increase the parking requirements.  


(4) The stormwater management controls will not be changed.  


(5) Any motor vehicle access to the property will not be added, deleted, or relocated 
by more than 50% of its width.  


(6) The location for the construction of proposed structures from an approved plan 
will not be changed by more than 10% of the ground floor area.  


(7) All landscaping alterations are permitted if in compliance with §22-515. 
Landscaping. 


D. An applicant/landowner shall be permitted to file more than one minor alteration plan to a 
previously issued zoning permit or land development plan based on the following 
subsections of § 22-306.2.B. (3),  and (7).  


3. Minor Land Development Plan 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 7 


 
 


A. A Minor Land Development Plan may be permitted where it can be demonstrated that 
the initial or cumulative impact of the activity or improvement will not result in the 
need for plan approvals typically associated with a land development plan approval 
process. Applicants undertaking a Minor Land Development Plan as defined in §22-
202. Definitions, may submit a preliminary/final plan in one stage following a pre-
application conference with Township staff, as per §22-302 and in accordance with 
the following requirements. 


(1) A minor land development plan shall meet both the preliminary plan 
requirements and final plan requirements as if the plan were presented in two 
stages. 


(2) Application requirements as shown on the Subdivision and/or Land 
Development Requirements Table shall be submitted for all minor land 
developments.  


(3) Township staff shall review and forward an application to the Planning 
Commission regarding minor land developments. Township staff comment 
resulting from said review shall accompany the application forwarded.  


(4) Proposed single-family residential structures that require a minor land 
development plan shall be reviewed by Township staff and included on the 
consent agenda of the Board of Supervisors to approve or deny the plan. 


 a. The following sections are not applicable to minor land development 
plans for single-family residential structures: 


  i. §22-401.1.C.1.g., and 


  ii. §22-401.1.C.1.h. 


(4) Planning Commission shall recommend application approval, approval subject 
to conditions, or denial to the Township Board of Supervisors regarding the minor 
land development.  


(5) The Township Board of Supervisors shall be responsible for approving or 
denying minor land developments.  


(6) Applicants are required to provide an escrow fee for plan review and legal 
opinion of the Township Solicitor.  


§ 22-401 Preliminary Plan Contents and Review.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 8 


 
 


1. All plans submitted for preliminary review shall be drawn to a scale of one inch equals 50 
feet or larger (one inch equals 50 feet) and contain the following information: 


A. Requirements for Subdivision and Land Development Plans. 


(1) General Data. 


(a) Graphic scale.  


(b) Day, month, year plan prepared and revised.  


(c) Names of abutting property owners and their deed book and page numbers.  


(d) Key map, at a scale of one inch equals 400 feet, showing streets, roads, buildings 
and motor vehicle access within 1000 feet from the exterior boundary of the lot.  


(e) The name of the proposed development, the identification by Centre County Tax 
Map Parcel Number and the name and address of the legal owner of the property 
(and equitable owner, if any), proof of ownership and the individual or firm 
preparing the site plan. To the extent that the owner is not an individual or a group 
of individuals, but rather is an entity, the entity shall be required to disclose the 
name of all individuals possessing an ownership interest in the entity. The 
aforesaid disclosure requirement shall not apply to publicly traded corporations 
nor to entities owned by more than 10 individuals.  


(f) North point (specified as "true" or "magnetic").  


(g) Total size of the property, and each lot and/or area(s) to be leased.  


(h) The proposed use of the property.  


(i) Location of the existing and proposed front, side and rear yard setback area(s) as 
required by the applicable zoning district.  


(j) A stormwater management site plan as required by Chapter 26, Stormwater 
Management, of the Code of Ferguson Township.  


(k) Soil erosion and sedimentation control plan in accordance with 25 Pa. Code 
§ 102, Erosion Control.  


(l) A statement of general utility information and information required by Act 172 of 
1986, 73 P.S. § 176 et seq., as amended.  







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 9 


 
 


§22-506.1. Water Supply 
1. All water supply systems shall meet applicable state and/or local water authority/company 


standards. 


A. All lots located within the designated water service area of the current Centre Region 
Sewage Facilities Plan, as revised, shall connect to public water authority/company 
mains when such is feasible and/or permitted by the appropriate water 
authority/company. All water mains and laterals shall meet the design and installation 
specifications of said water authority/company.  


B. Fire hydrants shall be provided in accordance with this section for the protection of 
buildings or portions of buildings. Fire hydrants shall be provided along required fire 
apparatus access roads and adjacent to public streets along the route of travel for fire 
apparatus.  


C. Existing fire hydrants on public streets may be considered available. Existing fire 
hydrants on adjacent private properties shall not be considered available.  


D. One-and two- family dwellings. 


1. Minimum fire flow. 


a. Lots with front, side, and rear yard setback requirements of 15 feet or greater 
and building separations of 30 feet or greater shall be 750 gallons per minute. 


b. Lots with front, side, and rear yard setback requirements of less than 15 feet or 
building separations of less than 30 feet shall be 1,000 gallons per minute. 


2. Fire hydrant spacing. 


a. Spacing between fire hydrants shall not exceed 600 feet in developments of 
one- and two-family dwellings as measured from the center line of the fire 
apparatus access roads. 


b. One- and two-family dwellings may install a National Fire Protection 
Association (NFPA) 13D Residential Sprinkler System in lieu of being 
located within 600 feet of a fire hydrant. 


E.  All other types of developments. 


1. Minimum fire flow. 


a. Requirements for developments of other than one- and two-family dwellings 



Bassett, Kristina

Added per Steve Bair’s recommendation to align with the adopted PA fire code.







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 10 


shall be determined by using the Needed Fire Flow Method described in the 
Fire Suppression Rating Schedule published by the Insurance Services Office, 
Inc. (ISO). 


2. Fire hydrant spacing.


a. Spacing between fire hydrants in all other types of developments shall not
exceed 400 feet as measured from the center line of the fire apparatus access
roads.


H. If the needed fire flow is not provided in developments served by a community water
system, all dwellings and occupied structures shall be provided with an approved
automatic fire sprinkler system installed in accordance with the applicable NFPA
standard.


(1) Exception. The Fire Chief is authorized to accept a deficiency of up to 10% of the
required fire flow where existing fire hydrants provide all or a portion of the
required fire flow. (Written notice of the deficiency and approval shall be noted
on the plan.)


(2) Exception. Subdivisions and land developments located outside of the regional growth
boundary and served by a community water system may utilize water storage systems, as
described in § 506, Subsection 2A, to meet the water supply requirements.


§ 22-5C01.1 General Regulations.
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]


B. Required Off-Street Parking Spaces. All uses and structures shall provide off-street parking
spaces in an amount equal to, or greater than, the number listed below. The total number of
parking spaces necessary for two or more uses on the same lot shall be the sum of that
required for each use unless a shared parking arrangement is provided in accordance with the
provisions of Subsection E. Shared parking spaces that are accessible by neighboring
properties or uses may be permitted when use of the spaces does not occur during the same
daily time period.


(1) Dimensions. Each required off-street parking space shall be at least nine feet wide and
18 feet long if set at an angle to the access aisle or eight feet wide and 24 feet long if







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 11 


 
 


parallel to the access aisle. 


(2)  Number of Computation. In computing the required number of spaces, all fractional 
numbers more than 1/2 shall be increased to the next highest integer. When computation 
is based on the number of employees, the number employed during the largest work 
shift shall be used. For retail and service parking calculations the gross floor area is that 
portion of the total floor area relegated to use by the customer and employees to 
consummate retail sales and services, including display areas, but not including office 
space and storage areas. 


Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 


Residential Land Uses Minimum Required Off-Street Parking 


1 Single-family detached dwellings 2 spaces per dwelling unit 


2 Single-family semidetached dwellings 
1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


 


3 Single-family attached dwellings 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


4 2-family dwellings 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


5 Multifamily dwellings 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


6 Mobile home parks 2 spaces per dwelling unit 


7 Model homes 2 spaces per dwelling unit 


8 Seasonal dwellings 2 spaces per dwelling unit 


9 Short-Term Rental 1 Space per bedroom for rent 


10 Retirement communities 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


11 Assisted living facilities 1 space per rooming unit 


12 Nursing and other convalescent homes 1 space per rooming unit 


13 Personal care homes, large small 1 space per rooming unit 


14 Group homes 1 space per rooming unit 


15 
Home-based businesses, no impact 
(including farm-based businesses, no 
impact) 


Base requirement for the applicable dwelling 


16 Home occupations 1 space per employee 


 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 12 


 
 


Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 


Nonresidential Land Uses Minimum Required Off-Street Parking 


1 
Administrative office buildings (associated 
with other uses) 


1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area 


2 Adult business uses 
1 space per 500 square feet of net floor 
area 


3 
Agriculture 


 
N/A 


4 Agriculture/environmental education 
program 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


5 Amusement arcades 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


6 


Any use owned or managed by the 
Pennsylvania Department of Conservation 
and Natural Resources (PA DCNR) or the 
Commonwealth Game Commission 


N/A 


7 Archery and shooting ranges, 
indoor/outdoor 1 space per target stand or shooting station 


8 Archival libraries 1 space per 750 square feet of net floor 
area 


9 Auto wrecking, junk and scrap 
establishments 


1 space per 5,000 square feet of 
indoor/outdoor storage area plus ratio 
associated with administrative office 
buildings, as applicable 


10 Automobile service stations and garage 
1 space per pump plus 6 spaces per 
repair/service bay plus ratio associated 
with convenience food stores as applicable 


11 Banks and financial establishments 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area 


12 Bed-and-Breakfast 1.2 spaces per rooming unit 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 13 


 
 


13 Bird and wildlife sanctuaries/fish hatcheries N/A 


14 Bus passenger stations 
1 space per 220 square feet of net floor 
area or lot area sufficient to support 
program 


15 Business, professional, and financial offices 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area 


16 Camping grounds 2 spaces per 1 campsite 


17 Car washes 4 spaces per wash/detail bay and 1 space 
per vacuum unit 


18 Cideries 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area 


19 Cigar, hookah and/or vapor lounges 1 space per 50 square feet of net floor area 


20 Cemeteries 1 space per 350 square feet of indoor 
gathering space 


21  Child/day-care centers 1 space per 350 square feet of net floor 
area 


22 Clinics and medical/dental Offices 
1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area 


23 Commercial hunting preserves N/A 


24 Communications facilities 1 space per building 


25 Communication towers 1 space per tower 


26 Community Gardens 1 space per 10 garden plots 


27 Conservation areas 1 space per full-time equivalent employee 


28 Convenience food stores 1 space per 200 square feet of net floor 
area 


29 Country Clubs 


1 space per 4 seats/persons; based upon the 
largest maximum occupancy of a gathering 
room/space as permitted by the Centre 
Regional Code Administration 


30 Day and overnight camping N/A 


31 Eating and drinking establishments, sit- 1 space per 50 square feet of indoor seating 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 14 


 
 


down area plus 1 space per 100 square feet of 
outside seating area 


32 Eating and drinking establishments, takeout 1 space per 100 square feet of floor area 
for seating, standing, and waiting 


33 Emergency Services 2 spaces per service vehicle + 1 space per 
350 square feet of net floor area 


34 Equestrian facilities/horse riding 
stables/riding academies 


1 space per 2 stalls plus 1 space per 4 
persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region 
Code Administration 


35 Essential services 1 space per employee plus 1 space per 
2,500 square feet of net floor area 


36 Exhibit halls and museum 


1 space per 500 square feet of net floor 
area plus 1 space for buses/vans of 10-plus 
occupants per 2,000 square feet of net floor 
area 


37 Farm cafes 
1 space per 50 square feet of net indoor 
floor area plus 1 space per 100 square feet 
of outdoor seating area 


38 Farm Markets 1 space per 200 square feet of sales area 
(indoor or outdoor) 


39 Food catering 1 space per 400 square feet of net floor 
area 


40 Forestry N/A 


41 Freight and Trucking Terminals 1 space per 200 square feet of net floor 
area 


42 General Natural Resource Research 1 space per 500 square feet of net floor 
area 


43 General Storage to include Boats and RV’s N/A 


44 General weather, radio and satellite research 1 space per 500 square feet of net floor 
area 


45 Golf courses 10 spaces per golf hole 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 15 


 
 


46 Grocery Stores 1 space per 200 square feet of net floor 
area 


47 Health and athletic clubs 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


48 Hotels and Motels 1.2 spaces per rooms 


49 Incinerators 1 space per work vehicle 


50 Kennels 
1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area of office area plus 1 space per 4 
animal holding areas 


51 Landscape and garden centers, nonretail 1 space per 10,000 square feet of growing 
area 


52 Landscape and garden centers, retail 1 space per 250 square feet of indoor 
and/or outdoor sales area 


53 Laundromats 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area 


54 Manufacturing, processing or bulk storage 
of natural gas 1 space per work vehicle 


55 Medical marijuana dispensaries 4 spaces per pharmacist or physician 


56 Microdistilleries/breweries (beverage 
production facilities) 


1 space per 50 square feet of brew pub or 
tap/tasting room 


57 Mining and quarrying 
1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area of office area (for administrative 
office buildings) 


58 Mortuaries 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


59 Moving and storage parcel delivery and 
express transfer stations 


1 space per 2,000 square feet of net floor 
area 


60 Nature education centers 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 16 


 
 


62 
Places of assembly, 
neighborhood/community/regional 


1 space per 3 persons based on the 
maximum design capacity of the largest 
assembly room as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


63 Personal service establishments 
1 space per 200 square feet of net floor 
area or 2 spaces per customer chair, 
whichever is greater 


64 Pet care services 3.5 spaces per 1,00 square feet of net floor 
area 


65 Pet stores 1 space per 200 square feet of net floor 
area 


66 Potable water pump station facilities 1 space per facility 


67 Printing establishments 1 space per 350 square feet of net floor 
area 


68 Park and outdoor recreational facilities, 
private 


25 spaces per acre associated with facilities 
designed for a stadium, auditorium, 
theater, swimming pool, athletic field, and 
court play plus 1 space per 3 acres of 
natural space design 


69 Park and outdoor recreational facilities, 
neighborhood/community/regional, public 


25 spaces per acre associated with facilities 
designed for a stadium, auditorium, 
theater, swimming pool, athletic field, and 
court play plus 1 space per 3 acres of 
natural space design 


70 Public or private parking garages N/A 


71 Radio and television studios, excluding 
towers in excess of district maximum height 


1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area 


72 Recreation facilities for employees, faculty 
and students 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


73 Retail establishments, agriculture supported 1 space per 500 square feet of sales area 
(indoor or outdoor) 


74 Retail establishments, value added 1 space per 500 square feet of sales area 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 17 


 
 


agriculture (indoor or outdoor) 


75 Retail establishments, general 1 space per 200 square feet of area used to 
consummate retail sales 


76 Retail, outdoor 1 space per 250 square feet of retail space 


77 School, commercial 


All schools: 1.5 spaces per classroom plus 
1 space for every 10 square feet of 
multipurpose assembly space or 1 space 
per 25 square feet of classroom square 
footage, whichever is greater 


78 School, public or private 


All schools: 1.5 spaces per classroom, plus 
1 space for every 10 square feet of 
multipurpose assembly space or 1 space 
per 25 square feet of classroom square 
footage, whichever is greater 


79 Self-service storage facilities 1 space per 50 storage spaces, plus 1 space 
per full-time equivalent employee 


80 Solar energy systems (PSES) 1 space per operating/control station 


81 Sporting and entertainment arenas and 
stadiums 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


82 Sports and field complexes 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


83 Storage of passenger vehicles and light 
trucks N/A 


84 Studios for instruction in music, performing 
arts and visual media 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


85 Taxi and limousine services 
2 spaces per vehicle, plus 1 space per 350 
square feet of net floor area of office area 
(for administrative office buildings) 


86 Telecommunications switching facilities 1 space per 2,000 square feet of net floor 
area 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 18 


 
 


87 Treatment centers 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum 
design capacity as permitted by the Centre 
Region Code Administration 


88 Tutoring and study centers 
1 space per 200 square feet of net floor 
area 


89 Veterinary offices/clinics 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor 
area 


90 Water production facilities 1 space per work vehicle 


91 Wholesale distribution, warehouses 1 space per 2,000 square feet of net floor 
area 


92 Wind energy systems 1 space per operating/control station 


93 Wineries/tasting facilities 1 space per 50 square feet of tasting room 


94 All other commercial and industrial uses 


Shall be determined through a parking 
study provided by the applicant and as per 
recommendation by the Planning 
Commission 


C. Parking Lots. For the purposes of this chapter, parking lots are defined as facilities 
providing off-street parking space for five or more motor vehicles. All parking lots shall 
meet the design and maintenance standards specified below. All applications for a zoning 
permit to use land, in whole or in part, as a parking lot as herein defined shall be 
accompanied by a minor land development plan as stipulated in this chapter. 


§ 22-5C02 Bicycle Parking Regulations.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. Short-term and long-term bicycle parking spaces shall be required for all new development 
and major renovations. 


A. Bicycle Parking Spaces Required. 


(1) Required Number of Bicycle Parking Spaces. All new development and major 
renovations shall provide at least the number of short-term and long-term bicycle 
parking spaces identified in the table in this subsection; however, the number shall not 
fall below a minimum of two short-term and two long-term bicycle parking spaces, 
regardless of other provisions herein, except that multifamily dwellings that have 
individual private garages (or equivalent separate storage space for each unit) are not 
required to provide any long-term bicycle parking spaces. Where the calculation of 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 19 


 
 


total required spaces results in a fractional number, the next highest whole number 
shall be used. Up to half of the required short-term bicycle parking spaces may be 
replaced with long-term bicycle parking spaces. 


 


General Use Category Specific Use 


Number of Short-
Term Bicycle 
Parking Spaces 
Required 


Number of Long-
Term Bicycle 
Parking Spaces 
Required 


Residential Multifamily dwelling; 
more than 4 units: 


 


 (a) Without private 
garage or equivalent 
separate storage 
space for each unit: 


0.05 spaces per 
bedroom 


0.5 spaces per 
bedroom  


 (b) With individual 
private garages or 
equivalent separate 
storage space for 
each unit:  


0.05 per bedroom  None 


Commercial Office building 1 per each 20,000 
square feet of floor 
area 


1 to 1.5 per 10,000 
square feet of floor 
area 


 General retail 1 per each 5,000 
square feet of floor 
area 


1 per 10,000 to 12,000 
square feet of floor 
area 


 Grocery 1 per each 2,000 
square feet of floor 
area 


1 per 10,000 to 12,000 
square feet of floor 
area 


 Restaurant 1 per each 2,000 
square feet of floor 
area 


1 per 10,000 to 12,000 
square feet of floor 
area 


 Parking garage 2 spaces 1 per 20 motor vehicle 
spaces 


 Outdoor parking lot 1 per 20 motor vehicle 
spaces 


2 spaces 


Civic Nonassembly cultural 
(e.g., library, government 
buildings) 


1 per each 8,000 to 
10,000 square feet of 
floor area 


1 to 1.5 per each 10 to 
20 employees 


 Assembly (e.g., places of 
worship, theaters, 
stadiums, parks) 


Spaces for 2 to 5 
percent of maximum 
expected daily 
attendance 


1 to 1.5 per each 20 
employees 


 Schools (K though 12) 1 per each 20 students 1 per each 10 to 20 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 20 


 
 


of planned capacity employees and 1 per 
each 20 students of 
planned capacity for 
grades 6 through 12 to  


 Colleges and universities 1 per each 10 students 
of planned capacity 


1 per each 10 to 20 
employees and 1 per 
each 10 students of 
planned capacity or 1 
per each 20,000 square 
feet of floor area, 
whichever is greater 


Industrial Manufacturing and 
production, agriculture 


2 spaces 1 per 20 employees 


 


§ 22-516 Landscaping.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. Purpose and Intent. The purpose of this section is to provide landscaping requirements 
which: 


A. Enhance and promote the aesthetics of the community through seasonal diversity of 
plantings.  


B. Protect the public health, safety, and welfare by: 


(1) Screening and buffering incompatible land uses.  


(2) Minimizing noise, air, water, dust, and visual pollution.  


(3) Preserving property values and the character of neighborhoods.  


(4) Reducing the heat and glare absorbed and radiated by development.  


(5) Helping control soil erosion.  


(6) Increasing traffic safety.  


(7) Mitigate stormwater runoff on site and improve the water quality through the use of 
vegetation.  


C. Increase the variety of plant materials used in landscape plans.  


D. Improve the aesthetics of the site through seasonal diversity of plantings.  







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 21 


 
 


   
 
13. Purpose. Buffer yards are intended to aid the Township of Ferguson in protecting the 


community character of the Township by separating incompatible uses either within the 
same zoning district and/or between adjacent zoning districts. The purpose of the buffer 
yard requirements is to alleviate problems which could be encountered by a single standard. 
The requirements of this section can reasonably accommodate the characteristics of each 
site and the range of land uses.  


A. All buffer yards shall include: 


(1)A required width of 15 feet; 


(2)A minimum of three canopy trees and four understory trees/evergreen trees per every 
100 linear feet of distance along a site's perimeter; 


(3) A minimum of six shrubs per every 100 linear feet of distance along a site’s 
perimeter; 


(i)Areas less than 100 linear feet and/or fractions thereof are to be landscaped with 
the corresponding ratio by 100 linear feet, rounded up to the nearest whole plant.  


(4) Planting stock to be used as landscape materials for the buffer yard in question are 
included in the Township’s Official Plant List. 


(5) Village District. Within the required three-foot side yard setback, the Board of 
Supervisors may approve the use of a fence or wall in place of the buffer yard 
which would satisfy the buffer yard requirements as defined above. When 
landscaping is being provided to buffer against a different use group than is on the 
site, the required plant material must be evenly distributed within each 100-foot 
section of the buffer area. The even distribution of plantings is intended to screen 
objectionable views. When landscaping is being provided to buffer against the same 
use group as exists on the site, the required plant material may be grouped or 
unevenly distributed within each 100-foot section of the buffer area.  


(6) Corridor Overlay District Flexible Buffer Yard. In addition to the requirements of 
§27-401, including the buffer yard options set forth in illustrations adopted as part 
of this chapter and codified at the end of this section, any site located within the 
Corridor Overlay District shall comply with one of the following landscaped buffer 
yard requirements: 


(i.) A minimum ten-foot-wide landscaped strip shall be planted with a 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 22 


 
 


minimum of one canopy tree or evergreen tree and 15 shrubs per 35 linear 
feet of frontage along the parking area (excluding driveway openings) 
(Figure 1). 


(ii) A berm/earth mound, the top of which is at least two feet higher than the 
elevation of the adjacent parking lot pavement. The slope of the berm shall 
not exceed 25% (4:1) for lawn areas. Berms planted with ground covers 
and shrubs may be steeper. However, no slope shall exceed 50% (2:1). 
Berms shall be graded to appear as naturalistic forms not causing any soil 
erosion problems and planted with a minimum of one canopy tree or 
evergreen tree and 15 shrubs per 35 linear feet of frontage along the 
parking area (excluding driveway openings) (Figure 2). 


(iii) A six-foot-wide landscaped embankment strip and a minimum three feet 
grade drop from the required yard area into any adjacent parking lot 
pavement. The resulting embankment shall be planted with a minimum of 
one canopy tree or evergreen tree and 15 shrubs per 35 linear feet of 
frontage along the parking area (excluding driveway openings). At least 
50% of the required shrubs shall be planted in the top half of the grade drop 
area (Figure 3). 


(iv) A minimum of a five-foot-wide landscaped strip with a minimum three 
feet high brick, stone or finished concrete material wall to screen any 
parking lot. The wall shall be located adjacent to, but entirely outside, the 
minimum five-foot-wide landscaping strip. The strip shall be planted with a 
minimum of one canopy tree or evergreen tree and 15 shrubs per 35 linear 
feet of frontage along the parking area (excluding driveway openings) 
(Figure 4). 


(v) A minimum twenty-five-foot-wide strip of existing woodlands or tree 
growth of sufficient trunk diameter or caliper of six inches if preserved 
between any parking lot or buildings and the corridor street (Figure 5). 


(vi) For display areas consisting of a parking lot that will be used to display 
products for sale or rent such as cars, trucks, boats and recreational 
vehicles, the following buffer yard may be used: 


(a) A landscaped planting strip shall be planted with a minimum of one 
canopy tree for every 50 feet of frontage along the display parking area. 
Each tree shall have a landscaped planting bed around its base. In 
addition, each end of the display area shall include a planting 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 23 


 
 


bed/mound which includes one canopy tree and 10 shrubs (Figure 6). 
As required but this chapter, a certain number of plants shall be planted 
per 35 linear feet. Within the specified length, the plantings may be 
staggered and do not have to be planted in a linear fashion. 


(b) The placement/configuration of mulch shall reflect best practices in 
horticultural and landscape maintenance standards. Materials must be at 
a minimum, two inches of mulch and not create a formation indicative 
of a mulch volcano. 


 


Corridor Overlay District Flexible Buffer Yard  


D. Placement of Buffer Yard Width. The landscaped buffer yard area shall be established 
along the length of, and contiguous to, any lot line or demarcation of land use, such as a 
leasable area. The width of the area determined from buffer yard of this section shall be 
measured at right angles to the lot line of the applicant's land development.  


 





		2022_03_15_Comprehensive Update Ordinance_Ch22.pdf

		2022_02_09_Ch22_JLW.pdf

		§ 22-202 Definitions.

		§ 22-301 General.

		§ 22-303 Review of Preliminary Plan.

		§ 22-304 Review of Final Plan.

		§ 22-306 Minor Subdivision, Minor Alteration Plan, and Minor Land Development Plan.

		§ 22-401 Preliminary Plan Contents and Review.

		§22-506.1. Water Supply

		§ 22-5C01.1 General Regulations.

		§ 22-5C02 Bicycle Parking Regulations.

		§ 22-516 Landscaping.








ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 


 


AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 16, PARKS AND RECREATION, SECTION 106, REGULATED USES, 
AND SECTION 107, CENTRE REGION PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT AS 
DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A” MADE PART OF THIS ORDINANCE. 


The Board of Supervisors of the Township of Ferguson hereby ordains: 


 Section 1—Chapter 16, Parks and Recreation, Part 1, Section 106, Regulated Uses is 
hereby amended by amending §16-106.5. to read as follows: 


5. Selling Concessions. No person shall in any park exhibit, sell, or offer for sale, hire, lease or 
let out any object, service or merchandise or anything whatsoever, whether corporal or 
incorporal, not to adversely limit allowances as provided in Ferguson Township’s Code of 
Ordinances. 


 Section 2—Chapter 16, Parks and Recreation, Part 1, Section 107, Centre Region Parks 
and Recreation Department, is hereby amended by amending §16-107.1.B, C, and D. to read as 
follows:  


B. To Restrict Use. To designate parks and parts thereof as restricted to the use of certain 
portions of the public at certain times as the Director sees fit not to adversely limit 
allowances as provided in Ferguson Township’s Code of Ordinances. 


C. To Issue Permits. Under uniform conditions to be prescribed by the Director, to issue 
permits for regulated uses as hereinbefore enumerated. 


D. To Fix, Charge and Collect Fees. To fix, charge and collect such fees and deposits for 
the use of park areas or facilities or privileges as the Director deems advisable to help 
defray the expense of the parks and their facilities. 


Section 3—The forgoing Section 1 and Section 2 shall be effective immediately upon the 
date of the enactment of this ordinance. 


 ORDAINED and ENACTED this __ day of ____, 2022. 


 


       TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
      
      
                                                                    
By:______________________________ 


                  Laura Dininni, Chair 
                        Board of Supervisors 
 
 
 
                            [ S E A L ] 
 
ATTEST: 







By:________________________________ 
     David G. Pribulka, Secretary 








2022 UPDATE - Figure 10: Ferguson Township Proposed Bicycle Facilities 


 xxxxx     Facility constructed or removed from official map   
   
 


CODE NAME/DESCRIPTION MILES 


F1 
Copper Beach II Path from the Tudek Circleville Bikeway at W Aaron Dr through Copper 
Beach II into Patton Twp to be connected to Green Hollow Park 0.25 


F3 Park Hills Ave Bike Lanes from the Tudek Circleville Bikeway to Park Hills Park 0.13 


F4 Farmstead Ln Bike Lanes from the Tudek Circleville Bikeway to Homestead Park 0.32 


F5 
Tanager Dr Farmstead Ln Path from the Tudek Circleville Bikeway through Greenleaf Manor 
to Teal Dr 0.48 


F6 Sandy Dr Bike Lane from Tanager Dr to Saybrook Connector Path 0.63 


F7a Old Gatesburg Rd Path from Foxpointe Dr to Nixon Rd 1.03 


F7b Nixon Rd Path from Old Gatesburg Rd to Sunday Dr 2.56 


F8a Pine Grove Rd (Rte 45) Bike Lane from Meckley Dr to Wyoming Ave 1.37 


F8b Nixon Rd Bike Lanes from near Chester Dr to Pine Grove Rd (Rte 45) 0.16 


F13 Bristol Ave Bike Lanes from Pamela Crt to W College Ave 0.21 


F14 Concord Dr Bike Lanes from Bristol Ave to Autumnwood Park 0.03 


F15 Park Center Blvd Bike Lanes from Bristol Ave to Quail Run Rd 0.46 


F18 Overlook Heights Path from E Aaron Dr to the Clinton Ave McKee St Bike Path on Penn 
State property 0.45 


F19 Railroad Path along abandoned railroad bed from Blue Course Dr to Foxpointe Dr 1.05 


F22 Foxpointe Dr Path from the existing path near Cobble Ct to Whitehall Rd 2.15 


F28 Landings Path from Park Center Blvd to Blue Course Dr 0.45 


F29 Prairie Rose/Thistle Ln Path from Foxpointe Dr to Autumnwood Dr 0.35 


F30 Enterprise Dr Bike Lanes from Bristol Ave to Cato Ave 0.25 


F37 
West Aaron Dr - Park Ln - Devonshire Bike Lanes along West Aaron Dr from the Tudek 
Circleville Bike Path to Park Ln, along Park Ln from West Aaron Dr to Devonshire Dr, and 
along Devonshire Dr from Park Ln to the Twp line 


0.56 


F50 Cambridge Dr Bike Facility from Homestead Park to Park Hills Ave 0.30 


F51 Corl Rd Bike Facility from the Blue and White Trail to Highland Aly 0.26 


F52 Westerly Parkway Bike Facility from Blue Course Dr to the State College Borough line 0.34 


F53 Stonebridge Dr Bike Facility from the Stonebridge Bike Path to Whitehall Rd 0.19 
F55 Saybrook Foxpointe Connector from Longfellow Ln across Gatesburg Rd to Prairie Rose Ln 1.40 


F60 Blue Course Dr Ext Path from Whitehall Rd to the Future Whitehall Road Regional Park 0.20 


 Proposed Additions  


F61 Whitehall Rd to Pine Grove Rd Bike Facility 1.02 


F62 
Pine Grove Road/State Route 26 West College Ave Bike Facility from Rosemont Dr to 
Buckhout St 


4.14 


F63 Bike Facility Connection from Martin St to Patton Twp Line 0.04 







F64 Marjorie Mae St Bike Facility from Marjorie Mae Park to Vairo Blvd 0.06 


F65 Aaron Dr Bike Facility from Martin St to Curtin St 0.56 


F66 Martin St Bike Facility from Aaron Dr to Blue Course Dr 0.53 


F67 Clinton Ave Bike Facility from Teaberry Ln to Clinton Ave McKee St Bikeway 0.60 


F68 Southwick Blvd Shared Use Path from Southwick Blvd cul de sac to Old Gatesburg Rd 0.42 


Source: Ferguson Township Official Map 2017 


 







Th e
H i l l


H i g h l a n d s


Pa r k  Fo re s t
Vi l l a g e


B o a l s b u rg


Pa r k
H i l l s


Tu s s ey v i ew


Ho l m e s
Fo s te r


G re e n b r i a r


G r ayc a i r n /
Wi l d e r n e s t


Le m o n t


D a l ev u e
Co l l e g e
He i g h t s


Ho m e s te a d
Fa r m s


G re e n t re e


P i n e  G rove
M i l l s


O rc h a rd
Pa r k


G l e n nv i ew


Co r l
Ac re s


S t ate  Co l l e g e
S o u t h


Wo o d yc re s t /
O a kwo o d


S ay b ro o k


S to n e b r i d g e


D e e r b ro o k


Fi r s t
Ave n u e


H ay m a r ke t


H a r r i s
Ac re s


G r ays d a l e


C l ove r
H i g h l a n d s


Ce n t re
H i l l s


S aw  M i l l
Ac re s


Te a b e r r y
R i d g e


O ve r l o o k
He i g h t s


S c e n e r y
Pa r k


Va l l a m o n t


H i l l to p


Ce n t re  H i l l s
Vi l l a g e


C h e s t n u t
R i d g e


S t r u b l e s


K l i n g e r
He i g h t s


N i t t a ny  H i l l s
/ Pe n n fi e l d


O a k
G rove


Pa n o r a m a
Vi l l a g e


N i t t a ny
O rc h a rd


Fa i r fi e l d


S h i n g l e tow n


G o o d
Ho p e


Fa r m s


A r m a u
Vi l l a g e


B r a c ke n r i d g e /
Fox p o i n te


B ro o k s i d e


B at h g ate
S p r i n g s


G h a n e r
Ro a d


Co u n t r y
P l a c e


Eve r h a r t
Vi l l a g e


O a k
H a l l


Ke n n a rd
Ro a d


M a r ys v i l l e


Va l l ey
Vi s t a
Pa r k


G o o d
Ho p e  I


Sy l va n
Vi ew


W h e e l
E s t ate
Ac re s


S to r m s tow n


G r ay h a m p to n


G ate s b u rg


Th e
M e a d ows


Fa i r b ro o k


M o u n t
N i t t a ny
Te r r a c e


Th e
L a n d i n g s


Fox p o i n te


C ATO
Pa r k


G r ay 's
Wo o d s


HALFMOON
TWP


PATTON
TWP COLLEGE


TWP


FERGUSON
TWP


STATE
COLLEGE


HARRIS
TWP


P27


HM14


P8
F64


HM11


C15


P42


HM19


H7f


F 63


HM5


P23


P41


HM8


F8b


HM9


P28


HM7


H7d


P7


P26


F1


F30


F51


C17


P10


H25b


HM15


H7a


P4


HM10


P38


HM16


SC2


PS14


P34


P36


H7b


P40


P5
PS11


F68


F18


P16
P11


F66


H7e


F65P46


F67


HM3


P15


H25a


P25


F22


P39


HM12


HM1


P24


C18


P23


SC4


HM20


P35


HM18B


HM4


P31


F61


F7a


P33


P32


F22


SC3


HM2


C13


F8a


F7b


F62


Ferguson Township


Bicycle Facilities
Existing | Proposed


Bicycle Facilities


Shared Use Path


Bike Lane


Bike Route


Single Track


State Game Lands Trail


BicyclePA Route G


Proposed Facility**


Municipal Open Space


State Game Lands


State Forest Lands


School District Property


Penn State Lands


Centre Region Parks


Municipal Boundary


Bike Repair Stations


** Proposed Facilities are identified in municipal
plans or on municipal Official Maps.


0 10.5 Miles


0 0.850.42 Kilometers ¹


DRAFT Bike Plan Map Update
01/25/2022







2022 UPDATE - Figure 40: Ferguson Township Recommended Bike Corridors 


xxxx  Facility constructed   
 


ID RECOMMENDED BIKE CORRIDOR MUNICIPALITY 


H North Atherton Street Study Area - Valley Vista Dr to Route 26 College Ave Ferguson 


I Valley Vista Dr - Devonshire Dr to Tudek Circleville Path Ferguson 


J Connection from Cornflower Ln to Martin St Ferguson 


M Marjorie Mae St – Marjorie Mae Park to Vairo Blvd Ferguson 


N Aaron Dr - Martin St to Curtin St Ferguson 


O Martin St – Aaron Dr to Blue Course Dr Ferguson 


P Clinton Ave - Teaberry Ln to Clinton Ave McKee St Bikeway Ferguson 


Q Rocky Top Ln – Curtin St to Big Hollow Rd Ferguson 


T Whitehall Rd – Nixon Rd to College Ave Ferguson 


U State Route 26 West College Ave – Rosemont Dr to Buckhout St Ferguson 


Source: Centre Regional Planning Agency 2022 
 







Th e
H i l l


H i g h l a n d s


Pa r k  Fo re s t
Vi l l a g e


B o a l s b u rg


Pa r k
H i l l s


Tu s s ey v i ew


Ho l m e s
Fo s te r


G re e n b r i a r


G r ayc a i r n /
Wi l d e r n e s t


Le m o n t


D a l ev u e
Co l l e g e
He i g h t s


Ho m e s te a d
Fa r m s


G re e n t re e


P i n e  G rove
M i l l s


O rc h a rd
Pa r k


G l e n nv i ew


Co r l
Ac re s


S t ate  Co l l e g e
S o u t h


Wo o d yc re s t /
O a kwo o d


S ay b ro o k


S to n e b r i d g e


D e e r b ro o k


Fi r s t
Ave n u e


H ay m a r ke t


H a r r i s
Ac re s


G r ays d a l e


C l ove r
H i g h l a n d s


Ce n t re
H i l l s


S aw  M i l l
Ac re s


Te a b e r r y
R i d g e


O ve r l o o k
He i g h t s


S c e n e r y
Pa r k


Va l l a m o n t


H i l l to p


Ce n t re  H i l l s
Vi l l a g e


C h e s t n u t
R i d g e


S t r u b l e s


K l i n g e r
He i g h t s


N i t t a ny  H i l l s
/ Pe n n fi e l d


O a k
G rove


Pa n o r a m a
Vi l l a g e


N i t t a ny
O rc h a rd


Fa i r fi e l d


S h i n g l e tow n


G o o d
Ho p e


Fa r m s


A r m a u
Vi l l a g e


B r a c ke n r i d g e /
Fox p o i n te


B ro o k s i d e


B at h g ate
S p r i n g s


G h a n e r
Ro a d


Co u n t r y
P l a c e


Eve r h a r t
Vi l l a g e


O a k
H a l l


Ke n n a rd
Ro a d


M a r ys v i l l e


Va l l ey
Vi s t a
Pa r k


G o o d
Ho p e  I


Sy l va n
Vi ew


W h e e l
E s t ate
Ac re s


S to r m s tow n


G r ay h a m p to n


G ate s b u rg


Th e
M e a d ows


Fa i r b ro o k


M o u n t
N i t t a ny
Te r r a c e


Th e
L a n d i n g s


Fox p o i n te


C ATO
Pa r k


G r ay 's
Wo o d s


HALFMOON
TWP


PATTON
TWP COLLEGE


TWP


FERGUSON
TWP


STATE
COLLEGE


HARRIS
TWP


M


L


J


B


P


X2


W


P


R


Aa


Cc


H


O


N


Ee


Ff
Q


D


K


S


X1


C


A


X2


Z


T


V


V


H


V


Y


U


Gg


U


Dd


Ferguson Township


Bicycle Facilities
Existing | Proposed | Corridors


Bicycle Facilities


Shared Use Path


Bike Lane


Bike Route


Single Track


State Game Lands Trail


BicyclePA Route G


Proposed Facility**


Bikeway Corridors*


Municipal Open Space


State Game Lands


State Forest Lands


School District Property


Penn State Lands


Centre Region Parks


Municipal Boundary


N Atherton St Study Area


Bike Repair Stations


** Proposed Facilities are identified in municipal
plans or on municipal Official Maps.


* Recommended Bike Corridors are based on public input.


0 10.5 Miles


0 0.850.42 Kilometers ¹


DRAFT Bike Plan Map Update
01/25/2022








FERGUSON TOWNSHIP 
REGIONAL AND ABC MEETING REPORT 


LUCI Meeting 2/3/22 


Lisa Strickland 


Summary: 


Review of mission statement.  Proposed change is highlighted in yellow: 


The Land Use and Community Infrastructure (LUCI) Committee advances and influences the 
development, approval, and implementation of a coherent set of regional land use and 
transportation plans, and community infrastructure projects that ensure a livable, sustainable, and 
prosperous future for the Centre Region. The committee ensures that land use, transportation, and 
community infrastructure priorities contribute to a high quality of life for workers and residents, 
maintain efficient transportation systems and support sustainable infrastructure planning.  


Review of materials contained in new Onboarding Folder. This is located in the COG Sharepoint and 
is still being built. 


Act 537 Special Study for Meeks Lane has been tabled.  This item will be referred to the 
municipalities at a later time.  The proposed planning area for the special study includes a portion 
of Halfmoon Township not currently in the SSA or RGB.  Halfmoon Twp. has not made a proposal to 
add that area into the SSA, so UAJA has created an alternate study area, the CRPA Alternative, that 
does not include the Halfmoon Township portion. UAJA is still recommending full area study due to 
potential future savings of oversizing main pump if RGB is expanded.  CRPA position is that an 
expansion to RGB/SSA is a municipal decision and this is pre‐emptive of local authority. General 
Forum does need to approve study for it to move forward. Ferguson Township may want to 
consider inviting UAJA Board Representative to the Board meeting in which this is discussed. This 
item will be before LUCI again when UAJA has secured easements for impacted areas.  


Reviewed updates to Centre Region Bike Plan.  Municipalities are asked to comment on updates to 
ensure current conditions, plans and proposals are included.   


Committee received a report on update of Centre Region Bike Plan in 2023. Committee supports 
expanding the current plan into an Active Transportation Plan. This will integrate biking, walking 
and transit.  Benefits of this include the impact that designated non‐motorized transportation 
routes may have in PENNDOT decision making, one example being the Warner Blvd. area. 
Discussion included the importance of engaging with area partners including SCASD and the Park 
Authority.  


Committee Received a presentation on accessory solar energy systems. 
 


 







LAND USE AND COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE COMMITTEE 


Hybrid Meeting 
Wednesday, February 3, 2022 


12:15 PM 


GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


RSVP To ensure an overall quorum of members, please let us know how you intend to participate: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEvdumupzkjHND6-S0cq0X1Ck89JNoM4Lqj 


Remote 
Participants 


To attend via Zoom: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEvdumupzkjHND6-S0cq0X1Ck89JNoM4Lqj 
To attend by phone: +1 301 715 8592 | Meeting ID: 852 1069 2964 | Passcode: 514049 


In-Person 
Participants 


COG Building – Forum Room 
2643 Gateway Drive, State College PA 16801 


Meeting Contact: Marcella Hoffman | email: mhoffman@crcog.net | 814-231-3050 


Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
Should you desire to annotate any attachments, you must download them first 


• The chat feature for this meeting will be disabled. A recording of the meeting will be made available on
the COG website upon its conclusion.


• We ask that non-voting participants that are attending remotely remain muted with their video turned
off unless recognized to speak. To reduce audio interference, please remain off of speakerphone
during the meeting.


• VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be sought
by the Chair if the vote is unclear. For additional information on COG Voting Procedures, please
click HERE.


• PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items not
already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items on the agenda
should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional information on COG public meeting
guidelines, please click HERE.


• To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the Land Use
and Community Infrastructure Committee on our website, please click HERE



https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEvdumupzkjHND6-S0cq0X1Ck89JNoM4Lqj

https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEvdumupzkjHND6-S0cq0X1Ck89JNoM4Lqj

mailto:mhoffman@crcog.net

https://crcogonline.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/COG-Agenda-Packets/EgfnkZCyDA5Li9mRQ4LVICkBtdOo4m_nfYcLzAcjINBKOg?e=AfJ6gZ

https://www.crcog.net/index.asp?SEC=E45D3748-C2F7-4EAF-8F3E-AB63B94C36AE

https://www.crcog.net/index.asp?SEC=887A22E4-181A-49A5-997F-B836A6E6114C

https://www.crcog.net/luci





CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 4 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 


LAND USE AND COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE (LUCI) COMMITTEE 
 


Hybrid Meeting 
Wednesday February 3, 2022 


12:15 PM 
 


During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the COG and ensure 
the safety of municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health emergency recommendations 
while remaining in compliance with Pennsylvania’s guidelines for public meetings, this Land Use 
and Community Infrastructure Committee meeting will be held via hybrid format. Written public 
comment or requests to speak to the LUCI Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests 
to comment on specific agenda items listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing 
mhoffman@crcog.net. 


 
Agenda 


 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL  


Mr. Hameister will call the meeting to order. 
 


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS  


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda (five 
minutes per person time limit please). Comments relating to specific items on the agenda 
should be deferred until that point in the meeting. Submitted comments will be read into the 
record by the Recording Secretary at the appropriate time in the meeting. 


 
3. NEW AGENDA ITEMS 


Members may request additional items of business be added to this meeting’s agenda. If 
approved by a majority vote of the members, the proposed new agenda item(s) will be placed 
on the agenda at the discretion of the Chair. 
 


4. CONSENT AGENDA 


The following items listed on the Consent Agenda portion of the Committee agenda may be 
approved with a single motion by the Committee unless a Committee member or member of 
the public requests that an item is removed from the Consent Agenda for a question or further 
discussion. 


a. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – The minutes of the January 12, 2022 meeting are enclosed. 
 


All municipalities should vote to approve the consent agenda. 
 
 



mailto:mhoffman@crcog.net





Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committees Agenda 
February 3, 2022 
Page 2 of 7 
 
5. COG COMMITTEE REPORTS 


At the January 12, 2022 meeting, the LUCI committee members agreed to include an item for 
Committee reports. The Chair should request any reports from members or staff. 
 


6. LUCI COMMITTEE MISSION STATEMENT 


The COG Public Services & Environmental (PSE) and Transportation & Land Use (TLU) 
Committees adopted the resolution forming the Land Use and Community Infrastructure 
Committee at its August 1, 2021 joint meeting. The motion to include the mission statement 
was removed from the resolution to consider it at future meeting. The draft mission statement 
from August 2021 is: 


The Land Use and Community Infrastructure (LUCI) Committee advances and influences the 
development, approval, and implementation of a coherent set of regional land use and transportation 
plans, and community infrastructure projects that ensure a livable, sustainable, and prosperous future for 
the Centre Region. The committee ensures that land use, transportation, and community infrastructure 
priorities support a competitive business climate, maintain efficient transportation and goods movement 
systems, and contribute to a high quality of life for workers and residents. 


Enclosed is the Working Draft on Committee Responsibilities 6.18.21 that can provide some 
context for the mission statement. 
 
Committee members should review the draft mission statement and consider any changes.  
 


7. LUCI COMMITTEE ONBOARDING FOLDER 


This item provides a summary of content for the LUCI Onboarding folder in SharePoint. The 
content in the Onboarding folder is just being populated now. It will contain two primary 
resources. First is a general guide for new members that will help you navigate the first year on 
the Committee. The second resource provide links to resources that all Committee members 
may find helpful.  


CRPA staff will continue to provide additional content and will provide content as suggested 
by members of the committee. 


No action is required on this item. 
 


8. REVISED ACT 537 SEWAGE FACILITIES PLAN SPECIAL STUDY FOR THE MEEKS 
LANE PUMP STATION 


The University Area Joint Authority (UAJA) owns and operates the Spring Creek Pollution 
Control Facility (facility) located in College and Benner Townships. Wastewater generated in 
the west Patton Township portion of the UAJA’s collection system is conveyed through a series 
of consecutive pump stations and ultimately to the facility. Planned land development projects 
within the area of west Patton Township will require the construction of three more pump 
stations.    


The goal of this Special Study is to present an alternative conveyance method which includes 
the construction of a new gravity sewer interceptors and a single pump station. This new pump 







Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committees Agenda 
February 3, 2022 
Page 3 of 7 
 


station would eliminate the three existing pump stations as well as the three previously 
planned pump stations. The planning area for the Special Study includes western Patton 
Township (currently with the sewer service area (SSA)) and the eastern portion of Halfmoon 
Township (currently adjacent to the SSA). This Special Study does not propose the extension 
of the Regional Growth Boundary (RGB) and SSA boundary into any portion of Halfmoon 
Township, however the UAJA has proposed that the pump station be oversized to 
accommodate projected flows to serve 645 unapproved dwelling units in Halfmoon Township. 
Halfmoon Township has taken formal action not to expand the RGB and SSA. Any action to 
accommodate unapproved dwelling units is not consistent with the Act 537 Plan and the 
Centre Region Comprehensive Plan. 


The Revised Act 537 Sewage Facilities Plan Special Study for the Meeks Lane Pump Station is 
available in the SharePoint folder. Listed below are the five alternative options that the Special 
Study considered:  


• Cedar Cliff Alternative – A technical memorandum was completed in 2015 to 
evaluate a pump station site, designated as the Waddle Pump Station, and forcemain 
alignment and to provide the basic preliminary process design and physical sizing for the 
Cedar Cliff Alternative. The pump station would be located near the intersection of 
Michael Road and Stevenson Road in the Cedar Cliff neighborhood. The forcemain 
would generally follow the alignment of Michael Road and then extend to a discharge 
location along an existing unimproved roadway, where it would transition to a gravity 
system and flow into the Toftrees Interceptor. The technical memorandum concluded that 
the Cedar Cliff Alternative is technically feasible. It must be noted however, that residents 
in the area are highly opposed to this alignment. 


• Meeks Lane Alternative A – The new pump station would be located along Meeks 
Lane near Spring Hollow Farm.  The forcemain alignment would follow Meeks Lane to 
Grays Woods Boulevard and then extend across the backlot along Scotia Road crossing 
Circleville Road.  From there the alignment would follow an abandoned railroad grade 
towards Ghaner Drive. For the Meeks Lane Alternative A, the forcemain would discharge 
into new gravity sanitary sewer lines near Valley Vista Drive that would be constructed to 
convey the wastewater flows to the Valley Vista Interceptor. It should be noted that this 
alternative would require construction in areas of heavy traffic and limited space. 


• Meeks Lane Alternative B – The Meeks Lane Alternative B is generally consistent 
with the previously described Meeks Lane Alternative A, though the forcemain would 
extend along the existing walking path located between Ghaner Drive and Whisper Ridge 
Drive. The forcemain would then discharge into new gravity sanitary sewer lines 
constructed north of the Lowe’s to convey the wastewater flows to the Valley Vista 
Interceptor.   


• Meeks Lane Alternative C – The Meeks Lane Alternative C is generally consistent 
with Alternatives A and B, however the forcemain would extend along the backlot of 
Whisper Ridge Drive and around the small park. The forcemain would then discharge into 
new gravity sewer lines constructed to the north of Lowes to convey wastewater flows to the 
Valley Vista Interceptor. An exhibit illustrating this alternative is available in the SharePoint 
folder. 







Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committees Agenda 
February 3, 2022 
Page 4 of 7 
 


The Cedar Cliff Alternative and Alternatives A and B were proposed in the initial submittal. 
Alternative C was added to the revised document. The CRPC and the joint COG PSE and 
TLU Committee recommended that the UAJA revise the Special Study to eliminate any 
reference to 645 unapproved dwelling units in Halfmoon Township. Providing sewer service to 
a Township without having an expansion of the RGB and SSA approved is not consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan, the Act 537 Plan because it is a de facto expansion and pre-empts 
municipal authority to approve the method of sewage disposal in the municipality. 


• Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative – The Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative is generally 
consistent with the previously described Meeks Lane Alternatives, though the preliminary 
design capacity was based on flow projections within the existing SSA only. 


The CRPA recommends the Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative since it is the only alternative 
consistent with regional planning policy and local authority. After reviewing the Special Study, 
CRPA staff finds the Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative to be in conformance with the 2013 
Centre Region Comprehensive Plan. All other alternatives are not consistent with the 2013 
Centre Region Comprehensive Plan for the following reasons: 


1. The alternatives propose to include future dwelling units in Halfmoon Township. The 
Comprehensive Plan requires conformance with the Act 537 Plan Implementation 
Agreement and requires that five of six municipalities approve expansion of the RGB and 
SSA prior to providing public sewer to those areas. Staff has determined the sizing the 
sewer line and proposed pump station to serve Halfmoon Township is a de facto expansion 
of the RGB and SSA and pre-empts local authority. 


2. The Special Study proposes to install gravity and force sewer mains and a pump station 
outside the RGB and SSA. This is similar what has been permitted for Pine Grove Mills 
area in Ferguson Township. The Special Study must specifically state that any sewerage 
facilities installed outside the RGB and SSA are to be utilized only to provide sewer service 
to areas inside the existing RGB and SSA.  


The LUCI Committee should consider the following motion: 


That the LUCI Committee recommends that the COG General Forum forward 
the Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative to municipalities for adoption of municipal 
resolutions approving this alternative. 


All municipalities should vote on this motion. 


9. UPDATING BIKE PLAN MAPS AND TABLES TO REFLECT CURRENT CONDITIONS 


Since adoption of the Centre Region Bike Plan in 2015, some of the Region’s municipalities 
have constructed new bicycle facilities, adopted Bike Plans, and amended Municipal Official 
Maps to include or remove bicycle facilities. 


At the time the Bike Plan was adopted, COG did not establish a process to perform bicycle 
facility updates to the existing Plan on a regular basis. Because the maps and tables are 
outdated, CRPA staff recommended that they be updated to reflect current conditions. At the 
September 2, 2021 joint meeting of the COG PSE and TLU Committees, members authorized 
CRPA staff to revise the Bike Plan maps and tables. 







Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committees Agenda 
February 3, 2022 
Page 5 of 7 
 


Since that time, CRPA has worked with municipal and Penn State Transportation Services 
staff to update existing and proposed facilities for each municipality and the University Park 
Campus so they accurately reflect the changes that have been completed over the past six years. 


The enclosed draft maps and tables include bike facilities that were constructed, and facilities 
approved via formal action by municipal governing bodies or included in adopted plans or 
Municipal Official Maps. The updated information will provide residents and visitors accurate 
information on bike facilities in the Region. Staff will provide an overview of the type of 
changes that have been made and describe the next steps in the update process. 


The updated maps and tables will be presented to the LUCI Committee again in March for 
final review and a recommendation to the COG General Forum to amend the Bike Plan. 


The 2022 Update Draft Centre Region Bike Plan Bicycle Facilities Maps and Tables for the 
Centre Region, Centre Region municipalities, and Penn State are available in the SharePoint 
folder. 


The LUCI Committee should review the information in the SharePoint folder. Committee 
members should provide any specific questions or comments to municipal staff at your earliest 
convenience, but no later than Thursday, February 17. CRPA will then work with municipal 
staff to revise the draft maps and tables for final review at the March 3, LUCI meeting. 


  
Committee members should review the updated maps and tables and provide comments to 
municipal staff no later than February 17, 2022. 
 


10. POTENTIAL TRANSITION FROM A BIKE PLAN TO AN ACTIVE TRANSPORTATION 
PLAN  


The Centre Region COG adopted the Centre Region Bike Plan in December 2015 and 
amended the plan in May 2016 to address the operation of e-bikes on shared use paths in the 
Centre Region. Completion of a Bike Plan was a major factor contributing to the national 
League of American Bicyclists designating the Centre Region as a Bicycle Friendly Community 
(BFC). In December 2020, the League renewed and elevated the Region’s BFC designation 
from Bronze to Silver. The Centre Region’s Silver designation is valid for four years and will 
require renewal in fall 2024. The Bike Plan will be 9 years old by 2024. It should undergo a 
major update to align community goals with future decision-making and provide support for 
the submission of the renewal application to a BFC Gold level designation.  


At the September 2, 2021 Joint PSE TLU Committee meeting, members endorsed the 
preparation of a new Centre Region Bike Plan, with consideration for expanding the scope to 
prepare an Active Transportation Plan. Active Transportation Plans may integrate biking, 
walking, and transit to support a safe and connected system of transportation facilities. Active 
Transportation Plans may also support other land use, health, and sustainability goals. The 
Joint Committee’s action provided direction for staff to add the work task to the CRPA and 
CCMPO work programs. This allows staff to investigate and potentially apply for outside 
sources of funding for the project. The new Plan is intended to be completed using outside 
consultant services. If funding is obtained, the Plan would be started in in 2023 and completed 
in 2024. 
 







Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committees Agenda 
February 3, 2022 
Page 6 of 7 
 


The LUCI Committee should receive a staff presentation on the next steps in seeking 
funding for preparation of an Active Transportation Plan. 
 


11. ACCESSORY-USE SOLAR - presented by Pam Adams and Nicole Pollock 


This agenda item provides Committee members with information on the accessory-use solar 
project. This update will include a summary of previous steps, goals, an overview of the Go 
Solar in the Centre Region website, and the Best Practices for Regulating Accessory Solar 
Factsheet. 


There is an expectation that solar energy installations will be increasing in our region with the 
implementation of the Climate Action and Adaption Plan (CAAP). As a result of the interest 
and growth potential in solar, CRPA staff has been working on two solar projects: one 
studying utility- scale solar that the Committee will be receiving information on at a future 
meeting and the accessory-use solar project being presented today.  


Accessory-use solar, including rooftop and ground-mounted installations in the Centre Region, 
is poised to increase rapidly. In September 2021, the Centre County Solar and EV Charger 
Co-op through Solar United Neighbors launched and has 111 members. In a typical year, 
there are 30 accessory-use solar energy installations in the Centre Region, and it is expected 
that number will grow significantly soon. To help prepare for this growth, staff investigated 
ways to improve local government efficiencies and educational materials. 


At its August 5, 2021 meeting, the LUCI Committee received an update on the accessory-use 
solar project. Staff has finalized research on best practices in regulating solar and relevant 
information and created the following: 


• Go Solar in the Centre Region website for residents who are interested in installing solar 
panels and 


• Enclosed draft Best Practices for Regulating Accessory Solar Factsheet. 


The Committee should receive the enclosed presentation on accessory-scale solar energy systems 
and provide feedback on the website and factsheet. Staff will then finalize the Best Practice 
factsheet after considering comments from the LUCI Committee and promote the Go Solar in 
the Centre Region website. This information will also be shared with the Climate Action and 
Sustainability (CAS) Committee at its meeting on February 14, 2022.  


Committee members should review the website and factsheet and provide comments. 
 
12. OTHER BUSINESS 


a. Matter of Record – The next meeting of the LUCI Committee will be held on March 3, 
2022 at 12:15 p.m. This will be a hybrid meeting. Potential agenda items include: a 
presentation on the Penn State SPIN E-Bike program, a review of Committee activities 
over the past three years, and a review the of draft approach and work program for the 
Centre Region Comprehensive Plan Update. 


b. Matter of Record – Nicole Pollock will be meeting with County staff and their consultant 
on a regular basis to represent the Region on the Solutions-Based Affordable Housing 



https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/da1b746f4c80414faa6a7fa878fd840b/page/Go-Solar-Home/

https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/da1b746f4c80414faa6a7fa878fd840b/page/Go-Solar-Home/





Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committees Agenda 
February 3, 2022 
Page 7 of 7 


Study for Centre County. The consultant has prepared a list of stakeholders and expects to 
be conducting stakeholder meeting in March. 


c. Matter of Record – The CRPA, working with the municipal managers and the Centre
Region Parks and Recreation (CRPR) Director, clarified that pedestrians and bicyclists are
authorized to ride thorough local and regional parks between dusk and dawn. In the short
term, information will be provided to the biking community and on CRPA’s social media
posts to publicize the clarification in rules. The CRPR is expected to provide additional
placards in parks that have multi-use trails that are parallel to or go through parks later this
winter or early spring to indicate that pedestrians and bicyclists can use paths between dusk
and dawn.


d. Matter of Record – Enclosed is a CRPA Organizational Chart and list of Planning staff from
Ferguson Township, State College Borough, and Centre County.


13. ADJOURNMENT


ENCLOSURES 


Item # Description 
4a Draft minutes of the January 12, 2022 LUCI Committee meeting 
6a Working Document on Committee Responsibilities 6.18.21 
8a Revised Act 537 Sewage Facilities Plan Special Study for the Meeks Lane Pump 


Station (see SharePoint folder) 
8b Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative (see SharePoint folder) 
8c LUCI Act 537 Meeks Lane PowerPoint 
9a 2022 Update Draft Centre Region Bike Plan Bicycle Facilities Maps and Tables for 


the Centre Region, Centre Region municipalities, and Penn State (see SharePoint 
folder) 


12d CRPA Organizational Chart and list of Planning staff from Ferguson Township, 
State College Borough, and Centre County. 


11a Accessory Solar Fact Sheet draft  1.27.22


11b Accessory Solar Presentation







 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS (COG) 
LAND USE AND COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE (LUCI) COMMITTEE 


 
Minutes 


Wednesday, January 12, 2022 
(please refer to the COG audio/video meeting file website when referencing timestamps) 


Mr. Norenberg called the Wednesday, January 12, 2022 hybrid meeting of Land Use and Community 
Infrastructure (LUCI) Committee to order at 8:31 a.m.  


Members Present: Dennis Hameister, Harris Township; Lisa Strickland, Ferguson Township; Deanna 
Behring, State College Borough; Eric Bernier, College Township; Ron Servello, Halfmoon Township; 
Elliot Abrams, Patton Township; 
Others Present: Jim May, Centre Regional Planning Agency (CRPA) Director; Mark Boeckel, CRPA 
Principal Planner; Tom Zilla, CRPA Principal Transportation Planner; Pam Adams, CRPA 
Sustainability Planner; Corey Rilk, CRPA Senior Planner; Nicole Pollock, CRPA Senior Planner; Greg 
Kausch, CRPA Senior Transportation Planner; Trish Meek, CRPA Senior Transportation Planner; 
Shelly Mato, Recycling and Refuse Administrator; Marcella Hoffman, CRPA Office Manager; Scott 
Binkley, COG Administration Office Manager; Eric Norenberg, COG Executive Director; Louwana 
Oliva, Centre Area Transportation Authority (CATA) Executive Director and CEO; Chris Jordan, 
CATA Director of Service Planning & Community Engagement; Lindsay Schoch, College Township 
Principal Planner; Pamela Robb, Patton Township Supervisor 


PUBLIC COMMENTS (00:00:20) 
There was no public comment. 


INTRODUCTION OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND STAFF (00:01:13) 
A round of introductions for Committee members and staff was made. 


COG MEETING ETIQUETTE (00:03:13) 
Mr. Norenberg briefly reviewed the COG Meeting Etiquette Guidelines and Resolution 2018-4 that was 
adopted by the COG General Forum on November 26, 2018. 


COG ARTICLES OF AGREEMENT (00:06:05) 
Mr. Norenberg reviewed Resolution 2021-8 establishing the LUCI Committee that was adopted by the 
COG General Forum on August 23, 2021. Mr. Norenberg also reviewed the duties of the LUCI 
Committee, as established by the Resolution. 


NOMINATIONS OF OFFICERS (00:08:06) 
Motion was made by Mr. Bernier and seconded by Mr. Abrams that the LUCI Committee appoint 
Dennis Hameister as Chair of the LUCI Committee for a term beginning January 12, 2022 and 
ending with the LUCI Committee’s first meeting during January 2023. The motion carried 6-0  
(Mr. Sullivan was not in attendance). 
Motion was made by Mr. Hameister and seconded by Ms. Behring that the LUCI Committee appoint 
Ms. Strickland as Vice Chair of the LUCI Committee for a term beginning January 12, 2022 and 
ending with the LUCI Committee’s first meeting during January 2023. The motion carried 6-0. 


 







Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee Meeting Minutes 
January 12, 2022 
Page 2 
 
NEW AGENDA ITEMS (00:10:54) 
There were no requested additions to the agenda. There was a brief discussion regarding the definition 
of land use and infrastructure as it relates to the Committee name.  


CONSENT AGENDA (00:14:08) 
Approval of Minutes 
Motion was made by Ms. Behring and seconded by Mr. Bernier to approve the minutes of the 
December 2, 2021 joint meeting of the Transportation and Land Use and Public Services and 
Environmental Committees, as presented. The motion carried 6-0. 


MEETING DATE, TIME, AND LOCATION (00:14:41) 
Mr. May proposed that the LUCI Committee continue to meet on the first Thursday of the month at 
12:15 PM, which is the same time that the former joint Public Services & Environmental (PSE) and 
Transportation and Land Use (TLU) Committees met last year. The meetings will continue to be held 
using hybrid meeting technology. Mr. May pointed out that the LUCI Committee will meet twice 
annually with the Centre Region Planning Commission (CRPC) in April and October at the regular 
LUCI Committee meeting date and time. 
There was a brief discussion regarding the date and time of a joint meeting with the Public Safety 
Committee. The date chosen by the Public Safety Committee was November 10 at 12:15 PM; however, 
it was discovered after the Public Safety Committee meeting that the time and date conflicts with 
another COG Committee meeting. The LUCI Committee proposed that the joint meeting with the Public 
Safety Committee be held on November 3, 2022 at 12:15 PM, the normal LUCI Committee meeting 
date and time. Staff will work with members of the Public Safety Committee to ensure the date and time 
works for them. 


Motion was made by Mr. Abrams and seconded by Ms. Behring that the LUCI Committee adopt the 
2022 meeting schedule, as presented. The motion carried 6-0. 


POTENTIAL LUCI COMMITTEE WORK TASKS FOR 2022 (00:19:02) 
Mr. May briefly reviewed the potential LUCI Committee work tasks for 2022. The Committee members 
offered no questions or comments for staff to consider. 


REPORTING PROCESS FOR COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES (00:26:22)  
Mr. May provided a brief review of the framework for Committee and staff reporting for the first 4 to 6 
meetings of 2022. Staff recommends that the Committee consider utilizing the reporting framework 
being proposed and make adjustments that improve the reporting process as necessary at future 
meetings. The CRPA provides staff to many other COG Committees that may overlap with LUCI 
Committee issues. Staff recommends that the LUCI Committee include an agenda item for “COG 
Committee Reports” on each agenda. Reports could include formal presentations, verbal reports, and/or 
matters of record. 
There was a lengthy discussion between Committee members regarding how individual Boards and 
Councils provide Committee reporting at the municipal level. Several municipalities have incorporated 
written Committee reports as part of their agenda package; however, it was noted that because the 
agenda packages are typically full of information, the written reports fall by the wayside, and it is 
difficult to ensure that elected officials have read and understand the written reports. Other 
municipalities provide Committee reports verbally during their regular meeting, either at the beginning 







Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee Meeting Minutes 
January 12, 2022 
Page 3 
 
or end of the meeting. There was a consensus from the Committee to include “COG Committee 
Reports” on each agenda moving forward. 
OTHER BUSINESS (00:47:36) 
The next meeting of the LUCI Committee will be held on February 3, 2022 at 12:15 p.m., via hybrid 
meeting technology. Potential agenda items include reviewing and coming to consensus on the draft 
mission statement, preview of the SharePoint On-boarding Folder, review of the Act 537 Plan Special 
Study for the Meeks Lane Pump Station, and review of the CRPA staffing plan and responsibilities. 


ADJOURNMENT 
There being no other business, the January 12, 2022 LUCI Committee meeting was adjourned at 
9:19 a.m. 


Respectfully submitted, 


Marcella Hoffman 
Recording Secretary 







 


Merger of the PSE and TLU Committees to form the  
Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee (LUCI) 


 
This document provides some context for LUCI Committee members to help understand the role 
of the LUCI as the merger of the PSE and TLU Committees is completed. The document should 
be viewed as a work in progress that can be amended as the responsibilities for the LUCI 
Committee are finalized, and as the Committee determines if new responsibilities could be 
undertaken in the future. The document also provides some background on the how the various 
land use, transportation, and community infrastructure providers have evolved over the years. 
 
 


 
 
WHY PREPARE A DRAFT RESOLUTION FOR THE LUCI COMMITTEE? 
 
The COG Solicitor has determined that responsibilities for newly created COG committees may 
be specified in a draft resolution. The purpose of the draft resolution is to allow each newly 
formed committee to develop draft responsibilities that guide committee activities until new 
committee responsibilities can be formally incorporated into the amended COG Articles of 
Agreement in the future. The Articles of Agreement are a foundational document of the COG 
and are authorized by the Pennsylvania Intergovernmental Cooperation Act (Act) of July 12, 1972, 
Title 53, Pa. C.S. Section 481 et. seq. The Act allows municipalities to cooperate in the exercise or 
performance of their respective governmental functions, powers, or responsibilities. The draft 
resolution is enclosed with this document. It will be used as an interim document so that 
Committee members have a mutual understanding of responsibilities for the remainder of the 
year. Committee members should review the draft and provide comment prior to, or at the August 
5, 2021 meeting. 
 
The draft resolution with responsibilities for the LUCI is written in a format like other COG 
committees that are included in the COG Articles of Agreement. This format provides a 
consistent format for every COG committee without being overly detailed. Members of the 
committee felt that the resolution was ambiguous, and it could be strengthened by including a 
supplemental working document to clarify the responsibilities of this newly formed committee. 
The supplemental working document can be utilized by the committee to solidify their 
understanding of the committee’s role as it develops in the coming months, and to use for future 
onboarding of new members.  
 
 


Public Services 
and 


Environmental 
Committee


(PSE)


Transportation 
and Land Use 


Committee


(TLU)


Land Use and 
Community 


Infrastructure 
Committee


(LUCI)







PSE and TLU Committees 
Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee 


Working Document Expanding on Responsibilities 
 


June 18, 2021  Page 2 of 7 


 
The remainder of this document provides more detail for each of the four LUCI Committee 
responsibilities. The Committee members should review the narrative in more detail and provide 
comment prior to, or at the August 5, 2021 meeting. Committee members should also review the 
draft responsibilities and mission statement as well.  
 
LUCI COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES AND ROLES 
 
i. To study and prepare recommendations on actions and significant planning efforts 


relating to regional land use, transportation, and community infrastructure and other 
policies, issues, or projects as requested by the Executive Committee.  


 
Land Use 
 
Land use planning in the Centre Region is organized into regional planning and local planning. 
Regional planning is guided by the Centre Regional Comprehensive Plan, which includes chapters 
for land use, infrastructure, open space, and others. The Plan has hundreds of aspirational goals, 
objectives, and policies that are not in priority order in the Comprehensive Plan. Local planning 
includes land development, rezoning, zoning amendment, SALDO reviews, and other local 
projects and issues. CRPA staff has local planners in Patton, Harris, and Hafmoon Townships. 
CRPA staff also works closely with municipal planning staff in State College Borough, and in 
Ferguson and College Townships. This document primarily reviews regional planning issues. 
 
The latest Comprehensive Plan was approved in 2013. An update to the Comprehensive Plan will 
be initiated in 2022 and take approximately 18 months to complete. The Comprehensive Plan 
contains hundreds of goals, objectives, and policies for the Region to accomplish. The Plan is 
aspirational, and the goals, objectives, and policies are not prioritized. The CRPA developed the 
Comprehensive Plan Implementation Program (CHIP) to establish priorities in joint meetings 
between the TLU Committee and CRPC. The LUCI Committee will continue this role and it is 
discussed in more detail in responsibility iv. below.  
 
Some work products and documents relating to land use are discussed below:   
• Regional Development Capacity (REDCAP) Report – The LUCI Committee will assist the 


CRPA with updating the REDCAP Report every five years. The next update to the REDCAP 
is scheduled for 2023. The REDCAP provides an estimate for the amount of land available 
for potential development inside the Regional Growth Boundary and Sewer Service Area 
(RGB and SSA). 


• Regional Growth Boundary and Sewer Service Area (RGB and SSA) Implementation 
Agreement – This Agreement provides the process for how municipalities or private property 
owners can request an expansion to the RGB and SSA. The Implementation Agreement was 
amended in 2013 with a number of changes, including a process for individual municipalities 
to approved expansions to the RGB and SSA without going to General Forum. There were 
no additional amendments in 2018. The Implementation Agreement is on a five-year update 
cycle with the next update due in 2023. 







PSE and TLU Committees 
Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee 


Working Document Expanding on Responsibilities 
 


June 18, 2021  Page 3 of 7 


 
• Preparation and maintenance of the Act 537 Sewage Facilities Plan – The municipalities are 


responsible for joint development of the Act 537 Plan for the UAJA. The UAJA operates the 
sewage system based upon goals established by the municipalities. That is why the PSE and 
TLU Committees have reviewed two amendments this year and forwarded the 
recommendation to the General Forum for final action. A comprehensive update of the 
existing Act 537 Plan may be completed after completion of the Centre Region 
Comprehensive Plan. 


• Required reviews of municipal actions – Reviews of actions by municipal governing bodies are 
the responsibility of the CRPA and the CRPC. This item is included because the Agency is 
required by the Municipalities Planning Code (MPC) to review plans for consistency with the 
Comprehensive Plan and other documents. It is not per se, a responsibility of the LUCI 
Committee, but it consumes a large amount of staff time to review plans and should be taken 
into account for workload purposes.   


• Educational and Training Programs – The CRPA provides a number of educational and 
training events for the community, CRPC, and municipal planning commissions. The Agency 
has conducted site visits in the past for the CRPC and General Forum members on topics 
such as riparian buffers, new student housing projects, and other issues. This will be 
reactivated as the COVID 19 pandemic recedes. 


• Census and Demographic Information – The CRPA serves as a clearinghouse for census and 
demographic information and provides occasional reporting on trends in the Centre Region. 
2020 Census information is expected to be released in the fall of 2021 and the CRPA will be 
working with the LUCI Committee on reviewing data and providing analysis in the Region. 


• Affordable housing – The CRPA has provided some support for affordable housing in the 
Region but has worked hard to avoid duplicating County-wide and municipal affordable 
housing efforts. There has been a request for the LUCI Committee to address housing as an 
additional responsibility in the future. The Committee should be prepared to discuss this in 
more detail and determine the role it should take on before the responsibilities are finalized 
in December. 


 
Transportation 
 
County-wide transportation planning is provided by the Centre County Metropolitan Planning 
Organization (CCMPO). All urban areas over 50,000 in population are required to have an MPO 
if the agencies spend federal money on transportation improvements. Three transportation 
planners that staff the CCMPO are in the CRPA office, and one transportation planner is located 
in the Centre County Office of Community Planning and Development.  
 
MPOs are entities designated by law with the lead responsibility for the development of the area's 
transportation plans and for coordinating the transportation planning process. There are several 
levels of coordination needed because the unique governmental organization involves County, 
Regional, and municipal staff, and governing bodies. This has historically led to some redundancy  
 







PSE and TLU Committees 
Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee 


Working Document Expanding on Responsibilities 
 


June 18, 2021  Page 4 of 7 


 
in reporting items to the CCMPO Coordinating Committee, to the Transportation and Land Use 
(TLU) Committee, and at municipal meetings because elected officials generally sit on the 
CCMPO Coordinating Committee and TLU Committee.   
 
Moving forward, staff recommends that the LUCI Committee responsibilities focus on the 
transportation system inside the Centre Region to reduce redundancy in reporting.  
The committee will be informed of and may provide input on large projects outside the Region. 
For example, the I-80/I-99 Interchange Project has a direct impact on the Region and the LUCI 
Committee should be informed on an as needed basis of activities related to that project.  
 
Some work products and documents relating to transportation are discussed below: 
• Centre County Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) – the Committee may receive 


occasional updates on the preparation of the LRTP. The Centre Region elected officials sitting 
on the CCMPO will provide direct input through the MPO Coordinating Committee.  


• Centre Region Bike Plan – The Committee will receive updates and will participate in any 
amendments to the Plan. The Committee will also receive presentations on Bike Month events 
and help implement recommends recently identified when the Centre Region was awarded the 
Silver Bicycling Friendly Community designation. 


• CATA – CATA is governed by the CATA Board of Directors. The Committee will receive 
occasional reports from the CATA Executive Director and CEO and the CRPA Transit 
Planner. 


• Other transportation issues – The Committee will participate in planning for emerging trends 
in all areas including micro-mobility, funding, automated vehicles, electric vehicles, safety 
issues, and other forms of transport. 


 
Community Infrastructure 
 
Community infrastructure are the physical structures and facilities needed maintain and 
strengthen the community, expand the economy, protect the environment, and help maintain a 
high quality of life in the Region. Community infrastructure includes water and sewer pipes, tanks, 
and water treatment plants, buses and transit facilities, parks, trails, streets, bike facilities, energy 
systems, communications facilities, schools, and hospitals. Transportation could also be 
categorized as community infrastructure; however, for the purposes of LUCI responsibilities it is 
categorized separately since the CCMPO is administered out of the CRPA office. Other 
community infrastructure are separate authorities, utilities, or other services not contained in the 
COG. 
 
• Potable water – There are several roles for the committee in protecting surface and 


groundwater. These roles consist of considering land use and transportation issues or projects 
that threaten the quality of either surface water or groundwater. This will most likely be 
developed during the preparation of the Centre Region Comprehensive Plan in 2022 and 
2023 and assuring that the Comprehensive Plan is consistent with the Source water Protection 
Plans from the State College Borough Water, and College Township Water Authorities. Other  







PSE and TLU Committees 
Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee 


Working Document Expanding on Responsibilities 
 


June 18, 2021  Page 5 of 7 


 
roles are to receive reports from the water authorities on operational issues, and other issues 
facing the authorities. The LUCI Committee may also consider receiving occasional updates 
from Trout Unlimited, ClearWater Conservancy, and others. 


• Wastewater and reclaimed water – The role of the committee in the collection, treatment, and 
reuse of treated water primarily revolves around the implementation of the Act 537 Sewage 
Facilities Plan. The Act 537 Plan is the municipalities Plan and is implemented by the 
University Area Joint Authority.  


• Stormwater – The MS4 Group, which includes representatives of the municipalities and PSE 
Committee and are required to complete MS4 permitting, meet on a regular basis to discuss 
approaches to stormwater issues. The primary responsibility to implement stormwater goals lies 
with these municipalities. The role of the LUCI Committee should be limited to occasional 
reporting and updates from a representative of the MS4 Group.    


• Broadband internet – Neither the PSE or TLU Committees had a responsibility for broadband 
internet issues. The role of the LUCI Committee in broadband internet issues should be 
developed during the remainder of this year and perhaps into 2022. The COVID 19 pandemic 
greatly accelerated the growth of the digital economy. This touched nearly every routine task of 
daily life, including how people work, shop, learn, visit the doctor, and connect with friends. 
The pandemic also exposed gaps in access to broadband internet. The Committee should 
consider how the Region can bridge gaps in broadband internet access, how broadband 
internet access can help the economic recovery, and how to work together to ensure equitable 
access to broadband internet across the Region and County.  


• Public Utilities – The COG Public Safety Committee has had a limited role in working with 
some public utilities regulated by the PA Public Utilities Commission (PUC) such as electric, 
natural gas, and telecommunications. The Public Safety Committee should continue to work 
with these providers. There may be some coordination with the LUCI Committee as 
determined by the Chair of each Committee.   


• Other infrastructure providers – The LUCI Committee will have limited involvement with 
other community infrastructure providers such as those providing social services, health care, 
and education. Public safety entities like fire protection and emergency management are the 
responsibility of the COG Public Safety Committee and should remain with that Committee. 


 
ii. To coordinate with the Climate Action and Sustainability Committee regarding studies, 


plans, proposals, and construction as they relate to energy conservation or sustainability 
and to coordinate with the Public Safety Committee regarding studies, plans, proposals, 
and construction of public infrastructure as they relate to the potential impact on public 
safety and emergency response. 
 


The LUCI Committee should determine how to best communicate with other COG committees 
and how reporting should be completed by committee members during municipal governing body 
meetings. Staff recommends a flexible approach for communicating on an ongoing basis with 
other COG committees. Municipalities should continue to implement individual reporting 
practices at municipal meetings.  







PSE and TLU Committees 
Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee 


Working Document Expanding on Responsibilities 
 


June 18, 2021  Page 6 of 7 


 
Communication with other COG committees could consist of the following items: 
• Including matters of record in agendas. 
• Including a standing agenda item for verbal updates on other COG committee activities. 
• Including specific agenda items when more detail or input is needed. 
• Appointing a committee member as a liaison to other COG committees to provide a verbal 


update at meetings. 
 


iii. Receive reports on an as needed basis from the water authorities, sewer authority, 
CATA, MS4 Group, and other community infrastructure and service providers as 
needed to understand regional impacts of activities associated with these major 
community infrastructure providers. 


 
The role of the LUCI Committee with other service providers is limited. Generally, interaction 
will consist of reporting and occasional updates on specific projects from each entity.  
 
iv. Meet two times annually with the Centre Regional Planning Commission (CRPC) to 


discuss issues of regional interest and develop priority projects for the Comprehensive 
Plan Implementation Program (CHIP). 


 
This responsibility is a carryover over from TLU Committee responsibilities. The TLU Committee 
previously met twice annually with the CRPC to clarify regional priorities and to provide updates 
on projects that are being implemented by the CRPA, our planning partners, and municipalities. 
Every two years, the CRPA provides six to eight potential projects from the Comprehensive Plan 
for the LUCI and CRPC to prioritize. These projects are utilized to develop the work program for 
the next two years for the CRPA. This meeting should be viewed similarly to joint meetings 
between the municipal governing bodies and the municipal planning commissions. The joint 
meetings generally occur in April and October. 
 
ONBOARDING AND TRAINING 
 
Onboarding to help new committee appointees understand the work of the committee will be 
initiated at the committee organizational meeting in January and will generally continue for several 
months, in addition to other work requiring committee action. Staff will offer individual 
onboarding for new appointees at other times of the year and will provide a folder of onboarding  
 
materials and training materials in the SharePoint folder for all members of the committee. New 
members should also consider individual training with CRPA staff. 
 
A NOTE ON COLLABORATION, COMMUNICATION, AND COORDINATION IN COG 
 
The COG is part of a collaborative model of problem solving that facilitates a regional approach to 
address issues to many land use, transportation, and community infrastructure issues. This has 
emerged from a long practice of ensuring resources are utilized effectively and that the solutions to 
these regional problems are implemented in a way that is beneficial and fair to all the Centre  







PSE and TLU Committees 
Land Use and Community Infrastructure Committee 


Working Document Expanding on Responsibilities 
 


June 18, 2021  Page 7 of 7 


 
Region municipalities. Although it can be difficult for diverse municipalities to unite with each 
other on regional issues, there are practical reasons this model has been successful in the Centre 
Region. It also takes time to understand relationships between the various levels of government, 
authorities, and other partners. 
 
For example, the Centre Region Comprehensive Plan provides many goals, objectives, and policies 
that are implemented at the regional and local level over a ten-year period before the Plan is 
updated. At the regional level, this has been accomplished through oversight by the Centre 
Regional Planning Commission (CRPC) and the Transportation and Land Use (TLU) Committee 
which direct CRPA staff to implement priorities as established by the CRPC and TLU 
Committee. The goals, objectives, and policies are also voluntarily implemented by local 
government members of COG. This gives COG members flexibility to act on recommendations 
that align with their own local priorities and politics and fit within available budgets and staffing. 
There is also substantial coordination and cooperation with the water authorities and the sewer 
authority to implement regional goals. 
 
The CRPA has taken on both regional planning and policymaking and local planning in some 
municipalities that do not have full-time planning staff. To avoid actions that can be perceived as 
superseding existing local authority, regional recommendations are voluntarily implemented by 
member municipalities. This gives members flexibility to act on recommendations that align with 
their own local priorities and politics and fit within available budgets and staffing. 
 
Another example is the State College Water Company, which was chartered in 1902 and was 
incorporated into the State College Borough Water Authority (SCBWA) in 1941. From its 
original Borough charter, the service area has expanded through the years to Ferguson, College, 
Halfmoon, Harris, Patton, and Benner Townships. The Authority has also assumed operation of 
adjacent water systems in Boalsburg, Pine Grove Mills and Ridgemont. In 1941, the Authority 
served a population of about 13,400 (including the Penn State campus). Today the Authority 
serves a population of about 76,400. The SCASD is operated under the guidance of a Board of 
Directors appointed by municipalities. 
 
Going forward, the LUCI Committee should continue to focus on strengthening the benefits of 
working across municipal boundaries and coordinating with authorities and other partners to 
achieve regional goals relating to land use, transportation, and community infrastructure. The 
CRPA looks forward to working with the Committee in this endeavor.  
 







Project Summary


Applicant: 
University Area Joint 
Authority


Project Engineer:
HRG, Inc.


Project Location:
West Patton 
Township


Project Type:
Act 537 Special 
Study







Project Purpose


Wastewater generated in 
West Patton Township will 
require additional pump 
stations (3) due to 
planned development.


Project goals


-Reduce pump stations


-Prepare for future 
development







Special Study Alternatives


Cedar Cliff Alternative


-Install a new pump station (Waddle Pump Station) located within the Cedar 
Cliff neighborhood.


-The forcemain would follow Michael Road and then to a discharge location 
along an existing unimproved roadway, finally into the Toftrees Interceptor.


-Contains 645 EDUs associated with Halfmoon Township (not in the SSA)


Note: Residents in the area are highly opposed to this alternative.







Special Study Alternatives


Meeks Lane Alternative A.


-Install new pump station near Spring Hollow Farm.


-Forcemain alignment follows Meeks Lane to Grays Woods Blvd then 
follow the abandoned rail line towards Ghaner Drive. 


-Discharges to Valley Vista Drive Interceptor.


-Contains 645 EDUs associated with Halfmoon Township (not in the SSA)


Note: Construction would take place in areas of heavy traffic. 







Special Study Alternatives


Meeks Lane Alternative B.


-Install new pump station near Spring Hollow Farm.


-Consistent with Alternative A., extends forcemain along an existing
walking path between Ghaner Drive and Whisper Ridge Drive.


-Discharges to Valley Vista Drive Interceptor.


-Contains 645 EDUs associated with Halfmoon Township (not in the SSA)







Special Study Alternatives


Meeks Lane Alternative C.


-Install new pump station near Spring Hollow Farm.


-Consistent with Alternative A and B., extends forcemain along the 
backlot of Whisper Ridge Drive and around the small park.  


-Discharges to Valley Vista Drive Interceptor.


-Contains the 645 EDUs associated with Halfmoon Township (not in the 
SSA)







Special Study Alternatives


Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative


-Install new pump station near Spring Hollow Farm.


-Consistent with Alternative C, extends forcemain along the backlot of 
Whisper Ridge Drive and around the small park.  


-Discharges to Valley Vista Drive Interceptor.


-Does NOT contain the 645 EDUs associated with Halfmoon Township 
(not in the SSA) and is consistent with the Regional Comprehensive Plan.











CRPA Staff Recommended Alternative 


Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative


- Eliminates three (3) existing pump stations.


- Eliminates three (3) proposed pump stations.


- Does not contain EDUs outside of the SSA.


- Consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.







Recommended Motion


That the LUCI Committee recommends that the COG General Forum 
forward the Meeks Lane CRPA Alternative to municipalities for 
adoption of municipal resolutions approving this alternative.







 


DRAFT 1/27/22 


 


Climate Action & Adaptation Plan (CAAP) Goal:  


Transition fossil sources to renewables for 10% homes’ and 5% businesses’ energy 


Local planning and zoning regulations can help facilitate the rapid expansion of solar energy, while balancing 


other development priorities in the community. This guide is intended to provide best practices for the  


Centre Region municipalities to consider when updating their existing or considering adopting regulations 


related to solar energy.  


Accessory use solar, i.e., rooftop and ground mounted installations in the Centre Region, is poised to  


increase rapidly as actions from the CAAP are implemented. As shown in the chart Centre County has  


significant opportunity to increase its amount of solar installations.  


The price for solar power has decreased 


70% over the last decade primarily due to 


technology improvements and manufac-


turing scale.1 As solar hardware costs 


continue to decline, lowering soft costs – 


including local regulatory processes – 


becomes an even more important part of 


lowering the total cost of a solar energy 


system. 


Best practices were determined by stake-


holder input as well as researching  


national policy. A major take-away was 


the importance of regulating solar  


installations to recognize the value of  


solar and provide clear and transparent 


regulations.   


The role of local government should be 


to help reduce barriers and provide an 


efficient process to help reduce some of 


the soft costs. As such, this guide was 


developed to provide explanations and 


examples of how regulations can be less 


of a barrier to solar growth while still 


preserving the character of the  


community.  


1  https://www.seia.org/solar-industry-research-data 


BEST PRACTICES FOR REGULATING  


ACCESSORY SOLAR 


FACTSHEET FOR GOVERNMENT ENTITIES 



https://www.seia.org/solar-industry-research-data





 


DRAFT 1/27/22 


 


Attribute Explanation Example 


Definitions • Regardless of the scale or size, it is a 


good idea to include a comprehensive 


definition of solar energy systems in 


the code, in order to avoid any poten-


tial misinterpretations.  


• Include storage and solar hot water 


heating installations in the definition of 


“solar”, differentiate by systems by size 


(not capacity) and rooftop versus 


ground-mounted 


Solar Energy System: A device or struc-


tural design feature, a substantial pur-


pose of which is to provide daylight for 


interior lighting or provide for the collec-


tion, storage, and distribution of solar 


energy for space heating or cooling, elec-


tricity generation, or water heating 


Height • Allow rooftop solar an exemption from 


or allowance above building height 


restrictions 


• Ensure regulations addressed for flat 


roofs: Installations on flat roofs gener-


ally must be installed at a tilt to be 


most efficient. Allow additional height 


for these systems and avoid definitions 


that require installations on flat roofs 


be flush mounted 


Freeport, IL: 1477.03(d)(ii) – Height and 


Angle Restrictions (A) The highest edge of 


a PV Array mounted on a flat roof shall 


not exceed fifteen feet (15') beyond the 


existing roofline. The height of a PV Array 


shall not be included in the height of the 


building for purposes of computing the 


height of a flat roof building. 


Aesthetic Requirements • Exempt solar from rooftop equipment 


screening requirements  


• Allow PV installations to be seen from 


public roadways  


• Limit screening or aesthetic require-


ments to historic districts 


Plano, TX Downtown Heritage Resource 


District Design Standards 


• Place collectors to avoid obscuring sig-


nificant features or adversely affecting 


the perception of the overall character 


of the property 


• Size collector arrays to remain subordi-


nate to the historic structure 


• Minimize visual impacts by locating 


collectors back from the front facade 


• Consider installing collectors on an 


addition or secondary structure where 


applicable 


ACCESSORY-USE SOLAR PLANNING AND ZONING BEST PRACTICES 







 


DRAFT 1/27/22 


 


Attribute Explanation Example 


Ground-mounted • Include small ground-mounted sys-


tems as accessory structures  


• Exempt ground-mounted systems from 


lot coverage/impervious surface calcu-


lations as long as the ground beneath 


the system is pervious (e.g., grass) 


Delaware Valley Regional Planning Com-


mission Model: For purposes of deter-


mining compliance with building coverage 


standards of the applicable zoning dis-


trict, the total horizontal projection area 


of all ground-mounted and free-standing 


solar collectors, including solar photovol-


taic cells, panels, arrays, inverters, shall 


be considered pervious coverage so long 


as pervious conditions are maintained 


underneath the solar photovoltaic cells, 


panels, and arrays. 


Lot Coverage • Exempt ground-mounted solar from lot 


coverage restrictions that apply to 


buildings 


 


Setbacks • Avoid applying principal building set-


backs 


• Allow ground-mounted solar energy 


systems the ability to have a modest 


encroachment into the setback. 


Massachusetts Model Zoning for the 


Regulation of Solar Energy Systems 


1) Small-and medium-scale ground-


mounted solar energy systems accessory 


to principal use may be located no closer 


than [1/2 of the setback that would oth-


erwise apply] from the front, side, or rear 


lot line. All ground-mounted solar energy 


systems in residential districts shall be 


installed either in the side yard or rear 


yard to the extent practicable 


Roof Coverage • Remove any language specifying roof 


coverage 


• Beginning with the 2018 International 


Residential Code (IRC), roof paths 


listed at 36’ on 3 sides of the roof 


Add language that roof coverage should 


follow the latest adopted version of the 


IRC  rather than defining the size of the 


fire access pathway. 


ACCESSORY-USE SOLAR PLANNING AND ZONING BEST PRACTICES 







 


DRAFT 1/27/22 


 


Attribute Explanation Example 


Glare • Glare studies are not needed unless 


solar is on or adjacent to airport, in 


which case it will be regulated by FAA, 


not the local jurisdiction 


Myth: Solar PV causes glare 


Reality: Solar PV creates less glare than 


windows and water 


 


Additional Best Practices • Allow accessory-use solar as a use by 


right in all major zoning districts 


• Exempt accessory-use PV panels to-


wards the maximum number of acces-


sory uses permitted on a parcel 


• Require batteries to be in a secure con-


tainer 


• Regulate PV panels based on impact/


area as opposed to amount of energy 


generated [not capacity (kW) as effi-


ciencies and technologies change over 


time and not where used (e.g., on-site) 


as it has no bearing on the impact] 


• Adopting accessory-use solar regula-


tions is better than not having require-


ments 


 


ACCESSORY-USE SOLAR PLANNING AND ZONING BEST PRACTICES 


References:  SolSmart's Toolkit for Local Governments,  2018 International Fire Code, and NREL Research and Analysis Demon-


strate the Lack of Impacts of Glare from Photovoltaic Modules 


References:  



https://solsmart.org/solar-energy-a-toolkit-for-local-governments/

https://codes.iccsafe.org/content/IFC2018/chapter-12-energy-systems

https://www.nrel.gov/state-local-tribal/blog/posts/research-and-analysis-demonstrate-the-lack-of-impacts-of-glare-from-photovoltaic-modules.html

https://www.nrel.gov/state-local-tribal/blog/posts/research-and-analysis-demonstrate-the-lack-of-impacts-of-glare-from-photovoltaic-modules.html





Solar Planning and Zoning


2/3/2022


Accessory Use Project







2/3/222


Overview


Go Solar in Centre Region Website


Best Practices


Next Steps







3 2/3/22


Solar Technologies


Smaller Distributed Systems
Accessory Use


Larger Utility-Scale Systems
Principle Use


3


LightsourceBP, Penn State, Franklin County







4 2/3/224


https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/77324.pdf


Solar Costs



https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy21osti/77324.pdf





2/3/225


Project Goal
Analyze and begin 
streamlining the solar 
process for all entities to 
prepare for an increase in 
solar installations. 


CAAP goal: Transition fossil sources to 
renewable energy for 10% homes and 5% 
businesses’ energy usage.







2/3/22


Designation Program
Provides no-cost technical assistance to help communities become “open for solar business”


▪ 400+ SolSmart designees
▪ ~99 million Americans







2/3/227


Accessory Use Solar Regulations







2/3/22


Education  Efficiency


• Met with stakeholders


• Focus on education to increase efficiency
o Submission completeness 
o Which municipality (historic district)?
o HOAs
o Permitting and inspection costs
o Same as any other permit process


8







2/3/22


• Website: Go Solar in the Centre Region


Provide accessible information


• Best Practices for Regulating Accessory 
Solar Factsheet


• Codes: Electronic portal


Regionally consistent process


9


Objectives



https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/da1b746f4c80414faa6a7fa878fd840b/page/Go-Solar-Home/





2/3/22


Promote Go Solar in the Centre Region Website


Share final Best Practices fact sheet


Apply for Solsmart Silver designation


Continue working with Code/Zoning


10


Next 
Steps



https://experience.arcgis.com/experience/da1b746f4c80414faa6a7fa878fd840b/page/Go-Solar-Home/





JIM MAY, AICP
PLANNING  DIRECTOR


MARCELLA
HOFFMAN


OFFICE MANAGER


NICOLE POLLOCK
SENIOR PLANNER


COREY RILK
SENIOR PLANNER


GREG KAUSCH
SENIOR TRANSPORTATION


PLANNER


TRISH MEEK, AICP
SENIOR TRANSPORTATION


PLANNER


ANNE MESSNER
SENIOR TRANSPORTATION


PLANNER (CCPCDO)


MARK BOECKEL, AICP
PRINCIPAL LAND USE


PLANNER


STEVE ARNOLD
GIS PLANNER


PAM ADAMS
 SUSTAINABILITY


PLANNER


Updated: January 26, 2022


COG CENTRE REGIONAL PLANNING AGENCY
ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 


TOM ZILLA, AICP
PRINCIPAL


TRANSPORTATION PLANNER


SHELLY MATO
REFUSE AND RECYCLING


ADMINISTRATOR



https://www.crcog.net/index.asp?SEC=A685B119-4786-453D-BF99-34D8FF175A58





Planning Staff 
 
 


Ferguson Township Planning/Zoning 
3147 Research Drive 
State College, PA 16801 
814-238-4651 


State College Borough Planning/Zoning 
243 South Allen Street 
State College, PA 16801 
814-234-7109 


Jenna Wargo, AICP 
Director of Planning and Zoning 
jwargo@twp.ferguson.pa.us 


Kristina Aneckstein 
Community Planner 
kaneckstein@twp.ferguson.pa.us 


Ed LeClear, AICP                      Isabel Storey 
Planning Director                         Planner 
eleclear@statecollegepa.us          istorey@statecollegepa.us 


Greg Garthe, AICP 
Senior Planner 
ggarthe@statecollegepa.us 


Centre County Planning and Community Development Office 
420 Holmes Street 
Bellefonte, PA 16823 
814-355-6791 


Ray Stolinas, AICP 
Planning Director 
rjstolinas@centrecountypa.gov 


Liz Lose 
Assistant Planning Director 
ealose@centrecountypa.gov 


Anne Messner, AICP 
Senior Transportation Planner 
amessner@centrecountypa.gov 


Peter Butler 
Senior Planner/Community Planning Specialist 
pabutler@centrecountypa.gov  


Betsy Barndt 
Senior Planner/Housing Coordinator 
bbarndt@centrecountypa.gov  
 


Diana Griffith 
Senior Planner/Ag Land Preservation Coordinator 
dlgriffith@centrecountypa.gov 


Chris Schnure 
Subdivision & Land Development Planner 
cdschnure@centrecountypa.gov 


Stacy Mann 
Secretary 
sjmann@centrecountypa.gov 


Lori Kerschner 
Secretary 
lkerschner@centrecountypa.gov 


College Township Planning/Zoning 
1481 E. College Avenue 
State College, PA 16801 
814-231-3021 


 


Lindsay Schoch, AICP 
Principal Planner 
lschoch@collegetownship.org 


Susan Hetzel 
Senior Support Specialist 
shetzel@collegetownship.org 


 
 



mailto:jwargo@twp.ferguson.pa.us

mailto:kaneckstein@twp.ferguson.pa.us

mailto:eleclear@statecollegepa.us

mailto:istorey@statecollegepa.us

mailto:ggarthe@statecollegepa.us

mailto:rjstolinas@centrecountypa.gov

mailto:ealose@centrecountypa.gov

mailto:amessner@centrecountypa.gov

mailto:pabutler@centrecountypa.gov

mailto:bbarndt@centrecountypa.gov

mailto:dlgriffith@centrecountypa.gov

mailto:cdschnure@centrecountypa.gov

mailto:sjmann@centrecountypa.gov

mailto:lschoch@collegetownship.org

mailto:shetzel@collegetownship.org



		11b LUCI Committee - Accessory Solar.pdf

		Solar Planning and Zoning

		Slide Number 2

		Solar Technologies

		Slide Number 4

		Slide Number 5

		Designation Program

		Slide Number 7

		Education  Efficiency

		Slide Number 9

		Slide Number 10












ORDINANCE NO. ____________ 


 


AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 27, ZONING; SECTION 205.1, RURAL AGRICULTURAL (RA) 
DISTRICT QUICK AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “A”, SECTION 205.3, AGRICULTURAL 
RESEARCH (AR) DISTRICT QUICK AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “B”, SECTION 209 – YARD 
REQUIREMENTS, SECTION 303, TRADITIONAL TOWN DEVELOPMENT, SECTION 304 – 
TERRACED STREETSCAPE (TS) DISTRICT, SECTION 401 – CORRIDOR OVERLAY 
DISTRICT REQUIREMENTS, SECTION 502 – STANDARDS FOR SPECIFIC USES, SECTION 
702 – SLOPE CONTROLS, SECTION 713 – SOLAR COLLECTORS AND SOLAR-RELATED 
EQUIPMENT; SECTION 717 – BED AND BREAKFAST; SECTION 718 – REGIONAL PARKS 
AND OUTDOOR RECREATIONAL FACILITIES, SECTION 719 – SHORT-TERM RENTALS, 
SECTION 721 – HOME OCCUPATION; SECTION 722 – TEMPORARY USES, SECTION 723 – 
FOOD TRUCKS,  AND SECTION 1102 – DEFINITIONS AS DESCRIBED IN EXHIBIT “C” 
MADE PART OF THIS ORDINANCE. 


The Board of Supervisors of the Township of Ferguson hereby ordains: 


 Section 1—Chapter 27, Zoning, Section 205.1, Rural Agricultural (RA) District Quick is 
hereby amended by amending Principal Uses, Area and Bulk Category 1 to permit Storage of 
Land Clearing Material as a Conditional Use attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 


Section 2—Chapter 27, Zoning, Section 205.3, Agricultural Research (AR) District Quick 
is hereby amended by amending Principal Uses, Area and Bulk Category 1 to permit Storage of 
Land Clearing Material as a Conditional Use attached hereto as Exhibit “B”. 


Section 3—Chapter 27, Zoning, Section 209—Yard Requirements, Section 303—
Traditional Town Development, Section 304—Terraced Streetscape District, Section 401—
Corridor Overlay District Requirements, Section 502—Standards for Specific Uses, Section 702—
Slope Controls, Section 713—Solar Collectors and Solar-Related Equipment, Section 717—Bed 
and Breakfast; Section 718—Regional Parks and Outdoor Recreational Facilities, Section 719—
Short-Term Rentals, Section 721—Home Occupation, Section 722—Temporary Uses, Section 
723—Food Trucks, and Section 1102—Definitions, is hereby amended attached hereto as Exhibit 
“C”. 


 Section 4—The forgoing Section 1, Section 2, and Section 3 shall be effective 
immediately upon the date of the enactment of this ordinance. 


 ORDAINED and ENACTED this __ day of ____, 2022. 


 


       TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON 
      
      
                                                                    
By:______________________________ 


                  Laura Dininni, Chair 
                        Board of Supervisors 
 
 







        [ S E A L ] 


ATTEST: 


By:________________________________ 
     David G. Pribulka, Secretary 







Quick View
§ 27-205.1 - District - Rural Agriculture (RA)


1 Agriculture P
1 Agriculture Related Production P
1 Bird and Wildlife Sanctuaries/Fish Hatcheries P
1 Commercial Hunting Preserves P
1 Communication Towers P
1 Conservation Areas P
1 Equestrian Facility (50 acres or greater) P
1 Forestry P


1 Landscape and Garden Center – Non-Retail (50 
acres or greater) P


1 Cemeteries P
1 Cideries P
1 Community Gardens P
1 Country Club C
1 Equestrian Facility P
1 Essential Services – Type 1 P
1 Golf Course C
1 Landscape and Garden Center – Retail P


1 Park and Outdoor Recreational Facilities, 
Neighborhood, Public P


1 Park and Outdoor Recreational Facilities, 
Community, Public P


1 Park and Outdoor Recreational Facilities, 
Regional, Public P


1 Places of Assembly, Community P
1 Places of Assembly, Regional C


1
Single-Family Detached Dwelling on Non-
Subdivided Lot – see Baseline Example Scenario 
and Example Scenario D


P


1 Solar Energy Systems (PSES) P
1 Storage of Land Clearing Material C
1 Water Production Facilities P
1 Wind Energy Systems P
2 Emergency Services P
2 Farm Cafés C
2 Farm Markets C
2 Kennels P
2 Pet Care Services Facility C


2


Single-Family Detached Dwelling (one for every 
50 acres of a primary use as determined and 
calculated before subdivision into smaller 
separate lots – see Example Scenario C)


P


2 Tasting Facilities P
2 Veterinary Offices/Clinics P


AREA AND 
BULK 


CATEGORY
PRINCIPAL USES


1 2
Accessory Use Customarily Incidental to the Specified Principal Use P P
Agriculture/Environmental Education Program P
Agriculture P P
Agritourism P
Bed and Breakfast (1-3 rooms) P P
Bed and Breakfasts (10 rooms max.) P P
Building- and Ground-Mounted Solar and/or Wind Systems P P
Cideries P
Commercial Hunting Preserve P
Communication Towers P P
Community Garden P P
Community-Supported Agriculture Delivery Station P P
Composting – Small Scale P P
Day and Overnight Camping P
Dwelling Units P
Essential Services – Type 2 C
Family Child-Care Homes P P
Farm Cafés P P
Farm Markets P P
Farm Stands by Road <2,000 SF P
Farm Stands by Road >2,000 SF P
Farm Structures, Traditional-Scale P
Farm Structures, Non-Traditional-Scale P
Food Trucks P P
General Storage to include Boat and RVs P P
Group Child-Care Homes P P
Home-Based Business, No-Impact (including Farm-Based Business, 
No Impact) P P


Home Occupation – Type 1 P P
Home Occupation – Type 2 P P
Horse Riding Stables/Riding Academies P
Incinerators, agricultural P
Kennels C
Pet Care Services Facility P P
Retail Establishments, Agriculture-Supported P
Retail Establishments, Value-Added Agriculture P
Non-Commercial Keeping of Livestock P
Short-Term Rentals P P
Silos P P
Sugar Shacks for Processing Sap from Trees on Different Lot P
Sugar Shacks for Processing Sap from Trees on Lot P P
Tasting Facilities P P
Usual Farm Structures, including Barns, Greenhouses, and Single- 
and Two-Family Dwellings not to Exceed Three Dwelling Units on a 
Lot – see Example Scenarios A, B, and E


P


Veterinary Offices/Clinics P P
Welding Shops, Small Engine Repair P
Wind Energy Systems C C
Wineries/Tasting Facilities P


Use
Area and Bulk 


Categories


ACCESSORY USES
1 2


50 ac 1 ac min.
2 ac max.


at Building Setback Line 60 ft 60 ft


at Street Line 60 ft 60 ft


Front Yard, for Principal Use
on Local/Collector Street 50 ft 20 ft


Front Yard, for Principal Use
on Arterial Street 50 ft 50 ft


Side Yard, for Principal Use 50 ft 30 ft


Rear Yard, for Principal Use 50 ft 50 ft


Principal Structure 50 ft 50 ft


Accessory Structure 60 ft 40 ft


Building n/a 30%


Impervious Surface 10% 50%


M
ax


im
um


Height


Coverage


AREA AND BULK CATEGORIES


DIMENSIONS


M
in


im
um


Lot Size


Lot Width


Setback


AREA AND BULK CATEGORIES:
1 – usual farm structures and single- and two-family dwellings not to exceed three dwelling units on a lot
2 – other


G


H


Lot Depth


EXAMPLE ONLY ►


P = Permitted Use by Right         C = Conditional Use       SE = Use by Special Exception


Exhibit "A"







Quick View
§ 27-205.3 - District - Agricultural Research (AR)


1 Administrative Office Buildings (associated with 
Advanced Agricultural Research) P


1 Advanced Agricultural Research P
1 Agriculture P
1 Agriculture/Environmental Education Program P


1 Any Use Performed by the State Game 
Commission P


1 Bird and Wildlife Sanctuaries/Fish Hatcheries P
1 Exhibit Halls and Museums P
1 Forestry P
1 General Natural Resource Research P
1 General Weather, Radio and Satellite Research P
1 Nature Education Centers P


1 Recreation Facilities for Employees, Faculty & 
Students P


1 Storage of Land Clearing Material C
2 Farm Markets C
2 Tasting Facilities P
3 Archery and Shooting Ranges, Indoor P
3 Community Gardens P
3 Emergency Services (Ambulances, Fire, Police) P
3 Essential Services – Type 1 C


3 Park and Outdoor Recreational Facilities, 
Neighborhood, Public P


3 Park and Outdoor Recreational Facilities, 
Community, Public P


3 Park and Outdoor Recreational Facilities, 
Regional, Public P


3 Places of Assembly, Neighborhood P
3 Places of Assembly, Community P
3 Places of Assembly, Regional P
3 Solar Energy Systems (PSES) C
4 Communication Facilities P
4 Communications Towers P
4 Wind Energy Systems C


AREA AND 
BULK 


CATEGORY
PRINCIPAL USES


1 2 3 4
Accessory Use Customarily Incidental to the 
Specified Principal Use P P P P


Agriculture/Environmental Education Program P P P
Agritourism P P P
Agriculture P P P
Building- and Ground-Mounted Solar and/or Wind 
Systems P P P P


Community Gardens P P P P
Composting – Small Scale P P P P
Day and Overnight Camping P P
General Storage to include Boat and RVs P
Farm Structures, Traditional-Scale P P P P
Farm Structures, Non-Traditional-Scale P P P P
Food Trucks P P P
Incinerators P
Offices, Laboratories, Work Areas Related to 
Administrative/Research Activities P P


Silos P P
Temporary Facilities Related to Advanced 
Agricultural Research P P


Welding Shops, Small Engine Repair P


Use
Area and Bulk 


Categories


ACCESSORY USES


AREA AND BULK CATEGORIES:
1 – agricultural, conservation, research, and institutional uses
2 – agriculture-related businesses
3 – non-agricultural/non-residential/other uses
4 – utility and communication facilities


1 2 3 4 5


10 ac 2 ac 5 ac n/a n/a


at Building Setback Line 300 ft 150 ft 150 ft 150 ft n/a


at Street Line 300 ft 150 ft 150 ft 150 ft n/a


Front Yard, for Principal Use
on Local/Collector Street 50 ft 50 ft 50 ft 500 ft n/a


Front Yard, for Principal Use
on Arterial Street 50 ft 50 ft 50 ft 500 ft n/a


Side Yard, for Principal Use 100 ft 100 ft 100 ft 500 ft n/a


Rear Yard, for Principal Use 75 ft 75 ft 75 ft 500 ft n/a


Principal Structure 40 ft 40 ft 40 ft 200 ft n/a


Accessory Structure 40 ft 40 ft 60 ft 20 ft n/a


Building 10% 30% n/a n/a n/a


Impervious Surface 10% 50% 10% n/a n/a


M
ax


im
um


Height


Coverage


AREA AND BULK CATEGORIES


DIMENSIONS


M
in


im
um


Lot Size


Lot Width


Setback


G


H


Lot Depth


EXAMPLE ONLY ►


P = Permitted Use by Right         C = Conditional Use       SE = Use by Special Exception


Exhibit "B"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 1 


Exhibit “C” 


CHAPTER 27 
ZONING 


§ 27-209.1.I. Yard Requirements.
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]


1. No structure shall be placed in the front, side or rear yard setback areas specified for each
use, except where specifically permitted below or in other sections of this chapter.


I. Where a tract of land zoned Rural Agricultural (RA) is rezoned to a different zoning
classification, then a buffer yard of not less than 50 feet in width shall be provided on
the rezoned property when that land adjoins land of the Rural Agricultural (RA)
Zoning District.


(1) This revised buffer shall be applicable to any acreage which currently contains
the previously established 200-foot buffer.


(a) Planned Residential Developments (PRD) and Traditional Town
Developments (TTD) shall amend the approved master plan for that 
development in order to modify the buffer location. 


(2) No structure, including decks, patios or building additions may encroach in this
fifty-foot buffer yard other than the placement of an accessory structure/shed of
less than 144 square feet, which is permitted to be located within the buffer and
as close as three feet from the property line. Swimming pools shall be prohibited
from being located within the fifty-foot buffer yard.


J. Where a tract of land zoned Rural Agricultural (RA) on the effective date of this Part 2,
or thereafter, is changed to a different zoning classification, then a buffer yard of not 
less than 50 feet in width shall be provided on the property which has been rezoned 
when the rezoned land adjoins land in the (FG) Forest Gameland Zone. 


6. Perimeter Requirements.


A. If topographical or other barriers do not provide adequate privacy for existing uses
adjacent to the planned residential development, the Board of Supervisors may impose
the following requirements:


(1) Structures located within 20 feet of the perimeter of a planned residential
development must be set back by a distance sufficient to protect the privacy and
amenity of adjacent existing uses.



https://ecode360.com/36114567#36114567

https://ecode360.com/36114568#36114568

https://ecode360.com/36114569#36114569





DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 2 


 
 


a. Where tracts of land adjoin land in the Rural Agricultural (RA) Zoning 
District, then a buffer yard of not less than 50 feet in width shall be provided. 


(2) Structures located on the perimeter of the planned residential development must 
be permanently screened if required by the Board of Supervisors. 


B. The above subsections are intended to provide adequate privacy to the proposed 
structures and uses of the PRD from adjacent incompatible structures or uses. 


7. Post Final. 


A. In the event that a development plan, or a section thereof, is given final approval and 
the landowner abandons such plan or the section thereof that has been finally approved, 
and so notifies the Board of Supervisors, in writing, or, in the event the landowner shall 
fail to commence and carry out the planned residential development within such five 
years after final approval has been granted, no development or further development 
shall take place on the property included in the development plan until after the said 
property is resubdivided and is reclassified by enactment of an amendment to this 
chapter in the manner prescribed for such amendments in Article VI of the 
Pennsylvania Municipalities Planning Code.  


B. No changes may be made in the approved final development plan during the 
construction of the planned residential development plan except upon application to the 
appropriate agency under the procedure provided below. 


(1) Changes in the landscaping, rearrangement of common open space that does not 
result in total amount of open space being increased or decreased, signage, 
relocating of lighting and rearrangement of bicycle parking may be approved by the 
Township after authorization by the Planning Commission if required by 
engineering or other circumstances not foreseen at the time the final development 
plan was approved.  


(2) All other changes in use, any rearrangement of lots, blocks, building tracts, locating, 
siting and height of buildings, structures and rearrangement of lots to not exceed a 
10% reduction of overall dwelling units of the approved final development plan and 
all other changes must be made by the Board of Supervisors, under the procedures 
authorized for final plan approval. No amendments may be made to the approved 
final development plan unless they are shown to be required by changes in 
conditions that have occurred since the final development plan was approved or by 
changes in the development policy of the Township. 


 
§ 27-303 Traditional Town Development (TTD).  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  



https://ecode360.com/36114570#36114570

https://ecode360.com/36114571#36114571





DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 3 


 
 


3. Site Plans. 


A. Land Use Standards. 


(1) Composition of Uses. A variety of uses are required to be provided within a 
traditional town development. This variety shall be comprised of a combination 
of the permitted uses as listed below in the percentages required by the diversity 
provisions of § 27-303.3.B.: 


D. Density and Setbacks. 


(1) Standards. 


(e) Fence Heights. Fence heights at the front of residential units and along the 
side to the front facade of the structure shall not exceed 3.5 feet and, for the 
balance of the lot, shall not exceed six feet. Piers, fence posts and gateways 
in the front yard may have a maximum height of five feet, and trellises and 
similar features may have a maximum height of nine feet. Fence height 
restrictions on corner lots shall be subject to the preservation of adequate 
clear sight per § 22-502.G. 


§ 27-304 Terraced Streetscape (TS) District.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


2. Use Regulations 


C. Lots from .40 Acres, up to and Including Lots of .99 Acres. The permitted principal 
uses as set forth in the chapter, subject to the following: 


(1) Any structure that will be located on the corner of a lot that is at least 0.40 
acres in size and that involves an intersection with West College Avenue must 
address both frontages (no blank walls) and be a maximum of 5 feet in height. 
The structure shall be designed in accordance with the applicable provisions of 
Chapter 22. The facade of buildings on corner lots may be accentuated by 
towers, corner building entrances or other distinctive elements; however, all 
structures on such lots shall be designed to architecturally enhance the corner 
location and all effort shall be made to ensure that such structure is a signature 
building within the district. 


E. Conditional Uses. All of the following conditional uses shall be permitted only upon a 
lot, or combined lots, that total one acre or larger upon approval by the Board of 
Supervisors: 


(5) Structured parking as a stand-alone structure subject to the follow criteria: 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 4 


 
 


(f) Maximum height 45 feet. 


  


 


3. Height, Area and Bulk Regulations. The following regulations shall be observed for all 
permitted principal uses: 


A.  Maximum Height 


  (2) Lots of 0.40 acres and up with frontage on an arterial street: 


   (a) By right maximum of 45 feet;  


 (c) Maximum height of parking structures is 45 feet, not including any 
underground parking levels.  


B. Building Height Incentives 


  1.  If a proposed development is complying with § 27-716, Workforce Housing, 
the by right maximum height of 45 feet may be increased to accommodate bonus market rate 
units, not to exceed 55 feet. [Amended by Ord. No. 1065, 1/4/2021] 


G. Parking Requirements. Off-street parking shall be provided and maintained in 
accordance with the provisions of §22-5C01. 


§ 27-401 Corridor Overlay District Requirements.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


E. Landscaping Requirements to Apply. Any site located within the Corridor Overlay 
District shall comply with the landscaped buffer yard requirements set forth in Chapter 
22. Subdivision and Land Development.  


H.   Signage. Ground signage in the Corridor Overlay District shall be installed in 
accordance with Chapter 19 of the Sign Ordinance and applied to all uses. The ground 
pole shall not exceed 10 feet above grade except that the sign height is permitted to be 
an additional three feet higher with a landscaped base elevated with each mounding up 
to three feet tall. The placement of building-mounted signs is permissible in accordance 
with the applicable sections of the Sign Ordinance (Chapter 19) for the relevant use. 


§ 27-502 Standards for Specific Uses.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


33. Water Production Facilities. Water production facilities in the vicinity of their potable water 
wells shall be permitted as a conditional use if the following standards and criteria are met: 


A. An ambient sound-level study is provided and the ambient sound level at all points 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 5 


 
 


along the boundary line of the property upon which the water production facility is 
located shall be no more than 55 decibels (dBA).  


B. A land development plan shall be prepared in accordance with § 22-403. Subdivision 
and Land Development. An elevation drawing of any structure to be constructed on the 
property shall be provided as part of the land development plan.  


36. Storage of Land Clearing Material. Storage of land clearing material shall be permitted as a 
conditional use if the following standards and criteria are met: 


A. Applicant shall complete a land development plan; 


B. Paving of access road to the site; 


B. Applicant will comply with applicable zoning district regulations for site design; 


B. Compliance with Chapter 26—Stormwater Management; 


C. Compliance with §22-510—Erosion and Grading Control; 


D. Compliance with §26-305—Erosion and Sedimentation Requirements; and 


E. The proposed use would not store or use hazardous materials on site. 


§ 27-702 Slope Controls.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. All land defined herein as having steep slopes shall be subject to the following regulations: 


A. Intent. It is the intent of this section to control the following purposes: 1) to limit erosion 
and sedimentation, 2) to prevent an increase in the possibilities of landslides and soil 
subsidence, 3) to maintain adequate foliage cover on hillsides and 4) to protect streams 
from increases in sediment and pollution.  


B. Permitted Uses. Steep slopes may be used as permitted by the district regulations within 
which they are located, subject to the additional requirements below.  


C. Principles of Development. Where it is necessary to use steep slopes (35% or greater) to 
permit development of a lot, all such proposals shall, in addition to other applicable 
regulations of this chapter, be in accordance with the following principles of 
development. All development on steep slopes shall: 


(1) Be oriented so that grading and other site preparations are kept to an absolute 
minimum.  







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 6 


 
 


(2) Where grading is essential, shape such grading to complement the natural land 
form.  


(3) Be staged where necessary to complete construction of each stage during a season 
so that large areas of disturbed land are not left bare and exposed during the winter-
spring runoff period.  


(4) Accomplish all paving as rapidly as possible after grading.  


(5) Allocate to open space and recreation uses those areas least suited to 
development, as evidenced by competent soils, geology and hydrology investigations.  


(6) Landscape areas around structures to blend them with the natural landscape.  


(7) Take measures to minimize erosion and sedimentation and to limit increases in 
stormwater runoff in accordance with related regulations of the Township and the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  


D. Land Development Plan Review. All applications for zoning permits for lot, uses and 
structures located, in whole or in part, on land with steep slopes shall submit, along with 
the application, a land development plan as required in the Township Subdivision and 
Land Development Ordinance. A land development plan is not required for residential 
dwellings when a zoning permit is issued for lot, uses and structures that are not located 
directly on the steep sloped portions of the lot and are not within 50 feet of the steep 
slopes on the lot. 


§27-713.8.B. Solar Collectors and Solar-Related Equipment. 


B.  Building-mounted systems mounted on a flat roof shall not be raised to a height 
greater than three (3) feet from the roof surface. 


§27-717. Bed-and-Breakfast 


1. A bed-and-breakfast which contains one to three rooms shall be permitted as an 
accessory use to an owner-occupied single-family dwelling unit as long as the following 
requirements are met. Rental or lease of the bed-and-breakfast property for events such as 
weddings, reunions, parties, business or social gatherings which host 10 or more non-
overnight guests is specifically prohibited at these facilities. 


A. Off-street parking shall be provided and maintained in accordance with the provisions 
of §22-5C01. 


2. A bed-and-breakfast which contains four to 10 rooms shall be permitted as an accessory 
use to an owner-occupied single-family dwelling unit in the RA, RR and V Districts as 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 7 


 
 


long as the following requirements are met: 


A. Off-street parking shall be provided and maintained in accordance with the provisions 
of §22-5C01. 


§27-718. Regional Park and Outdoor Recreational Facilities. 


3.  Paving of drive-aisles. 


§ 27-719 Short-Term Rentals.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. The dwelling must be the permanent address of the owner or lessee and the owner or 
lessee must occupy the dwelling for at least six months of the calendar year and provide 
certification that the property is the principal place of residence by providing a driver’s 
license, voter registration or other documentation to prove residency. 


4. Off-street parking shall be provided and maintained in accordance with the provisions of 
§22-5C01. 


5. Prior to use of a residence as a short-term rental, an applicant shall apply for a permit with 
the Zoning Administrator and pay the required fee for a permit. The owner shall include a 
copy of their rental permit from the Centre Region Code Office at the time of application 
or a completed Rental Permit Application from the Centre Region Code Office. Within 
14 days of said application, the Zoning Administrator shall notify the applicant, in 
writing, of the approval or denial of the permit, and shall state the provisions of this Part 
7 with which the application does not comply. Failure of the Zoning Administrator to 
properly grant or deny a permit in the manner and time period stipulated above shall 
constitute an approval of the application for the permit, and the residence may be used as 
a home occupation so long as the use complies with this Part 7. 


 A. Upon issuance of the short term rental permit, the permit number shall be 
displayed in the window of the home being rented and the rental permit number 
shall be included in the advertisements of the short term rental. Failure to properly 
display the short term rental permit number in either medium will result in a 
violation of this Part 7. 


§ 27-721 Home Occupations. 
I. Off-street parking shall be provided and maintained in accordance with the 


provisions of §22-5C01. 


§ 27-722.1.C Temporary Uses 


9. Temporary uses for outdoor retail shall provide off-street parking and maintenance in 
accordance with the provisions of §22-5C01. 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 8 


 
 


§ 27-723 Mobile Retail Food Facilities.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. General. Mobile retail food facility shall be a permitted use in every zoning district in 
Ferguson Township under the following conditions: 


A. Time Limits. 


(1) This permitted use is for the sale of food and nonalcoholic beverages, between the 
hours of 6:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. in the General Commercial (C), General Industrial (I), 
and Industrial, Research and Development (IRD) Zoning Districts.  


(2) This permitted use is for the sale of food and nonalcoholic beverages between the 
hours of 7:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. in the Village (V), Terraced Streetscape (TS), and 
Traditional Town Development (TTD) Zoning Districts. 


(3) In all other zoning districts, mobile retail food facilities are permitted between the 
hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m.  


1. (4) Mobile food facilities located in neighborhood parks and places of assembly 
located in residential zoning districts may operate between the hours of 7:00 a.m. 
and 9:00 p.m.Mobile retail food facilities can be located on a premises for no more 
than 13 weeks per calendar year.  


a. Overnight parking of Mobile food facilities in parks is prohibited, unless by 
special event permit issued by Ferguson Township.  


B. Location. 


(1) The mobile food vendor shall first obtain a permit from Ferguson Township’s 
Zoning Administrator prior to selling its products within a Township public right-of-
way. Township staff shall be permitted to establish conditions restricting specific streets, 
location, or time of day as to which products may be sold.  


(a) The vending of food from a mobile food facility shall be prohibited from the 
street side of the facility or in a way where customers will be positioned to impede 
vehicle traffic in a parking lot or roadway, and customers are not permitted on 
private property. 


(b) Mobile food facilities are prohibited to operate on the following Township 
streets: 


 1. Blue Course Drive; 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 9 


 
 


 2. Whitehall Road; 


 3. West College Avenue; 


 4. North Atherton Street, and; 


 5. West Aaron Drive. 


(c) Approval of operating in a Township public right-of-way is site specific. If a 
new location to operate a mobile food facility is proposed, a new permit shall be 
issued. 


(2) The mobile food vendor may be permitted to sell its products on public property, 
such as parks, under the following conditions: 


(a) The mobile food vendor shall first obtain a permit from Township Staff; 


(b) Mobile retail food facility is permitted to operate during hours of park operation, 
set by Centre Region Parks and Recreation, 


(c) Mobile Food vendors are prohibited from operating in the following Parks: 


1. The Meadows; 


2. Park Hills, and 


3. Songbird Sanctuary. 


 (d) The mobile food vendor shall follow all regulations contained herein and 
regulations established by resolution. 


(3) The mobile retail food facility must be located at least 15 feet from fire hydrants or 
any other fire department connection. 


(4) Mobile retail food facilities shall be prohibited from utilizing or blocking 
handicapped-accessible parking. 


C. Noise. No audio amplification, including, but not limited to, megaphones or speaker 
systems, shall be permitted as part of the mobile retail food facility  operation.  


D. Sanitation and Safety. 


(1) The mobile food vendor is responsible for the proper disposal of trash and waste 
associated with the operation. Vendors shall remove trash from their approved locations 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 10 


 
 


at the end of each day as needed to maintain the health and safety of the public. No liquid 
waste or grease is to be disposed of in landscape areas, storm drains, onto sidewalks or 
streets or other public spaces. Specific plans for disposal of liquids shall be included in 
the permit application.   


(2) The mobile food vendor shall obtain a mobile retail food facility operation zoning permit 
and applicable health permit; both shall be displayed on the mobile retail food facility. 
Each person obtaining a zoning permit shall pay all applicable fees set forth in the 
Township fee schedule. The permit required will be for a period of one year and shall be 
renewed on an annual basis. Prior to the issuance of a zoning permit, the vendor shall 
provide evidence of a Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture Bureau of Food and 
Laboratory Services retail food facility permanent license, or a division of health and 
neighborhood services permit with facilities plan review and the following: 


(a) A plan for refuse and recycling containers.  


(b) Proposed seating (if applicable).  


(c) The mobile retail food facility shall be subject to all code requirements in Chapter 10 
(Health and Safety) of the Township Code of Ordinances.  


(3) The mobile food vendor or his/her designees must be present during operating hours, 
except in the case of emergencies. 


(4) Vehicle registration for all vehicles being used shall be provided as part of the zoning 
permit application.  


(5) A twenty-four-inch-by-thirty-six-inch sandwich board sign is permitted and shall be 
located within five feet of the mobile retail food facility. No off-site signs shall be 
permitted.  


E. If the office for the mobile retail food facility business is located within the owner's home in 
Ferguson Township, a No-Impact Home-Based Business permit shall be required.  


F. The requirements of this subsection are not subject to the provisions of temporary uses.  


§ 27-905 Occupancy Permits. 


1. Upon completion of the erection, extension or alteration of a structure or the establishment of 
the use for which a zoning permit was issued, the applicant shall request a final inspection. 
The structure for which the zoning permit was issued may not be occupied or otherwise 
used until a final inspection has been completed by the Zoning Administrator. 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 11 


 
 


A. Within seven days of request for final inspection, the Zoning Administrator shall 
inspect the premises to determine if the action taken complies with the regulations 
of this chapter.  


§ 27-1102 Definitions.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


Unless a contrary intention clearly appears, the following words and phrases shall have a 
meaning given in this section. All words and terms not defined herein shall be used with a 
meaning of standard usage as defined in Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, Eleventh 
Edition. Definitions found in the Subdivision and Land Development Ordinance (Chapter 22) 
shall be applicable to this chapter. 


AGE-RESTRICTED UNITS 


Housing that restricts ownership and/or residency to individuals of a certain age range, as 
defined by the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). 


FOOD VENDOR, MOBILE 


Any person, firm, corporation, vendor, or operator within the Township engaging in the 
peddling, selling, or taking orders, either by sample or otherwise, of food items to be used 
or sold for immediate human consumption, in serving size packages using a mobile unit 
either in a stationary position on private or public property or in a moving position on 
public streets. This definition shall apply to any mobile unit who dispenses food items to 
the public which are prepackaged, or are cooked, prepared and/or assembled and served 
from within the mobile unit. 


RETAIL FOOD FACILITY, MOBILE 
Mobile units including food trucks, trailers, stick stands, carts, and other similar structures 
that are mobile/transitory by design from which food is stored, prepared, processed, 
distributed, or sold. A Mobile Food Facility is synonymous with the term Retail Food 
Facility as defined in PA State Regulation, Title 7, Chapter 46, PA Food Code. Ice cream 
trucks are exempted from this chapter. 


LAND CLEARING MATERIAL 


Native vegetation from land clearing, grubbing, and excavation, including trees, brush, 
stumps, soil, and vegetative material, that has been removed from the land for agricultural 
purposes or development projects. 


STORAGE OF LAND CLEARING MATERIAL 
The storage of native vegetation from land clearing, grubbing, and excavation, including trees, 
brush, stumps, and vegetative material that has been removed from the land for agricultural 
purposes or development projects, whether temporary or permanent.  



Wargo, Jenna

Based on 25 Pa. Code 271.101(b)(5)







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 12 


 
 


PLACE OF ASSEMBLY 


An institution, other than recreation and/or school-related, that people regularly attend to 
participate in or hold religious worship services, community wide activities and/or related 
meetings. 


1. COMMUNITY PLACE OF ASSEMBLY 


A place of assembly, as herein defined, that is designed to serve those within the surrounding 
community and maximum seating capacity of the largest assembly space (current or proposed) is 
more than 251 and less than or equal to 750. 


2. NEIGHBORHOOD PLACE OF ASSEMBLY 


A place of assembly, as herein defined, that is design to serve those within one or more adjacent 
neighborhoods and maximum seating capacity of the largest assembly space (current or 
proposed) is less than or equal to 250. 


3. REGIONAL PLACE OF ASSEMBLY 


A place of assembly, as herein defined, that is designed to serve those in multiple communities 
and maximum seating capacity of the largest assembly space (current or proposed) is equal to or 
greater than 751. 


 





		2022_03_15_Comprehensive Update Ordinance_Ch27.pdf

		2022_02_09_FTPS_QUICKVIEW_JLW_RA.pdf

		2022_02_09_FTPS_QUICKVIEW_JLW_AR.pdf

		2022_02_09_Ch27_JLW.pdf

		§ 27-209.1.I. Yard Requirements.

		(2) All other changes in use, any rearrangement of lots, blocks, building tracts, locating, siting and height of buildings, structures and rearrangement of lots to not exceed a 10% reduction of overall dwelling units of the approved final development...

		§ 27-303 Traditional Town Development (TTD).

		§ 27-304 Terraced Streetscape (TS) District.

		§ 27-401 Corridor Overlay District Requirements.

		E. Landscaping Requirements to Apply. Any site located within the Corridor Overlay District shall comply with the landscaped buffer yard requirements set forth in Chapter 22. Subdivision and Land Development.

		§ 27-502 Standards for Specific Uses.

		§ 27-702 Slope Controls.

		§ 27-719 Short-Term Rentals.

		§ 27-721 Home Occupations.

		§ 27-723 Mobile Retail Food Facilities.

		§ 27-1102 Definitions.












FERGUSON TOWNSHIP
REGIONAL AND ABC MEETING REPORT


(One Meeting Report Per Form)


1. NAME OF MEETING ATTENDEE(S): ______________________________________________


2. REPORTING ON
WHICH COMMITTEE: _______________________________ DATE: ____________________


3. REQUIRES COUNCIL COMMENTS BACK TO COMMITTEE: YES NO


If YES, describe briefly:


4. BRIEF OVERVIEW OF MEETING:


5. LINK TO COG COMMITTEE
MEETING AGENDA: __________________________________________________________


Patty Stephens


Public Safety 2/8/22


Reappointment of Ryan Ssolnosky and Alan Popovich to the Code Board of Appeals 
vote will be moved to municpal members for a vote.


 


-discussed the disposal (selling) of Taner 52.. A broker has approached us with a
very generous offer on this piece of equipment.  Discussion about the usual or
standard process occured.  There currently is not a standard process  but this is
something that we will hjave come back to the committee to discuss and consider.
Result of discusssion was we voted unanimously to accept the broker bid and move
this recommendation forward to Finance, Exec. and General Forum.


-Code reporsts there are now 9 Traser working groups among member
municipalities. The IRC met and updated it codes. The new codes go into effect on
2/14.


-Fire Safety reports that things have been going well for acceptance of the lease on
Stewart Ave. space.RFP is being written for new Fire Director position (Steve Bair is
retiring). This should be out in the next 2 months. They are still looking to fill the P/T
administrative assistant position.


-EMS reports there is postivie news. in COVID numbers. MNMC census of COVID
patients is below 40. Will keep optimistic but need to get past THON. Centre region
did well through the ice storm. Credit to power copanies for keeping power on. Also
Penn Dot was credited for aggressive and proactive in limitting commercial
vehicles on highways during these events.  Mardh 10 there will be an EMS
legislative breakfast at the Ramada Inn. Please amplify this event with local, state
and federal  officials to attend!







4. OVERVIEW CONTINUED:


Had a discussion on EMS services (Centre Lifelink  and others). Statewided, 
reimbursemtnt does not cover the cost of operations.  Budgets are constrained.  
While Centre Lifelink is good with EMT’s, Paramedics are difficult to find. Paramedics 
offer more advanced life support skills. 


- Rep. from SCASD talked ubout upcoming sicusiions of “re-districting” or “re-
balancing” of elemnetary school populations. 3 elementary schools are bursting at 
the seams. Watch for these upcoming discussions.







CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 ● Fax: (814) 231-3083 ● Website: www.crcog.net 
 


PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
Hybrid Meeting 


2643 Gateway Drive 
Tuesday, February 8, 2022 


12:15 pm 
GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


RSVP To ensure an overall quorum of members, please let us know how you intend to participate: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZAoce2spjksE9b2utuueQ8cdeAQYKwlNqyO 


Remote 
Participants 


To attend via ZOOM: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZAoce2spjksE9b2utuueQ8cdeAQYKwlNqyO  
To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929-205-6099    Meeting ID: 84564482692 


In-Person 
Participants 


COG Building – General Forum Room 
2643 Gateway Drive, State College PA 16801 


Meeting Contact:  Tammy Strouse      email:  tes@crcog.net       814-231-3069 


Click HERE to locate AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
Should you desire to annotate any attachments, you must download them first. 


 
 The chat feature for this meeting will be disabled.  Upon its conclusion, a recording of the 


meeting will be made available on the COG website. 
 


 We ask that non-voting participants attending remotely remain muted with their video 
turned off unless recognized to speak.  To reduce audio interference, please remain off 
speakerphone during the meeting.  


 
 VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice.  The Chair will seek 


clarification if the vote is unclear.  For additional information on COG Voting Procedures, 
please click HERE. 


 
 PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on items not 


already on the agenda (five minutes per person).  Comments relating to specific items on 
the agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting.  For additional information 
on COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 
 


 NOTE: To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings and learn more about 
the COG Public Safety Committee on our website, please click HERE. 
 







Public Safety Committee Agenda 
February 8, 2022 
Page 2 of 5 
 


During the COVID-19 health emergency, to continue business operations of the COG and ensure the safety of 
municipal officials and staff, and to adhere to health emergency recommendations while remaining in compliance 
with Pennsylvania’s guidelines for public meetings, the Public Safety Committee meeting will be held via video 
conference.  Written public comment or requests to speak to the Public Safety Committee for items not on the agenda 
and requests to comment to specific agenda items below, may be submitted in advance by emailing tes@crcog.net 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 


PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
Hybrid Meeting 
February 8, 2022 


12:15 pm 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


AGENDA 
 


1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 


Chair Takac will convene the meeting.  Ms. Strouse will take a roll call of members to 
ensure they can hear and be heard. 
 


2. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minutes per person time limit, please).  Comments relating to specific items on 
the agenda should be deferred to that point in the meeting.  Submitted comments will 
be read into the record by the Recording Secretary at the appropriate time in the 
meeting. 


 
3. NEW AGENDA ITEMS 


 
Public Safety Committee members may request additional items of business be added to 
this meeting’s agenda.  If approved by a majority vote of the Committee members, the 
proposed new agenda item(s) will be placed on the agenda at the Chair’s discretion.  
Ideally, items for future agendas should be presented to the Chair prior.  


 
4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 


 
Copies of the minutes from the January 11 meeting of the COG Public Safety 
Committee are enclosed.  
 
All members may vote to approve the meeting minutes. 


 
 







Public Safety Committee Agenda 
February 8, 2022 
Page 3 of 5 
 
 


5. CODE BOARD OF APPEALS - REAPPOINTMENTS – presented by Walt Schneider 
 


The Joint Articles of Agreement states that the Public Safety Committee shall 
recommend to the COG General Forum appointments to the Centre Region Building 
& Housing Code Board of Appeals.  The COG General Forum shall consider the 
appointments and recommend a slate of nominations to the participating municipalities 
for appointment.  An appointment to the Board of Appeals includes a three-year term, 
and members may serve a maximum of three consecutive terms or a total of nine years 
 
Staff is recommending the following reappointments to serve on the Building and 
Housing Board of Appeals, starting April 1, 2022:   
 
Ryan Solnosky, Ph.D., P.E. (Three-year term, April 1, 2022 – March 30, 2025) 
Alan Popovich, R.A. (Three-year term, April 1, 2022 – March 30, 2025) 
 
The resumes for the recommended board members for your review are enclosed. 
 
To proceed with the reappointment of these individuals, the Public Safety Committee 
should consider forwarding the following motion to the Executive Committee for a 
referral to the General Forum: 
 


“That the Public Safety Committee recommends that the Executive Committee 
recommend that the General Forum forward the following nominations to the 
member municipalities for reappointment to the Centre Region Building and 
Housing Board of Appeals:  


 
Ryan Solnosky, Ph.D., P.E.   (Three-year term, April 1, 2022 – March 30, 2025) 
Alan Popovich, R.A. (One-year term, April 1, 2022 – March 30, 2025).” 


 
 Bellefonte Borough should abstain from this motion.    


 
6. RECOMMENDATION FOR THE DISPOSAL OF TANKER 5-2 


 
Tanker 5-2, a COG-owned fire apparatus, will be replaced by a new Tanker later this 
month.  The current unit will be retired and disposed of according to the plan adopted 
in the 2022 Budget.  The COG Articles of Agreement require General Forum 
concurrence to dispose of fire apparatus.  
 
The COG CIP estimates apparatus disposal revenues at 1% to 3% of the original 
purchase price of the apparatus.  Historically, this is the revenue range realized when a 
retired apparatus was put out for bids.  In recent years, better disposal yields (5% to 7% 
of original purchase price) have been realized by selling the retired apparatus at fair 
market value (FMV) to an interested municipality.  Based on prior disposal experiences 







Public Safety Committee Agenda 
February 8, 2022 
Page 4 of 5 
 


and advertisements for apparatus offered for sale, staff set a capital budget target of 
$90,000 for Tanker 5-2.  
 
The staff has, in hand, an offer of $130,000 for Tanker 5-2 from an apparatus broker.  
This offer would deliver disposal revenue that is 52.3% of the original purchase price 
of the unit.  Sale to a broker is not without precedent.  In 2017, Engine 513 was 
disposed of in this manner.  Staff recommends acceptance of this broker bid for 
Tanker 5-2.  
 
To proceed, the Committee should consider the following motion: 
 


“The Public Safety Committee recommends to the Finance and Executive 
Committees as well as the COG General Forum to permanently remove from 
service Tanker 5-2, a 2005 apparatus, and dispose of this asset by accepting the 
broker offer of $130,000 for Tanker 5-2.” 


 
Bellefonte Borough should abstain from this motion. 
 
While investigating this action, staff discussed the need to define how decisions are 
made on apparatus disposal methods.  While the COG’s process of disposal is clear, the 
decision point on whether the disposal should be to a broker, a bid process, or a local 
(mutual aid) department is more abstract, with each decision having its costs and 
benefits.  Staff recommends that the Public Safety and Finance Committees discuss the 
disposal process at a future meeting(s) to memorialize a process for staff to rely upon to 
make recommendations. 
 


7. STAFF UPDATES  
 
COG Staff will provide updates on the following topics: 


 Centre Region Code Administration (Walt Schneider) – The Codes Director 
will report on current items. 


 Regional Fire Protection Program (Steven Bair) – The Fire Director will report 
on current items, including: 


 ESCI Recommendation Dashboard, updated 2/01/22 (enclosed). 
 


 Centre Region Emergency Management (Shawn Kauffman) – The Emergency 
Management Coordinator will report on current items.   


 
8. OTHER BUSINESS  


 
A. Matter of Record – The January 2022 monthly comparison of new construction 


code statistics, permits issued/permits closed reports are enclosed.  







Public Safety Committee Agenda 
February 8, 2022 
Page 5 of 5 
 


B. Matter of Record – The December 2021 monthly comparison of existing 
structures code statistics is enclosed. 


C. Matter of Record -  At the January meeting of the Centre Region Code & Housing 
Board of Appeals, the Board reviewed and revised the rules and regulations of the 
appeals process.  A copy of the revised rules and regulations is enclosed. 


D. Matter of Record -   The November 2022 meeting of the Public Safety Committee 
will be a joint meeting with LUCI on November 3 at 12:15, not November 10, as 
previously suggested. 


E. Matter of Record – Following last month’s Committee recommendation, and the 
Facilities Committee’s recommendation on February 1, 2022, to accept and 
recommend the revised lease (enclosed), the Finance Committee will consider a 
budget amendment to lease the property at 2901 Stewart Dr., Suite 104.  Finance 
Committee will then formulate a recommendation to the General Forum.  The 
proposed terms of this lease are similar to the lease terms approved for the Parks 
Maintenance Facility in 2021.  The budget amendment is anticipated to be largely 
financed through expenditure savings during the second half of 2021, resulting in 
a higher than expected 2022 beginning fund balance. 


 
9. CALENDAR 


 
A calendar with upcoming COG committee, General Forum, and municipal meetings 
can be found by clicking the following link: COG and Municipal Meeting Overlay 
Calendar 


 
 


10. ADJOURNMENT 
 


ENCLOSURES 
ITEM #  DESCRIPTION 


 04  Public Safety Committee Meeting Minutes - January 11, 2022  
 05a  Solnosky resume 
 05b  Popovich resume 
 07  ESCI Recommendation Dashboard - February 1, 2022 
 08A  January code statistics, permits issued/closed reports 
 08B  December existing structures statistical report 
 08C  CRCHBA Rules and Regulations, revised 1.27.22 
 08E  2901 Stewart Dr lease, revised 


 
 


 












A PROCLAMATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF FERGUSON, CENTRE COUNTY, PENNSYLVANIA TO 


OFFICIALLY RECOGNIZE BLACK HISTORY MONTH 


WHEREAS, Black History Month is an annual celebration of achievements by African Americans, and a time for 


recognizing their central role in U.S. History and the contributions they have made to this country, and society as a 


whole; and 


WHEREAS the celebration of Black History Month began in 1926 as “Negro History Week” created by Carter G. 


Woodson, a noted African American historian, scholar, educator, and publisher. President Gerald Ford officially 


recognized Black History Month. 


WHEREAS the year 1976, President Gerald Ford, officially recognized Black History Month. Subsequently every 


American President since 1976 has officially designated the month of February as Black History Month, and endorsed 


a specific theme; and 


WHEREAS the Black History Month 2022 theme, “Black Health and Wellness”, explores the legacy of Black 


scholars, medical practitioners, naturopaths, herbalists, etc. throughout the African Diaspora; and 
  


WHEREAS, it is essential that we take note of the accomplishments, hardships, achievements, and struggles of the 


Black Americans, and take time to celebrate the immeasurable contributions of the descendants of enslaved peoples.  
 


WHEREAS, across generations, countless Black Americans have demonstrated relentless dedication, tenacity, and 


resilience to help mold and shape our Nation for the better. Today, Black Americans lead industries and movements 


for change, serve our communities and our Nation at every level; still, in the face of wounds and obstacles with levels 


of discrimination that must not be ignored, Black Americans can be seen in every part of our society today, 


strengthening and uplifting all of America; and 


 


WHEREAS, Ferguson Township greatly benefits from the creativity, enterprise, skills, and diverse heritage of our 


Black and African American residents that live, work, and play throughout Centre County’s large and small 


communities, contributing to our economy and enriching the ethnic and social fabric of our community with multiple 


languages and dialects, cultures, traditions, and religious beliefs; and 


  
WHEREAS, Ferguson Township acknowledges the Board of Supervisors is more diverse, and members on the board 


are directly affected by the Black Lives Matter Movement; and,  
 


WHEREAS, Ferguson Township is committed to making this an inclusive and welcoming environment for all 


citizens, and embraces the celebration of diverse families, identities, and pride builds understanding, deepens empathy, 


and strengthens the fibers of our communities, and today Black Americans lead movements for change and serve our 


community at every level.  
  


NOW, THEREFORE, the Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors do hereby proclaim the month of February 


2022, as Black History Month, and acknowledge the national theme “Black Health and Wellness”. We call upon 


public officials, educators, and residents of our Township to observe this month with appropriate programs, 


ceremonies, and activities and recognize the tremendous contributions of the Black and African American community 
   


Proclaimed this 15th day of February 2022. 
Ferguson Township Board of Supervisors 


  


 
_____________________________________ 
Laura Dininni, Chair 








DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 1 


 


§ 16-106. Regulated Uses. 
Centre Region Parks and Recreation Department. 
[Ord. 873, 11/20/2006, § 7] 
5. Selling Concessions. No person shall in any park exhibit, sell, or offer for sale, hire, lease or let out any 
object, service or merchandise or anything whatsoever, whether corporal or incorporal, except under a permit 
issued by the Centre Region Department of Parks and Recreation.not to adversely limit allowances as 
provided in Ferguson Township’s Code of Ordinances. 
 
§ 16-107. Centre Region Parks and Recreation Department. 
 
 
1. In order to provide for equitable use of park facilities, preserve park areas, and facilities, and protect the 
safety of users of the parks and their facilities, the Director of the Centre Region Parks and Recreation 
Department shall have the following authority, the enumeration of which shall not restrict the general 
authority and control of the Director over parks: 


A. To Fix Time. To fix times when the parks or parts thereof shall be open to public use. 
B. To Restrict Use. To designate parks and parts thereof as restricted to the use of certain portions of 


the public at certain times as the Directorhe sees fit not to adversely limit allowances as provided in 
Ferguson Township’s Code of Ordinances.. 


C. To Issue Permits. Under uniform conditions to be prescribed by the Directorhim, to issue permits for 
regulated uses as hereinbefore enumerated. 


D. To Fix, Charge and Collect Fees. To fix, charge and collect such fees and deposits for the use of 
park areas or facilities or privileges as the Directorhe deems advisable to help defray the expense of 
the parks and their facilities. 
 


§ 22-202 Definitions.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


LAND DEVELOPMENT  
Any of the following activities: 1) the improvement of one lot or two or more contiguous lots, tracts or 
parcels of land for any purpose involving: i) a group of two or more residential or nonresidential buildings, 
whether proposed initially or cumulatively, or a single nonresidential building on a lot or lots regardless of 
the number of occupants or tenure; or ii) the division or allocation of land or space, whether initially or 
cumulatively, between or among two or more existing or prospective occupants by means of, or for the 
purpose of, streets, common areas, leaseholds, condominiums, building groups or other features; 2) a 
subdivision of land; or 3) development in accordance with § 503(1.1) of the Municipalities Planning Code, 
as amended. 


1. Land Development—A land development which does not qualify or classify as a minor land development; 


2. Land Development, Minor—A development or a parcel of land which contains: 


A. Not more than three detached single-family residential structures, whether developed initially or 
cumulatively on a single lot, as permitted by the Township’s Zoning Ordinance. Proposed single-
family residential structures are exempt activities under Minor Land Developments. 


B. The construction or alteration of a nonresidential building with a footprint of not more than 1,000 
square feet, whether initially or cumulatively; provided that the construction or alteration does not 


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Bold


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38", Hanging:  0.19"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
0.38" + Indent at:  0.69"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Italic
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 2 


 


result in the following: 


(1). Installation of new vehicular access to or from a public right-of way; 


(2). Activities that would require the submission of a stormwater management site plan; 


(3). Development within a floodplain or Nolin Soils; 


(4). Changes to utility services including new service laterals to increase capacity or provide fire 
protection; 


(5). Vertical expansions of more than two stories above existing structures; and 


(6). A requirement of additional parking. 


C. Conversion of an accessory structure to a residential unit. 


D. The sole construction of a parking lot, as defined in this chapter. 


SUBDIVISION  
The division or redivision of a lot, tract or parcel of land by any means into two or more lots, tracts, parcels 
or other divisions of land, including changes in existing lot lines for the purpose, whether immediate or 
future, of lease, partition by the court for distribution to heirs or devisees, transfer of ownership or building 
or lot development; provided, however, that the subdivision by lease of land for agricultural purposes into 
parcels of more than 10 acres, not involving any new street or easement of access or any residential 
dwelling, shall be exempted. 


1. Subdivision, Major—Any subdivision which does not qualify or classify as a minor subdivision. 


2. Subdivision, Minor—A subdivision of a parcel of land into not more than three lots, including the existing 
lot of record, where in each lot has direct access to and fronts upon any public street or road and does not 
require any expenditures for the extension of any street or the extension or creation of any public 
improvements. This includes: 


A. Adjustment of lot line between lots where no new lots are created; 


B. Consolidation of lot lines; and  


C. Survey corrections of property lines for townhouses and other attached dwellings after construction 
when in conformance with the previously recorded plan. 


PARKING, ON-LOT – The number of parking spaces required by Chapter 2227, Subdivision and Land 
DevelopmentZoning, to be provided off street for each dwelling unit. These spaces are intended to serve the 
normal daily parking needs of the dwelling unit occupants. 


 


§ 22-301 General.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


Proposed subdivision and land development plans shall be reviewed by the Township Planning Commission 
and the Centre County Planning Commission, or its designated agent, and shall be approved or not approved 
by the Board of Supervisors in accordance with the procedures specified in this chapter. Following the 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75",  No bullets or
numbering


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38", First line:  0", Tab stops:
Not at  0"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38", First line:  0", Tab stops:
Not at  0"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted:  No bullets or numbering
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Body Text, Outline numbered + Level: 6 +
Aligned at:  0" + Tab after:  0" + Indent at:  0"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 3 


 


recommended preapplication conference for sketch plan review, plans may be presented in two stages, 
preliminary and final, or simultaneously as a preliminary/final plan. If a plan is presented in one stage as a 
preliminary/final plan, then the plan must meet both the preliminary plan requirements and final plan 
requirements as if the plan were presented in two stages. 


1. Fees for Review. 
The Supervisors shall establish, by resolution, a schedule of fees for applications for development, for 
the Township’s review of the materials in connection therewith which are to be provided to the 
Township under the provisions of this chapter including, but not limited to, the payment of fees charged 
by the Township’s professional consultants for their review. Such fee schedule shall be reproduced and 
made available upon request at the Township Building. The resolution providing for the various fees 
shall be periodically reviewed and amended, when necessary, by resolution of the Supervisors. Any 
approval for the issuance of any permits under this chapter shall be contingent upon payment of the 
proper fees as established by the Township’s Fee Schedule. 


A. Disputed Review Fees. In the event the applicant disputes the amount of any such review fees, the 
applicant shall, within 10 days of the billing date, notify the Township that such fees are disputed, in 
which case the Township shall not delay or disapprove a subdivision or land development application 
due to the applicant’s request over disputed fees. 


B. Review Fee Dispute Resolution. In the event that the Township and the applicant cannot agree on the 
amount of review fees which are reasonable and necessary, then the applicant and the Township shall 
follow the procedure for dispute resolution set forth in the Municipalities Planning Code (MPC) 
§510(g), 53 P.s. §10510(g). 


§ 22-303 Review of Preliminary Plan.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. All applications for approval of subdivision and land development plans shall commence with the 
official submission of a plan and all required supplementary data to the Township Department of 
Planning and Zoning. All applications for preliminary review of a plan shall be acted upon by the 
Township within such time limits as established by the Pennsylvania Municipalities Planning Code. At 
any time during the review process the applicant may substitute an amended plan for that originally 
submitted solely for the purpose of correcting the original plan to the extent necessary to meet the 
requirements of this chapter. In the event that the applicant submits an amended plan to the Township, 
the owner or agent of the subject lot(s) must provide the Township with a written ninety-day time 
extension in a form to be supplied by the Township to review the plan. The 90 days will be measured 
from the date the revised plan is submitted to the Township. See § 22-303, Subsection 6D.  


2. A plan shall be deemed to have been submitted for preliminary review when the applicant has furnished 
to the Township Department of Planning and Zoning the following documents: 


A. One copy of a completed application for subdivision or land development, plus payment of all 
application and escrow fees.  


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69", First line:  0"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 4 


 


B. SevenTen black (or blue) on white full-size prints, one14 eleven-inch-by-seventeen-inch 
copies and one digital copy of the plan which shall fully comply with the provisions of this 
chapter.  


C. One digital copy of all submitted documents. 


3. Upon receipt of the above, the Township Department of Planning and Zoning shall forward, immediately, 
one copy of the plan to the following reviewing agencies: the Township Solicitor; Centre Regional 
Planning Agency; Centre Regional Planning Commission; Centre County Planning Commission; the 
Township Engineer; the Township Tree Commission; the Township Parks and Recreation Committee; 
Township Arborist; and the Alpha Fire Company Chief. All written comments from reviewing agencies 
are requested to be delivered to the Township within 14 days of receipt from the Township. 


§22-303.6.C.(1) Review of Preliminary Plan. 
C. Authority. The Board of Supervisors shall act on all preliminary applications. 


(1) Decision Deadline. Not later than 90 days after the official filing date, the Board of Supervisors 
shall render a decision on the preliminary application. All decisions shall be made at a public 
meeting. 


(2) Extension of Deadline. The applicant may agree in writing to an extension of time or change in the 
prescribed manner of presentation of communication of the decision. 


(3) Actions. The Board of Supervisors shall take on of the following actions: 


a. Approve the preliminary application. 


b. Approve the preliminary application with conditions. 


c. Disapprove the preliminary application on the basis that it does not comply with specific 
standards and regulations set forth in this Code. 


(4) General Standards for Review of Preliminary Applications. The Board of Supervisors shall approve 
the preliminary application if the preliminary application complies with the standards and 
regulations set forth in this chapter. 


(5) Notification of Decision. The decision of the Board of Supervisors shall be in writing and shall be 
communicated to the applicant personally or mailed to him at his the last-known address not later 
than 15 days following the decision. If the decision is disapproval, the written notification shall 
specify all defects in the application and shall cite with section numbers the provisions of this 
chapter or the Code that have not been satisfied. 


(6) Effect of Approval. If the plan receives preliminary approval by the Board of Supervisors and all 
fees are paid, the action of the Board of Supervisors shall be noted, together with the date of action 
and signature of the Chairman,  and Secretary and Township Engineer, on two copies of the plan. 
One copy of the plan shall be given to the applicant, while the other copy shall be retained in the 
Township files. The preliminary plan shall be entitled to the protections afforded by §508(4) of the 
MPC, 53 P.S. §10508(4). After the signatures are obtained, the applicant may immediately begin to 
lay out all lots, parcels, blocks, easements, and rights-of-way, and construct all streets, sanitary 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
0.38" + Indent at:  0.63"


Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
0.38" + Indent at:  0.63"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 5 


 


sewage disposal systems, water supply systems, storm drainage facilities, and monuments in 
accordance with the approved plan, but no parcel or lot may be conveyed or recorded until after 
final approval of the plan. Any privately owned, off-site easements that shall be approved by others 
shall be secured by the applicant prior to the filing for final plan approval. 


§ 22-304 Review of Final Plan.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. 1. A plan shall be officially submitted to the Township Department of Planning and Zoning for 
final Township review after all improvements, as defined by this chapter, indicated on the plan 
receiving preliminary approval have been installed or, in lieu of the completion of the 
improvements, after deposit with the Township of a corporate bond or other security acceptable to 
the Board of Supervisors in accordance with this chapter. All plans which have received preliminary 
approval shall be entitled to final approval in accordance with the terms of the approved preliminary 
application for a period of five years from the date of the preliminary approval.  


A. A plan shall be deemed to have been submitted for final review when the applicant has 
furnished to the Township Department of Planning and Zoning the following documents: 


(1) Seven black (or blue) on white full-size prints, one eleven-inch-seventeen-inch copies 
and one digital copy of the plan which shall fully comply with the provisions of this 
chapter. 


(2) Payment of all application and escrow fees. 


§ 22-306 Minor Subdivision,  and Minor Alteration Plan, and Minor Land Development Plan.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. Minor Subdivision. Applicants are required to apply for and receive a minor subdivision approval from 
the Township in accordance with the following criteria: 


A. Recommendations and Approvals. 


(1) A minor subdivision plan shall meet both the preliminary plan requirements and final plan 
requirements as if the plan were presented in two stages. 


(2)   Application requirements as shown on the Subdivision and/or Land Development 
Requirements Table shall be submitted for all minor subdivisions.  


(3) The Township staff shall review and forward an application to the Planning Commission 
regarding minor subdivision. Township staff comment resulting from said review shall 
accompany the application forwarded.  


(4) The Planning Commission shall recommend application approval, approval subject to 
conditions, or denial to the Township Board of Supervisors regarding minor subdivision.  


Formatted: Font color: Dark Gray, Pattern: Clear


Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
0.25" + Indent at:  0.58"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
1.08" + Indent at:  1.33"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.31"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 6 


 


(5) The Township Board of Supervisors shall be responsible for approving or denying minor 
subdivisions.  


B. Conferences. A preapplication conference is highly recommended with the Township prior to the 
submission of a final application.  


C. Applicants are required to provide an escrow fee for plan review and legal opinion of the Township 
Solicitor.  


2. Minor Alteration Plan. 


A. Minor alterations to a previously issued zoning permit may be made by the applicant submitting a 
revised application and land development plan, if applicable, to the Zoning Administrator for approval.  


B. An alteration to a zoning permit and land development plan, if applicable, shall be considered minor 
if: 


(1) The building coverage will be increased or decreased by no more than 10%. 


(2) The impervious coverage will be increased by not more than 10%.  


(3) The change in use will not increase the parking requirements.  


(4) The stormwater management controls will not be changed.  


(5) Any motor vehicle access to the property will not be added, deleted, or relocated by more 
than 50% of its width.  


(6) The location for the construction of proposed structures from an approved plan will not be 
changed by more than 10% of the ground floor area.  


(7) The landscaping plan will not be changed in more than 10% of the total pervious coverage 
area.All landscaping alterations are permitted if in compliance with §22-515. Landscaping. 


(8) The changes to the proposed/existing sign(s), include changes in size, shape, height, location, 
orientation, lighting, or number of signs. A change in sign copy does not require minor 
alteration approval.  


D. AnNo applicant/landowner shall be permitted to file more than one minor alteration plan to a previously 
issued zoning permit or land development plan based on any of the following subsections of Subsection 
2B of § 22-306.2.B. (3),  and (7).. More than one minor alteration plan may be filed for a site, but only 
one for each of the subsections listed.  


3. Minor Land Development Plan 


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.02"


Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.02"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69", Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold
Formatted: Font: Not Bold
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold
Formatted: Font: Not Bold
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold
Formatted: Font: Not Bold
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold
Formatted: Font: Not Bold
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.42"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 7 


 


A. A Minor Land Development Plan may be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the initial 
or cumulative impact of the activity or improvement will not result in the need for plan 
approvals typically associated with a land development plan approval process. Applicants 
undertaking a Minor Land Development Plan as defined in §22-202. Definitions, may submit a 
preliminary/final plan in one stage following a pre-application conference with Township staff, 
as per §22-302 and in accordance with the following requirements. 


(1) A minor land development plan shall meet both the preliminary plan requirements and 
final plan requirements as if the plan were presented in two stages. 


(2) Application requirements as shown on the Subdivision and/or Land Development 
Requirements Table shall be submitted for all minor land developments.  


(3) Township staff shall review and forward an application to the Planning Commission 
regarding minor land developments. Township staff comment resulting from said review shall 
accompany the application forwarded.  


(4) Proposed single-family residential structures that require a minor land development plan 
shall be reviewed by Township staff and included on the consent agenda of the Board of 
Supervisors to approve or deny the plan. 


 a. The following sections are not applicable to minor land development plans for 
single-family residential structures: 


  i. §22-401.1.C.1.g., and 


  ii. §22-401.1.C.1.h. 


(4) Planning Commission shall recommend application approval, approval subject to 
conditions, or denial to the Township Board of Supervisors regarding the minor land 
development.  


(5) The Township Board of Supervisors shall be responsible for approving or denying minor 
land developments.  


(6) Applicants are required to provide an escrow fee for plan review and legal opinion of the 
Township Solicitor.  


§ 22-401 Preliminary Plan Contents and Review.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. All plans submitted for preliminary review shall be drawn to a scale of one inch equals 50 feet or larger 
(one inch equals 50 feet) and contain the following information: 


A. Requirements for Subdivision and Land Development Plans. 


Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", First line:  0"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  1", First line:  0"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38", First line:  0"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 8 


 


(1) General Data. 


(a) Graphic scale.  


(b) Day, month, year plan prepared and revised.  


(c) Names of abutting property owners and their deed book and page numbers.  


(d) Key map, at a scale of one inch equals 400 feet, showing streets, roads, buildings and motor 
vehicle access within 1000 feet from the exterior boundary of the lot.  


(e) The name of the proposed development, the identification by Centre County Tax Map Parcel 
Number and the name and address of the legal owner of the property (and equitable owner, if 
any), proof of ownership and the individual or firm preparing the site plan. To the extent that 
the owner is not an individual or a group of individuals, but rather is an entity, the entity shall 
be required to disclose the name of all individuals possessing an ownership interest in the 
entity. The aforesaid disclosure requirement shall not apply to publicly traded corporations 
nor to entities owned by more than 10 individuals.  


(f) North point (specified as "true" or "magnetic").  


(g) Total size of the property, and each lot and/or area(s) to be leased.  


(h) The proposed use of the property.  


(i) Location of the existing and proposed front, side and rear yard setback area(s) as required by 
the applicable zoning district.  


(j) A stormwater management site plan as required by Chapter 26, Stormwater Management, of 
the Code of Ferguson Township.  


(k) Soil erosion and sedimentation control plan in accordance with 25 Pa. Code § 102, Erosion 
Control.  


(l) A statement of general utility information and information required by Act 172 of 1986, 73 
P.S. § 176 et seq., as amended.  


(m) The location, face area and height of signs as regulated by Chapter 19, Part 1, Sign 
Regulations.  


§22-506.1. Water Supply 
1. All water supply systems shall meet applicable state and/or local water authority/company standards. 


A. All lots located within the designated water service area of the current Centre Region Sewage 
Facilities Plan, as revised, shall connect to public water authority/company mains when such is 


Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.25"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Hanging:  0.25"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38", Hanging:  0.31"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 9 


 


feasible and/or permitted by the appropriate water authority/company. All water mains and laterals 
shall meet the design and installation specifications of said water authority/company.  


B. Fire hydrants shall be provided in accordance with this section for the protection of buildings or 
portions of buildings. Fire hydrants shall be provided along required fire apparatus access roads 
and adjacent to public streets along the route of travel for fire apparatus.  


C. Existing fire hydrants on public streets may be considered available. Existing fire hydrants on 
adjacent private properties shall not be considered available.  


D. One-and two- family dwellings. 


1. The minimum fire flow requirementsMinimum fire flow. 


a. Lots with front, side, and rear yard setback requirements of 15 feet or greater and building 
separations of 30 feet or greater shall be 750 gallons per minute. for developments of one- 
and two- family dwellings with front, side and rear yard setback requirements of 15 feet 
or greater and building separations of 30 feet or greater shall be 750 gallons per minute.  


b. Lots with front, side, and rear yard setback requirements of less than 15 feet or building 
separations of less than 30 feet shall be 1,000 gallons per minute. 


2. Fire hydrant spacing. 


a. Spacing between fire hydrants shall not exceed 6001,000 feet in developments of one- and 
two-family dwellings as measured from the center line of the fire apparatus access roads. 


b. One- and two-family dwellings may install a National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) 
13D Residential Sprinkler System in lieu of being located within 1,00600 feet of a fire 
hydrant. 


E. The minimum fire flow requirements for developments of one- and two- family dwellings with 
any setback requirement of less than 15 feet or building separations less than 30 feet shall be 1,000 
gallons per minute. All other types of developments. 


1. Minimum fire flow. 


a. Requirements for developments of other than one- and two-family dwellings shall be 
determined by using the Needed Fire Flow Method described in the Fire Suppression 
Rating Schedule published by the Insurance Services Office, Inc. (ISO). 


2. Fire hydrant spacing. 


a. Spacing between fire hydrants in all other types of developments shall not exceed 4600 
feet as measured from the center line of the fire apparatus access roads. 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.81", Hanging:  0.44"


Commented [BK1]: Added per Steve Bair’s 
recommendation to align with the adopted PA fire code. 
 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.06"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69", Hanging:  0.56"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69", First line:  0"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.06", Hanging:  0.13"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 10 


 


F. The minimum fire flow requirements for developments of other than one- and two-family 
dwellings shall be determined using the Needed Fire Flow Method described in the Fire 
Suppression Rating Schedule published by the Insurance Services Office, Inc. (ISO).  


G. The spacing between fire hydrants shall not exceed 1,000 feet in developments of one- and two-
family dwellings and shall not exceed 600 feet in developments of other development types as 
measured along the center line of fire apparatus access roads. With the exception of one- and two-
family dwellings, the distance to any building or structure shall not exceed 300 feet.  


H. If the needed fire flow is not provided in developments served by a community water system, all 
dwellings and occupied structures shall be provided with an approved automatic fire sprinkler 
system installed in accordance with the applicable NFPA standard. 


(1) Exception. The Fire Chief is authorized to accept a deficiency of up to 10% of the required 
fire flow where existing fire hydrants provide all or a portion of the required fire flow. 
(Written notice of the deficiency and approval shall be noted on the plan.)  


(2) Exception. Subdivisions and land developments located outside of the regional growth boundary and 
served by a community water system may utilize water storage systems, as described in § 506, Subsection 
2A, to meet the water supply requirements. 


§ 22-5C01.1 General Regulations.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


B. Required Off-Street Parking Spaces. All uses and structures shall provide off-street parking spaces in an 
amount equal to, or greater than, the number listed below. The total number of parking spaces necessary 
for two or more uses on the same lot shall be the sum of that required for each use unless a shared parking 
arrangement is provided in accordance with the provisions of Subsection E. Shared parking spaces that 
are accessible by neighboring properties or uses may be permitted when use of the spaces does not occur 
during the same daily time period. 


(1) Dimensions. Each required off-street parking space shall be at least nine feet wide and 18 feet long if 
set at an angle to the access aisle or eight feet wide and 24 feet long if parallel to the access aisle. 


(2)  Number of Computation. In computing the required number of spaces, all fractional numbers more 
than 1/2 shall be increased to the next highest integer. When computation is based on the number of 
employees, the number employed during the largest work shift shall be used. For retail and service 
parking calculations the gross floor area is that portion of the total floor area relegated to use by the 
customer and employees to consummate retail sales and services, including display areas, but not 
including office space and storage areas. 


Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 


Residential Land Uses Minimum Required Off-Street Parking 


1 Single-family detached dwellings 2 spaces per dwelling unit 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38", Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.19"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.31", Hanging:  0.25"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 11 


 


2 Single-family semidetached dwellings 
1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


 


3 Single-family attached dwellings 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


4 2-family dwellings 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


5 Multifamily dwellings 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


6 Mobile home parks 2 spaces per dwelling unit 


7 Model homes 2 spaces per dwelling unit 


8 Seasonal dwellings 2 spaces per dwelling unit 


9 Short-Term Rental 1 Space per bedroom for rent 


109 Retirement communities 1.5 spaces per dwelling unit 


1011 Assisted living facilities 1 space per rooming unit 


1112 Nursing and other convalescent homes 1 space per rooming unit 


1213 Personal care homes, large small 1 space per rooming unit 


1314 Group homes 1 space per rooming unit 


1415 
Home-based businesses, no impact (including 
farm-based businesses, no impact) 


Base requirement for the applicable dwelling 


1516 Home occupations 1 space per employee 


 


Required Off-Street Parking Spaces 


Nonresidential Land Uses Minimum Required Off-Street Parking 


1 
Administrative office buildings (associated 
with other uses) 


1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area 


2 Adult business uses 1 space per 500 square feet of net floor area 


3 
Agriculture 


 
N/A 


4 Agriculture/environmental education program 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


5 
Amusement arcades 


 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted: Left


Formatted Table







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 12 


 


6 


Any use owned or managed by the 
Pennsylvania Department of Conservation and 
Natural Resources (PA DCNR) or the 
Commonwealth Game Commission 


 


N/A 


7 
Archery and shooting ranges, indoor/outdoor 


 
1 space per target stand or shooting station 


8 Archival libraries 1 space per 750 square feet of net floor area 


9 Auto wrecking, junk and scrap establishments 
1 space per 5,000 square feet of indoor/outdoor 
storage area plus ratio associated with 
administrative office buildings, as applicable 


10 Automobile service stations and garage 
1 space per pump plus 6 spaces per repair/service 
bay plus ratio associated with convenience food 
stores as applicable 


11 Banks and financial establishments 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area 


12 Bed-and-Breakfast 1.2 spaces per rooming unit 


13 
Bird and wildlife sanctuaries/fish hatcheries 


 
N/A 


14 Bus passenger stations 
1 space per 220 square feet of net floor area or lot 
area sufficient to support program 


15 Business, professional, and financial offices 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area 


16 Camping grounds 2 spaces per 1 campsite 


17 Car washes 
4 spaces per wash/detail bay and 1 space per 
vacuum unit 


18 Cideries 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area 


19 Cigar, hookah and/or vapor lounges 1 space per 50 square feet of net floor area 


20 Cemeteries 
1 space per 350 square feet of indoor gathering 
space 


21  Child/day-care centers 1 space per 350 square feet of net floor area 


22 Clinics and medical/dental Offices 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area 


23 
Commercial hunting preserves 


 
N/A 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 13 


 


24 
Communications facilities 


 
1 space per building 


25 Communication towers 1 space per tower 


26 Community Gardens 1 space per 10 garden plots 


27 Conservation areas 1 space per full-time equivalent employee 


28 Convenience food stores 1 space per 200 square feet of net floor area 


29 Country Clubs 


1 space per 4 seats/persons; based upon the largest 
maximum occupancy of a gathering room/space as 
permitted by the Centre Regional Code 
Administration 


 


30 Day and overnight camping N/A 


31 Eating and drinking establishments, sit-down 
1 space per 50 square feet of indoor seating area 
plus 1 space per 100 square feet of outside seating 
area 


32 
Eating and drinking establishments, takeout 


 


1 space per 100 square feet of floor area for seating, 
standing, and waiting 


 


33 Emergency Services 
2 spaces per service vehicle + 1 space per 350 
square feet of net floor area 


34 
Equestrian facilities/horse riding stables/riding 
academies 


1 space per 2 stalls plus 1 space per 4 persons based 
on maximum design capacity as permitted by the 
Centre Region Code Administration 


35 
Essential services 


 


1 space per employee plus 1 space per 2,500 square 
feet of net floor area 


36 Exhibit halls and museum 


1 space per 500 square feet of net floor area plus 1 
space for buses/vans of 10-plus occupants per 2,000 
square feet of net floor area 


 


37 Farm cafes 


1 space per 50 square feet of net indoor floor area 
plus 1 space per 100 square feet of outdoor seating 
area 


 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 14 


 


38 Farm Markets 
1 space per 200 square feet of sales area (indoor or 
outdoor) 


39 Food catering 
1 space per 400 square feet of net floor area 


 


40 Forestry N/A 


41 Freight and Trucking Terminals 1 space per 200 square feet of net floor area 


42 General Natural Resource Research 1 space per 500 square feet of net floor area 


43 General Storage to include Boats and RV’s N/A 


44 General weather, radio and satellite research 1 space per 500 square feet of net floor area 


45 Golf courses 10 spaces per golf hole 


46 Grocery Stores 1 space per 200 square feet of net floor area 


47 Health and athletic clubs 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


48 Hotels and Motels 1.2 spaces per rooms 


49 Incinerators 1 space per work vehicle 


50 Kennels 
1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area of 
office area plus 1 space per 4 animal holding areas 


51 
Landscape and garden centers, nonretail 


 
1 space per 10,000 square feet of growing area 


52 
Landscape and garden centers, retail 


 


1 space per 250 square feet of indoor and/or 
outdoor sales area 


53 Laundromats 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area 


54 
Manufacturing, processing or bulk storage of 
natural gas 


1 space per work vehicle 


55 Medical marijuana dispensaries 4 spaces per pharmacist or physician 


56 


Microdistilleries/breweries (beverage 
production facilities) 


 


1 space per 50 square feet of brew pub or tap/tasting 
room 


57 Mining and quarrying 
1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area of 
office area (for administrative office buildings) 


Formatted: Left







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 15 


 


58 Mortuaries 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


 


59 
Moving and storage parcel delivery and 
express transfer stations 


1 space per 2,000 square feet of net floor area 


60 Nature education centers 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


 


62 


Places of assembly, 
neighborhood/community/regional 


 


1 space per 3 persons based on the maximum 
design capacity of the largest assembly room as 
permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


63 Personal service establishments 
1 space per 200 square feet of net floor area or 2 
spaces per customer chair, whichever is greater 


64 Pet care services 3.5 spaces per 1,00 square feet of net floor area 


65 Pet stores 1 space per 200 square feet of net floor area 


66 Potable water pump station facilities 1 space per facility 


67 Printing establishments 1 space per 350 square feet of net floor area 


68 Park and outdoor recreational facilities, private 


25 spaces per acre associated with facilities 
designed for a stadium, auditorium, theater, 
swimming pool, athletic field, and court play plus 1 
space per 3 acres of natural space design 


 


69 


Park and outdoor recreational facilities, 
neighborhood/community/regional, public 


 


25 spaces per acre associated with facilities 
designed for a stadium, auditorium, theater, 
swimming pool, athletic field, and court play plus 1 
space per 3 acres of natural space design 


70 
Public or private parking garages 


 
N/A 


71 
Radio and television studios, excluding towers 
in excess of district maximum height 


1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area 


72 
Recreation facilities for employees, faculty and 
students 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 16 


 


Administration 


73 
Retail establishments, agriculture supported 


 


1 space per 500 square feet of sales area (indoor or 
outdoor) 


74 Retail establishments, value added agriculture 
1 space per 500 square feet of sales area (indoor or 
outdoor) 


75 Retail establishments, general 
1 space per 200 square feet of area used to 
consummate retail sales 


76 Retail, outdoor 1 space per 250 square feet of retail space 


77 School, commercial 


All schools: 1.5 spaces per classroom plus 1 space 
for every 10 square feet of multipurpose assembly 
space or 1 space per 25 square feet of classroom 
square footage, whichever is greater 


78 
School, public or private 


 


All schools: 1.5 spaces per classroom, plus 1 space 
for every 10 square feet of multipurpose assembly 
space or 1 space per 25 square feet of classroom 
square footage, whichever is greater 


79 
Self-service storage facilities 


 


1 space per 50 storage spaces, plus 1 space per full-
time equivalent employee 


80 Solar energy systems (PSES) 
1 space per operating/control station 


 


81 


Sporting and entertainment arenas and 
stadiums 


 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


82 Sports and field complexes 
1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


83 Storage of passenger vehicles and light trucks N/A 


84 


Studios for instruction in music, performing 
arts and visual media 


 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


85 
Taxi and limousine services 


 


2 spaces per vehicle, plus 1 space per 350 square 
feet of net floor area of office area (for 
administrative office buildings) 


86 Telecommunications switching facilities 1 space per 2,000 square feet of net floor area 


Formatted Table







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 17 


 


87 
Treatment centers 


 


1 space per 3 persons based on maximum design 
capacity as permitted by the Centre Region Code 
Administration 


 


88 
Tutoring and study centers 


 
1 space per 200 square feet of net floor area 


89 Veterinary offices/clinics 1 space per 250 square feet of net floor area 


90 Water production facilities 1 space per work vehicle 


91 
Wholesale distribution, warehouses 


 
1 space per 2,000 square feet of net floor area 


92 
Wind energy systems 


 
1 space per operating/control station 


93 Wineries/tasting facilities 1 space per 50 square feet of tasting room 


94 
All other commercial and industrial uses 


 


Shall be determined through a parking study 
provided by the applicant and as per 
recommendation by the Planning Commission 


C. Parking Lots. For the purposes of this chapter, parking lots are defined as facilities providing off-street 
parking space for five or more motor vehicles. All parking lots shall meet the design and maintenance 
standards specified below. All applications for a zoning permit to use land, in whole or in part, as a 
parking lot as herein defined shall be accompanied by a minor land development plan as stipulated in 
this chapter. 


§ 22-5C02 Bicycle Parking Regulations.  
[Ord. No. 1050, 11/18/2019]  


1. Short-term and long-term bicycle parking spaces shall be required for all new development and major 
renovations. 


A. Bicycle Parking Spaces Required. 


(1) Required Number of Bicycle Parking Spaces. All new development and major renovations 
shall provide at least the number of short-term and long-term bicycle parking spaces identified in 
the table in this subsection; however, the number shall not fall below a minimum of two short-term 
and two long-term bicycle parking spaces, regardless of other provisions herein, except that 
multifamily dwellings that have individual private garages (or equivalent separate storage space 
for each unit) are not required to provide any long-term bicycle parking spaces. Where the 
calculation of total required spaces results in a fractional number, the next highest whole number 
shall be used. Up to half of the required short-term bicycle parking spaces may be replaced with 
long-term bicycle parking spaces. 


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.02"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 18 


 


 


General Use Category Specific Use 


Number of Short-Term 
Bicycle Parking Spaces 
Required 


Number of Long-Term 
Bicycle Parking Spaces 
Required 


Residential Multifamily dwelling; more 
than 4 units: 


 


 (a) Without private garage 
or equivalent separate 
storage space for each 
unit: 


0.05 spaces per bedroom 
or 1 per 20 units 


0.5 spaces per bedroom 
or 1 to 4 per 4 units 


 (b) With individual 
private garages or 
equivalent separate 
storage space for each 
unit:  


0.05 per bedroom or 1 per 
20 units 


None 


Commercial Office building 1 per each 20,000 square 
feet of floor area 


1 to 1.5 per 10,000 square 
feet of floor area 


 General retail 1 per each 5,000 square 
feet of floor area 


1 per 10,000 to 12,000 
square feet of floor area 


 Grocery 1 per each 2,000 square 
feet of floor area 


1 per 10,000 to 12,000 
square feet of floor area 


 Restaurant 1 per each 2,000 square 
feet of floor area 


1 per 10,000 to 12,000 
square feet of floor area 


 Parking garage 2 spaces 1 per 20 motor vehicle 
spaces 


 Outdoor parking lot 1 per 20 motor vehicle 
spaces 


2 spaces 


Civic Nonassembly cultural (e.g., 
library, government 
buildings) 


1 per each 8,000 to 
10,000 square feet of 
floor area 


1 to 1.5 per each 10 to 20 
employees 


 Assembly (e.g., places of 
worship, theaters, stadiums, 
parks) 


Spaces for 2 to 5 percent 
of maximum expected 
daily attendance 


1 to 1.5 per each 20 
employees 


 Schools (K though 12) 1 per each 20 students of 
planned capacity 


1 per each 10 to 20 
employees and 1 per each 
20 students of planned 
capacity for grades 6 
through 12 to  


 Colleges and universities 1 per each 10 students of 
planned capacity 


1 per each 10 to 20 
employees and 1 per each 
10 students of planned 
capacity or 1 per each 
20,000 square feet of 
floor area, whichever is 
greater 


Industrial Manufacturing and 
production, agriculture 


2 spaces 1 per 20 employees 


 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69", First line:  0"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt,
Font color: Red
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 19 


 


§ 27-707 22-516 Landscaping.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. Purpose and Intent. The purpose of this section is to provide landscaping requirements which: 


A. Enhance and promote the image aesthetics of the community through seasonal diversity of plantings. 


B. Protect the public health, safetysafety, and welfare by: 


(1) Screening and buffering incompatible land uses.  


(2) Minimizing noise, air, water, dustdust, and visual pollution.  


(3) Preserving property values and the character of neighborhoods.  


(4) Reducing the heat and glare absorbed and radiated by development.  


(5) Helping control soil erosion.  


(6) Increasing traffic safety.  


(7) Mitigate stormwater runoff on site and improveing the water quality of this water through the 
use of vegetation.  


C. Increase the variety of plant materials used in landscape plans.  


D. Improve the aesthetics of the site through seasonal diversity of plantings.  


9. Preservation of Existing Vegetation. Existing site vegetative tree growth of four inches trunk 
diameter or larger is encouraged.  
 
13. Purpose. Flexible bBuffer yards are intended to aid the Township of Ferguson in protecting the 


community character of the Township by separating incompatible uses either within the same zoning 
district and/or between adjacent zoning districts. The purpose of the flexible buffer yard requirements is 
to alleviate problems which could be encountered by a single standard. The requirements of this section 
can reasonably accommodate the characteristics of each site and the range of land uses.  


(2) Procedure. The following procedure shall be used to determine the type of buffer yard required between 
two uses located on separate but abutting parcels: 


(a) Step One. Identify the land use classification of the proposed use and of all existing uses located on 
separate adjoining lots by referring to the land use intensity classification chart as follows: 


Land Use Intensity Classification Chart 
Group I 
Agricultural 


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25", Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.56", Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.25", Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Left
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 20 


 


Land Use Intensity Classification Chart 
Single-family detached residential use(s) 
Nonagricultural residential lot 
Stormwater detention basin 
Group II 
Townhouses, multifamily housing, duplexes, quadplexes 
Neighborhood civic-, business- or faith-based place of assembly 
Community civic-, business- or faith-based place of assembly 
Group III 
All uses not identified in Group I or II 
(b) Step Two. Determine the buffer yard required between uses by referring to the following: 


A. All Bbuffer yards shall include: 


(1) Aa required width of 15 feet; 


(2) and Aa minimum of three canopy trees and four understory trees/evergreen trees per every 100 
linear feet of distance along a site's perimeter; 


(3) A minimum of six shrubs per every 100 linear feet of distance along a site’s perimeter; 


(i). Areas less than 100 linear feet and/or fractions thereof are to be landscaped with the 
corresponding ratio by 100 linear feet, rounded up to the nearest whole plant.  


(4) Planting stock to be used as landscape materials for the buffer yard in question are included in 
the Township’s Official Plant List. 


(5) Village District. Within the required three-foot side yard setback of the Village District only, 
the Board of Supervisors may approve the use of a fence or wall in place of the buffer yard 
which would satisfy the buffer yard requirements as defined above. When landscaping is being 
provided to buffer against a different use group than is on the site, the required plant material 
must be evenly distributed within each 100-foot section of the buffer area. The even distribution 
of plantings is intended to screen objectionable views. When landscaping is being provided to 
buffer against the same use group as exists on the site, the required plant material may be 
grouped or unevenly distributed within each 100-foot section of the buffer area.  


(6) Corridor Overlay District Flexible Buffer Yard. In addition to the requirements of §27-401, 
including the buffer yard options set forth in illustrations adopted as part of this chapter and 
codified at the end of this section, any site located within the Corridor Overlay District shall 
comply with one of the following landscaped buffer yard requirements: 


(i.) A minimum ten-foot-wide landscaped strip shall be planted with a minimum of one 
canopy tree or evergreen tree and 15 shrubs per 35 linear feet of frontage along the 
parking area (excluding driveway openings) (Figure 1). 


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.23"
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.54"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.56", First line:  0"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.54"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.19", Hanging:  0.25"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 21 


 


(ii) A berm/earth mound, the top of which is at least two feet higher than the elevation of 
the adjacent parking lot pavement. The slope of the berm shall not exceed 25% (4:1) 
for lawn areas. Berms planted with ground covers and shrubs may be steeper. 
However, no slope shall exceed 50% (2:1). Berms shall be graded to appear as 
naturalistic forms not causing any soil erosion problems and planted with a minimum 
of one canopy tree or evergreen tree and 15 shrubs per 35 linear feet of frontage along 
the parking area (excluding driveway openings) (Figure 2). 


(iii) A six-foot-wide landscaped embankment strip and a minimum three feet grade drop 
from the required yard area into any adjacent parking lot pavement. The resulting 
embankment shall be planted with a minimum of one canopy tree or evergreen tree and 
15 shrubs per 35 linear feet of frontage along the parking area (excluding driveway 
openings). At least 50% of the required shrubs shall be planted in the top half of the 
grade drop area (Figure 3). 


(iv) A minimum of a five-foot-wide landscaped strip with a minimum three feet high brick, 
stone or finished concrete material wall to screen any parking lot. The wall shall be 
located adjacent to, but entirely outside, the minimum five-foot-wide landscaping strip. 
The strip shall be planted with a minimum of one canopy tree or evergreen tree and 15 
shrubs per 35 linear feet of frontage along the parking area (excluding driveway 
openings) (Figure 4). 


(v) A minimum twenty-five-foot-wide strip of existing woodlands or tree growth of 
sufficient trunk diameter or caliper of six inches if preserved between any parking lot 
or buildings and the corridor street (Figure 5). 


(vi) For display areas consisting of a parking lot that will be used to display products for 
sale or rent such as cars, trucks, boats and recreational vehicles, the following buffer 
yard may be used: 


(a) A landscaped planting strip shall be planted with a minimum of one canopy tree 
for every 50 feet of frontage along the display parking area. Each tree shall have a 
landscaped planting bed around its base. In addition, each end of the display area 
shall include a planting bed/mound which includes one canopy tree and 10 shrubs 
(Figure 6). As required but this chapter, a certain number of plants shall be planted 
per 35 linear feet. Within the specified length, the plantings may be staggered and 
do not have to be planted in a linear fashion. 


(b) The placement/configuration of mulch shall reflect best practices in 
horticultural and landscape maintenance standards. Materials must be at a 
minimum, two inches of mulch and not create a formation indicative of a mulch 
volcano. 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.69", First line:  0"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 22 


 


 


Corridor Overlay District Flexible Buffer Yard  


(c) Step Three. Determine the planting stock to be used as landscape materials for the buffer yard in 
question by referring to the Township's official plant list.  


D. Placement of Buffer Yard Width. The landscaped buffer yard area shall be established along the 
length of, and contiguous to, any lot line or demarcation of land use, such as a leasable area. The 
width of the area determined from buffer yard of this section shall be measured at right angles to 
the lot line of the applicant's land development.  


§ 27-209.1.I. Yard Requirements.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. No structure shall be placed in the front, side or rear yard setback areas specified for each use, except 
where specifically permitted below or in other sections of this chapter. 


I. Where a tract of land zoned Rrural Aagricultural (RA) on the effective date of this Part 2, or 
thereafter, is rezoned changed to a different zoning classification, then a buffer yard of not less 
than 50 feet in width shall be provided on the rezoned property which has been rezoned when the 
rezonedthat land adjoins land ofin the RA Rural Agricultural (RA) Zoning Districte. 


(1) This revised buffer shall also be applicable to any acreage which currently contains the 
previously established 200-foot buffer. and for which a final subdivision or land 


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Italic


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 23 


 


development plan is approved after the effective date of this Part 2. 


(a) The approval of such reduction in the buffer area for any lot shall be contingent upon 
the agreement of all property owners within the specific section or phase of 
development of which the lot is a part. Any final plan submitted must therefore 
include all such lots. (a) Planned Residential Developments (PRD) and Traditional 
Town Developments (TTD) shall amend the approved master plan for that 
development in order to modify the buffer location. 


(b) Acreage subject to the buffer but not previously designated as a phase of an existing 
development will require amendment of the approved master plan for that 
development in order to modify the existing buffer location.  


 


(2) No structure, including decks, patios or building additions may encroach in this fifty-foot 
buffer yard other than the placement of an accessory structure/shed of less than 144 square 
feet, which is permitted to be located within the buffer and as close as three feet from the 
property line. Swimming pools shall be prohibited from being located within the fifty-foot 
buffer yard.  


(3) To ensure clear distinction between the land in the RA Zone and the land zoned for 
development, the Board may require that the developer of the nonagricultural land install 
either fencing or landscaping along the entire length of the shared boundary with the RA-
zoned lands in addition to the establishment of the fifty-foot buffer. 


(a) Where a landscaped buffer is required by the Board, such landscaping will be 
required to meet the requirements of either the fifteen-foot buffer yard "B" or the 
thirty-foot buffer yard "D." Once installed, this landscaping may not be removed at 
any time by the present or future owner(s) of the nonfarm lots. These owners will be 
responsible in perpetuity for the continued maintenance and replacement of the 
landscaping material located on their property.  


(b) At the discretion of the Board, the developer may be responsible for the installation of a 
six-foot fence in lieu of the above landscaping requirement. Such fencing shall be 
installed along the entire length of the shared boundary with the RA-zoned lands. The 
fencing may not be chain-link and may not be removed at any time by the present or 
future owner(s) of the nonfarm lots. In addition, unless a homeowners' association is 
established, the individual lot owners will be responsible in perpetuity for the 
continued maintenance and if necessary, the replacement of that portion of the fence 
on their property. 


J. Where a tract of land zoned Rural Agricultural (RA) on the effective date of this Part 2, or thereafter, 
is changed to a different zoning classification, then a buffer yard of not less than 200 50 feet in 
width shall be provided on the property which has been rezoned when the rezoned land adjoins 
land in the (FG) Forest Gameland Zone. 


Formatted: Left, Indent: Left:  1.19", Hanging:  0.38",
Line spacing:  single, Widow/Orphan control,
Hyphenate, Pattern: Clear


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38", Hanging:  0.31"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 24 


 


 
 


 
6. Perimeter Requirements. 


A. If topographical or other barriers do not provide adequate privacy for existing uses adjacent to 
the planned residential development, the Board of Supervisors may impose the following 
requirements: 


(1) Structures located within 20 feet of the perimeter of a planned residential development must 
be set back by a distance sufficient to protect the privacy and amenity of adjacent existing uses. 


a. Where tracts of land adjoin land in the Rural Agricultural (RA) Zoning District, then a 
buffer yard of not less than 50 feet in width shall be provided. 


(2) Structures located on the perimeter of the planned residential development must be 
permanently screened if required by the Board of Supervisors. 


B. The above subsections are intended to provide adequate privacy to the proposed structures and 
uses of the PRD from adjacent incompatible structures or uses. 


 


7. Post Final. 


A. In the event that a development plan, or a section thereof, is given final approval and the landowner 
abandons such plan or the section thereof that has been finally approved, and so notifies the Board 
of Supervisors, in writing, or, in the event the landowner shall fail to commence and carry out the 
planned residential development within such five years after final approval has been granted, no 
development or further development shall take place on the property included in the development 
plan until after the said property is resubdivided and is reclassified by enactment of an amendment 
to this chapter in the manner prescribed for such amendments in Article VI of the Pennsylvania 
Municipalities Planning Code.  


B. No changes may be made in the approved final development plan during the construction of the 
planned residential development plan except upon application to the appropriate agency under the 
procedure provided below. 


(1) Minor cChanges in the landscaping, rearrangement of common open space that does not result 
in total amount of open space being increased or decreased, signage, relocating of lighting and 
rearrangement of bicycle parking locating, siting and height of buildings, structures and 
rearrangement of lots to not exceed a 10% reduction of overall dwelling units of the finally 
approved plan to follow the Township's lot consolidation procedure may be approved by the 
Township after authorization by the Planning Commission if required by engineering or other 
circumstances not foreseen at the time the final development plan was approved.  


(2) All other changes in use, any rearrangement of lots, blocks,  and building tracts, locating, siting 
and height of buildings, structures and rearrangement of lots to not exceed a 10% reduction of 
overall dwelling units of the approved final development plan, any changes in the provision of 
common open spaces, and all other changes in the approved final development plan must be 


Formatted: Font: (Default) TimesNewRoman, 11 pt,
Font color: Auto
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.98", Don't adjust
space between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space
between Asian text and numbers
Formatted: Font: (Default) TimesNewRoman, 11 pt,
Bold, Font color: Auto
Formatted: Normal, Don't adjust space between Latin
and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian text
and numbers
Formatted: Font color: Dark Red, Strikethrough
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.69", First line:  0.3",
Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't
adjust space between Asian text and numbers
Field Code Changed


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.29"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.54"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 25 


 


made by the Board of Supervisors, under the procedures authorized for final plan approval. No 
amendments may be made to the approved final development plan unless they are shown to be 
required by changes in conditions that have occurred since the final development plan was 
approved or by changes in the development policy of the Township.  


§ 27-303 Traditional Town Development (TTD).  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


3. Site Plans. 


A. Land Use Standards. 


(1) Composition of Uses. A variety of uses are required to be provided within a traditional town 
development. This variety shall be comprised of a combination of the permitted uses as listed below in 
the percentages required by the diversity provisions of § 27-303, Subsection 1C(2):27-303.3.B.: 


D. Density and Setbacks. 


(1) Standards. 


(e) Fence Heights. Fence heights at the front of residential units and along the side to the front facade of the 
structure shall not exceed 3.5 feet and, for the balance of the lot, shall not exceed six feet. Piers, fence 
posts and gateways in the front yard may have a maximum height of five feet, and trellises and similar 
features may have a maximum height of nine feet. Fence height restrictions on corner lots shall be 
subject to the preservation of adequate clear sight per § 27-206, Subsection 1E. 22-502.G. 


 


§ 27-304 Terraced Streetscape (TS) District.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


2. 2. Use Regulations 


C. Lots from .40 Acres, Up to and Including Lots of .99 Acres. The permitted principal uses as set forth in the     
chapter, subject to the following: 
   


 (1) Any structure that will be located on the corner of a lot that is at least 0.40 acres in size and that 
involves an intersection with West College Avenue must address both frontages (no blank walls) and be a 
maximum of 545 feet in height. The structure shall be designed in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of Chapter 22. The facade of buildings on corner lots may be accentuated by towers, corner 
building entrances or other distinctive elements; however, all structures on such lots shall be designed to 
architecturally enhance the corner location and all effort shall be made to ensure that such structure is a 
signature building within the district. 


 


E. Conditional Uses. All of the following conditional uses shall be permitted only upon a lot, or 
combined lots, that total one acre or larger upon approval by the Board of Supervisors: 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space Before:
 0 pt, After:  7 pt


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.33", Space
Before:  2 pt, After:  12 pt


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.31",
Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Formatted: Not Highlight
Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"
Formatted: Not Highlight
Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Highlight
Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Highlight
Formatted: Not Highlight


Formatted: Not Highlight
Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 26 


 


(5) Structured parking as a stand-alone structure subject to the follow criteria: 


(f) Maximum height 45 feet. Fifteen feet may be added through the use of incentives as specified in § 
27-304, Subsection 3A(2)(c) below. 


  


(6) Structures (other than parking structures) above 55 feet subject to the follow criteria: 


(a)The structure does not exceed 45 feet in height, including all rooftop appurtenances other 
than solar panels or rooftop wind energy conversion systems. 


 
(b) The appearance of any portion of the facade between 30 feet and 45 feet is distinguished from 
the facade treatment/material of the portion of the structure below 30 feet per the design 
requirements in 


Chapter 22. 
(c) Any vertical mixed-use structure that contains more than two floors devoted to residential units 
must provide full-time, on-site management. 


 
(d) The application of sufficient incentives from § 27-304, subsection 3B, below to reach a 
height above the permitted 45 feet.  


 
3. Height, Area and Bulk Regulations. The following regulations shall be observed for all permitted principal 
uses: 


A.  Maximum Height 


  (2) Lots of 0.40 acres and up with frontage on an arterial street: 


   (a) By right maximum of 55 45 feet;  


   (b) Additional height up to 55 feet for lots of at least one acre may be obtained through 
the use of incentives set forth in § 27-304, subsection 3B; use of any incentive(s) other than Subsection 3B 
retains the requirement to obtain conditional use approval. 


   (c) Maximum height of parking structures is 6045 feet, not including any underground 
parking levels. Additional height of up to 15 feet maybe added specifically to this use if a minimum of 50% 
of the roof is planted as a green roof or roof garden, or if a wind energy conversion system and/or solar 
panels are placed on the roof and provide energy for the parking structure and/or adjacent structures. 


   (d) Minimum height of all structures on lots up to and including 0.39 and any lots of 
this size other than corner lots which are subject to Subsection 2C(1) above: A street wall at least two stories 
or 30 feet in height (whichever is greater) shall be maintained for a minimum of 65% of the length of the lot 
frontage through placement of the principal structure of extension of its façade with an appropriate 
architectural element. 


B. Building Height Incentives 


Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.49"


Formatted: Font color: Auto


Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Highlight
Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.49"
Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.13", Hanging:  0.06"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.13", Hanging:  0.06"


Formatted: Font color: Auto
Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Strikethrough, Not
Highlight


Formatted: Not Highlight


Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Highlight
Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.49"


Formatted: Font color: Auto
Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Highlight


Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Highlight


Formatted: Font color: Auto


Formatted: Font color: Auto, Not Highlight


Formatted: Not Highlight
Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.49"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 27 


 


  1. If a shared parking facility is provided or used to accommodate the use(s) on the lot, an additional 
10 feet may be added to the permitted maximum. 
  2. If structured parking is provided to accommodate the use(s) on the lot and provides space for use by 
others, an additional 20 feet may be added to the permitted maximum without the need to obtain conditional use 
approval. 
  13.  If a proposed development is complying with § 27-716, Workforce Housing, the by right 
maximum height of 45 feet may be increased to accommodate bonus market rate units, not to exceed 65 55 feet. 
[Amended by Ord. No. 1065, 1/4/2021] 
  4.  If 15% of the total residential units in a vertical mixed-use building are established and maintained 
as age-restricted units, an additional 20 feet may be added to the permitted maximum. 
 


 G. Parking Requirements. Off-street parking shall be provided and maintained in accordance 
with the provisions of §22-5C01. 


The regulations set forth herein are intended to apply within the TS District and may differ from the 
provisions of Chapter 22. 


1. The required parking may be met through the use of on-site, off-site, and remote or structured 
parking, or any combination thereof.  


2. When an on-site surface parking area is proposed, it shall be located underneath or to the side or 
rear of the structure(s) it is intended to serve and shall have vehicular access from the side or rear of the lot. 
On-site parking in the front yard is specifically prohibited. 


3. When surface parking is located to the side of a structure, it must be set back from the sidewalk 
edges a minimum of 10 feet. This additional setback shall be used to accommodate screening composed of a 
low architectural wall, masonry piers, fencing, or a combination thereof, and a continuous four-foot high (at 
time of planting) shrub hedge that screens the parking and defines the sidewalk edge. Additional deciduous 
and evergreen trees may be used to supplement the required plantings.  


4. Surface parking located to the side of a structure may not extend to a side street. The corner lots 
are subject to the use and yard requirements as stipulated above.   


5. The maximum number of permitted spaces in an on-site surface parking lot is 30. However, if 
acceptable pervious paving is used for the entire parking area, this number may be increased to 45.  


6. Parking areas shall be designed so as to optimize the potential to serve more than one building or 
more than one use on a site or adjoining sites as long as the location and design remain consistent with the 
other criteria of this section.  


7. To be counted toward the minimum number of required spaces, off-site parking must be located 
within two blocks or 1/4 mile of the main entrance to the use that requires the spaces. If the off-site spaces 
are not in a publicly owned and operated parking structure, documentation of the reservation of such spaces 
for each use must be provided in the form of a shared parking agreement. 


8. Residential parking within the TS District shall be provided at the rate of 1.0 space for each studio 
or one-bedroom unit and 1.5 spaces for each unit that is two bedrooms or larger, subject to the following 


Formatted: Not Highlight


Formatted: Font color: Auto
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0",
Space Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt, Don't adjust space
between Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space
between Asian text and numbers
Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left:  0.5",  No bullets or
numbering
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Font
color: Auto
Formatted: Font: (Default) Liberation Serif, 12 pt, Font
color: Black, (Asian) Chinese (China)
Formatted: Body Text, Space Before:  2 pt, After:  12 pt,
Adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Adjust space
between Asian text and numbers
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Font
color: Auto
Formatted: Body Text, Indent: First line:  0.49", Space
Before:  2 pt, After:  12 pt, Adjust space between Latin
and Asian text, Adjust space between Asian text and
numbers







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 28 


 


criteria:  


a. To utilize this parking standard, all surface parking on the site shall be priced separately 
from the cost of the unit. Such fee structure would not be applicable to the use of driveways, attached 
garages, or underground and understructure parking spaces on-site but would be applicable to the use 
of off-site parking spaces in a structured parking facility. 


b. The use of incentives cannot reduce this required parking ratio.  
9. Parking for nonresidential uses within the TS District shall be provided at the rate of 1/500 square 
feet, subject to the following criteria: 


 
 Where shared parking can be arranged, the amount of required parking shall be dictated in 


accordance with the provisions of the ULI Shared Parking Handbook, Second Edition 
(2005). 


 Where either on- or off-site shared parking is utilized, an agreement establishing the rights 
to use of the spaces shall be prepared, submitted and, upon approval by the Township, 
recorded. 


 Additional reductions may be considered through the use of incentives as listed elsewhere 
in this section. 
 


10. Every nonresidential use with a floor area of 10,000 square feet or more must provide a 
loading/unloading area. Curbside deliveries are permitted so long as they do not block travel lanes. 


 
11. All uses shall provide bicycle parking accommodations on site. See § 22-502, 


Subsection 3. 
 
 12. All egress from a parking area shall be designed so that motor vehicles leaving the parking area 
will enter the public street traveling in a forward direction. 
 
 13. All surface parking lots must be suitably landscaped to minimize noise, glare, and other nuisance 
characteristics as well as enhance the environment and ecology of the site and surrounding area. At a 
minimum, all surface parking areas shall be landscaped in accordance with the provisions of § 27-707, 
Subsection 14B and C and shall demonstrate that a minimum of 5% of the internal surface parking area has 
been devoted to landscaping area.  
 


14. Surface parking space dimensions shall be in accordance with the provisions of § 27-601. 
 
  G. Parking Requirements. 
   (11) All uses shall provide bicycle parking accommodations on site. See §22-5C02 
District and may differ from the provisions of Chapter 22. 


 


§ 27-401 Corridor Overlay District Requirements.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


E. Landscaping Requirements to Apply. Any site located within the Corridor Overlay District shall 
comply with the landscaped buffer yard requirements set forth in this cChapter 22. Subdivision and 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.49", First line:  0.49"
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.49"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.49", First line:  0.49"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Font
color: Auto
Formatted: List Paragraph, Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: a, b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment:
Left + Aligned at:  0.98" + Indent at:  1.23"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Font
color: Auto


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Font
color: Auto
Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  1.23"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, 12 pt
Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.49"


Formatted: Normal, Indent: First line:  0.49", Space
Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt, Don't adjust space between
Latin and Asian text, Don't adjust space between Asian
text and numbers
Formatted: Normal, Space Before:  0 pt, After:  0 pt,
Don't adjust space between Latin and Asian text, Don't
adjust space between Asian text and numbers
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Font
color: Auto
Formatted: Body Text, Space Before:  2 pt, After:  12 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", First line:  0", Space Before:
 0 pt, After:  7 pt
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Not
Bold







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 29 


 


Land Development.  
 H. Signage. Ground signage in the Corridor Overlay District shall be installed in accordance with 


Chapter 19§19-111.2. of the Sign Ordinance and applied to all uses. The ground pole shall not exceed 
10 feet above grade except that the sign height is permitted to be an additional three feet higher with a 
landscaped base elevated with each mounding up to three feet tall. The placement of building-mounted 
signs is permissible in accordance with the applicable sections of the Sign Ordinance (Chapter 19) for 
the relevant use. 


§ 27-502 Standards for Specific Uses.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


33. Water Production Facilities. Water production facilities in the vicinity of their potable water wells shall 
be permitted as a conditional use if the following standards and criteria are met: 


A. An ambient sound-level study is provided and the ambient sound level at all points along the 
boundary line of the property upon which the water production facility is located shall be no more 
than 55 decibels (dBA).  


B. A land development plan shall be prepared in accordance with § 22-403. Subdivision and Land 
Development27-1003 of this chapter. An elevation drawing of any structure to be constructed on 
the property shall be provided as part of the land development plan.  


36. Storage of Land Clearing Material. Storage of land clearing material shall be permitted as a conditional 
use if the following standards and criteria are met: 


A. Applicant shall complete a land development plan; 


B. Paving of access road to the site; 


B. Applicant will comply with applicable zoning district regulations for site design; 


B. Compliance with Chapter 26—Stormwater Management; 


C. Compliance with §22-510—Erosion and Grading Control; 


D. Compliance with §26-305—Erosion and Sedimentation Requirements; and 


E. The proposed use would not store or use hazardous materials on site. 


§ 27-702 Slope Controls.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. All land defined herein as having steep slopes shall be subject to the following regulations: 


A. Intent. It is the intent of this section to control the following purposes: 1) to limit erosion and 
sedimentation, 2) to prevent an increase in the possibilities of landslides and soil subsidence, 3) to 
maintain adequate foliage cover on hillsides and 4) to protect streams from increases in sediment and 


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Body Text, Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.31", Hanging:  0.31"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.63", Hanging:  0.19"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.63", Hanging:  0.19"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.31", Hanging:  0.19"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 30 


 


pollution.  


B. Permitted Uses. Steep slopes may be used as permitted by the district regulations within which they 
are located, subject to the additional requirements below.  


C. Principles of Development. Where it is necessary to use steep slopes (235% or greater) to permit 
development of a lot, all such proposals shall, in addition to other applicable regulations of this 
chapter, be in accordance with the following principles of development. All development on steep 
slopes shall: 


(1) Be oriented so that grading and other site preparations are kept to an absolute minimum.  


(2) Where grading is essential, shape such grading to complement the natural land form.  


(3) Be staged where necessary to complete construction of each stage during a season so that 
large areas of disturbed land are not left bare and exposed during the winter-spring runoff period.  


(4) Accomplish all paving as rapidly as possible after grading.  


(5) Allocate to open space and recreation uses those areas least suited to development, as 
evidenced by competent soils, geology and hydrology investigations.  


(6) Landscape areas around structures to blend them with the natural landscape.  


(7) Take measures to minimize erosion and sedimentation and to limit increases in stormwater 
runoff in accordance with related regulations of the Township and the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania.  


D. Land Development Plan Review. All applications for zoning permits for lot, uses and structures 
located, in whole or in part, on land with steep slopes shall submit, along with the application, a land 
development plan as required in the Township Subdivision and Land Development Ordinance. A 
land development plan is not required for residential dwellings when a zoning permit is issued for lot, 
uses and structures that are not located directly on the steep sloped portions of the lot and are not 
within 50 feet of the steep slopes on the lot. 


§27-713.8.B. Solar Collectors and Solar-Related Equipment. 


B. Building-mounted systems mounted on a flat roof shall not be visible from the public right-of-
way within a fifty-foot radius of the lot, exclusive of an alley as defined by this section, at a level 
of five feet from the ground in a similar manner as to any other rooftop HVAC or mechanical 
equipment. This can be accomplished with architectural screening such as a building parapet or 
by setting the system back from the roof edge in such a manner that the solar PV system is not 
visible from the public right-of-way within a fifty-foot radius when measured at a distance of five 
feet from the ground. Building-mounted systems mounted on a flat roof shall not be raised to a 
height greater than three (3) feet from the roof surface. 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", First line:  0"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.31", Hanging:  0.19"


Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted: Font: Bold
Formatted: Font color: Auto
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75"


Formatted: Font color: Auto







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 31 


 


§27-717. Bed-and-Breakfast 


1. A bed-and-breakfast which contains one to three rooms shall be permitted as an accessory use to an 
owner-occupied single-family dwelling unit as long as the following requirements are met. Rental or 
lease of the bed-and-breakfast property for events such as weddings, reunions, parties, business or 
social gatherings which host 10 or more nonovernight guests is specifically prohibited at these 
facilities. 


A. One paved off-street parking space shall be provided per guest room in addition to the spaces 
required for the dwelling unit. In the RA and RR Zones, if the existing driveway and parking 
spaces are not paved, the additional parking spaces required by this section do not have to be 
paved. These parking spaces may not be stacked and must comply with this chapter and the 
Township Subdivision and Land Development Ordinance.[1]Off-street parking shall be provided 
and maintained in accordance with the provisions of §22-5C01. 


2. A bed-and-breakfast which contains four to 10 rooms shall be permitted as an accessory use to an 
owner-occupied single-family dwelling unit in the RA, RR and V Districts as long as the following 
requirements are met: 


1.A. Off-street paved parking shall be provided in accordance with the Township's parking 
requirements (1.2 spaces per room) and one per four persons based on maximum number of 
nonovernight guests to be hosted. In the RA and RR Zones, if the existing driveway and parking 
spaces are not paved, the additional parking spaces required by this section do not have to be 
paved. These parking spaces may not be stacked and must comply with this chapter and the 
Township Subdivision and Land Development Ordinance (Chapter 22). The amount of parking 
available will determine the maximum number of nonovernight guests that may be hosted at any 
one time. When a parking lot of five or more spaces is provided on-site to meet parking 
requirements, a continuous vegetative buffer to reach a height of six feet shall be provided around 
the perimeter of the parking lot.Off-street parking shall be provided and maintained in accordance 
with the provisions of §22-5C01. 


§27-718. Regional Park and Outdoor Recreational Facilities. 


3.  Parking Paving of drive-aisles. 


§ 27-719 Short-Term Rentals.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. The dwelling must be the permanent address of the owner or lessee and the owner or lessee must 
occupy the dwelling for at least six months of the calendar year and provide certification that the 
property is the principal place of residence by providing a driver’s license, voter registration or other 
documentation to prove residency. 


4. The short-term rental shall provide one off-street parking space per bedroom available for rental.Off-
street parking shall be provided and maintained in accordance with the provisions of §22-5C01. 


5. Prior to use of a residence as a short-term rental, an applicant shall apply for a permit with the Zoning 
Administrator and pay the required fee for a permit. The owner shall include a copy of their rental 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.19", Hanging:  0.31",
Numbered + Level: 5 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … +
Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  2.38" +
Indent at:  2.63"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 1 +
Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment:
Left + Aligned at:  2.38" + Indent at:  2.63"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5", Numbered + Level: 2 +
Numbering Style: A, B, C, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment:
Left + Aligned at:  0.75" + Indent at:  1"


Formatted: Font color: Auto


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.58"
Formatted: Font color: Auto
Formatted: Font color: Auto
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"


Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style:
1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 4 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
0.25" + Indent at:  0.5"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.31", Hanging:  0.19"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 32 


 


permit from the Centre Region Code Office at the time of application or a completed Rental Permit 
Application from the Centre Region Code Office. Within 14 days of said application, the Zoning 
Administrator shall notify the applicant, in writing, of the approval or denial of the permit, and shall 
state the provisions of this Part 7 with which the application does not comply. Failure of the Zoning 
Administrator to properly grant or deny a permit in the manner and time period stipulated above shall 
constitute an approval of the application for the permit, and the residence may be used as a home 
occupation so long as the use complies with this Part 7. 


 A. Upon issuance of the short term rental permit, the permit number shall be displayed in the 
window of the home being rented and the rental permit number shall be included in the 
advertisements of the short term rental. Failure to properly display the short term rental permit 
number in either medium will result in a violation of this Part 7. 


§ 27-721 Home Occupations. 
I. All parking shall be off street and two off-street spaces shall be provided in addition to that 


required of the residence unit.Off-street parking shall be provided and maintained in 
accordance with the provisions of §22-5C01. 


§ 27-722.1.C Temporary Uses 


 9. The temporary uses permitted by this section shall provide the following number of parking 
spaces: 


 Use    Number of Spaces 


  Outdoor Retail  1 per 250 square feet of retail space9. Temporary uses for 
outdoor retail shall provide off-street parking and maintenance in accordance with the provisions of 
§22-5C01. 


§ 27-723 Food TrucksMobile Retail Food Facilities.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


1. Food trucksGeneral. Mobile retail food facility shall be a permitted use in every zoning district in 
Ferguson Township under the following conditions: 


A. Time Limits. 


(1) This permitted use is for the sale of food and nonalcoholic beverages, between the hours of 
6:00 a.m. to 2:00 a.m. in the General Commercial (C), General Industrial (I), and Industrial, 
Research and Development (IRD) Zoning Districts.  


(2) This permitted use is for the sale of food and nonalcoholic beverages between the hours of 7:00 
a.m. to 11:00 p.m. in the Village (V), Terraced Streetscape (TS), and Traditional Town 
Development (TTD) Zoning Districts. 


(32) In all other zoning districts, food trucksmobile retail food facilities are permitted between the 
hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m.  


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.75", Hanging:  0.13"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Body Text, Indent: Left:  0.88", Hanging: 
0.19", Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: I, II, III,
… + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  0.25" +
Indent at:  0.75"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Liberation Serif, Bold
Formatted: Body Text
Formatted: Font color: Auto


Formatted: Font color: Auto


Formatted: Font color: Auto
Formatted: Body Text, Indent: Left:  0.25", Hanging: 
0.31"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Liberation Serif, Bold, Font
color: Auto
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.02"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.38", First line:  0"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69", First line:  0"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 33 


 


(4) Mobile food facilities located in neighborhood parks and places of assembly located in 
residential zoning districts may operate between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:00 p.m. 


 


1. Mobile retail food facilities cannot be located on a premises permanently for no more than 13 
weeks and must be moved off site daily. per calendar year. All food trucks are required to 
conform to the following criteria: 


a. Overnight parking of Mobile food facilities in parks is prohibited, unless by special 
event permit issued by Ferguson Township.  


B. Location. 


Food trucks shall only be located on a lot containing a principal building(s).  


(12) Food trucks shall not be parked in the public right-of-way or on the road itselfThe mobile 
food vendor shall first obtain a permit from Ferguson Township’s Zoning Administrator prior to 
selling its products within a Township public right-of-way. Township staff shall be permitted to 
establish conditions restricting specific streets, location, or time of day as to which products may be 
sold.  


(a) The vending of food from a mobile food facility shall be prohibited from the street side of 
the facility or in a way where customers will be positioned to impede vehicle traffic in a 
parking lot or roadway, and customers are not permitted on private property. 


(b) Mobile food facilities are prohibited to operate on the following Township streets: 


 1. Blue Course Drive; 


 2. Whitehall Road; 


 3. West College Avenue; 


 4. North Atherton Street, and; 


 5. West Aaron Drive. 


(c) Approval of operating in a Township public right-of-way is site specific. If a new location to 
operate a mobile food facility is proposed, a new permit shall be issued. 


(2) The Centre Region Parks and Recreation Authority is solely responsible for the permitting and 
regulation of food trucks in public parks.The mobile food vendor may be permitted to sell its 
products on public property, such as parks, under the following conditions: 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.69", Numbered + Level: 4 +
Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment:
Left + Aligned at:  1.75" + Indent at:  2"


Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a,
b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 
1.08" + Indent at:  1.33"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.04"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Italic
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.56", First line:  0"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: First line:  0"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 34 


 


(a) The mobile food vendor shall first obtain a permit from Township Staff; 


(b) Mobile retail food facility is permitted to operate during hours of park operation, set by 
Centre Region Parks and Recreation, 


(c) Mobile Food vendors are prohibited from operating in the following Parks: 


1. The Meadows; 


2. Park Hills, and; 


3. Songbird Sanctuary.; 


 (d) The mobile food vendor shall follow all regulations contained herein and regulations 
established by resolution. 


(3) The mobile retail food facility must be located at least 15 feet from fire hydrants or any other fire 
department connection. 


(4) Mobile retail food facilities shall be prohibited from utilizing or blocking handicapped-accessible 
parking. 


C. Noise. No audio amplification, including, but not limited to, megaphones or speaker systems, shall be 
permitted as part of the mobile retail food truck facility vending operation.  


D. Sanitation and Safety. 


(1) The food truckmobile food vendor vendor is responsible for the proper disposal of trash and waste 
associated with the operation. Vendors shall remove trash from their approved locations at the end of 
each day as needed to maintain the health and safety of the public. No liquid waste or grease is to be 
disposed of in landscape areas, storm drains, onto sidewalks or streets or other public spaces. Specific 
plans for disposal of liquids shall be included in the permit application. Food trucks shall utilize 
recyclable products for portable food storage to minimize packaging to the best of their ability.  


(2) The food truck operatormobile food vendor shall obtain a food truckmobile retail food facility 
operation zoning permit and applicable health permit; both shall be displayed oin the food 
truckmobile retail food facility. Each person obtaining a zoning permit shall pay all applicable fees 
set forth in the Township fee schedule. The permit required will be for a period of one year and shall 
be renewed on an annual basis. Prior to the issuance of a zoning permit, the vendor shall provide 
evidence of a Pennsylvania Department of Agriculture Bureau of Food and Laboratory Services retail 
food facility permanent license, or a division of health and neighborhood services permit with 
facilities plan review and the following: 


(a) A plan for refuse and recycling containers.  


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.56", First line:  0"
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.17"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.48"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 35 


 


(b) Proposed seating (if applicable).  


(c) The food truckmobile retail food facility shall be subject to all code requirements in Chapter 10 
(Health and Safety) of the Township Code of Ordinances.  


(3) The mobile food vendor or his/her designees must be present during operating hours, except in the 
case of emergencies. 


(4) Vehicle registration for all vehicles being used shall be provided as part of the zoning permit 
application.  


(5) A twenty-four-inch-by-thirty-six-inch sandwich board sign is permitted and shall be contained 
located within five feet of the food truckmobile retail food facility. No off-site signs shall be 
permitted.  


E. If the office for the food truckmobile retail food facility business is located within the owner's home in 
Ferguson Township, a No-Impact hHome-Based Business occupation permit shall be required.  


F. The requirements of this subsection are not subject to the provisions of temporary uses.  


§ 27-905 Occupancy Permits. 


1. Upon completion of the erection, extension or alteration of a structure or the establishment of the use for 
which a zoning permit was issued, the applicant shall request a final inspection. The structure for which 
the zoning permit was issued may not be occupied or otherwise used until a final inspection has been 
completed by the Zoning Administrator. 


A. Within seven days of request for final inspection, the Zoning Administrator shall inspect the 
premises to determine if the action taken complies with the regulations of this chapter. If it 
does, the Zoning Administrator shall sign the building permit card or sign off on the project 
within the seven-day time limitation. 


§ 27-1102 Definitions.  
[Ord. No. 1049, 11/18/2019]  


Unless a contrary intention clearly appears, the following words and phrases shall have a meaning given in 
this section. All words and terms not defined herein shall be used with a meaning of standard usage as 
defined in Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary, Eleventh Edition. Definitions found in the Subdivision 
and Land Development Ordinance (Chapter 22) shall be applicable to this chapter. 


AGE-RESTRICTED UNITS 


Housing that restricts ownership and/or residency to individuals of a certain age range, as defined by 
the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).. 


FOOD VENDOR, MOBILE 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.17"


Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Font
color: Auto
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman, Font
color: Red
Formatted: Font: (Default) Times New Roman







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 36 


 


Any person, firm, corporation, vendor, or operator within the Township engaging in the peddling, 
selling, or taking orders, either by sample or otherwise, of food items to be used or sold for immediate 
human consumption, in serving size packages using a mobile unit either in a stationary position on 
private or public property or in a moving position on public streets. This definition shall apply to any 
mobile unit who dispenses food items to the public which are prepackaged, or are cooked, prepared 
and/or assembled and served from within the mobile unit. 


FOOD TRUCK RETAIL FOOD FACILITY, MOBILE 
A licensed, self-contained, motorized vehicle or mobile food unit (unit that does not travel under its 
own power) which is temporarily permitted to park in a designated area of an established use in 
permitted zoning district within Ferguson Township in a location approved by the property owner. Ice 
cream trucks are exempted from this chapter.Mobile units including food trucks, trailers, stick stands, 
carts, and other similar structures that are mobile/transitory by design from which food is stored, 
prepared, processed, distributed, or sold. A Mobile Food Facility is synonymous with the term Retail 
Food Facility as defined in PA State Regulation, Title 7, Chapter 46, PA Food Code. Ice cream trucks 
are exempted from this chapter. 


LAND CLEARING MATERIAL 


Native vegetation from land clearing, grubbing, and excavation, including trees, brush, stumps, soil, and 
vegetative material, that has been removed from the land for agricultural purposes or development 
projects. 


STORAGE OF LAND CLEARING MATERIAL 
The storage of native vegetation from land clearing, grubbing, and excavation, including trees, brush, 
stumps, and vegetative material that has been removed from the land for agricultural purposes or 
development projects, whether temporary or permanent.  


PLACE OF ASSEMBLY 


An institution, other than recreation and/or school-related, that people regularly attend to participate in 
or hold religious worship services, community wide activities and/or related meetings. 


1. COMMUNITY PLACE OF ASSEMBLY 


A place of assembly, as herein defined, that is designed to serve those within the surrounding community 
and maximum seating capacity of the largest assembly space (current or proposed) is more than 251 and less 
than or equal to 750. 


2. NEIGHBORHOOD PLACE OF ASSEMBLY 


A place of assembly, as herein defined, that is design to serve those within one or more adjacent 
neighborhoods and maximum seating capacity of the largest assembly space (current or proposed) is less 
than or equal to 250. 


3. REGIONAL PLACE OF ASSEMBLY 


A place of assembly, as herein defined, that is designed to serve those in multiple communities and 
maximum seating capacity of the largest assembly space (current or proposed) is equal to or greater than 


Commented [WJ2]: Based on 25 Pa. Code 271.101(b)(5) 


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.31"


Formatted: Indent: Left:  0"







DRAFT | February 9, 2022 
Page 37 


 


751. 








FERGUSON TOWNSHIP
ABC / REGIONAL MEETING REPORT


1. NAME OF MEETING ATTENDEE(S): ______________________________________________


2. REPORTING ON
WHICH COMMITTEE: _______________________________ DATE: ____________________


3. REQUIRES COMMENTS BACK TO BOARD OF SUPERVISORS: YES NO


If YES, describe briefly:


4. BRIEF OVERVIEW OF MEETING:


5. LINK TO COG COMMITTEE
MEETING AGENDA: __________________________________________________________


Laura Dininni


COG Parks Governance Ad Hoc 2-9-22


 Elected Chair Francke and Vice Chair Matason.
Reviewed charge, goals and resources.
Reviewed three goals of each participant. This content will help drive our approach
to our charge.
Established meeting date as fourth Wednesday, 8:30am.


https://crcogonline.sharepoint.com/sites/COG-Agenda-Packets/Shared%







CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 


PARKS AND RECREATION GOVERNANCE 
SPECIAL COMMITTEE 


Hybrid Meeting 
February 9, 2022 


8:30 AM 
 


GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


RSVP 
To ensure an overall quorum of members, please let us know how you intend to participate: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZUtcO6tpzsjGd3cqBR8b8abc1tl6DQ_Fezv  


Remote 
Participants 


To attend via Zoom: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZUtcO6tpzsjGd3cqBR8b8abc1tl6DQ_Fezv  


To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099  |  Meeting ID: 810 7759 0939 


In-Person 
Participants 


COG Building – Forum Room 
2643 Gateway Drive, State College, PA 16801 


Meeting Contact: Scott Binkley  |  email: sbinkley@crcog.net  |  814-235-7818 


Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
Should you desire to annotate any attachments you must download them first. 


 


• To simplify meeting management and to ensure that all attendees have equal ability to 
participate, the Chat feature has been disabled on the Zoom platform. A recording of the 
meeting will be made available on the COG website upon its conclusion. 


• We ask that non-voting participants that are attending remotely remain muted with their 
video turned off unless recognized to speak. To reduce audio interference, please remain 
off speakerphone during the meeting.  


• VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be 
sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. For additional information on COG Voting 
Procedures, click HERE. 


• PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items 
not already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items 
on the agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. For additional 
information on COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. Written public 
comment or requests to speak to the Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests 
to comment on specific agenda items listed below, may be submitted in advance by 
emailing sbinkley@crcog.net. 


• To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the 
COG Parks and Recreation Governance Special Committee on our website, click HERE. 







Parks and Recreation Governance Special Committee 
February 9, 2022 
Page 2 of 5 


 


 
PARKS AND RECREATION GOVERNANCE 


SPECIAL COMMITTEE 


Hybrid Meeting 
February 9, 2022 


8:30 AM 
 
 


AGENDA SUMMARY 
 


1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
  


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
  


3. INTRODUCTIONS COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND STAFF 
  


4. COG MEETING ETIQUETTE 
  


5. SPECIAL COMMITTEE SCOPE 
  


6. NOMINATION OF OFFICERS 
  


7. NEW AGENDA ITEMS 
  


8. BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED 
  


9. RESOURCES FOR THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE 
  


10. SET MEETING DATES 
  


11. OTHER BUSINESS 
  


12. CALENDAR 
  


13. ADJOURNMENT 


 


 


  







Parks and Recreation Governance Special Committee 
February 9, 2022 
Page 3 of 5 


 


 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 


PARKS AND RECREATION GOVERNANCE 
SPECIAL COMMITTEE 


Hybrid Meeting 
February 9, 2022 


8:30 AM 
 


AGENDA 
 


 


1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
Mr. Norenberg will convene the meeting (Executive Director presides until Chair is selected).       
Ms. Light will take a roll call of committee members. 


 
2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 


 
Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda (five 
minutes per person time limit please). Comments relating to specific items on the agenda 
should be deferred until that point in the meeting. Submitted comments will be read into the 
record by the Recording Secretary at the appropriate time in the meeting.  


 
3. INTRODUCTIONS COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND STAFF 


 
Committee representatives and COG staff supporting the committee should introduce themselves. 


 
The 2022 membership of the Parks and Recreation Special Committee is: 


 
Rich Francke   College Township 
Laura Dininni  Ferguson Township 
Hyeseon Kim  Halfmoon Township (Non-Voting) 
Bruce Lord  Harris Township 
Dan Treviño  Patton Township 
Jesse Barlow  State College Borough 
Kathy Matason  CRPR Authority 
Bill Keough  CRPR Authority 
 
 
 
 







Parks and Recreation Governance Special Committee 
February 9, 2022 
Page 4 of 5 


 


4. COG MEETING ETIQUETTE — Presented by Eric Norenberg 
 


The Centre Region Council of Governments (COG) is committed to an environment in 
which all individuals are treated with respect and dignity. Each individual has the right to 
participate in a professional atmosphere that promotes equal opportunities to be heard and to 
participate in the decision-making process. At the same time, conducting the meeting is to be 
handled efficiently, so the time that people invest at meetings is well spent and concludes 
within a reasonable timeframe. Please respect each other, as well as the Chair, and their role in 
facilitating the expeditious conduct of business. 
 
On November 26, 2018, the COG General Forum adopted the enclosed Meeting Etiquette 
Guidelines and Resolution 2018-4. The Committee should be familiar with these guidelines. 
More information, including frequently asked questions and guidelines for public comment, 
can be found on the COG’s website at www.crcog.net.  


 
5. SPECIAL COMMITTEE SCOPE — Presented by Eric Norenberg 


 
The Executive Director will briefly review the COG Articles of Agreement as they relate to the 
Executive Committee. According to the Agreement, the duties of the Committee are: 


• The best mission and/or purpose for the Authority for the future 


• The best governance structure to achieve that mission/purpose 


• The best governing documents to achieve that mission/purpose – Bylaws, MOU’s, Articles of Agreement, etc. 


• Additional supporting tasks assigned by the Executive Committee 


• The associated COG committee structure/relationship to support/supplement the work of the Authority, 
so that CRPR can provide cost-effective, consistent, and high-quality parks and recreation services to have 
a positive impact on the quality of life of those living, working, and playing in the Centre Region. 


 
6. NOMINATION OF OFFICERS — Conducted by Eric Norenberg 


 
The Special Committee should elect a Chair and a Vice-Chair.  
 
All municipalities should vote, except for Halfmoon Township. 
 
Once the Chair is selected, the Chair leads the selection of the Vice-Chair and the rest of the meeting. 
 


7. NEW AGENDA ITEMS 
 


Committee members may request additional items of business be added to this meeting’s 
agenda. If approved by a majority vote of the members, the proposed new agenda item(s) will 
be placed on the agenda at the discretion of the Chair.  


 
 
 
 







Parks and Recreation Governance Special Committee 
February 9, 2022 
Page 5 of 5 


 


8. BACKGROUND INFORMATION AND ISSUES TO BE CONSIDERED  — Presented by 
Eric Norenberg and Pam Salokangas 


 
Please refer to the enclosed document that provides an overview history and background of the 
Authority and provides information regarding issues and potential steps relate to the four 
items in the scope of the Special Committee. 
 


9. RESOURCES FOR THE SPECIAL COMMITTEE — Presented by Pam Salokangas  
 
SharePoint Site: Staff has established a SharePoint site to share background information, 
documents, etc. with the members of the Committee. As the work of the Committee proceeds, 
additional information can be added as well as draft documents that are being reviewed.  
 


10. MEETING DATES, TIMES, AND LOCATION 
 


The Committee should choose a time and the dates for its meetings. Typically standing COG 
committees meet on a regular date and time in the first two weeks of the month to provide 
adequate time to refer issues to the Executive Committee and General Forum for action.  
However, this Committee may wish to establish a schedule that includes options for longer 
retreat-style meetings to delve in-depth into the topics ahead of it.  
 
If the Committee desires to meet monthly, staff recommends that either the 2nd Wednesday at 
12:15 PM or the 4th Wednesday of each month at either 8:30 AM or 12:15 PM be considered. 
 
The Committee should consider recommending meeting dates and times.  
 


11. OTHER BUSINESS 
 


12. CALENDAR 
 
A calendar with upcoming COG committee, General Forum, and municipal meetings can be 
found by clicking the following link: COG and Municipal Meeting Overlay Calendar 


 
13. ADJOURNMENT 


 
ENCLOSURES 
 
Item #        Description 
04-A   Meeting Etiquette Guidelines 
04-B  Meeting Etiquette Guidelines Resolution 2018-4 
08   Background Information 












Key:


H = High


M = Medium


L = Low


Item Activity Priority 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter Comments


1


Evaluate Insect & Disease Threats to 


Ferguson Township's Urban Forest.  


The Tree Commission should offer advise 


on mitigation strategies to limit the 


Township's exposure.


H X X Develop Information 


for residents regarding 


invasive pests.


2


Planting and Removal 


Recommendations. Review, comment 


and make recommendations to the 


Arborist on proposed tree removals and 


plantings.


H X X Continue using the 


native but diverse 


planting strategy.


3


Identify Planting Opportunities. 


Continue to identify tree planting locations 


that have not been utilized in order to 


continue the expansion of the Urban 


Forest.


M Locate opportunities to 


"fill in" or expand the 


urban forest


4


Land Development Plan Reviews. 


Continue to review, comment, and 


provide recommendations on land 


development plans that are submitted to 


the Township.


H


Continue to lobby for 


the use of native 


species. Continue to 


use right tree right 


place logic.


5


Tree Canopy Survey Utilization. 


Continue to review information received 


in the Tree Canopy Survey. Use this data 


to make recommendations regarding 


planting priorities and future policy.


M  X X


Locate areas of the 


township that have low 


canopy cover or where 


canopy cover is 


decreasing.


6


Outreach and Education. Continue 


building the outreach and education 


program to inform residents on the 


benefits of trees and the rules and 


regulations pertinent to trees in Ferguson 


Township.


H


Use a diverse 


approach including 


newsletters, township 


website, and possible 


podcasts


7


Regional Cooperation. Participate in 


regional discussions and interact with 


neighboring tree commissions to discuss 


common goals and potential threats to 


the urban forest.


L
Take part in regional 


discussions. Plan for a 


future regional tree 


commission meeting


X 


As Needed


2022 Ferguson Township Tree Commission Work Plan


Approved by the FTTC: January 24, 2022


Approved by the BOS________


X 


X 








FERGUSON TOWNSHIP
ABC / REGIONAL MEETING REPORT  


1. NAME OF MEETING ATTENDEE(S): ______________________________________________


2. REPORTING ON
WHICH COMMITTEE: _______________________________ DATE: ____________________


3. REQUIRES COMMENTS BACK TO BOARD OF SUPERVISORS: YES NO


If YES, describe briefly:


4. BRIEF OVERVIEW OF MEETING:


5. LINK TO COG COMMITTEE
MEETING AGENDA: __________________________________________________________


Laura Dininni


COG Finance 2-10-2022


Moved Lease of Stewart Drive forward for fire program supply storage.
Moved forward sale of Tanker 5-2.
State of Fire Department


Fastest growing segment is 50+. Lots of college students. Not a lot in the
middle. Over time we are going to to run out of available bodies. Not coming quick.
Hire 9-12 people over next 10-12 years. In Strategic plan. In ESCI study. On
schedule going back to 2013 study. Will create cost where today there is none.
Other wild cards (also in strat egicplan). Police respond to just under 1000 calls
that are "nuisance". Fire alarm. First responder if frequently police.
If you added those calls it would impact the fire department.
SImilar w EMS. Extremely busy and overall shortstaffed.
Police dept. responds to EMS calls. If Police lost that capacity then that burden
would fall on the fire department.
PSU funding. In dialogue. PSU operates with and contributes to fire on a hand
shake. 9% operating, 25% capital budget 1923 when PSU got rid of FD and gave
equip to Alpha.
Worked well before because capital was lions share. Now the operational budget is
growing.
Total contributions of PSU were on par. as of last year we are in that cross over
where PSU will no longer be on par.
If used the COG formula, PSU would owe 13-15 of total enterprise. That about
where we are now.
SC Firemen's relief fund 15% of cost of new apparatus up to 150,000.
Cost of apparatus is ridiculously high.
Ariel device exceeds cap.
Revenues have been steadily dropping since 2013 (state legislature needs to fix,
relief reform)
dropped 25% since 2013







4. OVERVIEW CONTINUED:
inoperable. Last time it was 600,000 and County helped and cobbled together many
grants as well.


Storage Space: Currently leasing for a bridge. Eventual plan is to build.
land
plans
bid
build


Stipend is helpful as a retention tool.
If order to use it for recruitment it needs to compete w part time opportunity so its
hard to do.


Budget Process: See Finance attachment. Good progress on expanding the COG
budget process to become more collaborative (including CIP and Program Plan).
Will include Library and Park Authority.
Discussion on CIP v Program plan and what costs should be included. Ferguson
definitely conceptualizes our CIP differently than COG. We use it as a planning tool.
They use it as it relates to the IRS classification of assets. Important nuanced
difference that is essential to understanding how to best use/understand the COG
CIP and Program Plan.







CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 


FINANCE COMMITTEE 
Hybrid Meeting 


February 10, 2022 
8:30 AM 


 


GENERAL MEETING INFORMATION 


RSVP 
To ensure an overall quorum of members, please let us know how you intend to participate: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEkcOGvrD8jHdOxvQUAZcdiwywLCyJLsTMf  


Remote 
Participants 


To attend via Zoom: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/meeting/register/tZEkcOGvrD8jHdOxvQUAZcdiwywLCyJLsTMf 
To attend this meeting by phone: +1 929 205 6099  |  Meeting ID: 859 7872 4977 


In-Person 
Participants 


COG Building – Forum Room 
2643 Gateway Drive, State College, PA 16801 


Meeting Contact: Cary Asendorf  |  email: casendorf@crcog.net  |  814-231-3077 


Click HERE to locate the AGENDA and ATTACHMENTS 
Should you desire to annotate any attachments you must download them first. 


 
• The chat feature for this meeting will be disabled. A recording of the meeting will be made 


available on the COG website upon its conclusion. 


• We ask that non-voting participants that are attending remotely remain muted with their 
video turned off unless recognized to speak. To reduce audio interference, please remain 
off of speakerphone during the meeting. 


• VOTING PROCEDURES: Members will provide their vote by voice. Clarification will be 
sought by the Chair if the vote is unclear. Members opposed to a motion should vote 
“No”. For additional information on COG Voting Procedures, please click HERE. 


• PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES: Members of the public may comment on any items not 
already on the agenda (five minutes per person). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. Written public comment or requests 
to speak to the Finance Committee for items not on the agenda, and requests to comment to 
specific agenda items listed below, may be submitted in advance by emailing casendorf@crcog.net. 
For additional information on COG public meeting guidelines, please click HERE. 


• To access agendas and minutes of previously held meetings, and to learn more about the 
COG Finance Committee on our website, please click HERE. 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 10, 2022 
Page 2 of 8 


 
FINANCE COMMITTEE 


Hybrid Meeting 
February 10, 2022 


8:30 AM 
 


AGENDA SUMMARY 
 


1. CALL TO ORDER 
  


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
  


3. NEW AGENDA ITEMS 
  


4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – January 13, 2022 
  


5. LEASE OF 2901 STEWART DRIVE 
  


6. RECOMMENDATION FOR THE DISPOSAL OF TANKER 5-2 
  


7. STATE OF THE FIRE DEPARTMENT 
  


8. UPDATED BUDGET PROCESS 
  


9. FINANCE JOB DECRIPTIONS 
  


10. VEHICLE REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE REPORT 
  


11. FACILITIES COMMITTEE UPDATE 
  


12. MONTHLY REPORTS 
  


13. OTHER BUSINESS 
  


14. CALENDAR 
  


15. HELPFUL REFERENCE LINKS 
  


16. ADJOURNMENT 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 10, 2022 
Page 3 of 8 


 


CENTRE REGION COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
2643 Gateway Drive, Suite 3 


State College, PA 16801 


Phone: (814) 231-3077 Fax: (814) 231-3083 Website: www.crcog.net 


 


FINANCE COMMITTEE 
Hybrid Meeting 


February 10, 2022 
8:30 AM 


 
AGENDA 


 
 


1. CALL TO ORDER 
 


Mr. Francke will convene the meeting. Mr. Asendorf will perform a roll call of remote 
Committee members to ensure that they can hear and be heard. 
 


2. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 


Members of the public are invited to comment on any items not already on the agenda 
(five minute per person time limit, please). Comments relating to specific items on the 
agenda should be deferred until that point in the meeting. 


 
3.       NEW AGENDA ITEMS (Discussion/Action)  


 
Members may request additional items of business be added to this meeting’s agenda. If 
approved by a majority vote of the members, the proposed new agenda item(s) will be 
placed on the agenda at the discretion of the Chair.   
 


4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES (Action) 
 
A copy of the minutes from the January 13, 2022, Finance Committee meeting are enclosed 
for approval. 


 
5. LEASE OF 2901 STEWART DRIVE – FIRE (Action)  
 


Steve Bair and Lou Brungard will lead the discussion. 
 
Based on a recommendation from the Facilities and Public Safety Committees the Finance 
Committee is asked to make a recommendation for a budget amendment to lease a 
property at 2901 Stewart Drive, Suite 104 to the General Forum.  
 
The proposed terms of this enclosed lease are similar to the terms of the lease approved for 
the Parks Maintenance Facility in 2021. Mr. Steve Bair and Mr. Lou Brungard will be in 
attendance to provide additional details and answer any questions. 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 10, 2022 
Page 4 of 8 


 
Should the Finance Committee concur with the decisions of the Public Safety and 
Facilities Committees, a potential motion would be: 
 


“That the Finance Committee recommends to the Executive Committee and 
General Forum that the Fire Program enter into a lease with Robert W Stewart 
for a period of 5 years beginning March 1, 2022 and further recommends that a 
budget amendment in the amount of $42,000 be applied to the Fire Operating 
budget and that this amendment should not result in additional municipal 
contributions during 2022.” 


 
It is anticipated that the budget amendment can largely be financed through expenditure 
savings during the second half of 2021 which appears to have resulted in a higher than 
anticipated beginning fund balance. 


 
6. RECOMMENDATION FOR THE DISPOSAL OF TANKER 5-2 (Action)  
 


Steve Bair will lead the discussion. 
 


Tanker 5-2, a COG-owned fire apparatus, will be replaced by a new Tanker later this 
month. With the arrival of the new Tanker, the current unit will be retired and disposed 
according to the plan adopted in the 2022 Budget. The COG Articles of Agreement 
require General Forum concurrence for the disposal of fire apparatus.  


 
The COG CIP estimates apparatus disposal revenues at 1% to 3% of the original purchase 
price of the apparatus. Historically, this is the range of revenue realized when retired 
apparatus has been put out to bid. In more recent years, better disposal yields (5% to 7% of 
original purchase price) have been realized by selling the retired apparatus at fair market 
value (FMV) to an interested municipality. Based on prior disposal experiences and 
advertisements for apparatus offered for sale, staff set a capital budget target of $90,000 for 
Tanker 5-2.  


 
Staff has, in hand, an offer of $130,000 for Tanker 5-2 from an apparatus broker. This 
offer would deliver disposal revenue that is 52.3% of the original purchase price of the  
unit. Sale to a broker is not without precedent. Engine 513 was disposed in 2017 in this 
manner. Staff has recommended that the Public Safety accept this broker bid for Tanker 5-
2.  The Public Safety Committee is scheduled to discuss this staff recommendation at its 
Tuesday, February 8, 2022 meeting.  


 
To proceed, the Finance Committee should consider the following motion: 


 
“The Finance Committee recommends to the Executive Committees as well as 
the COG General Forum to permanently remove from service Tanker 5-2, a 
2005 apparatus, and dispose of this asset by accepting the broker offer of 
$130,000 for Tanker 5-2.” 


 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 10, 2022 
Page 5 of 8 
 


In addition, while investigating this action, staff discussed the need to better define the 
process of how decisions are made on how apparatus should be disposed.  While the COG 
process of disposal is clear the decision point on whether the disposal should be sold to a 
broker, through a bid process, or to a local (mutual aid) department is more abstract with 
each decision having its costs and benefits.  Staff is recommending that the Public Safety 
and Finance Committees discuss at a future meeting(s) to memorialize a process for staff to 
rely upon to make recommendations going forward. 


 
7. STATE OF THE FIRE DEPARTMENT (Informational) 


 
Mr. Steve Bair will give an update on the enclosed document regarding the current state of 
and future challenges for the Fire program. 
 


8. UPDATED BUDGET PROCESS (Discussion) 
 


Joe Viglione will lead the discussion. 
 


In the course of the refinement of the budget documents, the use of the same budget 
process, the development of the budget, and the review/comments from the municipalities 
during the budget process it became apparent to staff that there was a need and a desire to 
update the COG budget process and to make it a more collaborate exercise. 
 
During late 2021 and early 2022 the Agency Directors worked together to present to the 
Finance Committee the enclosed updated draft recommendation for the budget process.  
The changes are two-fold, first, there are recommendations to provide additional 
information (such as 5-year staffing and study plans) in the documents, and second, there is 
an attempt to change timing to reduce the number of concurrent steps that occur.  A 
synopsis of the changes is as follows: 
 


A. Internal Process – New Programs/Initiatives are discussed by the Executive 
Director, Finance Director, and Agency Directors – January 1 – February 28 


B. Facilities Committee Process – For Facilities Condition Assessments to be 
included in the Capital Improvement Program (CIP), they must be approved by 
the Facilities Committee at their March meeting – March 1 


C. Municipal Process – The CIP will be developed and submitted to the 
Municipalities for review and comment – March 1 – June 1 


D. Municipal Process – The Program Plan will be developed and submitted to the 
Municipalities for review and comment – April 1 – August 1 


E. Finance Committee Process – The Detailed Budget will be developed and 
submitted to the Finance Committee for review and comment – July 1 – 
October 13 


F. Municipal Process – The Summary Budget will be developed and submitted to 
Municipalities for review, comment, & approval – October 13 to December 31 


  
The Finance Committee should review the enclosed staff recommendations for updating the  
COG Budget Process, ask any questions/make edits they deem appropriate, and determine  







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 10, 2022 
Page 6 of 8 


 


if they wish to endorse the draft process as the recommended process for staff and the 
participating municipalities to follow. 
 


9. FINANCE JOB DECRIPTIONS (Discussion) 
 


Eric Norenberg and Joe Viglione will lead the discussion. 
 


In connection with the approved 2022 COG Budget an additional position (Finance 
Administrator) was added to the COG Finance Office, increasing Finance staffing to three 
and Administration staffing to seven.  (Administration staffing is planned increase to eight 
later in 2022 with the approval to hire a Human Resources Administrator) 
 
At its February 2, 2022 meeting the Human Resources Committee contingently approved 
the enclosed job duties for both the Finance Assistant and Finance Administrator. Both job 
descriptions were rewritten to address the redistribution of duties between the two 
positions. 
 
The Finance Committee has requested to review the job descriptions for both positions.  It 
should be noted that changes in job descriptions as written and approved by the Human 
Resources Committee could necessitate that the job descriptions go back to that 
Committee in March for approval.  This has the potential to lead to a delay in the hiring of 
the additional staff person. 
 


10. VEHICLE REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE REPORT (Informational) 
 


Cary Asendorf will lead the discussion. 
 


This agenda item is for informational purposes and does not require action from the 
Finance Committee. 


 
Enclosed please find copies of the vehicle repairs and maintenance reports for the period of 
January 1 through December 31, 2021 completed by Mr. Cary Asendorf.  The Finance 
Committee should review the reports and note areas of concern. 
 


11. FACILITIES COMMITTEE (Informational)  
 


This is an informational agenda item. The Committee should receive the update from the Facilities 
Committee representative and ask questions they deem appropriate. 


 


The Facilities Committee representative will provide an update on the Facilities 
Committee’s January meeting.   
 


12. MONTHLY REPORTS (Action) 
 


This is an action agenda item. The Committee should review and approve the voucher report. 
 


Copies of the January 2022 voucher report are enclosed with this agenda. To proceed, the 
Committee should consider the following motion: 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 10, 2022 
Page 7 of 8 


 


“That the Finance Committee approves the January voucher reports for the Centre 
Region COG.”  


Copies of the final December 2021 and February 2022 COG financial reports will be 
available at the March meeting – staff is still in the process of closing out 2021.  If the 
Committee has any questions about the items in these reports, please let Finance Director 
Joe Viglione (jviglione@crcog.net or 231-3062) know as soon as possible so that the 
information can be researched prior to the next Committee meeting. 
 


13. OTHER BUSINESS 
 


A. Matter of Record – The CPI-U for the 12 months ended December 31, 2021 was 
7.0%.  According to the COG formula, the 2023 COLA will be based on the 
average of the 12-month changes from July 2021 through June 2022.  For the first 
six months of the measurement period the 2023 COLA is trending to be in excess 
of 6%. 


B. Matter of Record – The Finance Committee will be discussing its weighted 
priorities at its March meeting.  A reminder that the information is due back to the 
Finance Director (jviglione@crcog.net) by no later than 5 pm on Wednesday, 
February 23, 2022. 


C. Matter of Record – The following is an update of the status of planning and 
evaluation studies currently underway at the COG. 


 Planning Activity Status 
1 IT Study The IT Study is underway.  The consultant recently 


completed network and infrastructure scans and visited 
COG sites.  Preliminary findings will be presented to the 
IT Steering Committee at the end of February. 


2 COG Strategic 
Plan 


The Mission and Vision statements, Values and Goals 
were approved by the General Forum in August.  The 
COG management team is working on developing 
objectives, strategies, and tactics for the four goals for 
review by the General Forum in the spring. 


3 Code Software 
Study 


Committees have been formed including municipal 
representatives.  Regular meetings are starting the week 
of February 14. 


4 SPPA Working 
Group 


This project is underway with regular meetings of the 
Project Management Team. 


5 Spring Creek 
Education Bldg 


The team is reviewing final construction documents and 
developing bid packages.  Conditional approval was 
granted by College Township for the Land Development 
Plan. 







Finance Committee Agenda 
February 10, 2022 
Page 8 of 8 


6 Fleet 
Management 
Plan 


The initial assessment is complete, evaluating the fixed 
asset report and configuring a vehicle inventory that 
excludes fire protection program vehicles and Parks & 
Rec equipment. The initial assessment resulted with a 
confirmation of a 61-vehicle fleet that has an average age 
of 7.5 years, and an average purchase value of $22K. 
Referencing the CIP and the 2022 through 2026 
forecast, 48% of the fleet is planned for replacement, 
increasing the purchase value of the fleet to just over 
$1.3M. The oldest vehicle in the fleet is a 2002 Fire 
Safety Trailer and the newest vehicle in the fleet is a 
2020 F-250. Next steps will be identifying decision points 
for replacement (mileage, appearance, maintenance 
costs, etc.) as well as utilization benchmarks for the 
different agencies and vehicles in the fixed asset report.  


8 Boardwalk at 
Millbrook Marsh 
Nature Center 


The MMNC Feasibility Study Working Group will meet 
on February 8, 2022 to regroup and to review the 
proposal from LAN Associates from last summer.  The 
group will discuss scope and then provide a request to 
LAN Associates for an updated price.  An updated price 
and scope will be presented to the CRPR Authority at 
their February meeting for approval and contracting 
purposes, in order to ensure we get the timely items 
covered within their seasonal window.  The Finance 
Committee will be asked to approve an interagency loan 
in March/April between Fire Capital and Nature Center 
Capital for this approved capital item. 


9 General Forum 
Room A/V 
Enhancements 
Project 


Dobil to be on site Friday February 4 and again Monday 
February 7 to finalize camera replacement. 


 


14. CALENDAR 
A calendar with upcoming COG committee, General Forum, and municipal meetings can 
be found by clicking the following link: COG and Municipal Meeting Overlay Calendar. 
 


15. HELPFUL REFERENCE LINKS 
 
Repositories of helpful information have been assembled for use by the elected officials 
and COG staff: 
 
• Governance policies, procedures, and other related documents can be viewed on 


SharePoint by clicking here or going to https://www.crcog.net/governance. 
 


16. ADJOURNMENT 





